
CONSOUDATING FEDERAL PROGRAMS AND

ORGANIZATIONS

Y 4, G 74/7: P 94/27

Consolidating Federil Prograns and...

HEARINGS
BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT MANAGEMENT,
INFORMATION, AND TECHNOLOGY

OF THE

COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT
REFORM AND OVERSIGHT

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
ONE HUNDRED FOURTH CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

MAY 16 AND MAY 23, 1995

Printed for the use of the Committee on Government Reform and Oversight

U.S. GOVERNME>rr PRINTING OFFICE

26-805 CC WASHINGTON : 1996

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-053570-0





CONSOUDATING FEDERAL PROGRAMS AND

ORGANIZATIONS

Y 4. G 74/7: P 94/27

Consolidatlog Federal Prograns and...

HEARINGS
BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT MANAGEMENT,
INFORMATION, AND TECHNOLOGY

OF THE

COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT
REFORM AND OVERSIGHT

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES
ONE HUNDRED FOURTH CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

MAY 16 AND MAY 23, 1995

Printed for the use of the Committee on Government Reform and Oversight

o^po^ifimm.

HOl/
^7 %

U.S. GOVERNfMENfT PRINTING OFFICE ' '^

26-805 CC WASHINGTON : 1996 . ^ '-\yy

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-053570-0



COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM AND OVERSIGHT

WILLIAM F. CLINGER, JR., Pennsylvania, Chairman

BENJAMIN A. OILMAN, New York

DAN BURTON, Indiana

CONSTANCE A. MORELLA, Maryland

CHRISTOPHER SHAYS, Connecticut

STEVEN SCHIFF, New Mexico

ILEANA ROS-LEHTINEN, Florida

WILLIAM H. ZELIFF, JR., New Hampshire

JOHN M. MCHUGH, New York

STEPHEN HORN, California

JOHN L. MICA, Florida

PETER BLUTE, Massachusetts

THOMAS M. DAVIS, Virginia

DAVID M. MctNTOSH, Indiana

JON D. FOX, Pennsylvania

RANDY TATE, Washington

DICK CHRYSLER, Michigan

GIL GUTKNECHT, Minnesota

MARK E. SOUDER, Indiana

WILLIAM J. MARTINI, New Jersey

JOE SCARBOROUGH, Florida

JOHN B. SHADEGG, Arizona

MICHAEL PATRICK FLANAGAN, Illinois

CHARLES F. BASS, New Hampshire

STEVEN C. LaTOURETTE, Ohio

MARSHALL "MARK" SANFORD, South

Carolina

ROBERT L. EHRLICH, JR., Maryland

CARDISS COLLINS, Ilhnois

HENRY A. WAXMAN, California

TOM LANTOS, California

ROBERT E. WISE, JR., West Virginia

MAJOR R. OWENS, New York

EDOLPHUS TOWNS, New York

JOHN M. SPRATT, JR., South Carolina

LOUISE Mcintosh slaughter. New
York

PAUL E. KANJORSKI, Pennsylvania

GARY A. CONDIT, California

COLLIN C. PETERSON, Minnesota

KAREN L. THURMAN, Florida

CAROLYN B. MALONEY, New York

THOMAS M. BARRETT, Wisconsin

GENE TAYLOR, Mississippi

BARBARA-ROSE COLLINS, Michigan

ELEANOR HOLMES NORTON, District of

Columbia
JAMES P. MORAN, Virginia

GENE GREEN, Texas

CARRIE P. MEEK, Florida

FRANK MASCARA, Pennsylvania

CHAKA FATTAH, Pennsylvania

BERNARD SANDERS, Vermont

(Independent)

James L. Clarke, Staff Director

Kevin Sabo, General Counsel

Judith McCoy, Chief Clerk

Bud Myers, Minority Staff Director

Subcommittee on Government Management, Information, and Technology

STEPHEN HORN, California, Chairman

MICHAEL PATRICK FLANAGAN, Illinois

PETER BLUTE, Massachusetts

THOMAS M. DAVIS, Viiiginia

JON D. FOX, Pennsylvania

RANDY TATE, Washington

JOE SCARBOROUGH, Florida

CHARLES F. BASS, New Hampshire

CAROLYN B. MALONEY, New York

MAJOR R. OWENS, New York

FRANK MASCARA, Pennsylvania

ROBERT E. WISE, JR., West Virginia

JOHN M. SPRATT, JR., South Carolina

PAUL E. KANJORSKI, Pennsylvania

Ex Officio

WILLIAM F. CLINGER, JR.. Pennsylvania CARDISS COLLINS. Illinois

J. Russell George, Staff Director

Mark UNCAPHER, Professional Staff Member

ANDREW G. Richardson, Clerk

Dave McMillEN, Minority Professional Staff

Matt PINKUS, Minority Professional Staff

(II)



CONTENTS
Page

Hearing held on:

May 16, 1995 1

May 23, 1995 41
Statement of:

Brewer, Shelby T., former Under Secretary of Energy (1981-1984); and
Donna R. Fitzpatrick, former Under Secretary of Energy (1989-1990) ... 78

Finn, Chester E., Jr., John M. Olin fellow, the Hudson Institute; and
William D. Hansen, executive director of the Education Finance Coun-
cil 146

Hodel, Donald P., former Secretary of Energy (1982-1985); Admiral
James D. Watkins, former Secretary of Energy (1989-1993); and John
S. Herrington, former Secretary of Energy (1985-1989) 45

Munoz, George, Assistant Secretary for Management, Chief Financial
Officer, Department of the Treasury; Paul L. Posner, Director of Budget
Issues, Accounting and Information Management Division, (Jeneral Ac-
counting Office 173

O'Leary, Hazel, Secretary of Energy 8
Smith, Marshall S., Under Secretary for Education 103

Letters, statements, etc., submitted for the record by:

Brewer, Shelby T., former Under Secretary oi Energy (1981-1984), pre-

pared statement of 80
Dunn, Michael J., president, Selective Environmental Technologies, Inc.,

prepared statement of 99
Finn, Chester E., Jr., John M. Olin fellow, the Hudson Institute, prepared

statement of 147
Fitzpatrick, Donna R., former Under Secretary of Energy, prepared state-

ment of 88
Flanagan, Hon. Michael, a Representative in Congress from the State

of Illinois, prepared statement of 43
Fox, Hon. Jon, a Representative in Congress from the State of Pennsylva-

nia, prepared statement of 44
Hansen, William D., executive director of the Education Finance Counsel,
prepared statement of 156

Herrington, John S., former Secretary of Energy (1985-1989), prepared
statement of 62

Hodel, Donald P., former Secretary of Energy (1982-1985), prepared
statement of 46

Maloney, Hon. Carolyn B., a Representative in Congress from the State
of New York:

Information concerning a Washington Post article 129
Prepared statement of 42

Munoz, George, Assistant Secretar>' for Management, Chief Financial
Officer, Department of the Treasury, prepared statement of 176

National Education Association, prepared statement of 200
O'Leary, Hazel, Secretary of Energy, prepared statement of 13
Posner, Paul L., Director of Budget Issues, Accounting and Information
Management Division, General Accounting Office, prepared statement
of 181

Smith, Marshall S., Under Secretary for Education:
Information concerning a May 24, 1995 letter 135
Information concerning a June 5, 1995 letter 127
Prepared statement of 105

Spratt, Hon. John M., Jr., a Representative in Congress from the State
of South Carolina, prepared statement of 199

Watkins, Admiral James D., former Secretary of Energy (1989-1993),
prepared statement of 51

(III)



IV
Page

Letters statements, etc., submitted for the record by—Continued
Wurtz; Department of Education, information concemmg delinquency

^^^
loans



CONSOLIDATING FEDERAL PROGRAMS AND
ORGANIZATIONS

TUESDAY, MAY 16, 1995

House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on Government Management,

Information, and Technology,
Committee on Government Reform and Oversight,

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room

2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Stephen Horn (chair-

man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Horn, Flanagan, Davis, Fox, Tate,
Scarborough, Bass, dinger, Maloney, Mascara and Spratt.

Staff present: J. Russell George, staff director; Mike Stoker,
counsel; Mark Uncapher, professional staff member and counsel;
Andrew G. Richardson, clerk; and Wallace Hsueh, staff assistant.

Mr. Horn. A quorum being present, the Subcommittee on Gov-
ernment Management, Information, and Technology will come to

order.

We are delighted to have with us the Secretary of Energy, Dr.
Hazel O'Leary, and we intend to explore the likely effects of several
different Federal Government restructuring programs and propos-
als on the Department of Energy.
As we see and hear every day through the news media, the

American people overwhelmingly support balancing the Federal
budget. On the question of just how best to balance the budget,
there are a variety of opinions and proposals. Despite differences

among them, the most widely publicized recommendations focus
consistently on three cabinet departments—Commerce, Education,
and Energy. This morning's meeting is part one of a three part
hearing we are holding on consolidating Federal programs and or-

ganizations. This morning and next Tuesday we will hear from cur-

rent and former Education and Energy officials, as well as private
sector experts with views on how to restructure the two agencies.

We will also examine case studies of National Performance Re-
view initiatives, try to assess whether they went far enough or are
working as intended.

Finally, we will explore what actions or initiatives agency heads
such as Secretary O'Leary might consider to go beyond any short-

falls in the NPR recommendations.
Secretary O'Leary is with us today. We will hear and discuss her

ideas, the administration's proposal for changing the Department's
structure and organization. The Secretary's recommendations will

serve as a point of reference for next Tuesday's meeting, at which

(1)



we will hear from two former Under Secretaries, three former Sec-
retaries of Energy.
Madam Secretary, we thank you and your staff for joining us. We

look forward to your testimony. Let me ask my colleagues and the
ranking member in particular, Mrs. Maloney of New York, if they
wish to make an opening statement before we swear in the witness.
Mrs. Maloney. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and wel-

come Secretary O'Leary. I am pleased you could join us today to

explain the National Performance Review initiatives at the Depart-
ment of Energy.
As you know, I am a big supporter of the National Performance

Review. It is a serious attempt to look at what the Government
does and ask how it can be done better and more cost-effectively.

We have seen great strides and improvements in Government pro-
curement, which have saved millions of dollars, and we look for-

ward to hearing your statement today.

Later today we will hear testimony from a number of witnesses
who want to abolish one or another department. As you know, the
Department of Energy is on many of those lists. I am concerned
that many of these proposals are more the subject of fashion than
investigation.

It is relatively easy to call for abolishing a cabinet level depart-
ment, but between that call and reality lies a great deal of work.
The Department of Energy was created as a result of the energy
crisis of the late 1970's. The American public, forced to line up lor

gasoline, demanded Grovernment action.

The Government action to that crisis made it clear that the Na-
tion's Energy policy lacked the cohesion of unified leadership. The
Department of Energy was not created at a bureaucratic whim. It

was created because the American public demanded Government
leadership in the field of Energy.
But there is much more to our Nation's Energy policy than as-

suring the flow of gasoline to the punips. Part of the contract with
the public that was written with the creation of the Department of

Energy was to clean up a number of places where hazardous waste
was dumped.
What are the plans on how this will be handled if DOE is abol-

ished?
DOE also runs the system of national labs which trace their his-

tory to the Manhattan Project and the first atomic bomb. Much of

the country's weapons research has been done there. What are the

proposals for handling energy research if the Department is abol-

ished?
I could go on listing the many functions within the Department

of Energy which are important to the country, but the point is

whether or not there is a Department of Energy, there is energy
policy that must be made and carried out. Deciding where and
what happens is not a trivial exercise. We have very little experi-

ence witn abolishing cabinet-level departments, and for that reason
we should move cautiously. That is one of the reasons it is so im-
portant that Chairman Horn has called these hearings.
There are a number of questions to be answered: What functions

should be abolished? What should be done with those that remain?
How do we make sure a unified policy remains in place? How do



we monitor service to the public? But perhaps the first, should this

action originate in Congress?
I hope these hearings will begin to address many of the questions

that need to be raised, but I have no delusion that these 2 days
of hearings with only administration witnesses supporting the De-
partment s will suffice. So far, the selection of outside witnesses
nas been very one-sided. If we are to carry out our responsibility

in this area, it is important that we do it carefully and with bal-

ance.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr, Horn. Thank you very much. I now yield to the chairman

of the full committee, Mr. dinger of Pennsylvania.
Mr. Clinger. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and Madam

Secretary. I want to just welcome you to the committee and com-
mend you on your stewardship of the Department of Energy.

I would also say that I think we here and you share an interest

and a desire to make Government work better, cost less, and be
more efficient, and I would commend you on the steps you have
taken to do that in the Department or Energy. We may disagree
on how far that ought to go, and that will be part of the discussion
I am sure this morning and in the coming days.

We are embarked on a very controversial, but I think an impor-
tant debate as to the size and scope and purpose of the Federal
Government, and I think there are going to be many areas where
we are going to be in agreement. I have had an opportunity to meet
with the Vice President, discuss his views, and he has met with our
committee, so we hope that we can do this in a cooperative basis,

and I am just delighted that you can come before us today and give

us your views.
Thank you very much.
Ms. O'Leary. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Horn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Mascara from Pennsylvania.
Mr. Mascara. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to commend you at the beginning for holding these series

of hearings on making government work. I must say at the onset
that I am opposed to the meat axe approach my Republican col-

leagues have indicated they want to take to make changes in many
programs in the departments and eliminating some of them. Never-
theless, I am hopeful these hearings will at least provide some dis-

cussion of ways to turn this meat axe approach into a more clear-

headed path for reforming departments and agencies.
I concur with the assessment that the American people have sent

a clear message that they want their Grovernment at all levels to

modernize its functions. They want Government to be yanked into

the 21st century, and they want it to provide the essential services

the public requires, in the most efficient and sound method as pos-
sible.

But I do not think that means that they want us to leave them
with a shell of a government. Nor do I think that means we should
be dismantling departments and shuffling vital functions to an-
other department or agency only to end up saving taxpayers pen-
nies rather than the promised millions and billions of dollars. Be-
cause I believe Grovernment needs to be reformed top to bottom, the



President and the Vice President should be commended for their
sincere and thoughtful efforts to reinvent Government.

I only wish that we would give departments and agencies time
to complete their own reviews rather than pushing them off the
plank without receiving a fair trial. I must also say I concur with
the comments made by my Democratic colleagues that it is unfortu-
nate that this hearing could not be held prior to the Budget Com-
mittee action on the fiscal 1996 budget resolution.

I fear the die has already been cast and any comments of support
for the Departments of Energy, Education, and Commerce will fall

on deaf ears. I am afraid this will turn out to be another situation

where even my Republican friends will pray the Senate once again
demonstrates some restraint.

I must also indicate I regret that the panel of witnesses that will

present testimony is not more balanced. Surely the committee staff

should have invited respected scholars from a more nonpartisan in-

stitute such as the Brookings Institute. They surely would present
a more unbiased and forthright assessment of the agencies in ques-
tion and the importance of their historic functions.

Finally, I must admit I have a parochial interest in today's ses-

sion. The reorganization plan recently announced by Secretary
O'Leary calls for consolidating the administration and management
of the Pittsburgh Energy Technology Center with a similar facility

located in Morgantown, WV. The Pittsburgh center, located in mv
district, employs some 300 people and performs premier research
into clean coal technology.

I must say. Madam Secretary, that in two of the five counties
that I represent, there are nearly 8 billion tons of coal reserves.

This certainly has to be a factor in determining whether this center
would stay open or not.

While I am obviouslv concerned about retaining jobs in my dis-

trict, above and beyond that I think we should not willy-nilly aban-
don such important research efforts. The American people would
certainly not be well served if this is the end result.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. Thank you. I now yield to Mr. Fox from Pennsylvania

for an opening statement.
Mr. Fox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, I would like to echo the comments of my colleagues re-

garmng your leadership on moving these issues forward, and I am
grateful for the efforts that you and your subcommittee have taken.

I know that Chairman dinger feels the same way. I realize that
today's hearing will be in three parts to consider proposals for re-

structuring the programs and functions of the Depaitments of En-
ergy and Education, this morning's hearing focusing strictly, of

course, on Department of Energy.
Mr. Chairman, there is widespread belief that the Department

should be reorganized and restructured. The Department of Energy
was originally created to deal with the Energy crisis the country
experienced in the 1970's when we had gasoline lines and natural
gas shortages, for example, and the prospect of inevitable energy
shortages and ever-increasing energy prices.

The crisis, however, is in large part the result of price and alloca-

tion controls imposed by the Federal Government. As President



Reagan then observed, the country suffered not from a shortage of
energy but from a surplus of Government. The Federal oil price
and allocation controls made it illegal, literally a Federal offense,

to move gasoline around the country when supplies grew tight.

Gasoline lines ended after these controls were dismantled in
1981. During the 1980's market-based energy conservation worked
quite well. The economy grew one-third and energy use remained
flat. However, the Department of Energy spent more than $55 bil-

lion for energy research alone.

It is therefore reasonable to ask whether the country has re-

ceived a full and fair return on that investment. Various proposals
have been made to transfer, reorganize, privatize or otherwise sell

off those functions. With these proposals in mind, I am anxious to

hear from today's witnesses. I particularly want to welcome, along
with my colleagues. Secretary O'Leary to the subcommittee and
look forward to hearing her testimony.
Thank you again, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. I thank the gentleman, I now yield for an opening

statement to the gentleman from South Carolina, Mr. Spratt.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
The issue before us, as I see it, is not whether we will kill the

agencies that this Department encompasses. What we are talking
about if I can use a ghoulish metaphor, is to decapitate the Depart-
ment and take its dismembered parts and graft them on to other
agencies and departments of the Grovernment. So that raises the
question, if what we are about is saving money, is whether it saves
money, how much do we save by decapitating the Secretary of the
Department of Energy and then taking its dismembered parts and
grafting it on to other Government agencies?

I would like to know the number, because I fear that what we
will do if we disrupt the Department, first of all, we will disrupt
an ongoing program for restructuring to save money which is in

place and has already produced results. We have seen in South
Carolina, 4,000 man layoff at Savannah River.

If we transfer these dismembered parts to other agencies, it will

inevitably take the other agencies some period of time, maybe a
year, maybe 2 years to get on top of their new management respon-
sibilities and implement the same sort of cost savings and person-
nel reductions that this Department already knows that it can un-
dertake.

Second, I am concerned that one of the major undertakings of the
Department on the defense program side right now, there are two,
one is stockpile stewardship, an alliterative title for trying to move
from an area where we have an active weapons development and
active nuclear testing program to a program where we keep the
core knowledge, the corporate memory, the institutional ability
that is necessary to maintain a nuclear arsenal without doing the
things that our nuclear complex has done for the last 50 years to
maintain its expertise and attract the talent it needs for the future.
This is a critical undertaking.

If we disrupt the progress of it, particularly at this point in time
where there is no testing, then we may suffer the consequences for
some years to come.



Third, this Department manages one of the Government's largest
contingent habilities. That liability ranges from $400 billion to $1.4
trillion, $1.5 trillion, depending on whose estimate you use and
how zealous we are about cleaning up the legacy of 40 to 50 years
of nuclear materials production. Those of us who live in States
where this legacy is a negative legacy know only too well what its

consequences could be if we don't forge ahead with environmental
restoration, environmental management, waste management, all of

these things that the Department has been doing in earnest. I

chaired the subcommittee that marked the budget, presented the
authorization budget for this Department on the DP side for the
last 4 years, and we moved more money into the environmental
restoration, more money into environmental management only to

pull back and say this is enough, this we think is about all they
can sensibly manage. They are doing a good job.

Tom Grumbly, I think, has come to grips with this problem as
well as anybody who has undertaken it. Now if we dismember the
Department, if we abolish the Department, people like Grumbly, I

can't speak for him, but people like him may decide it is time to

look elsewhere, so we lose this whole generation of talent and start

over again in another department, we lose a couple of years, we
lose a grip on the problem we have got now.
Now for this disruption which has real dollar consequences, I

want it to be shown in this hearing how much money we are going
to save by decapitating the Department and savings from overnead
costs. I am not convinced this is a good deal.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. Thank you for your very helpful comments.
I now yield to the gentleman from Virginia, Mr. Davis.
Mr. Davis. Thank vou, Mr. Chairman.
I appreciate your holding the hearings and I particularly appre-

ciate Secretary O'Leary appearing here today.
Frankly, I am going to associate myself with some of the remarks

today, but I am concerned about the haste with the wholesale
elimination and the dismantling of Federal agencies acting in haste
here before we have really considered what their functions are and
what does congressional micromanagement mean in these particu-

lar cases.

It is one thing to talk about eliminating an agency, it is another
thing to say what is going to happen to those functions, what is

going to happen to the full time equivalent employees, who is going
to carry out those functions, what are the messages that we are
sending for the morale of the employees that are left that we are
asking to do more with less.

I think all of these are questions that need to be carefully consid-

ered before we proceed to act in haste. If we are going to do more
with less, the morale of the existing employees is very, very impor-
tant.

I appreciate the actions Secretary O'Leary has taken proactively

in terms of saving money to date. I still have some questions about
that, but I think we need to approach this as partners in efforts

to downsize and right size government, but at the same time main-
tain its core functions and to act precipitously I think would be a

major mistake.



I appreciate your being here today and look forward to the dia-

log.

Thank you.
Mr. Horn. I now yield to the gentleman from Washington, Mr.

Tate, for an opening statement if he wishes.

Mr. Tate does not have a statement. Mr. Flanagan, the distin-

guished vice chairman of the subcommittee.
Mr. Flanagan. I thank the distinguished chairman of the sub-

committee.
I want to thank you for calling this hearing today in regard to

the restructuring of our cabinet departments and changing the way
in which Government services are delivered. With several depart-

ments facing major restructuring efforts, it is essential that we
identify the services with which Government should be involved in

delivering.

In making that judgment we must not only decide how those
services or functions can be delivered in the most efficient manner,
but we also must be careful to manage competent distribution of

the services that fall outside of the government's realm of respon-
sibility and to guard against unacceptable lapses in services.

Today's testimony will not only be informative but critical in the
development of the legislation that help define Government's role

in providing assistance to the public. Secretary O'Leary's under-
standing of the usefulness of the tasks performed bv the Depart-
ment of Energy is certainly valuable as we are faced with specific

budget cutting plans that propose the elimination of this Depart-
ment altogether.

Congress has to make tough decisions in making a genuine effort

to bring the budget under control and with entire departments on
the chopping block, the more informed we are before we make
those decisions, the better off we will be.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.
Mr. Horn. I thank the gentleman.
Let me say before we turn to Secretary O'Leary, I want to clarify

the record. I heard some language that said decapitation and other
things. Speaking only for the chairman and myself, the chairman
of the relevant subcommittee, neither one of us have ever com-
mented on wanting closed any of these three departments. We are
completely open on it.

Just to get the record straight, I happened to head a national co-

alition to establish the Department of Education. I have my prob-
lems with some of the administration of the Department of Edu-
cation under several secretaries. That doesn't necessarily mean I

favor the dissolution of the Department, and it doesn't necessarily

mean I would favor keeping the Department.
I think this is a chance led by Vice President Gore and the Na-

tional Performance Review to take a look at Grovernment. Thomas
Jefferson was often quoted as saying every 20 years maybe we
ought to have a revolution in the G<)vernment.

Well, in a sense we are having a peaceful revolution just looking
at what are we doing, how are we doing it, who should do what,
and which agency should do what the President and the Congress
think the American people need to have done at this point in time,
and also obviously what the American people think about it.
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Now, we have a tradition, Madam Secretary, that we put all our
witnesses under oath, even cabinet officers, so if you don't mind
standing and raise your right hand.
Ms. O'Leary. I don't mind. I would be delighted to.

Mr. Horn, Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you will be
giving before this subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth
and nothing but the truth?
Ms. O'Leary. I do.

[Witness sworn.]
Mr. Horn. Thank you very much.
Ms. O'Leary. Certainly.

Mr. Horn. We will put your written statement in the record at
this point, and then we would like you, as you and I talked on the
phone, to look us in the eye, talk irom the heart, as opposed to a
summary of that statement and then we will have questions for 5
minutes each, and we will alternate between sides, majority and
minority, and we will stay as long as you can stay.

STATEMENT OF HAZEL O'LEARY, SECRETARY OF ENERGY
Ms. O'Leary. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of this

committee. I would first request that the folder which is at your
desk containing hard copies of overheads which might further illus-

trate comments that I make be appended to the record, and I will,

as always is my practice, avoid reading anything.
[Note.—Due to high printing costs, the information referred to

above can be found in subcommittee files.]

Ms. O'Leary. First of all, I would like to commend the committee
for its very thoughtful approach to these issues. Many people have
surmised that perhaps a budget process is not exactly the most ap-
propriate process to examine missions and functions in Govern-
ment and determine where they might best serve the constituents
and their customers, the American public, and so this hearing, full

and rich and examining questions of management and cost savings
and missions I believe is very important to illustrate what many
understand should happen, and that is that the Government must
deliver its services in a much more cost-effective manner and per-
haps most importantly it must deliver services that its customers,
the American public, wants.

I would like to begin by stepping into deep water because I find
that I must correct some members of this august panel. I would
like to go back to the history of the Department of Energy, and I

want to point out that first of all I was there. I had the honor and
the distinction and often the pleasure of working for Jim Schles-

inger, the first Secretary of Energy.
Interestingly enough, I was also a part of the Nixon administra-

tion and the Cost of Living Council which first established price

controls on energy supplies. So the supply control of energy oc-

curred in the Nixon administration for the first turn, not the
Carter administration, but more importantly, I think I need to cor-

rect for the record the missions that were assigned to the Depart-
ment of Energy at its inception, and I do mean I helped craft some
of that legislation.

It pulled together the functions which have been described by
Congressman Spratt, those national security functions that then in-



volved the manufacturing and the design of nuclear weapons, and
that was the major function of the Department of Energy, having
moved its assignment from first the Atomic Energy Commission,
then to ERDA, and finally to the Department of Energy.
At the very last moment when that piece was being pulled to-

gether, it was determined to also add the energy functions because
it appeared appropriate since much of the work being done in the

Energy Research and Development Agency or ERDA addressed
questions of energy supply and energy efficiency. From that center

comes what are now and have always been the missions of the De-
partment of Energy.

First of all, grounded in science and technology, well known to

all by the three national weapons laboratories—Lawrence Liver-

more, Sandia, and Los Alamos—but also augmented by the 10
large multipurpose laboratories and then the addition of some oth-

ers that do specific and very focused engineering or work in energy
technology and fossil energy. That is the heart and the soul, the

complement of the Department of Energy is its basic science and
its applied science and technology which serves the other mission
areas. National defense, which had at its inception been focused on,

as I have indicated, our national security requirement to keep us
safe and win World War II and finally to win the cold war at the
end of the last decade.

In addition, the cleanup mission of the some 2.4 million acres of

land that the Department of Energy now owns and used for the
purpose of manufacturing and testing those weapons has become
the larger share of our assignment. That is because in the early

days, through the 1950's, and into the late 1989 when finally the
paratroopers stormed our Rocky Flats facility because the issues of

husbanding the environment had become so critical to the safety of

the workers at that facility, the Justice Department came in to

take control of what was happening there. At that point the focus

both in the public and in administrations became how do we clean

up after the winning of the war, the two wars.
The other mission which is well known is the energy mission.

That mission never was exclusively command and control of the en-

ergy sector, but always had engaged itself in the development of

precompetitive technology to improve energy use and to address
questions of pollution control and also economics. I thought it was
very important to outline those missions because I believe, as does
the public, most recently shown by a Harris Poll where 64 percent
of the American citizens questioned determined that the functions
of the Department of Energy ought to be performed in the Depart-
ment of Energy, but they asked for what I believe we have been
attempting to deliver, which is a more cost-effective and business
like management of the Department.

I now want to move on to that issue, and I would also ask you
if you have a moment, it might be useful to look at page No. 3 in

the folder that I have provided for you. That page outlines a contin-

uum that shows that this Secretary of Energy began to address the

questions of the Department's strategic mission post cold war early
in the summer of my first year, and I involved the entire Depart-
ment, its laboratory directors, its contractors, and its full time Fed-
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eral employees in the determination of what ought to be our func-
tions, given the mandates of the Congress and our administration.

I tell you this because it is important for you to understand that
I believe for the first time in the history of the Department of En-
ergy, I repeat I was there, but the Department of Energy's employ-
ees understand their work and more importantly they have meas-
urable and deliverable goals in each one of these four business
lines, and that has set the foundation for the work we have done
now with the Vice President that has been called National Per-
formance Review.

I would go further by pointing out to you that this review has
involved, I believe, not only the mission but the business of run-
ning the Department of Energy. My friends from Wall Street tell

me that if it v/ere a Fortune 500 holding company rather than a
Grovemment agency, it would be Fortune 2700.

I have attempted with my business background to run this com-
pany just as though it were a business, with accountabilities and
looking at cost. The first thing we did within the first 2 months at

the Department was to freeze contractor salaries because we have
discovered that they were above their market rates in the regions.

That brought down a savings of $1.5 billion projected over 5 years,
I think that is rather dramatic in Grovemment. We went further.

We were aware of the fact that the contracts in the Department
had been let simply cost-plus, which encourages our contractors to

simply charge us as much as they can for performing the duties

that they take on without any negotiation with respect to what
price that should be. Not even a homeowner would have a bath-
room remodeled and do the same thing.

We have simply applied common sense business practices to the
way we now conduct our business with our contractors who do
most of our work such that in the two contracts that have been
relet this year we can project $3 billion in savings simply from
managing the thing like any homeowner would.

I don't want to go through this entire thing, but if you will look

at the list here you will see that the Department of Energy has en-

gaged imminent industrialists, energy economists, all to help us
not only understand how we manage the place better but more im-

portantly how we deliver product to the American public in our
four mission areas that make sense and cut costs.

I now want to move to those cost cuttings. Well before the Con-
gress began to delve in these issues, we made a commitment to our
administration that we could cut the Department of Energy's budg-
et by $14.1 billion over 5 years. That is in addition to the savings

I have already outlined. The way we propose to do that if you will

simply look here at the chart displayed and if I am very fast I can
tell wnere you it is.

Mr. Horn. Page 6.

Ms. O'Leary. Thank you, sir, you are very fast.

. It will give you a look in the center at the line option for the De-

partment of Energy as to what the Department is itself proposing.

First of all, we are proposing the sale of those inherently private

sector functions that we understand that the Government ought
not now undertake. That would include the sale of the majority of

the power marketing administrations which simply provide the
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transmission and the distribution for electricity moving into small
cities and communities in the United States of America.
The savings there would be in excess of $3 billion. In addition

we are proposing the sale of the petroleum reserves which back in

the beginning of the 21st century it seemed important as the Navy
was being propelled using petroleum that the Government have its

own supply. I think we are clear now that the Government really

ought not be in that business and what those of us who have been
in that business understand is that the Government requirement
for simply taking the capital from that venture and putting it into

the budget does not g^ve you the best production out of that facil-

ity, so we are proposing a sale there.

We are also proposing the sale of high enriched uranium which
is in excess, and that money should go back to the American tax-

payer. Add to that the alignment which was announced earlier this

month, and you will come up with a figure in excess of $7 billion.

If you would add to that figure the $4.4 billion that we have al-

ready committed to save in our weapons cleanup program, you can
see that we are well above $10 billion and almost approaching $11
billion in the commitments that we have made to find savings. In
addition to that, what remains to be done is a report I am looking
forward to receiving from Daniel Yergin, an eminent economist who
also is a Pulitzer Prize winner, having written several books on en-

ergy and its foreign policy implications.

He and any number of other industrialists, academicians, sci-

entists are going to help us determine how we suck from this budg-
et $1.2 billion out of our applied technology programs and the idea
there is to save the best, but that is truly not precompetitive, that
the private sector can and will do alone ought to be stripped from
our budget. We are prepared to do that.

The other remaining item to be delivered is to further deliver on
the $1.4 billion that we are committed to save resulting from the
work that Bob Galvin, the former chair of Motorola did for us in

that task force of private citizens that took a look at our 10 largest

laboratories. We have now booked $300 million there and what I

owe and can deliver by the next budget cycle is $1.1 billion.

I would say in sum that I doubt any other secretary of any cabi-

net agency has taken the time to not only understand the mission
but to apply to it the business practices that I have had the privi-

lege of learning in the private sector.

The other thing we bring to this party, I believe, is a true under-
standing that you don't simply cut budget by mindlessly whacking
program. We have tried to manage well, we have identified oppor-
tunities for savings in areas like travel, in areas such as sale of as-

sets.

We found after 1 day the Secretary acting almost like a grand-
mother decided it was time for spring cleaning, and it occurred to

me that no one had ever taken a look at the Department of Ener-
gy's warehouses to find out what was in there.

Well, guess what we found out? We have 10,000 pounds of pre-

cious metal, plutonium—I am sorry, platinum—it is interesting
how involved I am in this work—platinum, gold and silver, which
ought to be sold in commodity markets, and we found someone to

help us do that and not depress the market. We have also found
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5,000 tons of semiprecious metal—copper, stainless steel, alu-

minum—which people were simply holding against some occasion
that they would need to use it.

Well, that is not just in time warehousing nor management of

supplies. We have applied both a practical look, a business-like
look at the Department of Energy, and I quite frankly would chal-

lenge anyone to take the time as we have done over the past 2
years to understand this Department, to understand its motivation.

It has been mentioned that Tom Grumblv, who heads our Envi-
ronmental Management Program, has really got a grip on things.

Well, the reason he has a grip on things is because I have told him
he needed to have a grip on things, and what needs to happen in

these agencies is you need to manage to mission.

We understand our mission, we understand that the mission
overall drives the economy of the United States of America and the
technology that we have delivered in partnership with the private
sector that well exceeds advantage to the American public in jobs,

in competitiveness internationally that well exceeds what we have
spent in the budget on our R&D side.

This is an important mission, one which I believe will be dis-

rupted if we simply apply the abolish approach. I was there when
the Department of Energy was pulled from bits and pieces, and I

will tell you that it was 2 years to settle down.
The work that we have before us, both with respect to replacing

nuclear testing with the use of scientific proxies for testing requires

a continuum of thought, discipline, and leadership and should we
fail in this task, then we place ourselves in the position to walk
away from what was done at the U.N. last week when we signed
unconditionally the nonproliferation treaty which gives us an op-

portunity to go at a zero option for nuclear weapons.
More importantly, in the mission of cleaning up from the dis-

mantlement of nuclear weapons, we have applied an approach that
requires both the observation of the safety of the workers at the
plant and keeping to mission which means that we have to disman-
tle these weapons on the timetable that we have committed and
the treaty that the Senate has ratified. These missions cannot be
walked away from.

If you would like another crucial mission, I will tell you it is in

the area of nonproliferation where the Department of Energy has
the leadership both in terms of the technology know-how ana also

the policy forcing to ensure that not only is nuclear weapons mate-
rial safe in the United States but working with our colleagues in

Russia and through the International Energy Agency to ensure
that there will be no loose nuclear materials sold from the backs
of taxicabs in Pakistan or other places in the world.

These missions are critical, and 2 months ago I simply defended
the missions of the Department of Energy. On May 3rd when we
announced this final piece of our alignment, I told my colleagues

at the Department of Energy that I am now the advocate for the

continuation of this agency because I understand its missions, its

people are pulling together and we will accomplish this downsizing
which will take 3,788 real human beings, not FTEs, not employees,
but real souls off of our rolls, and I believe it needs to be done in

the most humane fashion with a clear guide to ensuring that the
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people who remain to do this work stay committed to these very
important missions that affect our national security and our eco-

nomic security.

You asked that it be from the heart, Mr. Chairman, it was from
the heart, and I hope that it had enough fact in it to drive to the

important questions that I know this committee would want to ask.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Ms. O'Leary follows:]

Prepared Statement of Hazel O'Leary, Secretary of Energy

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I appreciate this opportunity
to testify about the missions of the Department of Ener^ and about our plan to

deliver improved performance, a 27 percent reduction in employment, and more
than $14 billion in deficit reduction over the next five years. I commend you for em-
barking upon this ambitious and important set of hearings to address how we—Con-
gress and the Executive Branch working together—can meet the imperative of cre-

ating a government that works better and costs less. At the Department of Energy,
we are meeting that challenge head on—and have been for the past two years.

I particularly welcome the chance to testify at today's hearing, which will address
the subject of consolidation and restructuring within the Executive Branch.
There has been much talk over the few past weeks about the possibility of dis-

mantling various Cabinet agencies, including the Department of Energy. Last De-
cember, when such proposals began to surface in public debate, I took a firm stance
regarding the necessity of continuing the Department's core missions in national se-

curity and non-proliferation, weapons site clean-up, energy resources, and the
science and technology which provides the foundation for all we deliver. I felt then

—

as I do still—that these missions are inherently governmental responsibilities and
cannot be abandoned. What is different today, however, is that 1 have become a
committed and determined advocate for continuation of these missions within a
streamlined Department of Energy.
My position has evolved for two principal reasons. First, because we have dem-

onstrated that we know how to cut costs while continuing to perform our vital func-

tions. Specifically, we have already provided the details on now we will deliver

—

with the help of Congress—$1L5 billion of the $14.1 billion in reductions' over five

years that we committed to last December. Second, because dismantlement of the
Department of Energy would not provide significant savings. While dismantlement
of the Department o? Energy may provide a symbolic political victory for those who
advocate such action, the price we pay may be severe disruption to missions that

affect the security and quality of life of millions of Americans.

CRITICAL MISSIONS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

The Department of Enei^ is vested with public missions that fundamentally af-

fect the security, prosperity, and quality of life of this and future generations. Any
discussion about the possible fate of the Department must begin with an assessment
of these missions—wnich I assert will continue whether or not there is a Depart-
ment of Energy. This is the case, not because of institutional or bureaucratic inertia,

but because our missions are vital governmental functions. Our four core missions
are as follows:

Protecting National Security and Reducing the Nuclear Danger: The Department's
defense laboratories and former production facilities are the Nation's repository of
nuclear weapons-related knowledge and engineering competence. This unique and
irreplaceable human resource helped to win World War ll and the Cold War and
will contribute to the security of future generations by:

• Continuing the dismantlement of nuclear weapons, which currently are
being taken apart by the Department of Energy at a rate of approximately
1,500 per year. Successful performance of this mission may mean that children
in the 21st Century live in a world where stockpiles of thousands of nuclear
weapons can only be found in history books;

• Ensuring a safe and reliable nuclear stockpile without nuclear testing,

through the use of experimental facilities that simulate weapons. This science-
based approach represents a historic and extremely challenging transformation
in the Nation's nuclear weapons program. Successful performance of this mis-
sion will contribute toward achieving a global ban on nuclear weapons testing;

• Guarding against nuclear terrorism and curbing the proliferation of weap-
ons of mass destruction. With large quantities of weapons-grade materials
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throughout the world, the Department's non-proliferation programs are an in-

dispensable investment to help ensure that future generations are not subjected
to the horror that would come from a terrorist attack involving a nuclear aevice.

It is not a scare tactic to say that an Oklahoma City or World Trade Center
bombing of the future could involve a terrorist's nuclear device. The Depart-
ment's expertise is helping guard against such a possibility.

Weapons Site Cleanup and Environmental Management: The Department handles
some of the most challenging and highest risk environmental problems in the world.
Thousands of radioactive and hazaroous waste sites in 35 states require careful and
highly sophisticated approaches to cleanup to ensure the protection of public health
and safety. This program has resulted in the cleanup of 16 former nuclear weapons
and industrial sites, cleanup of 14 uranium mills tailing sites, removal of 30 million

cubic meters of contaminated soil and uranium tailings, treatment of 2.4 billion gal-

lons of ground water; and disposal of 50,000 cubic meters of low-level waste. How-
ever, our Environmental Management program is more than simply cleanup. For ex-

ample, its responsibilities also include:
• Safely managing 26 metric tons of plutonium, a highly toxic and radioactive

material that is a key ingredient of nuclear weapons;
• Reducing the risk ofexplosion in large, underground high-level radioactive

waste tanks; and
• Safely stabilizing, decommissioning, and decontaminating over 7,000 build-

ings across the former nuclear weapons production complex.
An integral part of the Environmental Management program is a robust tech-

nology development effort. New and improved technologies are essential to providing
cost-effective techniques for addressing the most complex environmental problems
the Department faces. More than 50 new technologies were demonstrated last year,

and the recently released Baseline Environmental Management Report estimates
that tens of billions of dollars can be saved by developing new technologies over the
course of the program.

Science and Technology: The Department is one of the Nation's top supporters of

fundamental research across a broad range of scientific disciplines, including phys-
ics, materials science, chemistry, and structural biology. Advances in science and
technology provide the long-term basis for economic growth, job creation, and our
quality oi liie. The Department's scientific work is world-class and constantly recog-

nized for its excellence. Nearly 60 Nobel laureates performed their prize-winning
work through support by the Department or one of its predecessor agencies. Our
wide-ranging mission in science and technology includes

• Wond-Class Laboratories: The Department operates 29 laboratories that

employ more than 25,000 scientists and engineers. The multi-disciplinary, prob-

lem-solving culture at these laboratories is tackling scientific challenges as far-

reaching as designing superconducting materials that could transform our use
of energy, characterizing and modelling all aspects of combustion processes to

contribute to new engine designs, and studying the basic building blocks of mat-
ter—as demonstrated by the recent discovery of the "top quark" at the Depart-
ment's Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory (Batavia, Illinois).

• Unique research facilities: Within the Department's laboratories, we operate

world-class research facilities that serve more than 15,000 scientists each year
from hundreds of colleges, universities, federal laboratories, and private sector

companies in all 50 states. These user facilities—including particle accelerators,

research reactors, and highly-specialized materials and diagnostics labora-

tories—are the tools that are enaoling American scientists and engineers to ex-

plore scientific frontiers that literally could not be reached in any other fashion.

While the precise benefits to society of this work cannot be predicted, we know
that they will be many—just as fundamental research on the atom in the early

1900s and the discovery of the electron led to the telecommunications industry

of today, and discovery of the DNA double-helix in the early 1950s led to the

biotechnology revolution.

Eniiancing Energy Security: Helping guard against energy supply disruptions and
their associated threats to the United States remain fundamental priorities for the

Department; The reasons why are clear: By the year 2010, U.S. oil imports will

grow to 60 percent of domestic consumption and the Persian Gulf nations will pro-

vide more than 70 percent of the world's oil exports—surpassing their peak of 67
percent in the embargo year of 1974. The Department's diverse portfolio of energy
supply and efficiency-related R&D helps ensure against future energy crises that

could cripple our econonriy. The Department's energy mission involves
• High-payoff R&D in partnership with industry and academia: The Depart-

ment has pioneered high-risk technologies that today are resulting in tens of

billions of dollars in consumer energy savings each year. Further R&D aimed
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at enhancing the production and efficiency of conventional fuels and developing
alternative energy sources must be explored as part of a National program to

provide secure, reliable, and diverse energy resources for the future.
• Maintaining the National Oil Stockpile: The Department maintains the

Strategic Petrokum Reserve, which now contains nearly 592 million barrels of
oil. This reserve could be used within a one year period to substantially blunt
the impact on our economy of a future oil shortage.

DOING OUR WORK BETTER

The Department of Energy has a proud legacy of accomplishments in each of

these mission areas. Our programs have expanded human understanding of the
world, created new fields oi science and technology, generated innovations that cre-

ated new commercial markets, and, in the case of national security, determined the
course of world history both at the end of World War II and up through the conclu-

sion of the Cold War. The Department is committed to further excellence in pursuit
of its missions, yet we have long known that we can perform our missions better
and at lower costs through fundamental changes in the way we do business. These
changes already are well underway.
Through a deliberate and phased strategy, we are achieving a major organiza-

tional transformation at the Department of Energy. Specifically
• We created the Department's first-ever Strategic Plan. With the involve-

ment of hundreds of employees from all levels of the Department, we created
a framework and shared vision for our missions in National Security, Energy
Resources, Weapons Site Cleanup, and Science and Technology—which is at the
center of all of our mission work. Performance in each of these mission areas
provides derivative benefits to U.S. economic productivity.

• We initiated a major overhaul of the Departments contracting practices.

This contract reform initiative already has secured more than $3 billion in ex-

pected savings through re-negotiated, performance -based contracts for manage-
ment of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory and the Rocky Flats facil-

ity. Additional billions of dollars in savings will come from increased competi-
tion and performance-based contract management across our complex.

• We commissioned the first independent Post-cold War review of the t)epart-

ments 10 National Laboratories. Under the leadership of Robert Galvin, Cnair-
man of the Executive Board of Motorola, Inc^ the Task Force on Alternative Fu-
tures for the Department of Energy Laboratories produced a landmark assess-
ment of the laboratories. The Department now is aggressively implementing the
report's recommendations in order to reduce the cost of doing business at the
Department's labs and helping sustain their long record of scientific discovery
ana technological innovation.

• We launched an ambitious review of our $2 billion applied energy R&D pro-

gram. Under the chairmanship of Daniel Yergin, President of Cambridge En-
ergy Research Associates and author of the Pufitzer-prize winning history of the
world oil industry, this Task Force is conducting a comprehensive appraisal of
the technology investments in our enei^ R&D portfolio and how we conduct
those programs. A final report will be delivered on June 13.

• We also launched a major review of the Department's complex system of

regulating nuclear safety at our facilities. This review is marshalling some of
the most seasoned experts in the Nation to assist us in enhancing the health
and safety of our facilities, while contributing to the productivity, efficiency, and
cost performance of the programmatic work. A final report will be completed in
December 1995.

Finally, in the fall of 1994 we announced our Strategic Alignment Initiative

—

Phase II of our strategic planning process. This 120-day, employee-driven effort was
given the job of identifying better, more cost-effective means of performing the core
missions defined in our strategic plan.

STTRATEGIC ALIGNMENT AND DOWNSIZING

The results of our Strategic Alignment and Downsizing Initiative were announced
on May 3. This plan, copies of which have been provided to the Committee, rep-

resents a major package of organizational, legislative, and cost-cutting actions that
will drive down costs while enhancing our mission performance. Highfights include:

• Workforce Reductions: Employment of the Department of Energy will be cut
by 3,788 (27 percent) over the next five years. This includes a 34 percent cut
in Headquarters staff and a 21 percent cut in field office personnel. More than
65 percent of our workforce reduction will occur during the first two years; total

savings liom these employee cuts will approach $1 billion. With the Depart-
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merit's commitment to reduce the size of its budget by $14.1 billion over five

years, these workforce reductions will ensure that employee levels are
rightsized to our budget.

• Office closures: We will close 12 field offices and consolidate headquarters
personnel from 16 offices in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area to four by
the year 2000.

• Reduced Overhead Costs: Overhead costs will be cut-through many initia-

tives, including:

1) Travel costs will be cut by $175 million over five years, from a current base
of $400 million annually (75 percent of which is contractor travel);

2) More than $75 million in revenues and reduced overhead will be secured
over five years through sale of excess inventories of precious metals, non-pre-
cious metals, and rare gases that were needed during the Cold War for the
weapons production complex, but which can be sold today;

3) We will save $460 million over five years through reductions in the use
of support service contractors; and

4) We will save $200 million over five years by restructuring our information
management systems.

• Office Alignment and Restructuring Various oflices within the Department
will be restructured to eliminate redundancies and to achieve a new level of in-

tegration of work across the Department. In addition, major process re-engi-

neering will be done throughout the Department—which will enable us to re-

move layers of employees and needless bureaucratic steps.

• Privatization of Functions: Legislation has been submitted to Congress to

privatize the Western Area, Southwestern and Southeastern Power Marketing
Administrations, and the Naval Petroleum and Oil Shale Reserves. Enactment
of these bills will result in $5.3 billion in deficit reduction.

The elements of this package represent real downsizing, privatizing, and
corporatizing—which seem to be the buzzwords of choice in governance these days.

More importantly, these actions will deliver billions of dollars in savings to the
American public.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENT OF $14.1 BILUON IN DEFICIT REDUCTION

The Department's Strategic Alignment and Downsizing package—including the
legislative proposals now before Congress—will contribute $7.1 billion in savings to-

ward our commitment, announced in December 1994, to reduce the Department's
budget by $14.1 billion over five years. The balance of our commitment is being met
in the following fashion:

• Restructuring the Environmental Management Program ($4.4 billion sav-

ings): We are instituting major inlprovements in the way we manage and con-

trol costs and in how we set priorities within our environmental management
program. A clear demonstration of our cost-cutting approach to business was
demonstrated in the renegotiated contract for cleanup activities at the Hanford
site in Washington state; the new contract, announced May 4, 1995, will save
more than $1 billion. We also are reducing our contractor workforce to eliminate

unnecessary layers of workers, while leaving in place the workers with the right

skills and expertise for the environmental work. We will have reduced the con-

tractor workforce at environmental management sites by 17,000 by the end of

Fiscal Year 1996. These initiatives, among others, will deliver on our $4.4 bil-

lion cost-cutting commitment.
• Reprioritizing applied energy R&D ($1.2 billion savings): The Task Force on

Strategic Energy R&D, which is reviewing the Department's entire applied en-

ergy R&D program, and the President's Council of Advisors for Science and
Technology, which is reviewing the Department's fusion energy program, will

complete their work this summer in time to inform the Department's FY1997
budget. Reconmiendations from these studies will assist in allocating $1.2 bil-

lion in reductions over the next five years.
• Reducing the cost of work at the Department's I^aboratories: Up to $1.4 bil-

lion in savings will be delivered by implementing recommendations of the

Galvin Task Force report on Alternative Futures for the DOE National Labora-

tories. Specifically, we are simplifying our oversight of the laboratories and will

greatly reduce micromanagement—one of the principal concerns of the Galvin
Task Force. These actions will enable the laboratories to remove costly and re-

dundant administrative systems and personnel that drive up costs.
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THE UNDERLYING PHILOSOPHY

The initiatives that we have been pursuing for the past two years—beginning
with development of our strategic plan and continuing through the Strategic Align-
ment eflbrt—have been based on more than the simple imperative of deficit reduc-
tion. Our primary goals are the same as have been articulated for the President's
National Performance Review. We want to create a government that works better
and costs less. Specifically, at the Department of Energy we have determined
that

• Fundamental processes which govern how the Department operates are
cumbersome, ineflicient, and drain our employees of energies that could be
spent more productively in other ways. In response, we are re-engineering these
processes and eliminating unnecessary steps so that we can sharpen our focus
on mission results.

• Like most bureaucracies, the Department has responded to problems in the
past by adding new layers of management and new processes on top of old ones.
In response, we are de-layering the organization, establishing flatter organiza-
tional structures and empowering our employees to meet customer needs.

• Redundancies within the Department and inefficient procedures have per-
sisted from one Administration to the next, without a fundamental rethinking
of how to do things better. In response, we have seized the initiative to make
major changes in the way we operate, and now—with completion of the Strate-
gic Alignment and Downsizing Initiative—we are accelerating change.

THE DEPARTMENT'S PLAN MAKES SENSE

What the American public wants is a government that makes sense. That is what
we are delivering through the plan that we have built over the past two years and
are implementing on a daily basis. Through analysis, strategic planning, and man-
agement attention at all levels of the Department, we are heading down a path that
wiU

• Use fewer resources by eliminating redundancies, reducing the workforce,
and streamlining processes.

• Reduce overhead expenses so that we deliver more mission activity for less
money.

• Discard old work and privatize, eliminate, or transfer functions that can be
performed better elsewhere.

• Eliminate unnecessary and redundant regulations and red tape that impose
excessive cost burdens on the Department's performance of its missions.

We have welcomed and encouraged the scrutiny that is leading to a new Depart-
ment of Energy, and our efforts appear to be paying off. According to an independ-
ent survey of major stakeholders—including elected officials located near DOE
clean-up sites, policymakers nationwide, and citizens who follow the Department's
activities—we have earned a new level of trust that did not exist two years ago.
Specifically, a 1994 stakeholder survey showed improvements over a 1992 baseline
survey in the following areas:

• 70 percent of the respondents believe that the Department's policies are ba-
sically on the right track, up from 60 percent;

• 51 percent of the respondents believe that the Department can be counted
on to "do the ri^t thing," up from 33 percent; and

• 43 percent of the respondents believe that the Department is committed to
impartial decision making, up from 31 percent.

Information such as this is important to consider in the context of discussions
about the possible dismantlement of the Department of Energy. The policy process
fundamentally is a competition of ideas, and what is at issue within this hearing
and within the national debate about reforming government in general, is who has
the better idea for how to deliver the enduring functions of the federal government.
Or, more specifically to this hearing, who has the better idea for how to perform
the national security, weapons site clean-up, energy, and science and technology
missions of the Department of Energy.
This should not be a partisan debate, for what we are talking about are missions

that affect the safety, security, and quality of life of real people—today and into the
future. It is in this li^t that I believe that the Department has put the best plan
on the table. In contrast, proposals to dismantle or consolidate our functions would
cause serious risks, without delivering significant benefits.
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RISKS OF DISMANTLEMENT OR AGENCY CONSOLIDATION

In addition to our plan to align and downsize the Department of Energy, there
exist two apparent options: 1) "dismantle" the Department and distribute its mis-
sions to other federal agencies, and 2) combine the Department of Energy's missions
with those of half a dozen other agencies to create a new Department of Science.
Both of these options raise serious concerns.
Dismantling the Department may initially sound appealing to those seeking a

bold step for deficit reduction, yet ddsmantlement alone will not produce significant

savings. The Reagan Administration learned that lesson in 1981, when it actively

pursued dismantlement of the Department of Energy. Early statements by Reagan
Administration ofiicials projected savings in excess of one billion dollars annually
through dismantlement of tne Department. Within six months, however, these esti-

mates had collapsed to only a few million dollars in savings per year as it became
clear that there was little to be saved through simply shuffling missions to other
agencies, since those missions would still require administrative and management
support wherever they were located.

That lesson should inform today's debate. Although the House Budget Resolution
released last week states that "orderly termination of the Department of Energy"
should begin in FY 1996, it has provided no plan or explanation for what this means
or how it would save money. More than two-thirds of the Department's budget sup-
ports weapons site clean up and waste management (39 percent) and nuclear weap-
ons, non-proliferation, and national security functions (28 percent). These activities

are not about to be "terminated."
Another major portion (16 percent) of the Department's budget involves basic

R&D that is a vital investment in our future. Research programs supported by the
Department of Energy have helped make our National R&D enterprise the envy of

the world. I have seen no evidence that the American public supports termination
of this work. Indeed, I would note that the current Congressional leadership agrees
that basic research should be sustained since it inherently is a governmental func-

tion.

Finally, approximately 15 percent of the Department's budget supports R&D
across a diverse range of energy technologies that hold the long-term potential of
delivering tens of billions of dollars in reduced annual consumer energy bills while
providing additional insurance against future energy shocks. In my view, and that
of many others, it would be short-sighted and potentially dangerous for the long-

term security interests of our Nation if we terminated fed.eral energy research. The
Department is committed to reducing its applied energy R&D programs by $1.2 bil-

lion over the next five years, but cuts beyond that level could cause abandonment
of high-risk R&D efforts that hold enormous potential for delivering improved en-

er^ options to future generations.
Those who call this work "corporate welfare," because it involves cost-shared part-

nerships between the government and industry, are denigrating the type of collabo-

rations that our international competitors know are essential in today's global mar-
ketplace. Through risk-sharing between the Department and the private sector, we
are accelerating the development of technologies for which there is a substantial

public purpose—enhanced energy security—and for which private investments can-

not be assumed. Although we will continue to debate the appropriate funding levels

for applied energy R&D, in the final analysis I do not believe the Nation will accept
termination of the federal role in energy R&D because enei^ is too important to

our long-term economic and security interests.

Through this analysis, it would appear that more than 85 percent of the Depart-
ment's mission activities would continue even under the rubric of termination oi the
Department. Transferring the enduring functions of the Department, however,
raises serious policy and management concerns.
Some have suggested transferring the Department's nuclear weapons functions to

the Department of Defense. However, the Department of Defense opposes such a

move. As explained by Secretary of Defense William Perry, in March 29, 1995, let-

ters to the Cnairmen of the House and Senate Armed Services Committees:

"Over the past 50 years, there has been a clear and distinct separation
of the nuclear weapons-related roles and responsibilities of the Department
of Defense and the Department of Energy (and its predecessor agencies).

This dual-agency approach has served the Nation well by creating institu-

tional checks and balances that are vital for meeting the performance, safe-

ty, and reliability requirements of the nuclear arsenal. With the new tech-

nical challenges of providing stewardship of the stockpile in the absence of

underground testing, this is not a time to be fundamentally restructuring

the management of these activities."
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This alao is not a time to be transferring the Department's Environmental Man-
agement programs to another agency. Over the past two years, we have made enor-
mous prop^ss in putting the program that we inherited on an aflbrdable path. For
the first time in this program's history, we are demonstrating major tangible results
(e.g., we completed 132 interim, and 32 larger-scale clean-ups in 1994—300 percent
more than targeted); we have developed new technologies that will lower clean-up
costs (e.g., 50 new technologies were aemonstrated last year); and we have achieved
enormous productivity gains across the entire program. Renegotiated contracts and
elimination of more than 17,(X)0 excess contractor employees between 1992 and
1996 will save more than $2 billion. These accomplishments have been the result

of concentrated management attention which almost certainly would be sacrificed if

the program were disrupted through a transfer to another agency.
The scenario of creating a Department of Science to receive parts if not all of the

Department of Enei^—as well as NASA, the National Science Foundation, the En-
vironmental Protection Agency, and parts of the Departments of Commerce and In-

terior—also does not seem workable or advisable. The result would be a monolithic
new bureaucracy with a budget perhaps exceeding $46 billion, more than 77,000
federal employees, and more than 300,000 contractor employees. Science advisors
for Presidents Richard Nixon, Gerald Ford, George Bush, ana Bill Clinton all have
expressed their opposition to creation of a Department of Science. These and other
prominent scientists see establishment of a Department of Science as a risky action
that could threaten the Nation's leadership position in science. In their view, such
a Department would involve more bureaucracy, not less, and would sacrifice the di-

versity of funding sources and research avenues that have produced scientific tri-

umphs for the Nation over the past 50 years.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Chairman, the American public wants a government that works better and
costs less. At the Department of Energy, with the help of private sector experts, we
have made tough decisions about how to perform our work better with substantially
fewer resources. Our alignment and downsizing actions represent a bold effort to re-

duce layers of management, eliminate organizational redundancies, integrate activi-

ties that historically nave operated in isolation, and deliver $7.1 billion in deficit re-

duction in the process. We will cut an additional $7 billion through reductions in
our Environmental Management and applied energy R&D programs, and through
cost-cutting actions at our laboratories. Tnrough this process, we will meet our most
important objective, which is to better serve our customers as we deliver on our mis-
sions: protecting national security, enhancing our long-term energy security, protect-
ing the environment, advancing the frontiers of scientific understanding, ana devel-
oping technologies that contribute to U.S. economic productivity.

These are the missions which drive the Department of Energy's existence. These
are not missions from which the Nation can or should walk away. To those who sup-
port dismantlement of the Department, our response is that we have a better way.
That better way is to perform these vital missions at drastically reduced cost and
with an increased level of service to the American public.

Dismantlement of the Department would not result in anything but shufTling
boxes among agencies. If that were all that would happen, then perhaps there would
be little cause Tor alarm—other than to criticize such action as being driven by poli-

tics. However, dismantlement of the Department could result in severe mission dis-

ruptions and possible threats to important programmatic activities. The Depart-
ment's plan for aligning and downsizing our functions will avoid these risks, while
delivering $14.1 billion in deficit reduction over the next five years. We look forward
to working with you and the rest of Congress to realize these budget savings, par-
ticularly our legislative proposals to privatize the Naval Petroleum and Oil Shale
Reserves and the Western Area, Southeastern, and Southwestern Power Marketing
Administrations. Companion legislation, which would make the Bonneville Power
Marketing Administration an independent government-owned corporation, also will

be before the Congress within the next few weeks—where we hope it will receive
prompt attention.
Again, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate your efforts at examining options for delivering

a government that works better and costs less—two defining commitments of the
Clinton Administration. We look forward to working with you and your colleagues
to meet these important national goals.

Mr. Horn. We thank you very much, Madam Secretary.
As I mentioned to you before the hearing, one of my major con-

cerns is if change comes in the Department of Energy and if there



20

is functions that are removed from it, I have a concern about the
nuclear weapons function in particular.

My reading of history was that Congress wanted, was very pre-
cise about what was originally atomic energy under the jurisaiction

of a civilian authority, not in the Department of Defense. Some of

the proposals that we talk about call for it moving to the Depart-
ment of Defense.
What I would like, since you were in on the ground floor, your

perspective both in history and the establishment of the Depart-
ment of why nuclear materials production, analysis, and so forth

was given to a Department of Energy and not put in a Department
of Defense.
Ms. O'Leary. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Indeed, not only was I there at inception, but my late husband

also worked in the old Atomic Energy Commission, so through him
do I have a more insightful look back at history. I would take you
to 1947 and the McMahon Act when President Truman, then Presi-

dent of the United States, early on articulated to the then-sitting
Congress the necessity to keep the mission of deploying nuclear
weapons separate from that of both designing them and perhaps
most importantly certifying for their safety and reliability.

That, if you will, separation between the civilian function of
building and determining safety and reliability separate from the
military has now been adhered to for almost 50 years. I would con-
trast the pattern in the United States and take you further and tell

you that at every turn, through each decade since 1947 when au-
gust groups of imminent public policymakers and scientists have
considered this issue, the decision has always been to keep this

very separate wall between the two agencies and the two functions.

More importantly, I would turn you to Russia where the system
has been quite dinerent and the military entirely controls, and I

will tell you personally in my work with tne Vice President and the
Gore/Chernomyrdin Commission, and pushing issues of non-
proliferation and openness so that we can certity the security and
the safegruarding of our nuclear stockpiles.

It has been much more difficult to work with a regime that is

fully controlled by the military, and I would suspect that we don't

want that to happen in the United States. Most importantly, my
colleague. Secretary Perry of the Department of Defense has, too,

indicated that he believes that history stands to record that this di-

vision and clear separation has worked well and he by letter to

both chairs of the Senate Arms Committee and the House Armed
Services Committee has indicated that he does not desire this func-

tion nor does he believe that it is appropriate.

Mr. Horn. Let me move to another question.

Many of the changes in your Department have been initiated by
the National Performance Review recommendations. Could you ex-

plain how the NPR group works with your Department to follow up
on their recommendations and implementation?

I am interested particularly in the follow-up on Phase Two of the
NPR and what type of staff line contact is there to get something
accomplished within the administration?
Ms. O'Leary. Fair enough. Well, I will tell you that for the De-

partment of Energy our relationship with the National Perform-
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ance Review has been very collaborative and supportive, but the is-

sues and the programs that I have had ongoing to renew the De-
partment of Energy were started before the National Performance
Review and so what we have had to do is to meld our activities so

that they complement, and I can remember when the Vice Presi-

dent first appeared.
I had in the first meeting with the Vice President and the Na-

tional Performance Review staff a quality team as well as my Na-
tional Performance Review team, and that team in fact has now
been melded. We have a set of commitments that the Department
makes to me personally establishing goals that we negotiate each
year.

Those goals are then reduced to a commitment that I make to

the President of the United States, which is signed both by me and
the President and my assistant secretaries, which permits then the

performance of these goals to be measured and tracked not only by
the Secretary of Energy but delivered to the performance review
team. We have v/orked with them in our task groups with our pilot

fields, and we moved this program not merely into Washington but
out to the field so that we have test bed cases working to review
and improve our activities, and I mean the management of the

work so as to cut costs at every site.

Mr. Horn. Are there any cases of NPR recommendations made
to your Department that you have disagreed with and not imple-

mented or do you feel bound to implement NPR recommendations?
Ms. O'Leary. Well, as I have indicated, what I have done is to

reduce these agreements to a contract, and I am a lawyer, under-
stand that I keep my contracts.

Mr. Horn. You are telling me there has been a little negotiation,

compromise, and accommodation?
Ms. O'Leary. Not necessarily. In point of fact, I will actually

show you what we have done in the Department by showing you
one of these—someone give me the page number on my downsizing.
If you will look to page 14 in your folder.

Mr. Horn. Now, this is on which batch? Are we talking about
success stories?

Mrs. Maloney. Dollars and Sense?
Ms. O'Leary. No, I apologize, here it is, it is right sized work

force. It would be page 7. What we have committed to in terms of

reducing the work force is a reduction by some 27 percent. My com-
mitment under National Performance Review just a year ago was
8 percent, so I am doing better than National Performance Review,
and I hope to continue to do that because I believe that that is the
way you run a quality organization.

So I would tell you that my people have been much more aggres-

sive. This goal of reduction by 27 percent was first delivered to me
by a task group of employees who worked on this alignment. They
told me that I could do about 50 percent of that.

I took a hard look at the way we perform our work, and I decided
we could do better. So I would like to leave this hearing having you
understand that I am a lot more aggressive than I started out to

be a year ago.

Mr. Horn. I never doubted that.
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I now yield to the ranking minority member, Mrs. Maloney of

New York.
Mrs. Maloney. Thank you.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you Madame
Secretary. The budget resolution awaiting floor action this week in

the House assumes the abolishment of your Department, but it is

not clear whether any significant savings would be realized by tak-

ing this step. What savings do you estimate would be achieved by
abolishing the Department of Energy?

First of all, I would like to congratulate you on the $14 billion

in savings that you have already achieved in the 5 year plan.

Ms. O'Leary. I am left to ponder with you exactly what the plan
is. So I have to make some assumptions of my own. The first as-

sumption I make, to quote Congressman Spratt, is that the Sec-
retary would be decapitated from the body called the Department
of Energy.
Mrs. Maloney. What is your total budget now?
Ms. O'Leary. My total budget approaches—$17.8 billion is the

request. I must remind you that when I came to the Department
of Energy, it was about $21 billion. So that indicates what we have
done.
But if one presumes that that is the impact of the abolished sce-

nario, then you would simply take away the Office of the Secretary,

continuing one Secretary of Energy, a Deputy Secretary and an
Under Secretary and support staff and what has to be done to sup-
port us. That budget for fiscal year 1996 is approximately $3.6 or

$3.5 billion, so that is not very much of a savings.

The other piece that would inform us would be to go back and
to look at the attempt to abolish the Department of Energy during
the Reagan administration when early on the touting was that it

would save billions of dollars. Finally, the Congressional Budget
Office said it couldn't score it and if it did have to score it, it would
probably not amount to any more than $65 million.

So without informing that piece, we are left to a quandary where
would the pieces go. I can give you some more insight.

One proposal
Mrs. Maloney. You are presuming that $3.6 million would be

saved if they abolished it because the other functions would be dis-

mantled in other places?

Ms. O'Leary. They would be dispersed to other agencies.

I would like to follow one other train of thought because I think
it enlightens the process. Some have proposed that we establish a
National Security Agency, now displacing the one Assistant Sec-

retary for Defense Programs and the one Assistant Secretary for

Environmental Management. The proposal there is to create an
agency with eight Presidential appointees, so I don't see how you
save money there by simply adding more Presidential appointees
to support the functions that are now performed by just two.

Mrs. Maloney. There have been a number of alternatives that
have been mentioned, and I would like to question you about them.
Ms. O'Leary. Certainly.
Mrs. Maloney. What would be the consequences of transferring

the DOE functions to EPA?
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Ms. O'Leary, Well, I early admitted or confessed to being a law-
yer. I could not see placing the program for which the Environ-
mental Protection Agency has the enforcement and oversight re-

sponsibility within that agency. One always wants to keep tne en-

forcer both separate to ensure that that oversight responsibility is

without conflict, so that strikes me as quite illogical.

Mrs. Maloney. Well, you mentioned earlier tnat Secretary Perry
was objecting to some responsibilities going to the Department of

Defense. If they don't go to the Department of Defense, where
would they go?
Ms. O'Leary. I cannot imagine. I have just outlined the one pro-

posal, that is, to create yet another agency, so that doesn't quite

streamline the Grovemment.
Mrs. Maloney. The Department of Science.

Ms. O'Leary. Ah, this is my last and to the far left you will note
pictorial on the options on the table. It has been suggested that
perhaps a mega Department of Science might be created. This
strikes me as going in the opposite direction of streamlining,
downsizing and running a mean, lean government.

It would provide for the Department of Energy, NASA, for the
Environmental Protection Agency, the National Science Founda-
tion, NIST, NOAA, and other alphabet soups that I cannot continue
to read because I don't have on my glasses, this agency taken as

a whole would now have a budget of $46 billion. It would have
77,000 Federal employees, and 300,000 Federal contractors.

Mrs. Maloney. So it would have a larger budget than your exist-

ing one?
Ms. O'Leary. Well, and more frightening than that, in my mind,

if one looks at this in support of the basic and applied sciences, you
have a monolithic agency, unclear about its mission, now attempt-
ing to support basic science, to understand how the basic science

proposal might support the missions that are considered to be gov-

ernmental ninctions, it does not make sense to any one of the
science advisers to all Presidents from Nixon through Bush, save
one from the Reagan administration, all scientists say that this is

a bad idea.

Mrs. Maloney. Some of my freshman colleagues have suggested
an independent agency in the Department of Defense.
Ms. O'Leary. Several things occur to me. One, that no Secretary

of Defense that I know of has ever seen that the responsibility

should be melded, and perhaps more importantly, this tension be-

tween the scientists who have to take the order to ensure that the
weapons are safe and reliable ought to remain, and I see that as
further exacerbating the focus of the Department of Defense which
is to ensure that we have military readiness. And I think that is

one of the reasons for the split off of these functions between the
two agencies from inception.

Mrs. Maloney. Could savings more
Mr. Horn. I am sorry, the gentlelady's time has expired. We will

have another round. Save the question. I have got a long list, too.

I now yield to the gentleman from Virginia, Mr. Davis.
Mr. Davis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would almost like to pick up where Mrs. Maloney left off be-

cause I have tried to look at the budget alternatives that have
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come forward calling for abolition of the Department, and I am not
sure where the savings are, either. In fact, unless you get into

some of these functions and abolishing some of these functions
from what you are saying and from what I see there isn't any sav-

ings. Am I missing anything?
Ms. O'Leary. Are you saying there are no savings in the abolish

option?
Mr. Davis. Yes. I mean, there is savings over and above what

you are doing on your side, unless you take particular functions of
that and do away with the functions, and that is yet to be articu-

lated.

Ms. O'Leary. Well, yet to be articulated and not examined with
any thought and care. What I have—actually there is an interest-

ing op-ed piece by Mary McGrory today in the Post who surmises
that perhaps this is about trophies, it may have been my language
indeed, but it might also be about philosophy. I am not really clear

what purpose is to be served with a proposal to abolish as it

stands, and my colleagues have often said to me, and I agree, that
the alignment proposal, which takes program cuts very thought-
fully, with lots of private sector help as well as managing the place
better and spinning off private enterprise that ought to go to the
private sector, certainly is the better way.
Mr. Davis. I sit on the Science Committee and I sat through the

Galvin report and I saw all the wrenching of the people. How can
we go this deep? That was difficult for Members, so I am just won-
dering when the reality sinks in, where the cuts will come on the
abolition.

On what you are doing with the programmatic realignments and
the cuts that come from that, I have got a couple of questions. How
are we going to get down, cut 3,788 employees with the existing
personnel rules?
Do you need early buyouts?
Is there some mechanism there to give some of these employees

who have worked and done a good job, in many cases, it is just that
they are victims of realignment, give them a softer landing or

transfer them or what are you looking at in those cases and what
tools might you need to make that come about?
Ms. O'Leary. Mr. Davis, thank you for asking this question be-

cause I have given it a great deal of thought. I nave downsized in

the private sector and I know how wrenching it is to real people.

Mr. Davis. Madam Secretary, let me just say I headed a county
of 900,000 people and we had to do the same, and that is real

hands on, that is not theoretical.

Ms. O'Leary. Exactly, these are real people with lives. We are
lucky in many respects, the first to be that we have buyout author-
ity amounting to the ability to buv individuals out who have looked
at their lives and decided that they would like to go on for some
2,200 individuals. That is an important, if you will, foundation to

get this work done.
The next thing I would tell you is that we have involved our-

selves in a true partnership with a National Treasury Employees
Union, Bob Tobias and I have both signed a commitment that if we
should have to downsize from that number—and I will elucidate
more as to how that number might be brought down—we will use
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buyouts first. We will then move to impressing upon the individ-

uals who work with us to continue those who have the option now
to retire to retire or move on.

The attrition rate at the Department of Energy has been approxi-
mately 4.5 percent. For planning basis we assume that over the
next 2 years at a minimum it will be only 4 percent. That gets us
close to another 1,000 human souls who might leave the Depart-
ment of their own volition; You can see that we still have shortfall.

It is at this point that one either now has to look at RIF, if you
will, or one has to see if we can get additional buyout authority.
My preference is for buyout authority. I have instructed my Assist-
ant Secretary for Human Resources and my general counsel to

begin to engage within the administration to see now we can obtain
additional buyout authority. I must caution you that each buyout
authority requires for it the $25,000 which must be the compensa-
tion to tne individual who makes that life decision,

I now need to point out another difficult problem. We intend to

bring about 54 percent of that 3,788 number off the rolls in the
first 2 years. As you might well imagine, if one looks at annuity
decisions, most of the individuals who have taken advantage of
buyout have selected the later window because that allows them to

pay into their pensions at the last available moment.
So I have a problem with respect to timing as two-thirds of the

§eople who are going to exercise buyout plan to do it in the year
eptember 1996 to September 1997. So I need to find a way to ac-

celerate people to their earlier window.
I will be working with the union and I know with this Congress

and this administration to make that occur, but it is my strong de-
sire to bring people out who want to come out.

In addition, I might add, we have set aside $50 million to provide
to our own Federal colleagues the same assistance that we have
provided to our contractor employees when they are leaving our
rolls. That is retraining and out placement, and I believe it is very
important to do this.

Mr. Davis. What effect is all this going to have—retaining key
personnel and recruiting in the future over the long term—on the
morale of the work force

:

Ms. O'Leary. It is very difficult. I will tell you of my field man-
agers, one of my key lieutenants just retired last week. I have no
idea how I will replace him. He is in fact in my idea irreplaceable.

It is very important that we come to some quick decisions about
the fate of this Department and most importantly its missions be-
cause our best people will leave us, and most importantly it will

be difficult to attract people from the outside who may be available
to us with fine private sector experience because they doubt the
sustainability of not only the mission but the sustainability of the
vision for the leadership of this Department. This makes it very
difficult to both recruit and hold our core people.
Mr. Davis. Thank you.
Mr. Horn. I thank the gentleman.
I would jdeld to the gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Mascara.
Mr. Mascara. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As indicated in my testimony, the Pittsburgh Energy Technology

Center is widely recognized as being a premier research center, de-
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veloping clean coal technology which took on new meaning and em-
phasis with the Clean Air Act amendments of 1990. I think you
heard me say, Madam Secretary, that we have 8 billion tons of coal

in two counties in my congressional district, and my question is

this: Isn't this research important to us, given the fact that after

the 1970's when we experienced an energy crisis, and we all

seemed hell bent on developing a national energy policy, and do we
have a national energy policy because after Jimmy Carter, Nixon
seemed to go by the wayside, that is developing an energy policy

in this country?
Didn't we learn anything from the invasion of Kuwait and aren't

we concerned about the volatility in the Middle East and Iran and
all those kind of things?

Can those things come back and haunt us? And in our zest to

achieve efficiency, which all of us, I am sure all of us think is im-
portant, that we should, and you spoke, or Mr. Spratt did, about
national security, are we considering those factors in our delibera-

tions here?
Ms. O'Leary. I would tell you that I am well aware of the fact

that there is an energy policy existing within the Department of

Energy. I would also quote to you none other than Senator Robert
Dole who some 1 month ago indicated that he believed energy is-

sues would shape our foreign policy for the next 15 years.

Now I want to move very quickly to clean coal technology, for I

am understanding that for the next 20 years the projection for coal

use, not only in the United States, but internationally, is for there
to be an increase. So it is even more important that the funds that
the Federal Government has spent over the last 15 years, approxi-
mately $2.75 billion on clean coal technology, is now paying off and
more efficient technology for generation, which has something to do
with cost, makes it much more cost-effective to produce that power,
but more importantly I can tell you that I can quantify in excess
of $9 billion worth oi sales coming from the clean coal technologies
which have been deployed now.
That points out to you that it normally takes from 5 to 7 years

to bring a new technology to marketplace. We have got market
sales booked for $7 billion on probably round one or round two
technology. Imagine the potential over the next 5 years as these
clean coal technologies are ready for market penetration.

I had the honor of leading a Presidential delegation to China just
4 months ago, maybe 3 months ago, where the Texaco Co. indicated

that they believed the IGCC technology coming out of our clean
coal technology is deployable in Asia and that the amount of sales

there might be in excess of $10 billion. This is just one technology.

In my belief, that is a part of the energy policy. We have got to

continue to deploy this technology that is both clean and economic.
Mr. Mascara, I must admit that I am parochial in some of my

views because even though that is not in my district, it is contig-

uous with my district, and certainly with the amount of coal avail-

able in my district that we should not be talking about closing

down the research facility, the Pittsburgh Energy Technology or

even Morgantown. I understand they are talking about consolida-
tions there. But that should play a vital role in our overall strategy
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of developing energy policy because it is one of our main sources

that is going to take us into the next century.

Ms. O'Leary. I agree with you, and I would just point out to you
in this morning's Wall Street Journal, General Electric is indicat-

ing that they have developed a turbine that can provide 60 percent

efficiency. That is well improved against the 35 percent now en-

joyed by most generators.

The interesting piece of this article is that there is a race afoot.

We have got Westinghouse. We have got ABB and others offering

generation at 56, 58 percent efficiency.

This technology comes directly from the Clean Coal Technology
Program housed in Morgantown and in Pittsburgh. In my mind,
what we need to do is manage those facilities much more effi-

ciently, and so we have already examined how we can administer

those two areas together.

They are only 70 miles apart. I believe there are other effi-

ciencies to be enjoyed, but I am not suggesting that this program
be thrown away. We need these efficiency improvements, and we
need it to keep America competitive.

Mr. Mascara. Thank you very much, Madam Secretary, and I

agree with you. I think we need to look at more efficient ways, but
certainly not to lose sight of the fact that we need to develop an
energy policy in this country and stick with it. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. Thank you very much.
I yield 5 minutes to the gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Fox.

Mr. Fox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would ask the first question. The GAO in its 1993 report. Man-

agement Reform: GAO's Comments on the National Performance
Review's Recommendations, state that the Department of Energy,
that many of its past problems can be directly associated with

breakdowns related to contractors. However, of the remaining chal-

lenges that confront the Department of Energy, many are policy-

driven and go well beyond the economy and efficiency-oriented so-

lutions that generally characterize NPR's agenda.
In regard to the GAO's comments, do you feel they were accurate

at the time?
Ms. O'Leary. You know, it is

Mr. Fox. That was issued in December 1993.

Ms. O'Leary. I am trying to focus on that report exactly. It is dif-

ficult for me to recall all sum and substance of that report, though.
One difficulty I have with all of these GAO reports is they look

back in time. They generally look back in time years.

But let me tell you what I do agree with. One, the finding on the

contractor mismanagement. I have improved that. That was the
first major exercise in the Department of Energy. With respect to

policy, you know, policy-driving initiatives, I suspect that that
might have addressed the question of our environmental manage-
ment program, and I agree on several levels.

First of all, you don't run a program of approximately $7 billion

without having clear goals for cleanup. I will tell you that we have
cleaned up over 500 sites specifically.
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I mean that is again an accomplishment, setting targets and
going out and getting it done. We failed to talk about it, so I am
going to do that more.
But most importantly, the policies I believe GAO might have

been addressing were those involving what is the use of the land
once cleanup has been accomplished, and the battle that is now
going on and I believe appropriately within the Congress that asks
before you decide how clean, you better decide the land use.

If you are going to build public housing, then you want it as
clean as can be. If you are going to cement it off or chain link fence

it off, there is another standard, and those standards ought to

apply to land use. That debate is now going on within the Con-
gress.

Our administration, especially through Tom Crumbly, who is

head of the Environmental Management Program, is working with
all sides of the Congress on this proposal of how you manage risk

and cleanup. What we want to be certain of is that the standards
established have a scientific base, they are rational in terms of real

people's use of the land, and that once you set the standard, we
stick with it.

Mr. Fox. The second question, the final question deals with pri-

vatization. There is an estimate that $3.7 billion would be realized

from privatizing the three power marketing administrations, the

western, the southwestern and the southeastern. What timeframe
do you assume to complete such a privatization process?

Ms. O'Leary. We have always assumed that the privatization

process could be begun in fiscal year 1997, the clear driver being
that it will take this year to get legislative authority. Some of us
have thought that we might move very quickly after that.

I last lived in Minnesota. I understand that again the impact of

the lives of real people proposed through this sale is very dramatic,

and we need very carefully to work out the legislative tools to see

that equity is done to the ratepayers who receive the benefit of the
power marketing administration today, and we also need to ensure
that the American public receives the appropriate benefit on the

sale.

I think that that has to be done very artfully. It cannot be done
overnight.
Mr. Fox. What is the agency doing to advance the privatization

process?
Ms. O'Leary. I am sorry, I didn't hear you well.

Mr. Fox. What is the agency doing to advance the privatization

process at this time?
Ms. O'Leary. We a,re doing several things. One, we sent to the

Congress in the first week of May legislation to accomplish that

goal. More importantly, we are entertaining discussions and de-

bates with all of the stakeholders who have a very strong point of

view on this issue, and we are also receiving visits and meeting
with individuals who are interested in buying these power market-
ing administrations, and we are working very closely with our col-

leagues at the Office of Management and Budget to accomplish
these goals, but we sent the legislation up. My recollection is it ac-

tually arrived on May 4th.

Mr. Fox. Very good.
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Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. Thank you very much.
I yield to the distinguished gentleman from South Carolina, Mr.

Spratt.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank

you. Madam Secretary, for very impressive testimony.
I want to go back to the fundamental question which seems to

me to be what do we save by dismemberment, dismantlement just
means taking the mantle off^ dismemberment is what we are talk-

ing about and what will be the disruption and rearrangement costs,

not just in terms of hiring panel trucks to move your file cabinets
from the Forrestal building to the Pentagon, but in terms of losing
your focus and losing time in implementing what is a significant

series of management efficiencies. You conducted these surveys in-

ternally yourself, you understand them, obviously picking that im-
plicit knowledge up and transferring it to a new agency is not easy
to do.

Ms. O'Leary. It is not, Mr. Spratt.

What I have learned in the private sector is that you want lead-

ership and focus and strategic thrust to be in place, and normally
you need it to be in place for 7 years before it can impact com-
pletely out into the universe. I have described how widely flung our
universe is.

I would tell you that we have 22,000 facilities that many of
which need cleanup, but most importantly what happens when a
new management takes over is first of all you spend 9 months
scrambling around trying to get some sense of what you have, and
invariably what will happen next is someone will decide on a new
management structure, thereby throwing out all of the agreements
we have reached with respect to our goals and most importantly as
you pointed out losing time in the two areas where time is most
costly; first of all, in cleanup.
Every moment we delay in cleanup simply means a much more

expensive process later, and that is occasioned by the fact that
many of these facilities which have to be cleaned up are quite
frankly disintegrating, so we need the time to move quickly to get
on to that, to meet those milestones.
Mr, Spratt. Let's assume you lose 1 year, which I think is a con-

servative assumption. Just a year dead time in moving, rearrang-
ing the Department from one place to another and letting the new
people who take over come to grips and an understanding of the
problem. How much do you expect to save in a year's time?
Ms. O'Leary. You will invariably lose money in that. We will lose

money in this way: If milestones are missed for cleanup, we have
contractual obligations with States, people will sue us, we will be
fined by EPA, so the American taxpayer will now have to pay a
fine because we failed to do what we committed to do.

I understand this because when I came into the Department I

made a determination that we ought to stop doing that. The thing
that bothers me most is that there will be no one at the top of that
organization, if it is the Department of Science, who has the com-
mitment and the drive to get on a plane and hit these sites to en-
sure that everybody is focused on delivering to the commitments

26-805 - 96 - 2
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and to also ascertain what is needed in terms of resource to deliver
on commitments made.
Mr. Spratt. You make the point in your testimony that nearly

two-thirds of your Department is concerned with defense-relatea
programs, 38 percent for waste management, environmental man-
agement, and 29 percent for DP defense programs itself

Ms. O'Leary. That is correct.

Mr. Spratt. Two-thirds.
So presumably as you say this is not going anywhere. We wish

the environmental management problem would go somewhere, but
it is with us, it is not going anywhere, it is enormously expensive,
we have still got nuclear weapons that have to be maintained.
Presumably this would be transferred to the Department of De-

fense, so the proposition that we are going to save significant

money rests on the premise, therefore, that the Department of De-
fense is a paragon of efficiency, that they can perform this more ef-

ficiently than you can, even though we have just read in the Wash-
ington Post over the weekend that they can't close their books, that
they are $15 billion out of balance on what they paid.

I am taking a bit of a cheap shot because I am on the Armed
Services Committee and I have worked in the Defense Department,
but I have this inherent suspicion, feeling that these
megadepartments are not more efficient than small departments
with a few focal points like yours.
Do you share tnat?
Ms. O'Leary. I absolutely agree with you, and that experience I

have gained from the private sector. You want focus, you want a
committed leadership, and you want someone who understands and
can orchestrate the missions.

It makes no sense to me at all, and most importantly my col-

league back here has just reminded me, is it likely the non-
proliferation work will lose focus and attention, and for the long
run and the short run that is a very critical area that deserves at-

tention at the highest level.

Mr. Spratt. The chairman asked you a question about the time-
honored traditional division between nuclear materials production
and the use of nuclear weapons.
Ms. O'Leary. Yes.
Mr. Spratt. I think there is a good example in recent history,

contemporary history of how that division serves us well. You were
within the Department a supporter of a test ban.
Ms. O'Leary. That is correct.

Mr. Spratt. While there were quite a few in the Defense Depart-
ment who were very reluctant to sign on to a test ban.
Ms. O'Leary. That perhaps understates the point.

Mr. Spratt. We have just seen a nuclear proliferation treaty ap-
parently laid down on a permanent basis or at least for years to

come, and I doubt that we would have achieved that if we were
still conducting even a limited number of tests at the present time.

Ms. O'Leary. I agree with you, but the important point I think
to be made is a sharper finer point is that I oppose the continu-
ation of testing on the basis of the scientific information given to

me by my laboratory directors, and that was that the Secretary of

Energy on their advice could certify to the safety and reliability of
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the stockpile for at least 10 years without nuclear testing. So it was
not merely a point of view nor a political decision that I reached,

and I think that more illustrates the need to keep the separation

between the scientific advice and the policy call, so it was in that

way that I

Mr. Spratt. I know my time has run out. Keeping some of these

decisions in different hands, keeping this division keeps alive a

healthy debate, I think. That is one of the reasons, one of the in-

tangible benefits that doesn't have a dollar amount assigned to it

that nevertheless is an important benefit.

Thank you very much for your testimony.

Ms. O'Leary. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Horn. I am delighted the gentleman and I share a similar

view on the subject.

I now yield to the gentleman from Washington, Mr. Tate.

Mr. Tate. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Secretary O'Leary, for taking the time to come by. I

was reading through your "Saving Dollars and Making Sense," and
under principle three it talks about discarding old work and pri-

vatize and eliminate and transfer functions, and so forth.

Under "actions," it says submit legislation to implement the ad-

ministration policy on public marketing administrations. Under
point one, it says establish the Bonneville Power Administration as

a wholly owned Government corporation. Recently, and being from
the Northwest, I have been following this issue, and working with
Bonneville, BPA quite a bit, and they have brought up three dif-

ferent changes that they want to see happen.
One was refinancing the debt, No. 2 was the Grovernment cor-

poration, and No. 3 is dealing with the whole issue of the fish costs

which is looking at Endangered Species Act which is a big part of

the reason why Bonneville is having difficulties.

You know, they are looking at raising rates. You know, they are

losing business. They are spending about $350 million a year on
this particular issue.

By just moving it over to becoming a Government corporation,

how are you dealing with that particular issue which is causing a
problem m the first place? To me that is just shifting it over with-

out dealing with one of the root causes for the problem in the first

place.

Ms. O'Leary. Two things.

First of all, I would tell you all of the decisions involving the fish

hatch are not within my domain. Interestingly enough, as you well

know, they are over at the Department of Interior, but I have
known and worked with Bonneville for some years. I have told you
my checkered past. I have been in and out of this business for quite

some time, and I have worked with Randy Hardy. We have been
in the same administration together. I know him well.

What Bonneville, first of all, needs is to be freed from Grovern-

ment stricture so that it can begin to act like a private entity.

Mr. Tate. Right, in regards to personnel and procurement.
Ms. O'Leary. Absolutely.
So I want to free Bonneville from those strictures that prevent

it from being run like a good business, as do my colleagues at Bon-
neville, and this is a piece that they support.
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On the refinancing of the debt, that is a piece that I supported
last year, the year before, and I will continue to support. I don't

believe that it ought to be part and parcel of this piece because I

think this piece in terms of trying to privatize and better manage
the power marketing administrations quite frankly is enough of a
policy gulp in and of itself.

These other issues I will continue to work on, and the fish hatch-
ery, the fish hatch issues, no one has worked harder than our Dep-
uty, Bill White, in attempting to set up some rational proposal that
permits that the interest of those who are involved in fisheries as
a commercial activity and those who are involved in fishing as a
sport are met and we still keep prices economic to the businesses
and the homeowners who live and receive power from Bonneville.

This is not an easy issue, and we have been grappling with it now
for 2 years, 2 months and almost 15 days.

Mr. Tate. But who is counting?
Ms. O'Leary. I am.
Mr. Tate. How would it work within the framework, though

—

still on that issue—if it does become a Government corporation,

and the administration has said they will help with the $160 mil-

lion to try to offset some of the costs, how is that going to work
in the framework of a Government corporation if, one, you have a
Government corporation over here but yet the administration is

coming in to have to try and bail them out to handle the fish costs

which is causing the problem in the first place? I know you do not
particularly have jurisdiction over the Endangered Species Act, but
one of your proposals in here is making Bonneville Power Adminis-
tration a Government corporation. Those to me are linked hand-in-
hand.
Ms. O'Leary. I would cite you the example of the U.S. Enrich-

ment Corporation which takes the uranium enrichment functions

and did some 2 years ago, 4 years ago out of the Department of

Energy and established it as a governmental entity. The Depart-
ment of Energy continues to work with it as a partner, services it,

does much of its oversight for health and safety, and works with
the U.S. Enrichment Corporation in its effort to market a commer-
cial fuel internationally.

So I do not believe the relationship of support and comity will

end, and I could cite you other examples, but this is the one that

I have been most intimately involved in because I was actually

—

I participated in the spin-off of this function from the Department
to a quasi-governmental organization, and this is the same idea, to

set this entity up so that it might be more profitable as it could

be once it is removed from the strictures of budget management
and also the overriding procurement and personnel rules, so I sus-

pect, and I will commit to you today, that I will ensure that the

partnership that exists between the Department and Bonneville on
issues involving policy will continue.

Mr. Tate. OK. Last, and I honestly appreciate your work on this

particular issue, you mentioned earlier that you had submitted the

legislation on this particular issue or on the power marketing ad-

ministrations.
Ms. O'Leary. That is correct.
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Mr. Tate. Where is it right now, because we haven't had a

chance to look at it yet? Is it at 0MB? I was talking with my staff

just a minute ago and we have not had a chance to review it yet.

Ms. O'Leary. I spoke carelessly. I should have indicated to you
that we sent up on the 3rd the legislation affecting the sale of the

three power marketing administrations and it has just been whis-

pered to me that the Bonneville legislation will come up at the end
of the month. I know that has occasioned

Mr. Tate. You had me worried for a second there, because I

hadn't had a chance
Ms. O'Leary. No, I promise not to keep you out of the loop.

Mr. Tate. OK, thank you.

Mr. Horn. I thank the gentleman.
The gentleman from New Hampshire, Mr. Bass.

Mr. Bass. Mr. Chairman, I have no questions at this time.

Mr. Horn. We will now begin, then, the second round of ques-

tions.

Let me pursue an area that is dear to my heart. Madam Sec-

retary. Let's see if it is dear to your heart.

As we know, since the time of George Washington, we have had
a cabinet of the key executives of the national Grovernment, and
members of the cabinet serve at the wishes of the President, and
who is in the cabinet is also a wish of a particular President.

From time to time the Ambassador, representative of the United
Nations has been a member. Director of 0MB, Chief of Staff of the

White House, so forth.

Now I notice with interest in your response to Mr. Tate's query
you pointed out the problems of not having complete control on the

fish hatchery situation in relation to Bonneville. That technically

is under the Secretary of the Interior. You are the Secretary of En-
ergy. How are we getting that resolved?

Are we going to another cabinet member?
Are we going through the White House?
Are we going through 0MB?
Are we getting the President involved?

What is happening?
Ms. O'Leary. Wen, we have a tendency to go with and at each

other in this cabinet. Early on in the week even before the inau-

gural as we were here, manv of us having served in Government
before, we were aware of tne fact that Government works best

when it is coordinated, and it also works best when we can coordi-

nate ourselves, so in the energy and natural resources area we very
early on formed our own pod and began to meet either for break-
fast or for lunch and sometimes with no meal, each cabinet officer

hosting. Let me—Interior, Energy, Transportation, the Environ-
mental Protection Agency, and from time to time others, as issues

evolved.
Interestingly enough, later on the chief of staff liked the idea and

began to convene meetings of various pods, so in Energy we now
have the opportunity to participate in the Commerce, the economic
and commerce pod; on areas involving national security, of course
I am a member of the National Security Council; and on issues in-

volving the fish hatchery and Bonneville we engage both person-
ally, Secretary to Secretary, and we are often Deputy to Deputy,
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and we also engage formally in the economic, the National Eco-
nomic Council, and we also engage informally sometimes at lunch
and through 0MB.

I will tell you having now worked in three administrations that
I believe this Grovernment and through at least the executive
branch is much better coordinated, and a lot of that comes from the
cabinet officers themselves who see the crosscut and have a desire

to work together.

Mr. Horn. Well, are you getting a resolution of the situation in

relation to Bonneville, since you brought up the
Ms. O'Leary. Let me say this, there is a proposal on the table

that I think meets everyone's needs partially, and that is always
the case. The delicate balance out in Bonneville is one that involves
the commercial interest very strongly expressed by the aluminum
industry, it involves the sports persons. I am a fisher person myself
so I understand that need, and then there is the need to ensure
that the rates at Bonneville are maintained and there is no rate

shock, and that is—I have been on the regulatory side as well.

That is a very careful balance. No one will be totally satisfied, but
there will be resolution.

Mr. Horn. When you say it is on the table, is it on the table with
the affected interests around it or is it on the President's table or

the chief of staffs table?

Ms. O'Leary. It is always on the table with respect to at least

matters involving energy, with the stakeholders around because in

my experience it does not much matter what we present, it matters
that we present something that all individuals who are affected

have had an opportunity to address and to have their issues heard.
So it is very much collaborative.

Mr, Horn. After the collaborative consultative effort, is there
going to be a need for a decision at a higher level than the Sec-
retary of Energy and the Secretary of the Interior?

Ms. O'Leary. You know, it occurs to me, and you will forgive me,
Mr. Chairman, for not having this detail carefully in hand, I know
that a proposal, an option has been drafted. I cannot recall now
whether the option requires legislation, but I know that it has
moved through the interagency, which means that it has been re-

viewed and I can't frankly tell you at this moment if it will be
signed off by the Director of the Office of Management and Budget,
which indicates that there was an excellent collaborative effort and
most of the cabinet officers involved agree entirely or if it will move
up the chain.

I have quite frankly been tied up in other matters so I have not
watched that as carefully as I should, but I know that this issue

is being resolved and that there is an option for the resolution of
this issue.

Mr. Horn. I think you and any politically appointed officer who
gets around the country as much as you and the other cabinet
members do realize there is a frustration in America about how
rapidly decisions are made by "Government," be it the executive
branch or Congress or the partnership of the executive branch and
Congress to make a law, and solve a problem or get some direction

in the appropriations bills or whatever, and I think that is part of

the frustration.
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And what I think when we talk about organization, we have got

to talk about clean lines of authority where if there is a resolution

such as Bonneville that needs to be resolved, that can go to a level

or a pay grade, as they say in the military, where the resolution

can occur. Obviously, that is the President of the United States

and/or one of his assistants acting for him to get the affected par-

ties in the room and say, "come on, folks, we have a problem here,

we have a time line, money and time is a wasting, let's get some-
thing done," and that is what concerns me.

I love this consensus. After all, I was a university president for

18 years.

Ms. O'Leary. You know how bad it can be.

Mr. Horn. Someone has to assume some leadership. Now, is the

President organized to deal with that particular problem?
Ms. O'Leary. Absolutely, Mr. Chairman, and what I had at-

tempted to outline is a very difficult and intractable problem where
people in the same county, in the same town disagree with each
other, and what we have done in this instance is not rush to judg-
ment because it has been clear to me no one has wanted us to, peo-

ple have wanted the balance and everybody has wanted his inter-

ests taken care of, and in this administration there is no lack of

ability to move things up to get them decided, and I think that we
have taken an appropriate course in this case, and the President
of the United States knows how to reach in and I have experienced
this when he believes that something is going too slowly or he
doesn't like the way it is going, so I really mean this, I worked in

the Ford administration, I worked in the Carter administration, I

have worked in this administration. This ship of state is moving
faster than any other I have experienced and with a high level of

collegiality, I might add.
Mr. Horn. Well, I thank you. I will now yield 5 minutes to the

gentlelady from New York while I go vote, and perhaps I can make
it back. If not, you can recess and one of us will come back and
continue.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In an article today in

the Washington Post by Stephen Barr, he notes that President
Reagan also proposed abolishing the Department of Energy but
that when a report and review was done by the Congressional
Budget Office showing that it would not save money, the idea was
dropped. Has there been any outside study by anybody on how
much this would save? Has the Congressional Budget Office done
any type of analysis? I know you testified earlier it would be $3.6
million you would save, but has anyone else done any
Ms. O'Leary. No, I am not aware that anyone else has done a

review, but I would tell you with some degree of frankness that it

is difficult to review the plan as now articulated because there is

no substance to it, so one has to simply make assumptions about
what would happen.
Mrs. Maloney. Well, assuming that you are correct, that there

really is no savings, except that you won't be at the table in the
cabinet and a few other people, then the question is, can the func-
tions be performed better elsewhere, the functions of the Depart-
ment of Energy, do you believe they could be?
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Ms. O'Leary. You know, mine will not be a disinterested answer.
I really have enjoyed my tenure in the Department of Energy be-
cause I think I brought the right tools to the job.

What I am afraid of is that if you have leadership that simply
subsumes a part of the Department of Energy with no knowledge
of its challenges nor its history, then you will lose, as I indicated
in my colloquy with Congressman Spratt, you will lose care and at-

tention and will not have high level attention.

My Under Secretary Charlie Curtis looks at this problem this

way. He says you have a cabinet office for two reasons. One, to

move programs. That requires leadership and management. The
other is to set policy, and by removing a cabinet focus, you have
no one advocating on behalf of these issues, and that either on the
national security side or the nonproliferation side ought to give

people cause.

It has tremendous cost, and it has cost in global disruption or

you might have that same point of view with respect to our envi-

ronmental management work when you consider that we have en-
vironmental sites that need to be cleaned up in 35 States in this

union. I could go on and on, but of course I won't.

Mrs. Maloney. It certainly doesn't make sense to me, but there
are a lot of things that don't make a lot of sense to me that are
passing in the House of Representatives these days. If it would
pass that it is going to abolish the Department of Energy, how
would you propose that these functions be dispersed?
Would you propose the merger idea that you have up there or

what would you suggest?
Ms. O'Leary. I like to align and manage the place like a business

effort which is what we are now undertaking. I could for a moment
focus you on the Senate mark for the Department of Energy. The
mark in the Senate budget resolution reduces our budget $14.8 bil-

lion.

It implies to me, and I have looked at the marks, that the Senate
has taken the same approach that we have—downsize, streamline,

cut some programs and visit cost savings to the Department of En-
ergy. It sounds to me and it looks to me more like the plan that
not only we have proposed but that we are now implementing.
Mrs. MaTLONEY. So in other words—I would like to ask another

question before I have to go vote. In this article today by Stephen
Barr he also quotes a representative who says when the Federal
Government does not know what to do with something, they hang
it in the Department of Energy.
Would you like to respond to that comment?
Ms. O'Leary. I read the article and more importantly I did a TV

show earlier this week with the gentleman. I would say to you that

that comment reflects no understanding nor study of the Depart-
ment's missions.

Our missions have been the same. They have been reshaped in

the movement from the cold war to this post cold war era, but we
have received no new missions in the time that we have been in

existence. We have simply managed some better now, and our mis-
sion of producing weapons has been reduced to simply assuring
their safety and reliability and retrofitting them and moving on to
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nonproliferation, but, no, people are not waking up every morning
and giving the Department a new mission, that is not happening.
Mrs. Maloney. Your $14 bilhon in savings is very impressive. Do

you beheve there are a great deal more savings that we could
achieve in the Department of Energy without dismantlement and
if so, how?
And then we have got to go vote or we are going to be in serious

trouble.

Ms. O'Leary. I could say very quickly that I have cut as close

to the bone without sacrificing important national missions. Every
year I have been called upon to find savings, I have been doing this

now for about 20 vears. I think I could find more, but I also believe

that people would have to make a determination in this Congress
which one of these missions would be carved, we have taken a se-

vere cut in most of the areas and in the programmatic reductions
that we have accomplished already.

Mr. Fox [presiding]. Madam Secretary, could we adjourn for 5
minutes so the Members could vote on the floor? I appreciate Con-
gresswoman Maloney's questions, and I would like to have her con-

tinue, and if she will rejoin us we would be very honored.
Ms. O'Leary. I will be here when you return.

Mr. Fox. Thanks so much. We stand adjourned for 5 minutes.
[Recess].

Mr. Horn. The hearing will resume.
Let me ask you, following up on that Presidential accountability

question I began with, and we never really quite finished, how
often does a typical cabinet secretary have an opportunity to sit

down with the President, go over the problems of their Department
and just brief the President eyeball to eyeball? Does that ever hap-
pen?
Ms. O'Leary. That does occur, and it occurs in either of two

ways.
One, the cabinet officer asks for the meeting or the President will

ask for the meeting, but you need to know that there are much
more routinized and well thought-out plans for the presentation to

the President of issues that occurs in a much more formal fashion
and once again I will tell you in my experience occurs much more
thoughtfully in this administration than any other in which I have
had the privilege to serve as a subcabinet officer.

Mr. Horn. Arid that included, as I remember, the Carter and the
Nixon administrations?
Ms. O'Leary. And the Ford administration, that is correct.

Mr. Horn. Not Nixon, Ford?
Ms. O'Leary. Well, that is appropriate as well. My goings and

comings into the White House occurred under President Ford rath-
er than President Nixon.
Mr. Horn. Well, I am rather interested that we discuss that pe-

riod because I thought one of the more thought-out reorganizations,
and nothing ever happened because President Nixon, as we know,
had a few other problems, but that was the report of the Ash Com-
mission's "President's Departmental Reorganization Program"
where they got down to very few cabinet departments, that would
have cut them almost in half. The one that is relevant to this dis-

cussion is the outline for the Department of Natural Resources,
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and I will have that inserted in the record from page 124 of the
President's departmental reorganization program.

Essentially they set up five administrators under the cabinet sec-

retary. There was Secretary, Deputy Secretary, then at the staff

level, the General Counsel, under Secretary for Policy, Under Sec-
retary for Management, Assistant Secretary for Research and De-
velopment and then five line operating officers heading this admin-
istration, Administrator for Land and Recreation Resources in

which you would have the wildlife refuges, and parallel to that is

the Administrator for Water Resources, Administrator for Energy
and Mineral Resources, Administrator for Oceanic Atmospheric and
Earth Sciences, Administrator for Indian and Territorial Affairs.

Then we get back to Administrator for Energy and Mineral Re-
sources. They would have the Assessment of Resources, Operating
Uranium Raw Materials and Enrichment Program, conduct and
support research and development and oversee mine health and
safety. In other words, if the example that came out in the testi-

monv of Bonneville came up in this type of cabinet department, it

would be very easy for either the Deputy Secretary or the Secretary
to call in those administrators, work out an agreement.

It wouldn't be in split cabinet departments. They would be inte-

grated under Natural Resources. I would like your reaction to that.

I realize you haven't had a chance to study this in maybe 20 years,

but here you have a chance to get problem resolution, not just more
kicking around, more consensus, more people, one negative voice

stops 90 positive voices, all the rest of this nonsense.
Ms. O'Leary. I believe, and I will now bore you to tell you that

I have spent some time studying management, both in style and
in substance, and I am a real student of Drucker as well as Steven
Covey. I believe that agreements best are reached when individuals
come to the table to get it done rather than to have it done to

them, so I am of the collegial group.

I have been all about openness. I have made my regional people
meet with people they have never talked to in 40 years, where
there is real hatred because there is such disagreement. Interest-

ingly enough, these are now the people who think the Department
of Energy ought to continue to exist because they have a voice.

They may not always agree. I told you that I thought there were
lots more systems within the White House that work well.

I should spend some time talking to you about the National Eco-
nomic Council, which is one of the true success stories in this ad-

ministration, and when it was designed, being a student of Govern-
ment, I pooh-pahed, said it would not work. The reason it works
is because the people who are involved in this administration want
it to work because we are collegial and we understand that our
problems are cross cutting.

There is nothing I do that normally can be contained within my
building, and I know how to pick up the phone and call my coun-
terparts, and we are often together, perhaps we are together more
as a cabinet than any other group both purposeful and sometimes
because we simply enjoy being with each other, we talk about our
problems and how to resolve them.
So I think it matters the style of leader, and in this case the

President of the United States and how then the cabinet officers



39

comport themselves. We are encouraged to disagree. The President
likes nothing better than to have at it with somebody who has a
strong point of view but most importantly this works only if the
person with the strong point of view has subject area control of his

or her issue. You get no respect if you come to the table and you
don't know your subject matter, you don't have the expertise and
the experience.

So I believe the system we now have established gets that done,
and I don't think in the model that you have outlined the person
who is the real cabinet officer could possibly have command of all

those subject areas.

I would finally tell you that I am going tomorrow to Paris to

chair the International Energy Agency meeting. It is the first time
anyone from the United States has done that in 15 years.

I come with an agenda that is all about moving U.S. technology
into energy markets internationally. If I were the Administrator of

Energy under that cabinet thing you have described, I wouldn't be
invited, and the person who is heading that pod wouldn't have the
time or the expertise to well represent this Nation's point of view.

And I think in this area if you make the box too large, you put the
person in charge of that in the position of merely being the proc-

essor as opposed to someone who affects policy because that person
is experienced and is respected by his or her colleagues.

Mr. Horn. Well, let me ask you this, since you prefer a broad
span of control, which is what you are testifying to.

Ms. O'Leary. I am indeed.

Mr. Horn. What other departments would you recommend be
created as you observe the government? I mean, if we can't shrink
them, should we increase them so more can be invited to chair
international meetings?
Ms. O'Leary. No, and I understand the point you are making,

and I would tell you that if one recognizes that 27 percent of the
gross domestic product in the United States is affected by energy
use, I think you want me at that meeting and it is a nice thing
that I am chairing it this year, but I am not suggesting that we
expand the Government, nor do I think that is an appropriate sug-
gestion for me to make simply within the 5 minutes that I have
had to exchange with you.

It is something that whoever has responsibility for the executive
branch working with the Congress needs to think through against
the challenges of this Nation, and the President of the United
States who happens to be Bill Clinton, for whom I have the great
privilege of working, is pretty comfortable with the arrangement he
has got now thank you, as well as I.

Mr. Horn. Well, I can understand that. I had a very long span
of control also, and some people enjoy that. On the other hand,
there is such a thing that you mentioned earlier, focus. If you are
going to get something accomplished, the question is then do you
have the right groups within an area where you can get the resolu-
tion of conflict, if you will, and not have everything land on the
President's desk because the President has plenty of other things
to do besides worry about Bonneville.
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Ms. O'Leary. Everything is not on the President's desk. This is

a very empowered cabinet. We are free to get in a lot of trouble.

I have done it personally.
Mr. Horn. But you agree it is very difficult for a cabinet officer

to coordinate other cabinet officers.

Ms. O'Leary. No, I don't agree. No, I have told vou that in my
experience this is the most collaborative cabinet we nave, I am very
comfortable in my arrangements, and I could spend a lot of time

foing to a lot of meetings to collaborate, and we have them, and
also pick up the phone. Now I am very comfortable in this admin-

istration, and have a comfortable working relationship with any
number of people simply because our issues do crosscut. No, I am
not dissatisfied with the lay of the land nor my ability to move
within it. I am a happy camper.
Mr. Horn. Well, that is a new type of cabinet officer. I can re-

member the Roosevelt administration someone named Harold
Ickes. He was a true turf protector and heaven help the cabinet of-

ficer that tried to run over him; small though he might be, large
he was in scope.

Well, I understand. Madam Secretary, you have to be somewhere
else after 12. I don't see any of my Democratic or Republican col-

leagues back. Let me conclude by thanking you and I think the
media and the public should know that Secretary O'Leary has had
our full attention for 2 hours to discuss these reorganizational is-

sues.

On May 23, at 10 a.m., the hearing will be continued with two
former Under Secretaries of Energy and three former Secretaries

of Energy discussing reorganization. Those will be Admiral James
Watkins, former Secretary John Herrington, and former Secretary
Don Hodel.
So again my thanks, and I wish you well in Paris. May you apply

your charm and efficiency and effectiveness to all those delegates.

Good luck.

Ms. O'Leary. Thank you.
Mr. Horn. And get Airbus to no longer be subsidized.

[Whereupon, at 12 noon, the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:06 a.m., in room
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Present: Representatives Davis, Flanagan, Fox, Horn, Kanjorski,
Maloney, and Owens.

Staff present: J. Russell George, staff director; Mike Stoker,
counsel; Andrew G. Richardson, clerk; Wallace Hsueh, staff assist-

ant; Dave Schooler, minoritv chief counsel; Don Goldberg, minority
assistant to counsel; Liz C;ampbell, minority staff assistant; and
Dave McMillen and Matt Pinkus, minority professional staff mem-
bers.

Mr. Horn. Ladies and gentlemen, there being a quorum, let's

begin this meeting of the Subcommittee on Grovernment Manage-
ment, Information, and Technology. This is the fourth of nine hear-
ings on Making Government Work. Our focus is on where Federal
functions can be reorganized, streamlined or downsized. The
growth of personnel has already been stopped by both the adminis-
tration and the Congress.
Our next task is to find and delete Federal missions that were

once justified, but now are better done elsewhere, or just ended.
Our key criterion will be, if the Federal Government were not al-

ready doing this, would it make sense to take it on as a new Fed-
eral mission? We can apply the same criterion to executive branch
agencies. For example, if we did not already have a Department of

Energy and a Department of Education, the subject of our after-

noon hearing, would we establish either one today?
If not, can we agree on these agencies' essential missions; and

could these essential missions be distributed elsewhere? Our task
is not an easy one. Yet our responsibility and our charter require
nothing less tnan a full commitment to it.

Just as a corporate board of directors must serve shareholders by
making its enterprise the most efficient and effective they can, we
must also serve the American people by doing exactly that for the
Federal Government.

In the private sector, market forces tend to bring about the con-
solidation or elimination of duplicative activities. The same objec-

(41)
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tive should apply equally in the public sector. We must first agree
on the right goals and activities, which the national government
can do best; then determine the most efficient and effective way to

achieve these goals and activities.

We must seek to achieve substantial cost saving, whether IBM
or the Department of Commerce or the Department of Energy or
the Department of Education or the Department of Housing and
Urban Development, a rethinking of missions and functions is nec-
essary if we're to meet the needs of our customers and sharehold-
ers.

In the case of a Federal agency, those who must be satisfied are
the people of the United States, through their elected representa-
tives. The people are the ones who pay the taxes which provide the
resources to render governmental services.

With this in mind, we examine today the Departments of Energy
and Education. Last week, we heard Secretary of Energy Hazel
O'Leary defend the Department against splitting up and elimi-

nation, suggesting that such actions would not save any tax dol-

lars. The specter of a worldwide energy shortage, which spawned
the Department almost a quarter of a century ago, is not as obvi-

ous today. Even if such a shortage were present, perhaps a sepa-
rate Cabinet department is not the proper vehicle to integrate the
needed programs that could be helpful in alleviating such a short-

age.

Today, we will hear from five former Secretaries and Under Sec-
retaries of Energy. We will share their perspectives as to the need
for the Department. At the conclusion of this series of hearings, I

hope we can clearly see whether or not some or all of the functions
of the Department should be continued, merged or ended.

In the aflemoon session, we'll hear testimony in a similar vein,

regarding the Department of Education. Four representatives from
the administration and professional organizations will share their

expert views on national education goals, functions and services

which might best be kept at the Federal level.

The taxpaying citizens who want us to balance the budget and
end over a quarter century of annual deficits expect no less. I now
ask Mr. Fox of Pennsylvania if he would like to make an opening
statement before we swear in the witnesses.
[The prepared statements of Hon. Carolyn B. Maloney and Hon.

Michael Flanagan follow:]

Prepared Statement of Hon. Carolyn B. Maloney, a Representative in

Congress From the State of New York

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I am pleased with the continuation of these hearings,
and I look forward to today's testimony. As I said last week, I am skeptical about
the current rush to abolish Departments.

I am skeptical because we have done little to determine which functions of these
agencies can be eliminated, and which must be preserved. I am skeptical because
without that analysis any estimate of savings is fanciful. I am skeptical because my
own ejcperience tells me that changing the way government does business is a slow
and difticult process. There are very few quick fixes in government.

It is because of my skepticism that I view these hearings as critical and appro-
priate for this Subcommittee. It is our responsibility to lay the groundwork lor a
decision process that will look carefully at each agency before we rush to judgement.

Last week the former Secretary of Commerce, Robert Mosbacher, advocated abol-
ishing his former department. That department is home to a variety of functions,
from trade promotion, which is sometimes included as part of "corporate welfare".
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to the census, which is central to each of us. The Department of Commerce also

houses the Weather Bureau, and out in Gaithersburg keeps the yard stick, and the
ounce, and the gram by which all others are measured.

People often ask "Why does the government need a weather bureau? Why can't

they listen to the ten o'clock news like everyone else?" Of course, without the gov-
ernment weather bureau there probably wouldn't be a weather report at ten. It is

a perfectly legitimate to ask if the Federal government should be in the business
of predicting the weather. Perhaps that should be turned over to private enterprise.

Answering that question is not a simple process. But it is only one small part of

determining whether or not we need a Department of Commerce.
Last weeK we received a letter from tne National Association of Manufacturing

emphasizing some of the Commerce functions important to manufacturing. I am
sure we will hear from more industries with significant exports. They would far

rather be supervised by the International Trade Authority at Commerce than the
International Trace Commission—an independent agency that some argue is less

friendly to business.
Today we will be looking at the Department of Education which is responsible for

programs from cradle to grave—elementary and secondary schools, colleges and uni-

versities, and vocational and adult education. It is responsible for a vast student
loan program, without which most students could not afford college.

The student loan program makes it possible for many of the technicians who fix

our cars and air conditioners and dish washers to learn those skills. The Depart-
ment of Education distributes billions of dollars to local school systems to subsidize
the education of children in poverty. Those systentis would be seriously hurt if those
funds were taken away.
The National Center for Education Statistics, part of the Department of Edu-

cation, measures our progress towards Goals 2000. Those goals were established
during the Bush Administration by a group of Republican and Democrat governors,
and the Department of Education was charced with monitoring progress towards
those goals. Do we now abandon those goals? Or do we just abandon measuring
progress?
Tne Department of Education is also responsible for the Guaranteed Student

Loan Program where most of the collection is private. Some suggest that this re-

sponsibility be transferred to the Department of Treasury and the loans collected

through the IRS.
There is a fundamental problem with that, and it characterizes much of what is

wrong with many of the proposals on the table. Suggesting that the IRS collect stu-

dent loans indicates a fundamental misunderstanding of how our tax system works.
The IRS doesn't collect taxes—employers do. And asking the IRS to collect student
loans isn't putting a burden on the Federal government, it's putting a significant

burden on employers. The employer will have to find out from the employee how
much is owed, collect the money, and, turn it over to the IRS. If our history of col-

lecting other taxes is any indication, the employer will be penalized for any mis-
takes.
The back-up system to employers collecting the money is to have the IRS check

a list of who owes what. Matching to a list is one of the things the IRS is worst
at. Every year thousands (millions/) of taxpayers get incorrect notices that they owe
money because the IRS makes a mistake in matching their tax return to the 1099's
filed by banks, stock brokers, and dozens of other financial institutions.

I will be the first to argue that there are things at the Departments of Commerce,
Enerw, and Education that can be done better. I also suspect that if we examine
all ofthe functions in these departments we will find many that can be eliminated.
I am eager to participate in that work. But it is only after we have done that work
that we should talk aoout what departments should be abolished.
Today there is no record that indicates what will be saved by abolishing any of

these departments. Until we have that record, I believe that any action we take to

abolish departments is irresponsible.

Prepared Statement of Hon. Michael Flanagan, a Representative in
Congress From the State of Ilunois

RE: A case study of the departments of energy and education

I am glad to be a part of the ongoing hearings Chairman Horn has called to ad-
dress the challenge of making government operate more efficiently. After participat-
ing in the hearing where current Secretary O'Leary testified to the necessity of pre-
serving the existing Department of Energy, it will oe very interesting to hear former
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secretaries opinion of the options available for the department. I would particularly

like to hear the thoughts of the former secretaries on the appraisal by the National
Performance Review that stated some staff in the department is inadequately
trained and that certain programs are operating at only 65 percent efficiency. My
question is: What kind of return on their investment are the taxpayers who sub-
sidize the department's $17 BILLION budget getting? There has to be a better way
to utilize taxpayer money.

Similarly, the Department of Education's budget of $32 BILLION. We must work
to make these departments more fiscally accountable. I understand that the depart-
ment released its own strategic plan for streamlining its functions and that the plan
fell short on specifics. I hope to learn if any specifics are available and where they
are in the course of implementation.

I would like to thank the witnesses who are here today to shed some light on the
tough problems that face these departments and Congress as we try to make gov-

ernment work better.

Mr. Fox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You also may have an open-
ing statement from Mr. Kanjorski.

Mr. Horn. Very good. Without objection, Mr. Kanjorski's state-

ment will be put in the record at this point.

Mr. Fox. I just wanted to add to others and members of the com-
mittee our appreciation for your leadership on this issue and I'm

very pleased and looking forward to the testimony of these excel-

lent witnesses here before us today, so they can educate us on the
specific areas of Energy, and what improvements they recommend
for our government. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Jon Fox follows:]

F*REPARED Statement of Hon. Jon Fox, a Representative in Congress From
THE State of Pennsylvania

Mr. Chairman, I once again commend your leadership as we continue the fourth

hearing in the "Making Government Work" series.

There is widespread agreement that the Department of Education should be reor-

ganized, restructured, or eliminated. While we are taking significant steps to ad-
dress our deficit, we need to proceed with caution in how we address the educational
needs of our children.

As an active advocate of education reforms and programs, and I am eager to sup-

port efforts to improve the quality of our children's education. However, I do not be-

lieve that increasing our federal bureaucracy is the answer. We need to create an
educational system that emphasizes the role of parents, teacher, and communities
as catalysts for educational reform. Their involvement at the local level is critical

because they represent the true educational needs of our children.

I am aware that the Department of Education issued its "Strategic Plan for the
U.S. Department of Education" in December 1994. The report discusses streamlin-

ing but did not include specific details. Numerous alternative proposals regarding
the administrative and functional structure of the department have been discussed.

I look forward to hearing from today's witnesses who can describe these initia-

tives.

Mr. Horn. Thank you, Mr. Fox. Now, if all of the witnesses that

will be testifying, Mr. Hodel, Mr. Herrington, and Admiral Wat-
kins, will come up, and we will swear you in and begin your testi-

mony. Please raise your right hands.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. Horn. On my list we begin with Secretary Hodel, who was

Secretary of Energy in 1982-85; also Secretary of the Interior,

1985-89; now President of the Summit Group International. Mr.
Hodel, it's a pleasure to have you here.
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STATEMENT OF DONALD P. HODEL, FORMER SECRETARY OF
ENERGY (1982-1985); ADMIELAL JAMES D. WATKINS, FORMER
SECRETARY OF ENERGY (1989-1993); AND JOHN S.

HERRINGTON, FORMER SECRETARY OF ENERGY (1985-1989)

Mr. HODEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It's a pleasure to be here
today. I'd like to summarize my testimony, which I've submitted,

very briefly; and then to make a couple of other observations if I

may.
Mr. Horn. And then throw it open to questions, once all three

of you are done. We put your full written statement automatically
in the record, after the introduction. So feel free to summarize, and
we'll start the clock now.
Mr. HoDEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My written testimony

had basically two objectives. One was to state clearly that I believe

the Department of Energy should be abolished. And I think that

that is primarily because it's a policy issue. Having a Department
of Energy, I believe, sends the wrong signal to foreign countries

and to the United States. It makes a false statement about what
the U.S. Government does, or is able to do, with regard to energy.

The second objective was to give some suggestions as to what
might be done with its parts. Some of that is policy and some of

that is budget. But the bottom line is, I really do believe there is

no issue or combination of issues which justifies or requires the re-

tention of a Department of Energy. And I'll be happy to respond
to questions regarding that at the appropriate time.

Then I'd just like to add a couple of things, because since I was
noted as a witness at this hearing, I've heard from a number of

constituencies, or special interests, as they're sometimes called,

with regard to their view of retaining the Department of Energy,
or particularly, certain of its programs. And I know that the mem-
bers of this committee or Members of Congress have also been re-

ceiving various requests or suggestions, because I've seen some of

the correspondence from some of those constituencies.

And I even received a fairly substantial packet and a personal,

though unsigned, letter from the Secretary of Energy on the sub-

ject. So I know the Department of Energy is putting on at least a
modest full-court press on the subject. I've seen articles where Sec-

retarv Bill White, who I think is an extremely competent individ-

ual, nas been openly warning certain constituencies about what
will happen to their programs if the department demises.

I think the point is, whether or not there's a Department of En-
ergy, some programs must be cut; and whether or not there's a De-
partment of Energy, some programs must be retained. Some be-

cause they are essential, by general agreement, and others prob-
ably because of pressure from particular special interests. But I

think it's important for the committee, Mr. Chairman, not to con-

fuse the budget issues with the policy issues, relating to the exist-

ence of the department. They really are two separate questions.

Now, I know that Secretary O'Leary testified last week. And last

week, in the little paper in the small community where I live, there
wiiS a Mary McGrory column, which I took great interest in. It was
a spirited defense of keeping the Department of Energy, and very
laudatory about the Secretary. But really, it's a fantastic article be-
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cause it shows the Secretary of Energy essentially has nothing to

do with energy.
It talks about the tremendous efficiency she's brought about, and

then speaks about public policy activities, but nothing about effi-

ciencies; and then describes, through the balance of the article, a
visit to a high school in which she gives away $1 million worth of

used security equipment, which I think is a laudatory thing to do,

commendable. Obviously, the Secretary is an excellent Ambas-
sador. But the article just makes plain the Department, as she's

conducting it, does not nave very much to do with energy.
And I couldn't help but think, if that article had been written by

one of those proponents of abolishing the Department, it would
have been seen as snide and demeaning, because it, by implication,

says, it really doesn't have anything to do with energy. And finally,

I would draw to the committee's attention, that periodically we see
articles showing that there are polls favoring the retention of the
Department of Energy, by a fairly substantial margin.

I would urge the committee to recognize that those polls are ab-
solutely meaningless, at best; or worse, they're misleading. I would
expect that many people think, rightly, that energy is tremen-
dously important to the United States of America. And therefore,

they think we ought to have a government department that deals
with it. But the idea is that, in dealing with it, it would do some-
thing beneficial. And I think the impulse may be right, but only if

government were able to do something sound and reliable and ben-
eficial.

But I really don't believe that it can or should, in the economy
that we have, take that kind of leadership role. And therefore, I do
believe the Department should be abolished, and its essential parts
distributed elsewhere. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hodel follows:]

Prepared Statement of Donald P. Hodel, Former Secretary of Energy (1982-
1985)

Thank you for this opportunity to appear before this committee and discuss the
future of the U.S. Department of Energy. In my opinion the Department of Energy
should be terminated.

Please recognize that I have been away from the Department for more than a dec-

ade. Therefore, many details have changed, and as to those I am not commenting.
Certainly, however, others have not, and it is to those I will direct my attention.

First, the very existence of a Depart.ment of "Energy" is undesirable. It suggests
that the U.S. government is doing or is going to do something about energy beyond
what it is capable of doing and oeyond what I believe government should do. In
many countries the government owns, operates or controls national energy compa-
nies: oil, gas, electric. In my experience when those countries deal with the U.S. gov-
ernment they assume that the U.S. government does the same, in part because of
the existence of a "Department of Energy."
One of the frequent requests from OPEC countries during my tenure as Secretary

of Energy was to hold a "producer-consumer" dialogue, that is, bring together con-
suming nations such as the U.S., European countries, Japan, etc., and producing na-
tions, such as members of OPEC. The purpose was to "stabilize" world oil prices (by
which was meant "reach an agreement on fixing world oil prices"). The U.S. resisted

for a number of reasons, but an important one was that, even if we had held such
a meeting and even if we had agreed that some fixed price level was appropriate,

the Secretary of Energy had (and has) no authority to fix energy prices in the U.S.
Further, the Secretary should not have such authority. DOE nas no authority to

order increases or decreases in price or production, and it should not. Yet, other en-
ergy ministers seemed not to understand that fact and continued to seek such a
meeting.
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On another occasion a major contract for the purchase of LNG from Algeria for

dehvery to the U.S. was abrogated unilaterally by the U.S. company after a sharp
decline in natural gas prices. The Energy Minister from Algeria telephoned me and
insisted that I order tne U.S. company to honor the contract. I tried to persuade
him that I had no such authority, but when the conversation finally ended I was
convinced that he simply did not believe that the U.S. Secretary of Energy could
not direct the company to perform.
Both of these anecdotes illustrate the importance of not sending the wrong signal

to foreign countries about the role of the Department.
Finally, so long as there is a DOE there is temptation on the part of the Congress,

the Adrninistration and the American people to assume that DOE has the ability

and the authority to solve any energy proolems that arise a false and misleading
assumption which can lead to inappropriate and unproductive actions, as the history

of energy price fixing and allocation clearly shows. That history emphasizes that the
one thing Congress and the Administration must resist in the event of an "energy
crisis" is imposmg price controls and allocation of energy supplies.

Second, DOE has little beneficial impact on energy in tne U.S. It is, unfortu-
nately, and "energy" department without an energy mission. The closest it comes
is in conducting or funoing research. However none of those research projects re-

quires a separate, cabinet-level department to administer the funding.
Third, as for the biennial publication of an Energy Policy, it is nearly meaningless

in that DOE has no authority to implement it, and no other cabinet department
pays any attention to it except when the policy can be quoted in support of some-
thmg that department otherwise wants to do. I can recall no occasion where anyone
in the eneroy industry has paid any attention to the national energy policy state-

ment from DOE except to criticize it.

This function, if it were to be continued, could easily be housed in the Department
of the Interior. From any practical standpoint, the Department of the Interior has
much more to say about enerey production issues than DOE because of its leasing
responsibilities for the federaflands, its Minerals Management Service royalty col-

lection, the Bureau of Mines, OSM, USGS, etc. The Department of the Interior has
in recent years become a major obstacle to U.S. domestic energy production regard-
less of what DOE may publish as an Energy Policy. The statement of energy policy

might as well come from DOI. It could even be beneficial, if DOI would t2ke seri-

ously the language in the policy which states that the U.S. government ought to as-

sist in making federal energy resources available for domestic production—the one
area where an energy policy ought to be applicable.

Fourth, if it were my decision, I would terminate or disperse the remaining ele-

ments of the DOE among other departments, probably as follows:

The Federal Eneroy Regulatory Commission, although organizationally housed by
statute within DOEI, is and ought to be an independent agency as was its prede-
cessor, the Federal Power Commission.
The Defense portion of DOE has, unfortunately, become largely an environmental

clean-up division. There is no benefit to having two agencies pursuing very similar

programs.
One possibility which would probably be followed if this were not a governmental

situation is that a separate division (entity) would be established to be responsible
for clean-up. However, because this is government it is probably better that the
clean-up budget be required to compete for money with the line activities of the
agencies.

An alternative approach would be for clean-up for both DOD and the defense por-

tion of DOE to be done as part of the DOD so that all defense clean-up projects are
within one department and the priorities are consistently applied, rather than hav-
ing two departments competing for funds and, very likely, misallocating those funds.
There should be administrative savings in a consolidation. As a part of this process
the clean-up standards must be revised. The present system is concerned not with
health and safety but with environmental purity which can be achieved only at a
horrendous cost—a cost so high that it is, in fact, not reasonably achievable. Real
safety can be achieved much sooner at a much lower cost by allowing containment
and stabilization of wastes until further experience, research, and technological suc-

cesses provide better clean-up options. U.S. government research on clean-up should
be restricted to hazardous waste streams unique to the government. The private

sector has incentives to research clean-up on others.

If the day ever comes when weapons production reconunences, that activity could
continue in DOD. The "civilian control" issue could be dealt with by appropriate pro-

cedures at that time since it is more form than reality, even now. Certainly, al-

though there was nominal civilian control of the process with weapons production
housed in DOE, practically speaking, the military significantly controlled the nu-
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clear weapons decision process. It should be remembered in discussions of civilian

"control" of nuclear weapon production that it is only the production which is under
nominal civilian control. Once the weapons are made and operational they are
turned over to the military.

The Strategic Petroleum Reserve is a tempting target for those seeking revenues.
I have been told that the facilities need upgrading before they could deliver the
specified level of output, and there may be some technical problems with which I

am not adequately familiar. I believe, however, that, properly utilized, the SPR can
still be important and useful. Unfortunately, the chances of prof)er utilization are
slim. When I was Secretary of Energy, we went through elaborate analyses of how
SPR should be used. The only souna basis is to offer for sale on a bid basis a num-
ber of barrels per day equal to the anticipated shortfall to the United States from
an interruption of supply. I dealt with this in much greater detail in my book, Crisis

in the Oil Patch. I believe that the analysis is sound. However, unless sound bases
for SPR's use can be codified in some binding way, SPR constitutes an enormous
opportunity for mismanagement and governmental interference in the domestic
mariiet and might be better sold to the highest bidders (phased over time so as to

minimize adverse market consequences).
The Power Marketing Administrations are attractive targets for privatization.

From 1972 to 1978 I served as Administrator of the Bonneville Power Administra-
tion. During that time I often considered this question. I concluded that the balance
of power among the constituencies of BPA (and, I suspected, among those of the
other PMAs) was such that there was no practical way to accomplisn a "spin-olT."

Public power fears that the investor owned utilities would control BPA and they
would lose their preference power. Investor-owned utilities fear that the public
power systems would control BPA and use it as an economic weapon against them.
Each will support the status quo before it will risk a change which might work to

its disadvantage. I explored this question when I was Secretary of Energy and con-
cluded that the politics simply made it infeasible to try at that time.

It was clear to me then, and it is still clear to me that DOE is not necessary or
even very helpful to the PMAs. They have been housed administratively for almost
18 years in DOE. It is hard to identify any particular benefits from that relation-

ship. There are thousands of public and private electric utilities in the U.S. which
get along just fine without help from the Secretary of Energy.

I am encouraged that the present atmosphere within the administration and Con-
gress is such that the opportunity is much greater. If the administration and Con-
gress followed the example of the U.K. in the privatization of its electric sector and
simply mandated that by a given date it must happen and that the government
would, accept the highest and best bid(s) for these agencies. The industry would find

a way to accomplisn the objective. It would be extremely helpful in that case for

an anti-trust exemption to be provided so that public and private utilities could join

together for a combined bid for regional portions of particular PMAs. I do not be-

lieve that the DOE or the administration can significantly aid this process because
by their very nature they are subject to multiple political pressures. I understand
there is a proposal to establish an independent quasi-federal entity called The For-
restal Corporation to facilitate the use of private sources of energy on military
bases. This corporation would, also, act as a broker for the federal government in

the sale of existing military power facilities. Perhaps, this concept or even this cor-

f>oration could be charged with the responsibility for obtaining the substantial bene-
its of divesting the PMAs.
The time has clearly come where PMA transmission can and should be separated

from generation and privatized in line with the FERC and Congressional action (in

the Energy Policy Act of 1992) of encouraging regional transmission groups in order
to facilitate competition and efficient use of resources. Conceptually, generation
could be similarly privatized.

Even if privatization is not feasible for federal generation, however, the PMAs,
particularly BPA, ought to be relieved of the enormously expensive "social engineer-
ing" and environmental subsidies which they are required to provide and, in return,

they ought to be reauired to charge rates sufficient to operate and maintain their

systems and repay tneir federal debt on schedule. This would have a beneficial ef-

fect upon the federal budget, and it would require that those hidden subsidies to

non-power purposes would have to compete in the federal budget against other
wortnwhile and useful projects.

The National Laboratories are a great national resource. The best that can be said
for DOE, however, is that even after 18 years it has no peculiar expertise or role

in managing them, and the labs do more than energy research, as well they should.
The justification for the national labs, begun for military purposes, is shifting radi-

cally to the commercial side as they try to find a mission and a source of funds.



49

This is a partial or de facto privatization which should be encouraged. The primarily

defense-related labs should be shifted to DOD. The others could be privatized by
sale or transfer to non-federal entities, such as universities, foundations, or the like.

Government research needs could be accomplished through research contracts with

these and other research laboratories.

Research and development grants ought to be restricted in some similar fashion.

Any scientific entity, such as NSF, could handle grant programs. Research budgets
of DOE have been highly politicized in the past so that projects could not be judged
on the merits but rather were kept alive by key Senators or Congressmen as a
means of aiding the local economy in some state or congressional district. Note, par-

ticularly, in this regard, magnetohydro-dynamics and the clean coal technology pro-

gram. Research and development expenditures require continuity. Changes of Ad-
ministrations, Cabinet Secretaries, Assistant Secretaries and so on, disrupt that

continuity and cause wasteful expenditures.

The government is ill-suited to develop anything entrepreneurial. When the U.S.
government needed supercomputers, it developed the specifications for what it need-

ed and then offered to Duy from the private sector computers which met those specs.

As a result the U.S. took the lead m supercomputers. This is not unlike the time
100 years ago when America wanted railroads to cross America. Instead of the gov-

ernment trying to buUd them (in which case they would still be under construction

and significantly over budget), incentives were created for private capital to do so.

It worked.
EIA, should be abolished. Any of its services with value to the economy could and

would be done by the private sector, as they were before, if the government stopf)ed

doing them for free." Any which would not be done by the private sector are prob-

ably not of value.

ERA should be abolished forthwith. I understand that some of the entitlement

cases are still unresolved after 15 years! If that is true, it is outrageous and waste-

ful. It ought to be an embarrassment to anyone still connected with the process. K
there are any matters of merit remaining afler all these years of paying lawyers
to pursue them, they should be transferred to the Department of Justice for final

disposition.

Policy, International Affairs, and Emergency Response are activities which, as I

have tried to show in my earlier discussion, do not serve an essential function which
would require the retention of a Department of Energy to fulfill.

I suspect there are other parts of DOE which I have not covered, but none that

could not be dealt with in similar fashion. The elimination of some of its functions

and dispersal of others to other departments and the termination of the Department
of Energy would send the right signal to our citizens and the world.

I wisn you every success in your efforts to reduce the size and improve the oper-

ations of the U.S. government.

Mr. Horn. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. Let me next call on Admi-
ral Watkins, who came to that position with a unique background
for Secretary of Energy, from his former position as Chief oi Naval
Operations; served as Secretary of Energy 1989-1993, and is presi-

dent of the Consortium for Oceanograpnic Research and Develop-

ment. Admiral Watkins.
Mr. Watkens. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My formal written tes-

timony, regarding issues related to the potential elimination of the

Department of Energy, I made it clear that I was not here today

to either advocate the Department's retention or its demise. In my
testimony, I pointed out that in the public debate so far, I have yet

to hear a single clear enunciation of who, in the absence of the

DOE, is going to assume the heavy burden of responsibility, and
be held accountable for the effective management of all nuclear

functions that still pertain to the past and future nuclear weapons
stockpile.

These include: weapon dismantlement and storage or disposal of

residue fissile material; operations and maintenance of the many
remaining but badly contaminated nuclear weapons related facili-

ties; resolution of the almost intractable hazardous and nuclear

waste disposal issue; oversight of the nuclear safety and radiologi-
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cal health component of all the Federal nuclear facilities; and the
weapons and non-weapons laboratories, filled with thousands of
dedicated scientists, engineers and technical people, who are either

essential to weapons stockpile assurance, in the case of the former
laboratories, or to a large scale, are dedicated to high risk and cost-

ly basic research that can only be done by the Federal Govern-
ment—that's in both the former and the latter category of labora-

tories.

If we first fix the responsibility and accountability for carrying
out these functions then, we can better answer the question of

what organizational entity is best suited. Will it be a new version
of the om Atomic Energy Commission? Will it be a new version of

the former Energy Research and Development Administration? Or
will it be a scaled down DOE, but retain a Cabinet-level head?

Certainly, ownership of the daunting management challenges
and facilities I've described cannot be expected to be craved as
moneymakers by, and hence given to, the private sector. Further,
besides the question of who in the Federal Government is going to

be held accountable, is the question of how do you transition from
the status quo to a new arrangement? And by this I mean, how is

the Congress—particularly the new leadership majority—going to

assure itself at the outset that it has not inherited a deteriorating

or even a marginally safe nuclear weapons management process?
My experience and assessment of the informal inputs made to me

over the past 2 years say that you might be. This is the real issue

that needs urgent attention by this committee; and let's hope be-
fore more cavalier announcements are made as to who can out-

downsize DOE better and faster. I then go on, in my testimony, to

lay out a very specific six-step process to fix responsibility and ac-

countability lOT nuclear and basic research to at least some Federal
entity.

I point out, in this process, that all other functions can be either,

one, transferred to other appropriate Federal agencies, where rea-

sonable functional compatibility exists; two, sold or privatized; or

three, eliminated. It's my belief that functions identified in this cat-

egory amount to about one-third of today's budgeted programs, and
therefore would result in cost savings.

To carrj' out my suggested six-step process, I would urge the full

House Oversight Committee to work jointly with their Senate coun-
terpart, in consultation with the appropriate authorization commit-
tees, to establish a small, highly qualified independent review
group. This group should have membership taken from the mem-
bers of the congressionally mandated Defense Nuclear Facility

Safety Board; the relevant national research councils of the Na-
tional Academy of Sciences that have conducted previous studies of

nuclear matters in DOE; and other respected bodies in this subject

area that have no conflict of interest with the issues at stake.

The chair of this group should be mutually agreed upon by the

Congress within 30 days. In turn, the chair should then rec-

ommend to the joint oversight committees who the other members
might be. I think six to eight would be adequate. I'd be pleased to

matce suggestions to the committees in this regard. I would then
charter this independent review group with dedicated support, pro-

vided by the existing Defense Nuclear Facility Safety Board staff.



51

to report back to Congress within 120 days their findings and rec-

ommendations for carrying out the six steps.

In my opinion, this task is achievable within 4 months, in view
of the alreadv extensive body of knowledge that exists in that
board, which has closely monitored DOE and nuclear management
over the past 5 years. In the interim, I would deny any manpower
reductions that may now be contemplated for fiscal 96 in those
functions identified as having important nuclear weapon manage-
ment responsibilities.

I would also task this independent review group to develop draft
legislation, along lines of, one, the current law regarding manage-
ment of the Navy's nuclear propulsion program, which was enacted
by the Defense Appropriations Act of 1984, Public Law 98-525 of
October 1984; and two, the bill sponsored 2 years ago by Senator
Cohen, who attempted, without success, to put into law those fea-

tures of nuclear management that should not be tinkered with by
rotating political appointees from either party.
The Cohen bill should be resurrected and used as a second

thoughtful blueprint to assist the independent review board in re-

sponding to their congressional task. Mr. Chairman, the nuclear
function I highlighted as top priority needs to be handled first,

with special attention to the maintenance of the highest technical
quality at all kev levels of its future organizational structure.
To attract ana sustain this quality oftechnical leadership will re-

quire both executive and legislative branches to proclaim publicly,

once again, that this function remains vital to the national interest;

to reassert their insistence that no denigration of quality manage-
ment in this function can be tolerated; and finally, to see that nec-
essary resources and quality assurance are in place to convince
Americans that we are, in fact, managing the nuclear weapons
complex competently, and in accordance with nationally and inter-

nationally accepted norms and standards.
All this should be done within the next few months, before any

final decision is made as to fiscal year 96 appropriations for DOE.
Whether this requires a Cabinet omcer-led department is unimpor-
tant. The chairman of the Atomic Energy Commission was always
highly regarded by both executive and legislative branches, so call

the new organization whatever you like. But head it with somebody
of stature, who both Congress and the White House agree has the
requisite scientific, technical and management skills to help assure
its effectiveness.

Once this is done, that individual, whether called an adminis-
trator, a chairman, or secretary, should nominate to the authoriza-
tion committees jointly, his or her remaining key five or six associ-

ates—all with appropriate technical credentials of experience and
demonstrated competence in the requisite skills surrounding the
nuclear business. This special review group should be terminated
in 6 months. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'll open myself up for

questions.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Watkins follows:]

Prepared Statement of Admiral James D. Watkins, Former Secretary of
Energy (1989-1993)

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for inviting me to participate in this hearing today be-
fore your Subconunittee. Your invitational letter of April 26, 1995 indicated a par-
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ticular interest in hearing my comments as to the efficacy of a variety of recently
announced actions to restructure the Department of Energy.

Let me preface my comments by making several points:
• First, with one exception I have not attempted to remain current or been

asked to comment ofiicially on any events that have taken place in DOE since

I departed there as its Secretary nearly two and one-half years ago. The one
exception occurred a few months after I left ofTice when I felt that my successor
had moved prematurely, shortly after her arrival, to dismantle a hard-won nu-
clear safety process which had taken four years to install. That process was di-

rectly tailored to the well-accepted procedural changes in world-wide private
sector reactor operations emanating irom a variety of high level oversight bod-
ies, national and international, following the Three Mile Island accident. As a
result, I felt compelled to inform key members of both House and Senate gov-
ernment oversight bodies of my concerns. A copy of my letter of April 28, 1993
to then- Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs Chairman John Glenn and
House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigation
Chairman John Dingell is attached hereto as part of my testimony today (letter

to Representative Dingell identical to that for Senator Glenn).
• Second, I was asked in February 1994 by the General Accounting Office to

respond to a questionnaire which requested my input to their review of the mis-
sion and management of the DOE, and its possible restructuring. A copy of my
letter response to Mr. Charles Bowsher, tne Comptroller General, is also at-

tached to my testimony since its contents regarding nuclear stockpile manage-
ment are germane to thia hearing. Copies of that letter were also sent to key
Congressional Members as well as the incumbent Secretary of Energy.

• Finally, while I have scanned a number of public reports, like the Galvin
Report on the DOE National Laboratories- relevant sections of the Vice Presi-
dent's Report of the National Performance Review; the Secretary of Energy's re-

cently announced strategic alignment and downsizing initiative; the recent Con-
S"essional Research Service (CRS) Report for Congress on options related to

OE programs; and now, the Senate and House Budget Committees' just-an-

nounced intentions for either a reduced-size DOE or its abolition; I have neither
been asked prior to this hearing to participate in, nor comment on, any aspects
of these reports or intended actions.

Mr. Chairman, I am not here to advocate either the Department's retention or its

demise. I recognize that current leaders of both House and Senate have publicly ad-
vocated its abolishment. Whether you do or not is for you to decide. In fact, whether
or not the Department of Energy is abolished is not the most important issue. In
fact, it misses the point, and masks the much tougher issue of who is going to have
responsibility for and be held accountable to the President, the Congress and the
American people for the safe and effective management of the nuclear weapon stock-

pile. This includes: weapon dismantlement and storage/disposal of residue fissile

material; operations ana maintenance of the many remaining but badly contami-
nated nuclear weapons-related facilities; resolution of the almost intractable hazard-
ous and nuclear waste disposal issue; oversight of the nuclear safety and radiologi-

cal health component of all the Federal nuclear facilities; and the weapons and non-
weapons laboratories fllled with thousands of dedicated scientists, engineers and
technical people who are either essential to weapon stockpile assurance (the former)
or to large scale, high risk and cost basic research that only the Federal Govern-
ment can support (both the former and latter). If we fix the responsibility and ac-

countability issue first, based on a sound functional analysis, then we can better an-
swer the question of what organizational entity is best suited. Will it be a new ver-

sion of the old Atomic Energy Commission? Will it be a new version of the former
Eneivy Research and Development Administration? Or will it remain a scaled down
DOE out retain a Cabinet-level head? Certainly ownership of the daunting manage-
ment challenges and facilities I have described cannot be expected to be craved as
money makers by and hence given to the private sector.

Mr. Chairman, I spent over thirty years in the Navy's nuclear power business

—

from graduate school, finishing my work at the Oak Ridge National Laboratory; to

?[ualilying as an operator on two different nuclear power plants; to working nearly
our years directly for Admiral Rickover in the old 'N" Building down on Constitu-
tion Avenue as his assistant for selection, education and training of nuclear power
plant operators; to preparing the necessary executive orders and draft legislation (in

close cooperation with House and Senate leaders of the former Joint Committee on
Atomic Energy) to help achieve a responsible turnover from Admiral Rickover to his

successor in January 1982; to four years as Secretary of Energy.
In the latter assignment, I had been asked by President Bush to come in and

"clean up a mess." This "mess" included: restart of the Nation's only tritium produc-
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tion reactor, shutdown for egregious safety violations; losses in almost every court-

room in the Nation where DOE was being sued for poor public health and environ-
mental practices; waste pileup to the extent that State governors were threatening
facility shutdowns which, in most cases, were justifiable positions because of inad-
equate addressal by DOE management over many years. The laundry list of past
poor practices, none of which would have been tolerated within either the private

sector's or the Navy's nuclear power programs, went on and on. My strong belief

is that unless we take serious stock oi the past, we will surely fail again in the fu-

ture.

Unfortunately, I see little in either the recent public debate on this subject or in

the plethora of reviews conducted to date on downsizing government, that would
demonstrate movement in a direction to reassure the Nation that a responsible,

thoughtful approach to turnover of all nuclear weapons-related responsibilities to

some new management regime is receiving the highest level of attention by White
House and Congress. In my opinion, the Congress carries a heavy responsibility to

ensure that whatever system is in place by law, things nuclear will be managed on
a sustained, highest-priority, visible basis in accordance with well-established

norms, long since adopted by responsible nuclear nations. We don't need to learn
any more lessons the hard way as we did at Three Mile Island. Yet, my judgment
is that we could be headed that way unless the Congress demands a disciplined ap-
proach to restructuring DOE insofar as nuclear matters are concerned. Assuring nu-
clear safety cannot be placed in the same category as every other budget line item
when it comes to fair-sharing contributions to deficit reduction. We have proven that
there are no short cuts to nuclear safety assurance, fully recognizing that best busi-
ness practices are, indeed expensive.

In this context, then, Mr. Chairman, I am proposing a strategy for your Commit-
tee to consider, irrespective of the avenue you finally decide upon as the most appro-

f)riate for restructuring. My suggestion is that a six-step process be carried out as
bllows:

• First, identify those functions and related manpower which must remain the
primary responsibility of the Federal Government, both for funding and over-

sight, and which should be kept separate from the Department of Defense ac-

tivities as originally envisioned by President Truman and the Congress. My
suggested list of functions include:— Nuclear stockpile management to ensure weapon reliability and safety;

weapon dismantlement; and storage/disposal of residue special nuclear material.
— Operations and maintenance of nuclear weapons-related facilities (i.e.

whether operational, shutdown, or awaiting D&D).— Nuclear weapon facility cleanup (e.g. environmental restoration and waste
management); related nuclear waste disposal; decontamination; and decommis-
sioning where appropriate.
— Nuclear reactor and nuclear non-reactor safety and radiological health

oversight at all facilities where applicable.
— Nuclear weapons laboratories (i.e. Lawrence Livermore National Labora-

tory, Los Alamos National Laboratory, and Sandia National Laboratories—New
Mexico and California), downsized where it makes sense consistent with agreed
nuclear stockpile policy.

— Civilian radioactive waste management (e.g. high level waste repository,
research phase only).

Note: These functions are so interconnected that they all should, realistically,

remain under a single authority.
• Second, identify those functions and manpower which should either remain

the primary responsibility of the Federal (Jovernment, or do not seem to fit any
other Federal agency, and therefore should be assumed by whatever entity

manages the foregoing functions. My suggested list includes:
— Non-weapons laboratories (i.e. (1) multi-program laboratories other than

the above three; and (2) most of the program-dedicated laboratories (about two
dozen)). (See Appendix 3 for list.)

Notes: (1) I suggest this function be placed under the same "one authority"
as outlined above for the weapons functions and laboratories since such a large
number of scientists and major investments in facilities are already contained
within that set of functions, and no other government entity comes to mind as
being naturally aligned to assume budget and oversight responsibilities over
these basic research resources.

(2) It is in these laboratories where so much of the Nation's high risk, poten-
tially valuable basic research is conducted, for example, in biological and gen-
eral sciences, basic and high energy physics, and the like. I discuss this in more
detail later in my testimony.
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• Third, identify those other energy-related functions and manpower which
should probably be retained somewhere in the Federal Government (e.g. Inte-

rior, Transportation or other) for at least the remainder of this decade or until

we have moved well away from today's nearly fully-reflated (e.g. by FERC,
NRG EPA, and State counterparts) power generation industry to a predomi-
nantly competitive one. My suggested list includes:
— A mucn reduced composite of the fossil, renewable, nuclear energy, and en-

ergy conservation/efTiciency groups and their corresponding R&D programs (see

note) as well as the energy policy group, and the quasi-independent Energy In-

formation Administration.
Notes: (1) R&D programs retained should consist of only those potentially

high-yield, high-risk basic research ventures which the Congress believes must
be supported with Federal funds in order to measure their efTicaciousness. For
example, those research efforts aimed at understanding their risks to human
health and the environment ought to be retained. Research on the effects of fos-

sil energy use on global climate change, whether there are biological efTects

from electromagnetic fields, or determining the effects of radiation on the
human body are the kinds of research that should be retained.

(2) Both Legislative and Executive Branches also need to monitor implemen-
tation of the comprehensive national Energy Policy Act of 1992. At periodic in-

tervals, they need to come together to adjust its course as technology or other
drivers dictate. Regulatory agencies should not be allowed to set policies over
matters they regulate.

• Fourth, identify and place into other Federal agencies those functions and
manpower which are best funded and supported by existing missions of other
agencies. My suggested list includes:
— Transfer of the Office of Non-Proliferation to the Department of Defense.
Note: The Secretaries of Defense and State, along with tne National Security

Advisor, are well staffed and equipped to carry out tnis important function, with
continued support directly to them from the weapons laboratories.

• Fifth, identify those administrative, budgetary and legal staff necessary to

support the aforementioned transfers to other places within the Federal Govern-
ment, but only to the extent that they cannot be supported from within the re-

ceiving agencies' existing resource allowance.
• Finally, sell/privatize, as appropriate, all other functions currently in exist-

ence and their related resource support (material and manpower) that clearly

do not need Federal involvement—e.g. power marketing administrations, naval
petroleum reserves, strategic petroleum reserve; uranium enrichment facilities

lor civilian nuclear power plants; and, at some time in the future, privatize ci-

vilian radioactive waste management (for development and operations after the
research phase).

Now, the plethora of reports mentioned earlier might be useful in efforts to assure
"minimum" staff in resultant Federal headquarters, field activities and contract of-

fices. But cutting comers where nuclear matters are concerned should be allowed
only after the closest scrutiny by the Congress. Too often, large reductions in staff-

ing seem to be proposed before assured staffing resources to carry out essential

functions have been identified, i.e. "cart before the horse." Because oi the special cir-

cumstances related to managing things nuclear, this could be an irresponsible if not

dangerous approach. I would urge this Committee to demand a plan which links

"must-retain' functions closely with "must-retain" personnel to carry out these func-

tions effectively and efficiently, i.e. "horse before cart."

So, if the Congress should decide to effect a major restructuring along aforemen-
tioned lines, then there should be direction given soon to the Administration to pre-

pare the necessary implementation plan. In this connection, it is my understanding
that the DOE has already committed itself to a $14 billion budget reduction over
the next five years.

I was astonished to hear this figure earlier this year as DOE budget growth dur-

ing my tenure there, with full encouragement of the Congress, was significant to

help extract DOE from its "mess." Obviously the world has changed significantly

since 1992, particularly regarding the amount of new nuclear materials needed in

a greatly reauced stockpile. But the fundamental nuclear management principles re-

main unchanged.
In addition, on May 3, 1995, the Secretary proposed an additional $1.7 billion in

savings from management improvements and restructuring activities, such as revis-

ing travel procedures and regulations, reducing the use oT support service contrac-

tors, streamlining activities relating to the National Environmental Policy Act
(NEPA), sales of surplus metals such as gold and silver, realignment of certain pro-

gram activities within the Department, closure of extraneous suppwrt offices around
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the country, and Federal and contractor staffing reductions. The Secretary also sub-
mitted proposed legislation to Congress to achieve the sale of three power marketing
administrations and removal of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERCf)
from the Department. While these proposed changes could lead to additional savings
in the Department's funding, the larger question that needs to be asked is whether
or not minimum resource requirements to carry out agreed to "must-retain" func-
tions can still be met. This Conmiittee should aemand verification of this relation-

ship as first priority to any acceptance of the Secretary's announced cuts.

Additionally, recent initiatives to reduce spending in all DOE programs provide
the opportunity for reform of legislation which many times drives today's costs. I

woula like to suggest this Subcommittee review the recommendations of a recent
report commissioned by the Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resources to

evaluate the environmental cleanup of the Hanford Reservation. Hanford now re-

ceives one-quarter of the $6 billion DOE spends on its overall environmental res-

toration program. The author of the report, Steve Blush, states that the Hanford
cleanup is "noundering in a legal and regulatory morass." Regulatory requirements,
according to Mr. Blusn, are "unworkable, disjunctive, lack scientific and technical
merit, undermine any sense of accountability for taxpayer dollars, and most impor-
tantly, are having an overall negative effect on worker and public health and safe-

ty.-

Mr. Blush contends that the Congress has largely created this confusing frame-
work which has given DOE impossiole standards to meet in a number of environ-
mental laws. These laws impose, either through the actual statute or implementing
regulations, deadlines not technically feasible and criminal penalties for not reach-
ing unreachable goals.

The Blush Report says "Congress must fundamentally change the underlying
legal and regulatory framework. While this in itself is a herculean task, you must
understand that without fundamental change, government officials regardless of
what government organization they belong to, wifl not truly be able to do a job that
targets top priority environmental and health problems based on real risk to work-
ers and the surrounding communities, not just perceived risk.

The nuclear function I highlighted as top priority must be handled separately, de-
liberately, and with special attention given to maintenance of the highest technical
quality in all levels oi its future leadership. To attract and sustain this leadership
will require both Executive and Legislative Branches to first proclaim this function,
once again, as vital to the national interest; to reassert their insistence that no deni-
gration of quality management in this function can be tolerated; and finally to see
uiat necessary resources and quality assurance are in place to convince all Ameri-
cans that we are in fact managing the nuclear weapon complex competently. Wheth-
er this requires a Cabinet Officer-led department is unimportant. "The Chairman of
the Atomic Energy Commission was always highly qualified and regarded by both
Executive and Legislative Branches. So call the new organization whatever you like.

But head it with someone of stature, who both Congress and White House agree
has the requisite scientific, technical, and management skills to help assure its ef-

fectiveness.

I might add one additional thought regarding the more than thirty national lab-
oratories now supported and overseen by the DOE. The fundamental science with
which they are involved represents some of the best in the world. A March 1995
edition of a DOE-combined laboratory report entitled "Fundamental Science in the
Department of Energy" attests to this. I have provided a copy to each Subcommittee
Member for their review. Whatever the outcome of the DOE restructuring exercise,
we should be extremely cautious to retain and utilize, efficiently and effectively, the
unique intellectual potential and research tools housed therein. The basic research
facilities of the Department are only constructed after exhaustive reviews by the
best researchers in the field and by groups like the National Academy of Sciences
and they have determined the facility in question is indeed the most logical and val-

uable for the field. While almost all of these facilities are used by researchers from
industry, none could be supported solely by industrial users. These are U.S. crown
jewels that need our best decision-making and should, in large part, be retained
even at reduced funding levels.

You should also seek to get the most for your tax dollars used in these activities.

That should include encouraging the Department's researchers to share their exper-
tise and findings with industry where industry is willing to cost-share. This has al-

ways taken place in Federal research activities but under the Bush Administration
we gave it renewed emphasis. Many of the collaborative efforts in the Department
and other agencies had their roots in this philosophy. You should be tough on cor-

gorate handouts but you should encourage corporate partnerships. Similarly, under
resident Bush we tried to have all Federal agencies involved in activities that rely
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on science and math encourage activity in local communities to improve education
in grades K to 12. This Congress is trying to shape a brighter future for our children
and if you are to succeed you must not lose sight of this essential activity.

Let me conclude, Mr. Chairman, by urging this Committee to demand a "horse
before the cart" plan be developed by the Administration along lines outlined above,
whether or not the DOE is abolished. Only by so doing can the Congress be assured
that nuclear matters are under competent management control using well-accepted
practices.

APPENDIX 1 TO TESTIMONY

AprU 28, 1993

The Honorable John Glenn
Chairman, Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
503 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-3501

Dear John:
I am writing to make you aware of my concern over developments at the Depart-

ment of Energy which could have serious effects on nuclear safety. As has been re-

cently reported in the press. The Department's Director of Nuclear Safety has re-

signed and his oroanization is being subsumed by other Departmental oversi^t ele-

ments. I have followed these events very closely and feel compelled to bring this

matter to your attention. It is a subject on which you and I woriced very hard for

four years.
At the outset, I want to stress that I am not criticizing the Secretary's decision

to reorganize the Department. That, certainly, is her prerogative. Any number of or-

ganizational approaches will work, provided adequate number of competent and
technically skilled people are in the right places. Kather, what concerns me about
the current upheaval at the Department oi Energy is the apparent deemphasis of

the importance of nuclear safety given by the highest levels of management within
the Department. In simple terms, I sense the Department is regressing to the very
philosophy that created the mess we found in the late 1980's.

When I assumed control of the Department in 1989, I inherited a weapons produc-
tion complex that was in extreme disrepair, with a work ethic lacking in any appar-
ent concern or sensitivity for nuclear safety. Key facilities, such as the Savannah
River Site reactors, were shut down due to serious safety problems. Others were
being operated in casual and potentially dangerous fashion or sat idle in dangerous
configurations. Few of my senior managers understood the need to make attention
to nuclear safety a coequal with the need to meet production demands. This was
reflected throu^out the Department by inadequate training of workers and by the
absence of adequate nuclear safety standards. The Department's internal oversight
elements were clearly ineffective—buried in the Department's bureaucracy and fo-

cused on lower priority issues. Despite repeated warnings from external nuclear
safety experts and a number of serious operational incidents at DOE facilities, the
Department had—prior to 1989—failed to understand and respond to the lessons of
the Three Mile Island accident as the nuclear power industry was able to do.

I was tasked by President Bush, and urged by you and other Members of Con-
gress, to take whatever drastic actions were needed to correct the existing situation

at the Department to ensure that its facilities could continue to operate safely,

whether for cleanup or production missions. We instituted a series of operational
and organization changes based on experience and proven effectiveness in the nu-
clear navy and the nuclear power industry. We recruited qualified managers and
clarified their lines of responsibility and accountability. We created self assessment
organizations within line management to improve line oversight of our nuclear oper-
ations. Perhaps the most effective measure we took to improve nuclear safety in the

Department was to improve the effectiveness of the Department's independent nu-
clear safety oversight function.

I created a new Ofllce of Nuclear Safety under the leadership of Steven M. Blush,
whom we recruited from the National Academy of Sciences, National Research
Council. Mr. Blush was widely regarded as one of the foremost authorities and
toughest critics on nuclear safety at DOE facilities. This new Office of Nuclear Safe-

ty was given independent status, reporting directly and freely to me, to ensure that
nuclear safety matters could be brought to me and other senior managers in a time-
ly and unfiltered manner. Mr. Blush was included in my daily staff meeting where
operations at all DOE nuclear facilities were discussed. Mr. Blush was also included
in all decision meetings on operations at DOE nuclear facilities, and further, Mr.
Blush had free access to me, day or night, as I felt his issues were the most impor-
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tant the department faced. This independence and access provided an important
check and balance on the line managers and line oversight elements, which in my
experience is critical. Even in an organization such as the nuclear navy, where the
crew are schooled and drilled from oay one on safety and conduct of operations, you
must have effective independent oversight with free access to senior management
to ensure that the entire system performs continually at the highest levels possible.

It takes years and years to breed attention to nuclear safety and conduct oi nuclear
operations into an organization—but this same organization can degrade almost
overnight without dedicated attention on a continuing basis. It is the potential for

rapid degradation that is the possible and unwanted outcome at stake here.
As I reported to Congress upon my departure from DOE, in four years we had

traveled together about one-half the distance toward achieving a new and enlight-

ened culture in the Department, one I thought we both supported. Such a cultural

change to be elf-sustaining in a large organization requires a sincere belief by nearly
all of its nuclear line managers, Trom bottom to top. that they are the principal
beneficiaries of any independent oversight by respectea nuclear experts who uncover
safety concerns previously unknown to or unadoressed by that same line manage-
ment.
When the line finally learns to welcome this sort of independent look over their

shoulder as a routine way of doing nuclear business, without any special pressure
from top management, then the necessary cultural change can be considerea as con-
summated. When this day arrives, a sel i-sustaining enhancement of the safety and
health environment in both workplace and surrounding community is assured. Be-
cause that day has not yet arrived at the Department continuing personal involve-

ment and pressure from the top is mandatory.
I sense what may be occurring is counterpressure on top management by the still

unconverted "old guard," before the new Administration team in DOE can get on
board, to revert to their old way of doing business—i.e. trust the contractors to carry
out all nuclear operations on their own and avoid both direct DOE line management
responsibility and accountability and DOE independent internal oversight for safety
violations or accidents. This was the flawed practice clearly documented in the so-

called Crawford Report in 1981; documented again in a report by the National Acad-
emy of Sciences in 1987; and found again in most other areas of management when
I arrived on the scene in 1989. Virtually all recommendations of these reports had
been ignored. As a result, I was faced with multiple facility shutdowns for serious,

if not criminal, violations of both well-accepted operational nuclear safety practices

and a variety of environmental laws and regulations. Of course, this old guard was
extremely threatened by Steve Blush and his office. Many attempts were made to

gersuade me to "get rid of Blush and to move his office into that of the Assistant
ecretary of Environment, Safety, and Health, thereby reverting back to the old way

of doing DOE business.
The actions I see being taken at the Department could have very serious long

term consequences for the health and safety of the public. With the cfrastic changes
occurring throughout the world in nuclear disarmament—changes which will result

in unprecedented quantities of highly radioactive material being processed, stored
and snipped world-wide, this is not the time for the Department oi Energy to relax
its vigil or to even give the appearance that it does not view this matter with the
highest level of concern. We simply cannot afford to go back to the old way of doing
business. I urge you to make a thorough review of these developments as soon as
possible.

Sincerely,

Admiral James D. Watkins, USN (Ret.)

appendix 2 to testimony

June 13, 1994

Mr. Charles A. Bowsher
Comptroller General
General Accounting Office

441 G Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20548

Dear Chuck:
This is in response to a letter to me from your Director, Enei^ and Science Is-

sues, of February 1994 (undated) which requested my help in reviewing the mission
and management of the Department of Energy (DOE). The subject matter is of such
complexity and importance to national security that it does not lend itself to treat-

ment in the format provided. Thus, in a broader context, I am providing my views
which reflect the experience of years of naval service during which I served as Chief
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of Naval Operations and Member of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and, after such service,

Secretary of Energy in the Bush Administration.
Addressing the matter of the future organization of the Department of Energy re-

quires in the first instance that one have a clear view of the manifold problems with
which that Department is confronted. They divide themselves into those which per-

tain to its responsibilities for nuclear weapons and those which pertain to its re-

sponsibilities for energy and energy-related matters. While both are of hi^ impor-
tance, I consider the lormer of more urgent moment and it is to those that my re-

marics are principally addressed.
The central problem of DOE's management of the nuclear weapons situation

stems from the fact that the nuclear weapons capability of the United States has
taken a sharp turn away from its once strong and relevant posture to one of both
significantly reduced size and reduced relevance. But even with a stockpile of re-

duced size, there are substantial indications, at least externally, of the lack of a
sound, coherent national policy governing what this residual capability must be in
furtherance of national defense interest. Whether or not such a policy now exists,

there is nevertheless, growing evidence of less forceful commitment to and increas-

ing loss of qualified leadership in the many aspects of maintaining our nuclear
weapons capability. At whatever level, this capability needs to be crecGble, safe and
fully ready to deal with contingencies which may still arise in the future as rogue
leaders rattle their fledgling nuclear sabers.

As a consequence, the traditionally superior scientific skills essential to ensure a
credible and safe stockpile, skills historically embedded in our vitally important na-
tional weapons laboratories, are being allowed to be dissipated and diverted from
their fundamental mission. Accompanying this dissipation, there is a progressive
weakening in the nuclear weapons management capabilities of the Department of

Energy. Tnis impending atrophy of weapons capability is happening at a time when
the DOE is confronted with a plethora of difficult and related problems associated
with dismantling large numbers of weapons, devising ways of safely storing excess
plutonium, and coping with the material and other problems of maintaining an
ever-aging stockpile with, over time, its attendant safety problems. In this connec-
tion, I am in receipt of two sets of Recommendations and four reports on weapons-
related safety matters from among those sent to the Department of Energy by the
Defense Nuclear Facilities Safety Board in just the last 18 months. These docu-
ments are also available to the public.

While it may be important to examine the organizational arrangements which, as
your study suggests, could be contributing to tne extant deteriorating situation, it

is even more important to recognize that the evolving potential nuclear weapons
management crisis has a fundamentally deeper root-cause than that of orcanization.

In fart, in my opinion, it more likely lies quite simply in the decline of attentive,

committed, and skilled leadership among those who have the responsibility for

maintaining a safe and credible nuclear weapons posture in both the Departments
of Energy and Defense. Unless this fundamental defect is recognized, there are no
organizational rearrangements which can hope to be more than a palliative. In fact,

in this instance, some organizational changes, apparently contemplated by the Gen-
eral Accounting Office (GAO) study, could deceive others that corrective action is ac-

tually being planned and thus postpone the urgently required personnel actions

needed now.
It is my belief that, were an objective assessment of the management structure

of the DOE to be conducted, it would reveal that several key officials at various lev-

els do not have the experience to manage the nuclear weapons programs for which
they are responsible. Ii this lack is found in too many who are charged with imple-

menting actions at all management levels in both Headquarters and Field organiza-

tions, including operating contractors, then GAO and Congressional oversight com-
mittee attention should focus on quality of people as the urgent matter. That the
management deficiencies which may be uncovered in such an assessment are prob-

ably not attributable to organizational arrangements is derived by comparing the

nuclear weapons prc'^ram with the naval reactors program, a joint program of the

Department of Energy and the Department of Defense. During my tenure as Sec-

retary of Energy, I recall having received a GAO report (GAO/RCED-91-157) on the
naval reactors program which was highly favorable following a comprehensive as-

sessment of that program. As we both are aware, the management and technical

strength of the naval reactors program is to be found to a larger degree in the atten-

tion given to the selection, education, and development of individuals of outstanding
capability and promise. It is this kind of attention that is in serious need of restora-

tion in the nuclear weapons program today.

Citing this contrast is to suggest that the nuclear weapons program can only re-

cover its strength if it selects and assigns those with the demonstrated competence.
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technical knowledge, and leadership to key nuclear weapons management positions

in the Department of Energy and Department of Defense. The obstacles are simply
too formiaable to do otherwise. Organizational fixes will undoubtedly be needed as

well. But until individuals with the recognized leadership and other needed qruali-

ties are installed at all key levels of management, organizational changes should be
deferred. The current Under Secretary oi Energy, for example, is one key official

who could help lead such an assessment within the DOE.
There are precedents for my position in this matter, a position based on over 40

years experience in nuclear management. For one example, there is the Defense Nu-
clear Facilities Safety Board. Board Members are required by its enabling legisla-

tion to be "respected experts in the field of nuclear safety." A notable accomplish-

ment of that organization has been in promptly building a highly competent staff

using methods similar to those of the naval reactors organization. Thus, if the De-
partment of Energy is to retain responsibilities for nuclear weapons programs, pro-

visions must be made that they are required to be under the direction of senior offi-

cials who are "respected experts" in nuclear weapons technology.

As a result of the foregoing, it is my strong recommendation that GAO terminate
consideration of the kind of organizational changes implicit in the GAO question-

naire. Instead, GAO should devote full attention to identifying and delineating the
management competence and other qualifications needed at every key, leadership
level, as I have outlined. It should then recommend, as a matter requiring urgent
action, that these positions be filled at once with leaders who have the demonstrated
commitment, management experience, and technical competence in nuclear weapons
work. Further, I recommend proposing corrective and enabling legislation wnich
firmly pins down these positions and associated qualification requirements lest they
be circumvented now or in the future. Otherwise, we cannot expect that the Depart-
ment of Energy and the Department of Defense to carry out their unique and heavy
responsibihties to the nation for a safe and reliable nuclear weapons stockpile.

Because this subject is closely related to that addressed bv me in a letter to cer-

tain Congressional leaders test year (copy of one letter enclosed), I am taking the
liberty of sending a copy of this letter to the same individuals.

Sincerely,
James D. Watkins

President

APPENDIX 3 TO TESTIMONY

Table 27-1-DOE multiprogram and program-dedicated laboratories

Facility location Contrndor

Multiprogram laboratories:

Argonne National Lat)oratory» Argonne, Illinois University of Chicago

Brookhaven National Laboratory* Upton, New York Associated Universities, Inc.

Idaho National Engineering Laboratory*' Idaho Falls. Idatra EG&G Idaho Inc.

Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory* Berkeley, California University of California

Lawrence Livermore National Labora- Livermore, California University of California

torye.

Los Alamos National Laboratory^ Los Alamos, New Mexico University of California

Oak Ridge National Laboratory* Oak Ridge, Tennessee Martin-Marietta Energy Systems, Inc.

Pacific Northwest Laboratory* Richland, Washington Battelle Memorial Institute

Sandia National Laboratories <= Albuquerque, New Mexico, Livermore, AT&T Technologies, Inc.

California, and Tonepah, Nevada.

Program-dedicated laboratories:

Ames Laboratory Ames, Iowa Iowa State University

Bates Linear Accelerator Center Middleton, Massachusetts Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Environmental Measurements Labora- New York, New York —•*

toiy.

Inhalation Toxicology Research Institute Albuquerque, New Mexico Lovelace Biomedical and Environmental

Research Institute

Laboratory of Biomedical and Environ- Los Angeles, California University of California

mental Sciences.

Laboratory of Radiobiology and Environ- San Francisco, California University of California

mental Health.

Michigan State University—DOE Plant East Lansing, Michigan Michigan State University

Research Laboratory.
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Table 27-1-DOE multi program and program -dedicated laboratories—Continued

racility Contractor

National Institute for Petroleum and

Energy Research.

Bartlesville, Oklahoma

Notre Dame Radiation Laboratory Notre Dame, Indiana

Oak Ridge Institute for Science Edu- Oak Ridge, Tennessee

cation.

Savannah River Ecology Laboratoiy Aiken, South Carolina

Savannah River Laboratory Aiken, South Carolina

National RenewaWe Energy Laboratory Golden, Colorado

Morgantowm Energy Technology Center Morgantown, West Virginia

Pittsburgh Energy Technology Center .... Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania ...

Princeton Plasma Physics Laboratory .... Princeton, New Jersey

Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory West Mifflin, Pennsylvania

Knolls Atomic Power Laboratory Schenectady, New York

Energy Technology Engineering Center Canoga Park, California ....

Femmi National Accelerator Laboratory Batavia, Illinois

Stanford Linear Accelerator Center Stanford, California

Stanford Synchrotron Radiation Labora- Stanford, California

toty.

New Brunswick Laboratory Argonne, Illinois

Continuous Electron Beam Accelerator Norfolk, Virginia

Facility.

Superconducting Super Collider Labora- Dallas, Texas

toiy.

Cooperative Agreement DOE/National

Institute for Petroleum and Energy

Research

University of Notre Dame

Oak Ridge AssKiated Universities

University of Georgia

Westinghouse Corporation

Midwest Research Institute

Princeton University

Westinghouse Electric Corporation

General Electric Corporation

Rockwell International Corporation

Universities Research Association, Inc.

Stanford University

Stanford University

Southeastern Universities Research As-

sociation

Universities Resecrch, Association, Inc.

•Oversight by the Director of EnerQr Research

^Oversight by the Assistant Secretary for Nuclear Energy

° Oversight by the Assistant Secretary for Defense Programs

*Gwernmeflt-ope«ate<J facility

Mr. Horn. Thank you very much, Admiral. Our last witness on
panel one is the Honorable John S. Herrington, former Secretary
of Energy from 1985 to 1989, now a California attorney and busi-

nessman. Mr. Herrington.
Mr. Herrington. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It's a privilege to

appear before this committee, and submit my comments on the pro-

posal to eliminate the Department of Energy. In 1979 and 1980,
Ronald Reagan campaigned on the unique idea that the Depart-
ments of Education and Energy should be closed. At that time, it

was unheard of for a President of the United States to propose
elimination of a whole department from the Federal Government.
During his administration, many attempts at carrying out this

promise were made by Secretary Hodel and myself, who were frus-

trated again and again by the Democratic leadership in Congress.
Once again, Ronald Reagan was ahead of his time, for here we are,

15 years later, finally giving serious study to this proposition. Be-
fore I begin my remarks, I'd like to say that during the time I was
Secretary of the Department of Energy, I had the good fortune to

work with some of the finest men and women in Washington, and
in government.

I still count some of them among my friends. My comments today
are not aimed at them, but at the Department and its mission, and
how we might together achieve a more effective government at less

cost to the taxpayers. The Department of Energy is a large indus-
trial complex that enriches uranium, builds submarines, spy sat-

ellites, electric cars, atomic reactors, warheads for nuclear bombs,
and hands out money to poor people to make their homes more en-

ergy efficient.
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It buys and sells oil; it runs the largest laboratory complex in the
world; and it engages in many more activities. President Carter es-

tablished this department with the noble goal of making America
energy-independent. Thereafter, billions and billions of taxpayer
dollars were spent by the Department of Energy in the name of en-

ergy independence. Most of the time, the results have been veiy
mixed, at best. By far, the largest example of this was the $66 bil-

lion Synthetic Fuels Corp. And its worse project, in my estimation
was the Great Plains Coal Gasification Plant, which resulted in the

largest foreclosure on the courthouse steps in the history of the
Federal Government—a $2 billion loss.

There were many, many other examples of this same kind. DOE
has built wind machines; experimented with wave and sun power;
developed batteries, fuels; gave grants to almost anyone with a new
idea, or an old one, for that matter. And not surprisingly, DOE was
soon constructing highways, of all things, and buildings at favored
universities. Projects that failed were located in appropriate con-
gressional districts continued to receive long-term funding.
For example, the coal technology called MHD was ranked at the

bottom of the list by almost every expert in the country, but it con-

tinued to be funded at the rate of $20 million to $30 million a year,

after this information was known to all. And it was a disguised
subsidy to a utility company in the Northwest. The Department of
Energy is perfectly positioned for downsizing, streamlining, or total

elimination, in this era of. I'd like to give you some examples.
One, eliminate all energy research and development programs,

and privatize the government-owned laboratories engaged in this

research, with the exception of laboratories dedicated to weapons
development, which should work under the Defense Department or

the new structure that is designed for the weapons program. Two,
eliminate all energy conservation funding, including State grants
and research programs. Three, privatize the naval petroleum re-

serve. Four, privatize the U.S. uranium activities.

Five, privatize the five Power Marketing Administration and the
hydroelectric generating facilities. These same problems exist, by
the wav, in BPA, and it should be looked at also. Six, make the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission an independent agency.
Seven, close down the Energy Information Administration. And
eight, transfer all nuclear weapons functions to a newly created
Under Secretary in the Department of Defense.
The defense programs specifically amount to over two-thirds of

the departmental budget—a fact that few Americans know. These
programs have served us well, and as we move into the 21st cen-
tury, nuclear proliferation will be one of the principal threats to the
security of our citizens and to the world. The country requires a
strong, viable program for. development of weapons and weapons
defense. The program should include testing, verification, and ex-

perimentation.
It is amazing to me that at a time when we are having a na-

tional debate on gun control and the right of citizens to bear arms,
the just man armed syndrome, in many ways a health debate, we
are at the same time unilaterally shutting down the nuclear weap-
ons program, and disarming the country without a debate on this

important issue. We have served as the world's policemen, and we

26-805 - 96 - 3
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are in the process of disarming our police force at a critical time,
without even a mention or a discussion.

The current administration, and especially their officials at the
Energy Department, have very little interest in keeping the weap-
ons program healthy; they don't believe in it. There is a radical
denuclearization agenda in this administration, and an avowed
anti-nuclear activist throughout the Department's senior manage-
ment. This is not good for the country's future. I thank you for tne
opportunity to testify, and I'd be pleased to answer any questions.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Herrington follows:]

Prepared Statement of John S. Herrington, Former Secretary of Energy
(1985-1989)

Mr. Chairman, it is a privilege to appear before this committee and submit my
comments on the proposal to eliminate the Department of Energy.

In 1979 and 1980, Ronald Reagan campaigned on the unique idea that the De-
partments of Education and Energy should be closed. At that time, it was unheard
of for a President of the United States to propose the elimination of whole depart-
ments of the Federal Government. During his administration, many attempts at

carrying out this promise were made and were frustrated again and again by the
Democratic leadership in Congress. Once again Ronald Reagan was ahead of his

time, for here we are fifteen years later finally giving serious study to this propo-
sition. Before I begin my remarks, I would like to say that during the time I was
Secretary of the Department of Energy, I had the good fortune to work with some
of the finest men and women in Washington and in government. They went through
the oil shocks of the 1970's. They executed the Reagan era build-up. They endured
the Bush administration witch hunts for environmental law breakers, and they are
surviving the political correctness of the Clinton administration. They are true pub-
lic servants who always tried to do what Congress and the executive branch wanted
them to. The country owes them a debt of gratitude. I still count many of them
among mv friends. My comments today are aimed not at them, but at the depart-
ment and its mission, and how we might together achieve more effective govern-
ment at less cost to the taxpayers.
The Department of Energy is the only department of the Federal Government

that can be described as resembling a lai^e industrial complex; it enriches uranium,
builds submarines, spy satellites, electric cars, atomic reactors, warheads for nu-
clear bombs, and hands out money to the poor to help them make their homes more
energy eflicient; it buys and sells oil, runs the largest laboratory complex in the
world^ gathers information and engages in hundreds more activities.

President Carter established the department by bringing together many urgent
programs of the Federal Government. He told the American people in a famous
speech that this was "the moral equivalent of war" with the noble goal of making
America energy independent. Thereafter, billions and billions of taxpayer dollars

were spent by the Department of Energy in the name of energy independence. Most
of the time, the results have been mixed at best. By far the largest example of this

was the sixty-six billion dollar synthetic fuels corporation. In that program, the
greatest failure was the great plains coal gasification plant. Built by the government
at a cost of two billion dollars for the purpose of turning lignite coal into natural
gas, the facility operated beautifully and was an engineering marvel. The problem
was that the gas had to be sold at over $6.00 per m.c.f. to be profitable. The market
at that time was under $1.50. Typical of government, the proposed solution was
Federal price supports for the gas to keep the plant running. This resulted in the
lai^est foreclosure on the courthouse steps in the history of the Federal Govern-
ment.
There were many, many other examples of the same kind. DOE built wind ma-

chines, experimented with wave and sun power, developed batteries and fuels, and
gave ^ants to almost anyone with a new idea, or an old one for that matter. Not
surprisingly, DOE was soon constructing highways in sjjecific states and buildings
at favored universities. Projects that failed and were located in appropriate congres-
sional districts, continued to receive long-term funding. For example, a clean coal

technology called MHD was ranked at the bottom of the list by almost every expert
in the country, but it continued to be funded at the rate of twenty or thirty million
a year for years after this information was known. It was a disguised subsidy for

a small utility in the northwest.
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While the Department of Energy has under its jurisdiction many vital and nec-

essary activities of the Federal Government. It is perfectly positioned for

downsizing, streamlining, or total elimination in this era of smaller, more efficient

government. I would like to give you some examples:
Uranium enrichment: the formation of the U.S. Enrichment Corporation was

under discussion in 1980, and has been ever since. The DOE has experimented with

three types of enrichment technologies and has spent hundreds of millions of dollars

on development. The gas centrifuge alone cost billions and never was opxjrational.

Where the Federal Government and Congress are concerned, the concepts of capital

investment, cost of production and price are usually unrelated. Any movement to-

ward privatization would benefit tax payers. This activity is a business and needs
to operate like one.
Naval petroleum reserves (NPR): established near the first world war with an

idea that oil fired navy ships needed a.reserve of crude oil, it has served the country
well, but it is no longer necessary and the activity needs to end. The NPR, and as-

sets like it, should be sold.

Power marketing agencies: bom in the 1930's with the help of 2% loans from the

Federal Government, power marketing agencies have served the country well, but

they have also become victims of politics. It is no accident that during the 1980's

we saw utility bills in certain counties of Washington State costing $34, while the

same bill in Texas or New York would cost $234. These agencies should be
privatized, or sold to utilities. They are distorting the market. Although it is not a

part of the Department of Energy, there are similar problems with the Tennessee
Valley Authority which need to be addressed.

I would like to say a few things about defense programs and the national labora-

tories. Defense programs amount to two-thirds of the departmental budget, a fact

that few Americans know. These programs find their roots in the Atomic Energy
Commission, and the old "atoms for peace" project of 1952. They have served us well

and the scientists who participated include some of the greatest names in American
scientific history. As we move into the 21st century, nuclear proliferation will be one
of the principal threats to the security of our people and the world. We see the be-

ginning of it today. The country requires a strong, viable program for development
of weapons and weapons defense. The program includes testing, verification and ex-

perimentation. It is amazing to me that at a time when we are having a national

debate on gun control and the right of citizens to bear arms, in many ways a

healthy debate, we are at the same time unilaterally shutting down the nuclear

weapons program and disarming the country without a debate on this important

issue. We have served as the world's policeman, and we are in the process of dis-

arming our police force at a critical time, without even a mention or a discussion.

The current administration, and especially officials at the Energy Department, are

relics from the N.R.D.C, and have little interest in keeping the weapons program
healthy. They don't believe in it. The center for security policy recently published

a decision brief citing the radical denuclearization agenda of Dan Reicher, Secretary

O'Leary's deputy chief of staff and other avowed anti-nuclear activists among the

department's senior management. The defense program's function of the Energy De-
partment could and should be transferred to the Department of Defense.

As to environmental cleanup, the GAO has noted that "DOE has received about
$23 billion for environmental management since 1889 . . . And little cleanup has
resulted." this program has been badly mismanaged. It too could be easily trans-

ferred to the Department of Defense.
Finally, the national laboratories are scrambling to find work because they have

been taken out of the weapons business. They want something to do so they won't

lose funding. In my home State, the University of California, managers of Livermore
and Los Alamos, have, for years, been trying to get out of the weapons business.

The Clinton administration is playing right into their hands. If there has in fact

been a national decision to take the laboratories out of the weapons business, and
I do not think there has been, then the solution should be to orivatize the labora-

tories. In this way they will become more efficient, and one of tne traditional short-

comings of the existing system, technology transfer, will be improved.
I thank you for the opportunity to testify and will be pleased to answer any ques-

tions.

Mr. Horn. We thank you and all of your colleagues for your very
thoughtful and pertinent testimony. And I'm hopeful, before we
take any action, my colleagues on this committee will read your full

statements, because they are verv well done, by all three of you,

in terms of some of the historical analogies here. Let me start in
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with a few basics. Each member will have 5 minutes to question,
and we will rotate between the sides here. We have Mr. Kanjorski,
Mr, Fox and Mr. Davis here.
The Energy Department, as we know, was created in 1977 by

President Carter. And of course, the original justification was, we
had a series of international energy shortages. One of the purposes
was obviously conservation; control of Federal supplies of power;
and develop alternative sources of energy. Shortly after the cre-

ation, the OPEC oil embargo collapsed, without any assistance
from DOE or the United States.

Although, obviously, a lot of politics went on behind the scenes,
in terms of the United States. We all know oil, our basic resource,

is a declining resource, no matter how you look at it. We might
have tertiary recovery, not just secondary recovery. We might dis-

cover some new fields. But there is a fixed supply. We're never
quite sure what that fixed supply is. Given that fact, if we now had
to create an Energy Department, would each of you recommend
that it be created?

It is now here. The question is, if, at this point in time, given
what we know about world energy supplies, would we create an
Energy Department with a major goal to find alternative sources
to husband existing sources, et cetera. Let's forget the nuclear as-

pect a minute, even though that's perhaps two-thirds of the Depart-
ment's budget. Let's just talk about basic energy, which is what the
average citizen is thinking about. How do you feel about that? Mr
Hodel.
Mr. HoDEL. Mr. Chairman, there's no doubt in my mind that I

would oppose it, on the grounds that it was not necessary; that any
functions in the energy arena, distinguished, as you've said, from
the nuclear, that needed to be donepy the government could be
done through other existing agencies.

Mr. Horn. I note in President Nixon's and Mr. Ash's papers re-

lating to the President's departmental reorganization program,
which came out in February 1972, under a department of natural
resources, their solution was to have an administrator for energy
and mineral sources. And it would assess resources; operate the
uranium raw materials and enrichment program; conduct and sup-
port research and development; oversee mine health and safety.

Then you had some other things we might call energy-related,

spread in other parts of the department. Now, you have a unique
background, having chaired both Departments, as a member of the
Cabinet. What is your feeling as to whether some of the programs
of Energy could be integrated in a department of natural resources,

which would mostly contain what is in the existing Department of

the Interior?

You might well put the Environmental Protection Agency in

there. There's a whole series of things which one could argue would
then get some coordinative relationship by one Cabinet omcer. How
do you feel about that?
Mr. HoDEL. I think that would make more sense, Mr. Chairman,

than having a separate department. I should tell you that when the
Department of Energy was in the process of being created, I served
at that time as the head of the Bonneville Power Administration,
and was at that time reporting to the Department of the Interior.
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It was my belief then, and I think actually was shared by the
chairman of the Energy and Natural Resources Committee of the
Senate, Senator Jackson, that there should be a department of en-

ergy and natural resources, which would have Interior and a lot of

these energy type functions in it.

But for reasons I'm not fully aware of, which I think probably
had to do with the politics of the time, that wasn't deemed to be
feasible. It made a lot more sense to me because, as I say in my
written testimony, the Department of Interior, because of its major
role in the development of Federal lands, has really more to say
about the actual production of energy in the United States than
does the Department of Energy.
The Department of Energy makes policy statements and funds

research. But the actual lands and resources—oil, gas, coal re-

sources on Federal lands—are managed by the Department of Inte-

rior. And I think it would be helpful to have a combined manage-
ment. Because frankly, when the Department of Energy issues its

policy statement, no other Cabinet department pays any attention

to it unless it suits their purposes for some reason, so they can
quote it as a make-weight.
But it doesn't guide anybody's policy. So it's not a useful docu-

ment, in that sense.

Mr. Horn. Mr. Herrington, any comment?
Mr. Herrington. I have one comment. I would agree generally

with what Secretary Hodel said. The Federal Government is very
bad at developing new energy technologies. They're not efficient;

they have no profit motive; and there's no stake in it. A perfect ex-

ample was the Great Plains that I mentioned in my statement. It

was a magnificent plant; it was engineered perfectly; it was gor-

geous.
The problem is, it turned gas out at $6 and MCF into a market

of $1.50. And the developers came back with a government guaran-
tee loan and said, we want price support. I said, we've tried that
in agriculture; it doesn't work that way. We need to participate on
a co-basis with the private sector on several criteria that we could
set up.

Mr. Horn. Admiral Watkins.
Mr. Watkins. I agree, Mr. Chairman, that I would certainly not

recommend establishing a Department of Energy today. I also

agree with Mr. Hodel that there are many, many features within
the existing energy branch of the Department of Energy that right-

fully belong within the Department of Interior, and a much
downsized group. But I will say this, that I think it's a mistake to,

on a de facto basis, give any follow-on legislative action proposal
from the executive branch, or even from Congress without the exec-

utive branch, on follow-up to the National Energy Policy Act of
1992.
We put together an integrated package—overwhelmingly passed

by over 90 percent of both the House and the Senate. And some-
body, every 5 years, ought to review the long-range views of the
Nation and decide what s best for the Nation. Because if you, on
a de facto basis, give the policy setting to the Federal Energy Regu-
latory Commission, to EPA, or to the Nuclear Regulatory Commis-
sion, you're making a mistake.
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We should not allow regulators to set policy. And that's what we
were doing for years. So I would say, within the Department of In-

terior, if mat's where this function is going to go, it should be a
small function; but it should be a knowledgeable function. And I

would disagree with the recommendation to close the Energy Infor-

mation Agency. That serves the Congress. It's a quasi-independent
organization. And it serves the entire industry. It's the only reposi-

tory of energy data I know of in the Nation.
So that is useful to the private sector. And I don't know who else

is going to fund something like that. So I would say the EIA, which
is what it's called, and it could be a downsized version of that. And
some small cadre of the best in energy policy should be in Interior.

And I see—in fact, that's very consistent with my written testi-

mony. So I would move in that direction, and give back to Interior

what properly belonged to them at the outset.

Mr. Horn. Thank you. Admiral. I now yield to the gentleman
from Pennsylvania, Mr. Kanjorski.

Mr, Kanjorski. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Gentlemen, listening

to your testimony, it seems to me that there isn't any energy crisis,

and no need for energy policy in the future. Is that the conclusion
you want the Congress to reach? Where do you see the future en-

ergy needs of the United States being met? As I understand it, al-

most two-thirds of our oil is imported. And that's only likely to go
up.
Now, how would you decide—^you want to put that in natural re-

sources? Is that the—or Commerce, the way Commerce is going; or
do we need another department?
Mr. HODEL. If I may respond, I testified recently before the Sen-

ate Foreign Relations Committee that I believed the increased de-
pendence upon imports is not healthy for the United States; that
I believe we have a significant amount of oil and gas still to be dis-

covered and produced in this country. But I don't see that the De-
partment of Energy provides any assistance in that arena. And
there will be those who dispute that.

There will be people in the industry, who are currently sharing
funds in partnership programs with the Department of Energy,
who will argue that they need to continue those programs. Ana I

believe programs can be continued without having to continue the
department. I don't see that, in the event of a crisis, the Depart-
ment of Energy offers us any hope of successfully dealing with it.

The risk, in fact, is that the Department of Energy will attract con-

gpressional action which will give the Department stand-by price

and allocation authority, and they will be implemented.
And the only thing we learned, I think, in the 1970's, about price

controls and allocation of energy, is that it leads to shortages and
gas lines. So my view is that the department, by existing, is, in

part, an attractive nuisance, if you will, in the event of a crisis.

Mr. Kanjorski. So I understand that after all these billions of

dollars in these 15 years that we've spent, and your management
of the agency, it's your final conclusion that that was all a waste
of time, and unnecessary?
Mr. HoDEL. Oh, it would be hard for anybody to say, may career

was a waste of time. So I'll ^ve you a iustification, which is that
I think you can't spend the billions and billions and billions of dol-
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lars that have been spent by the Department of Energy on energy

issues, without having made some useful contributions. The ques-

tion is, did we get our money's worth? And I'd have to say, I don't

think we did.

Mr. Kanjorski. Well, the question isn't, did we get it? How could

we have gotten our money's worth? Do you think just the private

sector would handle this?

Mr. HODEL. I think if the administration and Congress had an
energy policy which said, we want to encourage rather than dis-

courage the development of domestic resources—and by the way,

today, this administration, under the laws that exist, in my view,

is discouraging development of oil and gas resources. They give a
lot of lip service to something else. But the fact is that there is not

a lot of encouragement for the use, development of domestic re-

sources, which are available; but are treated as if we can't touch

them because it would defile the planet in some fashion.

But then we buy the resource from elsewhere. I think that

changing those policies and creating incentives for domestic devel-

opment of resources would have a profound impact on the level of

imports for an extended period of time; and that that would be far

more productive than the Department of Energy spending hun-
dreds of millions and billions of dollars in research programs,
which may or may not ever have a pay-off.

Mr. Kanjorski. Who, primarily, received these hundreds of bil-

lions of dollars in research programs? Was it John Smith in my
constituency, or was it the energy industry?
Mr. HoDEL. I think the—^you'll have to look at the specific pro-

grams, and maybe others can answer that. But my impression
Mr. Kanjorski. Well, you mentioned Bonneville or

Mr. HoDEL. Pardon me?
Mr. Kanjorski. One of the witnesses mentioned Bonneville.

Mr. HoDEL. I was head of the Bonneville Power Administration.

Mr. Kanjorski. No, the gasification project.

Mr. HoDEL. Secretary Herrington discussed that.

Mr. Kanjorski. OK, Mr. Herrington, who were the developers of

that project?

Mr. Herrington. It was a consortium in the private sector, but
there was a government
Mr. Kanjorski. Who was in the private sector that developed

that?
Mr. Herrington. You had three large companies.
Mr. Kanjorski. What were their names?
Mr. Herrington. One was DuPont.
Mr. Kanjorski. DuPont Corp. What's the next name?
Mr. Herrington. There was one—I can't remember the others.

I'll get them for you, 1 second.

Mr. Kanjorski. And these brilliant leaders of privatization and
industry sucked the U.S. Government and taxpayers out of $2 bil-

lion on a wasted process?
Mr. Herrington. No, I think that is very much a misstatement.

Mr. Kanjorski. Well, you said that they were producing gas at

$6, when the market was producing $1.50. Somebody got conned;

that's 4 times the cost.
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Mr. Herrington. Congress wanted someone to go out and take
lignite coal, which is a low-grade or a high-grade dirt, and turn it

into natural gas. And that was not a decision made by the private

sector. And the Federal Government decided to guarantee the loan
to do that project.

Mr. Kanjorski. Did Congress decide to fund these offers?

Mr. Herrington. Yes. The Synthetic Fuels Corp.
Mr. Kanjorski. Did they make the decision of who should get

the money, or did the Secretary of Energy make that decision?

Mr. Herrington. It was under the Synthetic Fuels Corp. They
also had several projects to go out into the oil shale in Colorado
and turn that into oil.

Mr. Kanjorski. Right. Who made the final decision to put that
money out in the street?

Mr. Herrington. Congress did.

Mr. Kanjorski. Mr. Secretary, I have yet to sign a grant of U.S.
money.
Mr. Herrington. It wasn't a grant. They were loan guarantees.
Mr. Kanjorski. The only thing I do is, I vote on appropriations.

And we hand it to fellows like yourself, that take an oath of office

and say they're going to admmister the agency they're charged
with. So when you tell me Congress did something, don't tell me
that. Tell me that a Secretary of Energy or a President of the Unit-
ed States, in administering the will of Congress, did something.
Now, who was the Secretary that authorized that project? What
Presidential administration was it under?
Mr. Herrington. Jimmy Carter.

Mr. Kanjorski. OK, and who was the Secretary at that time?
Mr. Herrington. Duncan, I suppose, I don't know. Schlesinger,

I think it was.
Mr. Kanjorski. And I understand the department was founded

in 1979.
Mr. Herrington. 1977.

Mr. Kanjorski. OK, 1977. And by what time was the money put
out on the street?

Mr. Herrington. I think by late 1970's is when you got into the

oil shale and the lignite programs, and the large-scale government
guarantees.
Mr. Kanjorski. When did you all take office? When did you take

office?

Mr. Herrington. It was 1980.
Mr. Kanjorski. OK, 1980. Do you have auditors in your depart-

ment, or do you have any inspectors that occasionally run out and
see where our money is?

Mr. Herrington. Yes, absolutely.

Mr. Kanjorski. Did you make any determination that anybody
out there, like DuPont Corp., may be wanting to produce gas at $6,
when the market was $1.50?
Mr. Herrington. Listen, we had 27 oversight committees in

Congress, each one of us, that were watching what we did day after

day.
Mr. Kanjorski. And what happened? Nothing ever changed.
Mr. Herrington. We had hearings after hearings after hearings.

We made recommendations on many of these projects.
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Mr. Kanjorski. To who did you make them to?

Mr. Herrington. To committees that had the oversight function.

Mr. Kanjorski. And what committees of the Congress?
Mr. Herrington. Well, we had the Dingell committee on the

House side.

Mr. Kanjorski. And who was on the Senate side?

Mr. Herrington. We had Jim McClure during the first 2 years

of the 1980's.

Mr. Kanjorski. Jim McClure. What State was he from, or party?

Mr. Herrington. Idaho.

Mr. Kanjorski. What party was he from?
Mr. Herrington. Republican for the first 2 years, and then he

changed over to the Democrats.
Mr. Kanjorski. Now, didn't the U.S. Senate—wasn't it under the

Republican leadership from 1980 to 1986, Mr. Secretary?

Mr. Herrington. 1986, no.

Mr. Fox. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Kanjorski. It wasn't?
Mr. Herrington. 1986, it was, yes.

Mr. Kanjorski. OK Well then it would be highly unlikely that
there was any chairman of a committee in the U.S. Senate that

was a Democrat from 1980 to 1986, unless there's some charity

over there that we don't receive on the House side.

Mr. Herrington. Well, I would agree with that, but I think the

House drove some of the things we did. I remember getting

Mr. Kanjorski. I see, we had a lame duck Republican Senate
over there, that didn't have a voice, with a Republican President.

They just couldn't stand up and say, aw, shucks, you guys are too

strong; you're wrestling us to the ground.
Mr. Fox. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Herrington. Well, we had 13 loan guarantees and the alco-

hol fuels that were all bankrupt.
Mr. Kanjorski. Whatever
Mr. Fox. Mr. Chairman, time expired 3 minutes ago.

Mr. Kanjorski. I have to leave, Mr. Chairman, because I have
another appointment.
Mr. Herrington. We had 13 alcohol loan guarantee programs

that were all pushed by certain Democratic congressmen fi^om the
Midwest, to take com and turn it into alcohol fuels; they were all

bankrupt. Agriculture Department had more of them. These were
not done by the Department.
Mr. Kanjorski. Doesn't ADM run an alcohol program?
Mr. Herrington. Again, please?
Mr. Kanjorski. Doesn't ADM run an alcohol program?
Mr. Herrington. I have no knowledge of that.

Mr. Fox. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. We now yield to the other gentleman from Pennsylva-

nia, Mr. Fox.
Mr. Fox. Thank you. I think I'd first like to say to these three

gentlemen, I appreciate your coming today, because I don't think
you're the problem. You're the ones that are trying to help us solve
the problem. And the fact is that this is neither a Republican nor
a Democratic issue. It's a question of saving the important parts of
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the Department of Energy, and dismantling or transferring the
parts that should best be served by other agencies.
And in that connection, I'd like to ask a non-political question

that goes to the governmental side of it. What functions do you
gentlemen feel that the Department of Energy should consider
transferring to the private sector or to local government, if any? I

think that Mr. Herrington had touched on that. If he would review
that again, or if the Admiral would
Mr. Herrington. I had eight suggestions. As far as privatizing,

certainly the naval petroleum reserve, the U.S. uranium activities,

the five Power Marketing Administrations and the hydroelectric
generating facilities. I thmk it is a good idea to make FERC an
independent agency—pipeline regulation is very valuable, and no
one else is doing it. I think certain parts of the laboratories should
be privatized. I think that needs to be approached very carefully,

but there are certainly certain functions there that need to go to

the private sector or to universities.

And as far as the Energy Information Administration, I serve on
a couple of boards, and that information is being gathered in the
private sector. The big problem with the Energy Information Ad-
ministration, the reason I asked to close it down was, they kept
mandating employment floors—^you can hire no less than 350 peo-
ple in that department—^year after year. It was terribly inefficient.

Mr. Fox. Admiral, did you want to add to it?

Mr. Watkins. Yes. In mv formal statement, Mr. Fox, I have iden-

tified, as the third step or a six-step process. I said, identify those
other energy-related functions and manpower, which should prob-
ably be retained somewhere in the Federal Government—Interior,

Transportation or other—^for at least the remainder of this decade,
until we have moved well away fi'om today's fully regulated by
FERC, by NRC, by EPA and State counterparts, the power genera-
tion industry.
And I would say that was more of a policy monitoring function,

under Interior, as I discussed earlier. Then I talked about, in the
fourth step, identify and place into other Federal agencies those
functions and manpower which are best funded and supported by
existing missions of other agencies. And what came to mind very
clearly there is the transfer of the office of non-proliferation to the
Department of Defense.

Non-proliferation can be well handled, in fact, is handled today,
in actual practice, by the Secretary of Defense, Secretary of State,

the National Security advisor. They need technical advice that
would come fi-om the weapons laboratories. And then I say, fifth,

identify administrative and budgetary legal staff", only those nec-

essary where the receiving agency cannot handle the administra-
tive support—only those should be transferred.
And then finally, I said, privatize and sell all other functions cur-

rently in existence, and their related resource support that clearly

do not need the Federal Government, e.g., power marketing admin-
istration, naval petroleum reserve, strategic petroleum reserve,

uranium enrichment facilities for civilian nuclear power plants,

and at sometime in the future, privatize the civilian radioactive

waste management. I would say after the research phase, it should
go to the private sector.
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So that's contained in my formal statement.
Mr. Fox. Thank you, Admiral. Did you want to add to that, Sec-

retary Hodel?
Mr. Hodel. Just to say that I concur with what Secretaries

Herrington and Watkins have said. And my written statement ba-
sically tracks what they've said. I think they're on the right course.

Mr. Fox. Very good. I want to just say to the chairman, I think
this panel has given outstanding testimony, and it will be very in-

structive for Congress. I really appreciate it.

Mr. Horn, Thank you very much. I yield 5 minutes to the gen-
tleman from Virginia, Mr. Davis.

Mr. Davis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thank all of you for ap-
pearing here today. Let me ask a question—I'll start with Admiral
Watkins, and solicit comments from anybody else who would like

to comment. Since we're in a post-cold war era today, does it make
sense to preserve civilian control of the nuclear weapons stockpile,

as opposed to giving all nuclear responsibility to the Pentagon?
Mr. Watkins, I think it does, I think it would be a mistake to

give to Defense, and I'll tell you one reason why. You need some
dedicated leader on the weapons complex that has no other func-

tion than to monitor the safety and reliability of the stockpile.

You've got over 10,000 weapons; it's going to be there for a long
time. We're not going to get to START II levels until sometime
after the turn of the century, if we get there at all.

The Russian Parliament has not even validated that agreement
yet. I'd be very cautious before I would take off the leadership of

this important aspect of our defense component in this country and
give it to some third-level functionary in the Department of De-
fense. We had an assistant secretary for atomic energy over there
who I found extremely distasteful on the issue of safety, nuclear
safety.

He wanted to declare sovereign immunity all the time, and to

hell with the safety issue. That's what you're going to have when
you mix it all up. Give somebody the accountability, through the
Congress, to this committee, it's counterpart in the Senate, and to

the authorization committees, and let them run it right. And don't

mix them up yet. Now, when you get down to START II levels, say,

3,000 to 4,000 warheads, you might be in the category where, go
ahead; transfer it to Defense.

I wouldn't do it today. I think there's too many issues that need
personalized attention of competent leadership, technically and sci-

entifically in this field. And you should not relegate it down. And
I'm not stuck on the ideology, the Truman ideology, that you have
to separate these things out in some ethereal sort of a concept. I

believe it's a very reasonable concept to say, who is in charge of

this thing. You can't expect Secretary Perry or his Deputy to spend
all day worried about nothing but this nuclear business.

That's what I did in the Department of Energy; that's all I could

do. We were being sued all over the country and losing, because we
didn't have any decent data base on where we stood on radiological

health. We had everything shut down for safety. We were operating
a reactor unsafely at Savannah River. We had a mess on our hands
at Hanford and all the other places, and nobody really digging into
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it. And so we had to re-establish the procedures that we followed
within the Navy's pro-am, which has been flawless over 45 years.

And so, let's don't denigrate it. That's what's happening over
there in that Department today. They're trying to cancel even the
standards for handling nuclear weapon downsizing. It's unbeliev-
able. Now, what's going on there? If I'd have pulled that trick with
Dingell over here, he'd have been all over me with Dingell grants
that you wouldn't believe.

Now, it seems to me that this oversight committee, starting out
anew, with new leadership, thank God, would take a critical look

at what's going on over there, and you would not accept the status

quo as being safe. I don't believe it is. I think we're demoralizing
our top nuclear people. They're getting out of the business. It's a
very serious situation. I have received copies of the Nuclear Facil-

ity Safety Board's recommendations to the Secretary that have not
been responded to.

These are big issues. They need to be aired before this commit-
tee. And let's get that solved first; then do what you want to with
the rest of it. But this is critically important. And it should not go
into Defense right now. Defense has all they can handle. They don't

need this mess on their hands to deal with. So those are my—and
a strong letter follows. [Laughter.]
Mr. Davis. We'll mark him down as undecided. Do either of the

other two want to

Mr. Herrington. Mr. Davis, I find it hard to disagree with Ad-
miral Watkins, because he's had a distinguished career in the
Navy, and I've known him for many years. And I would put great
weight on what he says. And I certainly agree with his remarks on
the naval submarine program. That reactor program has been real-

ly tremendous. And, of course, the government gets a two-for, be-

cause the research that goes on there is very good.
I am not as worried about change of administration of the nu-

clear weapons program into an Under Secretary at the Defense De-
partment. Certainly today we have civilian oversight at the Depart-
ment of Energy, and it's a disaster. So what are you getting out
of this current system as it is today? The GAO testified recently

that there's $23 billion been spent on clean up, and there hasn't
been any clean up take place since 1989.
So the program is not working today. And I don't subscribe to the

theory of some conspiracy at the Defense Department that you'll

have a bad person running it. They are very competent people. And
I would like to see the nght people running it. But the program
today. Admiral Watkins is correct, you have people running this

thing that don't care about it; and they don't want to see it be
healthy and succeed.

So in this case, it depends on who the civilians are that are run-
ning it. I believe that you could set up an oversight function with
competent civilians, and certainly there are some CTeat people in

the Energy Department that could undertake this job. And I would
like to see it transferred.
Mr. HoDEL. I'm fascinated, Mr. Davis, that the issue is whether

the nuclear portion of the Department of Energy should be trans-

ferred to a separate agency, or should be transferred to Defense.
I don't think we're arguing that it should remain in the present re-
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lationship, for the reasons that have been suggested. In my written
testimony, I recommend that it go to the Department of Defense.
I listened to Admiral Watkins with great interest, because I think
he makes some very interesting points.

But either way, it's apparent to me, that is a discreet function
that needs to be properly handled by the U.S. Grovernment and no-
body else, because of the nature of what that is. And either way,
it has nothing to do with a department called Energy, and really
should not be under leadership in a department where the Sec-
retary may be distracted by issues relating to energy supply for the
country and research on magnetohydrodynamics and other such
programs.
Mr. Davis. OK. Thank you. I think I'll stop here, and yield back.
Mr. Horn. I thank the gentleman. Should the function of the

safety of nuclear weapons development be in a special office, where
the reporting line is directly to the President? Should we quit wor-
rying about Cabinet departments, and just put it in the executive
office of the President?
Mr. HODEL. I can speculate an answer, Mr. Chairman, by saying

that I'm not one who generally favors direct lines of reporting be-
cause, again, the President is distracted by numerous things of

great immediate moment. And this is the kind of program which
requires a long-term steady hand and highly qualified technical
management. And therefore, it is part of the problem of placing the
nuclear issues under a Secretary who has broader capacity.

I was intrigued by Secretary Watkins' comment about the need
for a dedicated leader of the nuclear weapons program, or words
to that effect. And I think he has a telling point. Wherever it's

housed, the quality of that management is going to be determined
by the chief administrator, whatever title he has, or she has, of
that division. Whether it's Defense or a separate entity, whether it

reports directly to the President or not, in the end it's going to be
the quality and competence of that leader that makes the big dif-

ference. And how you assure that is a very difficult question.
Mr. Horn. Any other reactions to that? I mean, I think Admiral

Watkins has been very eloquent on this problem. And no matter
where you put it, if people aren't up to the qualifications needed
and the commitment and the dedication, we can have trouble. But
here is the most awesome responsibility, ultimately, a President of
the United States has. And it seems to me, if I were President, I

would want that person right there, working on those problems; ei-

ther in terms of the potential effectiveness of nuclear weapons and
their safety or in just the clean up problems, which know no bound
in this country, in terms of the level of clean up by EPA, by the
Department of Defense and the Department of Energy.
So it seems to me there's got to be focus on this. Hopefully it

could be a de-politicized operation, where you recognize the people
simply for their technical competence and know-how. And they
might be transferred between administrations. At one time, most
of the career staff" of the old Bureau of the Budget was that way.
They served all Presidents of the United States, regardless of
party. They've become more politicized in the last two decades. But
it seems to me we ought to think about those options. Yes, Admiral
Watkins.
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Mr. Watkins. Mr. Chairman, my concern would not be the theo-
retical challenge to what you just said. But the practical challenge
is that you're going to end up, I think, with the same situation we
have today if you put it, let me say, directly in the White House.
I believe that if you look back at the Atomic Energy Commission,
set up with the Joint Committee on Atomic Energy here on the
Hill, you had the very best relationship.

One, you had a national program of great significance. You had
dedicated people here on tne Hill who really understood it—the
Jacksons and those people, got in the middle of it; Mel Price over
here, they all knew what they were talking about. There was a, let

me say, collegial interest in nuclear safety and nuclear efficiency

in the management. So if you try to duplicate that concept in some
way, such as having an agency that, you might say, dual reports
to the President and the Congress; has a certain degree of inde-

pendence; is funded in a way that cannot be down-funded because
it fits into some other budgetary cycle in Defense that says, well,

we've got to cut everybody 5 percent.

You can't cut 5 percent out of safety if, in fact, you've established

a base of safety in accordance with international and national
norms and standards. Those are fixed. It's almost like an entitle-

ment at that point. You've got to do those things. So you don't want
to put it into a budgetary process that gets downsized. You've got
to nave a certain degree of independence. And you've got to have
respect on both the legislative and congressional oranches.

In my opinion, that kind of a concept needs to be reinstated. Not
as a commission, I don't mean to have the same kind of thing. But
certainly that concept needs to be reviewed as probably the best
model.
Mr. Horn. I notice two of you favor the nuclear safety problems

being under a civilian official in the Department of Defense, at

least as I heard the testimony from Mr. Herrington and Mr. Hodel.
Do you have any worries about that at all, or do you think I

shouldn't have any worries, as the chairman of this subcommittee?
Mr. HODEL. Mr. Chairman, I personally do not have worries

about that. I state in my testimony that my representative to the

committee that made the decision what to recommend to the Presi-

dent in terms of nuclear weapon production was a three star gen-
eral. That was my civilian control, so to speak. I think, again, it

comes back to the standards and the mission that's established.

And frankly, I've found people in the Department of Defense to be
very effective.

When they have a clear mission, they tend to carry it out, maybe
perhaps better than we sometimes do in the civilian side. I'm not
terribly concerned about that.

Mr. Horn. OK.
Mr. Herrington. I would second that. I think the military, espe-

cially the Navy and Air Force, has done a fabulous job in nuclear
safety so far, as it has gone since they possessed the weapons on
a tactical basis. And certainly that record is to be admired. They
can handle it.

Mr. Horn. I guess I worry about all the things the Secretary of

Defense has to worry about. Obviously, this is a key matter, if it

were in the Department of Defense.
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Mr. Watkins. Well, let me say this, Mr. Chairman, in amplifi-

cation there. I don't have any feeling that the Department of De-
fense couldn't do it. I feel, practically, it's not going to be done with
the same dedication that a specific individual, assigned that re-

sponsibility, would have, just because they don't have the time to

do it. Admiral Rickover, when he set up the nuclear power program
in the Navy maintained a dual reporting chain.

One to the Department of Energy—ERDA first, AEC then ERDA
then Department of Energy—and the Department of Defense. I

think that was absolutely essential to achieve the safety issues. We
were accused, in Defense, of spending too much money in the Navy
for the nuclear business—twice as much as we should spend—be-

cause of safety. That has paid off over the years. So it was Rick-
over's demand to be a part of the Atomic Energy Commission, as
well as part of the Department of Defense, that made it work.
The naval nuclear propulsion program is the embryo for all safe

operations of reactor plants worldwide. It came out of Three Mile
Island. It was the nuclear program in the Navy that set the stand-

ards for the post-Three Mile Island private sector operation, called

the Institute of Nuclear Power Operations (INPO), which was es-

tablished by the Congress. Worldwide, the World Association of Nu-
clear Operators adopted the INPO standards set by the naval nu-
clear propulsion program.
And that would have never happened if it had started out in De-

fense. I'm just telling you that I saw the opposition to the cost of

doing it right, and it was extreme. And it was only satisfied by
Rickover's relationship with the Joint Committee on Atomic En-
ergy. Now, it has worked; and I hate to see it broken down. I think
the dual chain of reporting, particularly the naval nuclear propul-
sion program is vital to the continued success of nuclear safety.

I was on a cruise with Rickover in 1962 on a new construction

submarine. It was after midnight; he called me up to his apartment
and screamed at me. He said, Watkins, we're going to have an acci-

dent in the private sector, because they're cutting costs on safety,

in 20 years. Seventeen years later. Three Mile Island took place.

Now, we don't need to repeat those lessons. Let's get on with the
nuclear safety issue. Stick it where you want to, including Defense.
But if you're going to put it in Defense, then in the law there must
be very clear restrictions on anybody getting into that person's

knickers on budget and on dealing with safety. It should come from
that person. If you need to put it in there for efficiencies of scale,

fine. I don't think it needs to be there. I don't think you gain any-

thing by putting another burden on the Secretary of Defense. I

mean, he's already taken the position, don't give the waste to me;
and don't give the tritium development to me.
And so, I don't think the Secretary of Defense is sitting there,

yearning to get the Department of Energy's junk.
Mr. Horn. I think you make a very pertinent point. I can assure

you this subcommittee will follow up on that. As a young man in

this city, 30, 35 years ago, I never missed Admiral Rickover's testi-

mony before Mr. Hollifield's subcommittee and full committee of

this particular committee. I don't know if America generates one of

that kinetic energy and genes every generation. We'll have to have
a national search, I suspect, to find one. He was a rare breed, and
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he got the mission accomplished with great effectiveness and effi-

ciency.

Let me yield now, let's see, the ranking member, OK, let me get
into a number of subjects before we round out this panel. One
thing was that when we reviewed a number of the private sector
remediation projects, they seem to cost 32 percent less and take 18
percent to 50 percent less time to complete than the time taken by
the Department of Energy for equivalent projects.

We wonder, why does the Department of Energy's remediation
efforts cost more, take longer than comparable private sector ef-

forts? Are we missing something here? Do you have any feel for

that from your own experiences?
Mr. HODEL. I have some feel for it, Mr. Chairman, and that's

what it is. I don't have documentation of this, but I believe that
one of the factors is that when the government—any government
agency—seeks to do something that is highly sensitive or highly po-

liticized, as is any kind of clean up, particularly nuclear clean up,
that there is so much concern about doing it in such a way that
nobody can ever go back and be critical of you.
You spend enormous sums of money and time in extra efforts in

studies so that you can be sure you haven't done something that
can be subsequently attacked or challenged. I've talked with people
in the private sector who do consulting to the government. And
they tell me that it's necessary for them to add a significant per-

centage to their bids to the government, because they know they're

goin^ to be spending so much extra time in paperwork and in dis-

cussions with the department, whatever department it is; and it's

certainly true with Energy.
And that's not to be critical of the Federal agencies. Frankly, it's

a problem that we've created because of a lot of second guessing.
So what it ends up being, in my view, is a situation where the gov-
ernment has a terribly difficult time being efficient in that process.

It spends all its money on studies, and very little on clean up be-

cause it's afraid of the consequences of a clean up which isn't 100
percent perfect. And a $20,000 mistake in a $100 million program
will be cnaracterized by critics as a terrible waste of money.
Mr. Horn. Any other comments on that question?
Mr. Herrington. And it is a terrible waste of money. I would

adopt what Secretary Hodel said. I definitely think there is a tend-
ency, in dealing with the Federal Government, to gold plate things.

You add two aspects that you don't have in the private sector as
much. One is the political aspect of getting into a political problem.
And No. 2, obviously, is the press oversight is much more intense.

And the public affairs aspect in any government project is much
more intense.

So I think that is one of the reasons it gets more expensive. No-
body wants to screw it up, and nobody wants to make a mistake.
Mr. Horn. Admiral Watkins.
Mr. Watkins. I'd like to suggest this subcommittee review the

recommendations of a recent report, commissioned by the Senate
Committee on Energy and Natural Resources, to evaluate just the
environmental clean up of the Hanford Reservation alone. Hanford
now receives one-quarter of the $6 billion the DOE spends on over-

all environmental restoration. The author of the report States that
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the Hanford clean up is "floundering in a legal and regulatory mo-
rass."

"Regulatory requirements," according to the author, "are unwork-
able, disjunctive, lack scientific and technical merit, undermine any
sense of accountability for taxpayer dollars, and most importantly,
are having an overall negative effect on worker and public health
and safety." He contends that the Congress has largely created this

confusing framework, which has given DOE impossible standards
to meet in a number of environmental laws.

These laws impose, either through the actual statute or imple-
menting regulations, deadlines not technically feasible, and crimi-
nal penalties for not reaching unreachable goals. Other than that,

we're doing a great job. Su we've got to get serious about these var-
ious levels. Now, 20 years ago, a thing like ALARA, which is as low
as reasonably attainable, levels for radioactivity were OK. Today,
we're 10-9 or 10-12 beyond that than we were 20 years ago.

So today, if I put a piece of uranium in the asparagus out at
Hanford, asparagus futures drop; everybody gets upset. But the
next day, which is not printed in the press, you'd have to consume
5,000 metric tons per person per year of that asparagus to achieve
the equivalent—and over 50 years—to achieve the equivalent of

one ski trip to Aspen. Now, that's the kind of nonsense that goes
on. And when you give EPA the regulatory authority, under old
rule, or rules that don't even exist, such as mixed waste, which is

the big egregious problem out there, there isn't any standard; there
isn't any law.

The Waste Policy Act doesn't conclude it. So unless Congress can
come and help out, DOE can't solve this cost problem. We re clean-

ing up to a level we don't know what it means. Clean up to what
level? To 10-23? You're now down to Avogadro's number per atom
per mole. I mean, come on. So we've got to stop the nonsense and
get serious about the proposals that are before this Congress now
on risk assessment—^legitimate health risk assessment.
And when we do that, and take the position that Admiral Rick-

over took years ago, long before environmentalism was popular, in

the 1950's, he said, we're not going to put into the environment
more than nature has. That's a totally different standard than
ALARA or the other rules that now pertain in the regulatory busi-

ness. So Congress again has a role to play here.

We've not been able to get these changed over the years. We
weren't able—getting back to the Democratic Member's comment
earlier—we weren't able to open the Arctic National Wildlife Ref-

uge. We weren't able to inspire the States to allow the outer con-

tinental shelf to be exploited for gas. So we're going to not only im-
port oil in the future, we're going to start importing liquid natural
gas for the same silly reason.
And the reasons are flawed, if you take it on from an environ-

mental point of view. There's less oil spill if we get our own oil

from ANWAR and from the OCS than we'll ever do on shipping.
And so these are the kinds of nonsensical things that are driving
a lot of this question about the Department of Energy. But I think
this new leadership on the Hill has a chance to rectify some of*

these things, and get a good base, and stop spending all the tax-
payers' money on nonsense.
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Mr. Horn, We thank you. Did you have a comment, Mr.
Herrington?
Mr. Herrington. I wanted to supplement the answer that I gave

to the Congressman. He caught me off guard on who spent the
money—did the Congress spend it or did the executive branch—on
Great Plains? Great Plains was one of the five fast-track plants
mandated by the 1978 act, which created the Synthetic Fuels Corp.
The act required DOE to fund these projects, even though the Syn-
thetic Fuels Corp. was not in existence.

Now, they concluded that the Great Plains project was uneco-
nomic; brought that information back to Congress. And despite this

information. Congress, by law, insisted that the money be spent,

and in particular, the chairman of the energy commission.
Mr. Horn. And may I say, that response does not come as a sur-

prise, since Congress is often a good part of the problem. And
whether purification rags will exist on us by the end of this session,

we're not sure. But at least if we give the President the line item
veto, there's somebody at the other end of the avenue that also

could strike some of that nonsense. Except, often, the nonsense is

done by one's friends. That creates a problem.
I thank the panel. We could listen to all three of you all day.

You've given some immensely helpful testimony. I think it's prob-
ably the best we've had here. And it's pertinent and to the point,

and you've established a few new avenues that we need to take a
very careful look at. And we will, and we'd like your continued
help. The staff might well be sending you some questions.
And if you have the time, we'd appreciate your succinct com-

ments on them. Thanks so much for coming. The next panel will

come forward. Mr. Brewer and Ms. Fitzpatrick. If you would raise

your right hands.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. Horn. If we might, let us start with Shelby Brewer, the

former Under Secretary of Energy, 1981 to 1984; now chairman of
the ABB Combustion Engineering Nuclear Power. And as you know
the rules, we put your full statement in the record, have a 5
minute summary, and then we'll do the same with Ms. Fitzpatrick,

and then we'll throw it open to questions.

STATEMENT OF SHELBY T. BREWER, FORMER UNDER SEC-
RETARY OF ENERGY (1981-1984); AND DONNA R.
FITZPATRICK, FORMER UNDER SECRETARY OF ENERGY
(1989-1990)

Mr. Brewer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be very brief As
Henry the VIII said to his wives, I will not keep you long. Your re-

view of the Department of Energy is very timely. Since the Depart-
ment was created in 1977, in a crisis energy atmosphere of gas
lines and other fuel shortages, that condition, that circumstance,
has changed drastically. We no longer have these energy shortages,

due largely to the deregulation policies in the 1980's.

The other, and more overriding, reason for reviewing the Depart-
ment's ftinctionality is the epochal drive by the executive and the
new Congress to reduce the budget deficit. For these two reasons,

we have compelling reasons to review whether or not the Depart-
ment is performing well in what it does. And I think in this review,
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Mr. Chairman, you should look at the experience of U.S. industry
over the past 15 years. We have faced very volatile markets. We
have had to downsize, adjust very rapidly; face market realities

very squarely.

We've had to work turnarounds overnight in order to survive.
And those companies or institutions which could not do so, which
could not think outside the box, simply perished. We had to become
market driven. Now, what is the DOE's market? What external
population of customers voluntarily are willing to pay for what the
department does? That's a very key issue. It's an abstract one, and
it's one that's hard to make a determination on. The fact is, the De-
partment's market is largely the Department of Energy itself and
its contractor constituencies.

And this syndrome has been protected over the years by congres-
sional oversight and overlapping oversight jurisdictions within Con-
gress, a multiplicity of appropriations bills, a multiplicity of con-

cessional committee oversight functions. DOE was created in 1977
in an environment of energy emergency. It inherited the national
security function from predecessor agencies. Now, 18 years later,

the energy posture has improved. And the end of the cold war and
disarmament treaties have reduced defense production require-
ments.
So the Department of Energy, given those facts, why then hasn't

the DOE spending been reduced? The answer is that new missions
and programs keep getting invented internally and attached to

trendy new things enunciated by the Department. If you look at
the fiscal year 96 budget request by the Department, you f^id not
an energy department, but an environmental management depart-
ment, a basic sciences department, an education department, a bio-

logical and medical research department.
Energy production, energy research and development and dem-

onstration only accounts for a little over 10 percent of the total

budget request, by my reading. I'd like to turn now to one of the
new missions that the department has taken up, and that is the
clean up of nuclear weapons research and development and
productionsites. It has grown in a very short period of time—sev-

eral years—to $6 billion per year. And it's headed toward a total

lifecycle cost of who knows what.
The first estimates that came out during the Bush administra-

tion were, I believe, $50 billion to $80 billion. And then they turned
to $500 billion to $800 billion. And some estimates placed the total

environmental management costs as high as several trillion—num-
bers which are comparable to the current national debt. And now
suddenly, the administration has pulled it back to a few hundred
billion. Now, the variability of these costs undermines the credibil-

ity of any of these figures.

And we don't know what we're buying; and we don't know how
much it's going to cost; and we don't know why we're doing what
we're doing. There's been no risk cost benefit underpinning for this

program, no quantified standards based on how clean is clean
enough. We're spending money building buildings to house clean up
processes which have not yet been invented or determined. I will

close there, Mr. Chairman. I see the yellow light is on, and I've

kept you too long.
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Brewer follows:]

Prepared Statement of Shelby T. Brewer, Former Under Secretary of
Energy (1981-1984)

Thank you for asking me to participate in this review of the U.S. Department of
Energy.
My testimony today reflects my own individual perspective, not that of my com-

pany, ABB-Combustion Engineering.

NEED FOR US DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY REVIEW

There are two compelling reasons for conducting such a review now:
• first, and foremost, is the epochal drive by this Congress and the Executive

to reduce the rate of increase of the national debt, and to ultimately bite into

the debt itself; and
• second, because the nation's energy and national security circumstances

have changed dramatically since the Department was established in 1978, it is

time to review the mission and performance of the Energy Department. Even
without the budget issue, a review of the Department's mission and perform-
ance would be in order.

APPLICATION OF PRIVATE SECTOR TURNAROUND EXPERIENCE

Your deliberations can be enhanced by the experience of U.S. industry in the
1980's and the 1990's, and I urge you to seek out this experience. The business envi-

ronment has been (and is) extremely volatile: rapidly changing markets, changing
both qualitatively and quantitatively; shifts from sellers' markets" to "buyers' mar-
kets"; more competitive markets, often over-supplied; competition emerging sud-
denly from unexpected sources and events; a business environment where trite,

tired old cliches and mind sets are no longer relevant. We learned to adjust rapidly,

to face market realities squarely, and to work turnarounds overnight. Fundamental
assumptions were challenged, and sinecured sacred cows were pitched out the win-
dow, in favor of survival. Those companies and structures which could not think
clearly, which could not change rapidly, simply perished.
The current issues of public-sponsored deot and government functional relevance

and efficiency are analogous to the issues U.S. industry faced down in the 1980's
and continues to face down. The government must submit itself to the same crucible

tests that are a way of life in the private sector. It all comes down to cost and rel-

evance. Why are we spending X to achieve Y? Is Y an important deliverable or func-

tion? Is there a better way to achieve Y? Can functions of the government be mar-
ket-driven?
The U.S. Department of Energy needs the same attitudinal and operational ad-

justment that U.S. industry has adopted over the past fifteen years.

GENEALOGY OF THE US DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

When the Department was established in 1978, the country was reeling from a
series of energy emergencies.^ Cabinet expansion has been a characteristic response
of the U.S. (Xvemment under both parties—when there is an national calamity,
there is a knee-jerk tendency to create a Cabinet level bureaucracy to deal with it,

centralize the problem, apply damage control, and get the calamity off-stage. The
trouble with this kind of emergency response is that long afler the immediate crisis

subsides 2, the bureaucracy thus estaolished endures, grows, and continues to

consume national fiscal resources.
This has been the case with the Department of Energy. Because of the deregula-

tion policies initiated during the Reagan Presidency, we no longer have gas lines

and other crippling fuel shortages, but the Department continues to reassert its rel-

evance, redefine and gerrymander its mission and programs, with or without ena-
bling and authorizing legislation.

This is human nature; we see it every day in the private sector. First, there is

a market downturn in a market line; second comes a period of denial by the operat-

ing business unit
—

"the market is just in recess", or "the competition will stumble."
Third comes the period of intense self-flagellation, confession. Management during
this period will confess to even imaginary faults, if only the dreaded score-cards of

the customers and the stockholders can be kept at bay to buy some time, and save

ift has been argued that these emergencies resulted from U.S. Government intrusion into the
energy marketplace in the 1960*8.

'Ollen by itself, rather than from the application of government attention.
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them from the rack for just one more day. During this period, managers line up to

confess and to slander their peers ... "I am guilty because I saw it coming but

did not speak up, but Ralph did not even see it coming, or he tried to sweep it under
the rug." Finally, if this is a well managed company, a leader is appointed to re-

configure, work a turnaround, merge, or divest. The U.S. Department of Energy is

somewhere between the denial phase and the confessional pnase. It is reasserting

its relevance, but doing so timidly, and it is rumored to be up for sale.

Even from the outset, the Department's mission was a confused clutter of devel-

opmental, energy-economic regulatory, national security, and operational respon-

sibilities and programs inherited from preceding agencies—US ERDA, US AEC,
FEA, FPC, etc. The genealogy is difficult to track through legislation. For example,
the "national security^ function came into U.S. Department of Energy via ERDA,
nee US AEC, and through the idea of separation of powers (military and civilian)

inherent in the 1954 Atomic Energy Act. When the Department was created, a lot

of activity was cobbled together in the heat of the moment; and little if anything
from its inheritance was reduced, shaken down, consolidated, and made cost-effec-

tive at the time.

CHANGED ENERGY AND NATIONAL SECURITY CIRCUMSTANCES

So much for the Department's confused birth and its cluttered inheritance. Let us
turn now to changed energy and national security circumstances since 1978.

1. Energy. First, the Reagan Administration's free-market policies have worked
fairly wellV We no longer have chronic supply disruptions—the emergencies that

spawr*?d the creation of the Department in tne first place. Oil deregulation in 1981
led to an oil supply surplus, which broke the OPEC price stranglehold. Deregulation

of natural gas has lead to significant increases in natural gas availability. Conserva-
tion and energy efficiency improvements, whether they were of Federal origin or

not, have had a beneficial impact on U.S. energy posture. The institutional structure

of the energy sector has come to be more relevant, than technological research, de-

velopment, and demonstration.
The emergency impetus (1970's) for the Energy Department has gone away, but

the Department is still here.

2. National Security. The end of the cold war, the nuclear disarmament treaties

negotiated by the Reagan and Bush Administrations have reduced U.S. nuclear

weapons stockpile requirements. The nuclear weapons development, production, and
maintenance functions of the Energy Department have significantly changed quali-

tatively and quantitatively.

There is currently no production (or production capability) of tritium (T), pluto-

nium (Pu) and highly enriched uranium (HEU) for nuclear warheads.
Attention has shifted to:

• means of dis{X)sition of excess inventories of HEU and Pu resulting from
the disarmament treaties;

• environmental remediation of the Cold War nuclear weapons development
and production facilities; and

• means of tritium production, should fresh tritium be needed sometime in

the future.^

THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY TODAY

Mission and Program Clutter:

The Energy Department is a clutter of energy and non-energy related functions

and activities which do not add up to a coherent national mission. That is because

in large measure there is not a definable, quantitative, external "market pull", for

what the Department does, i.e. a definable customer population willing to pay for

product or services delivered. The Department's objectives are established largely by
the Department itself and its contractors and laboratories.

In a classical business context, management of a company has two key constitu-

encies: customers (the market); and investors (stockholders). Without trying to draw
too fine of an abstract point on this analogy, one might consider Congress as the

Energy Department's investors, but we lose it when we try to define the Energy De-

partment's market. In those few cases where a customer population or market can
De defined, the customers are enormously dissatisfied with the Department's per-

formance. An example is the floundering execution of the spent nuclear fuel pro-

gram, financed by the U.S. nuclear utilities through user fees.

3 Unlike uranium and plutonium, tritium has a relatively short half-life, and must be replen-

ished in the weapons stockpile.



82

Part of the incoherent clutter results from the multiplicity of Congressional com-
mittees exercising oversight responsibilities for elements of the Department. This is

an old problem. Let me give you a very narrow example. Prior to 1975, all atomic
energy matters were overseen by a joint House and Senate committee—the Joint
Committee on Atomic Energy (JCAE). Roughly once per year, the executive branch
nuclear czar would testify exhaustively before this committee, receive his/her Con-
gressional marching orders, then be left alone to execute until the following year.'*

The JCAE was disbanded in 1975, and Congressional oversight for nuclear energy
was scattered to the winds—over a number of committees. When I was Assistant
Secretary of Energy 1981-1984, with responsibility for nuclear energy, the number
of Congressional committees claiming oversight was somewhere between ei^teen
and twenty-six. As with Cabinet level department proliferation, the proliferation of

Congressional committees exercising oversight has contributed to the clutter of mis-
sions, objectives, goals, programs, activities, functions, etc. in the Department of En-

Over the years the Department's mission has been redefined internally, bottoms-
up, not tops-down and not by market forces, as would be necessary for a private
sector entity to survive. There are numerous large and small contractor flywheels
attaching themselves to vague enunciations of Department policy and mission. The
number of these internal constituencies is large, diverse, unmanageable, and expen-
sive. Examining the Department's budget request for FY 1996, you find not an en-
ergy department, but an environmental management agency, a basic science agency,
an education agency, and an agency clinging to a national security function. The en-
ergy related budget is roughly only 12% of the total budget request.
National security is one oi those things that everyone agrees is a proper respon-

sibility of the federal government. The Energy Department plays an important role

in national security. It should be regarded as a supplier to the Defense Department
(the customer). The Defense Department, not the Energy Department, establishes
the specifications and quantities of products it wishes delivered by the Energy De-
partment. These obvious distinctions in roles should not become blurred. The na-
tional security function of the Energy Department is a case of a sheep in wolfs
clothing: while its national security responsibilities do not conform to tne Depart-
ment's prevailing values, the budget and political clout that these functions project
constitute a platiorm the Department cannot resist clinging onto.
Given that the US energy posture and national security circumstance have im-

proved dramatically as noted earlier, one would expect that the mission and budget
of the Department should be shrinking, but they are not. Bureaucratic momentum
and the appetites of Department contractors and laboratories tend to keep new mis-
sions being invented and taxpayers' money being spent. The FY 1996 request was
several hundred million dollars above the FY 95 actual budget.

Environmental Management (Weapons Site Cleanup):

One of these new missions is the environmental clean-up of nuclear weapons pro-

duction facilities, the Environmental Management Program (EM). It has grown over
the past few years to a request of about $6 billion for FY 96. While environmental
remediation of these facilities is an important national goal, the program must be
conducted intelligently and within national means. The fact that the Department
has been so vague in mapping the tasks and costs to their end points undermines
the Department's credibility. Several years ago the cost to complete was estimated
at about $50-80 billion. Later the cost was placed in the range of $500 billion to

$800 billion. Given the lack of clarity and cost/benefit validity in the Department's
commitments, the cost could reach as high as several trillion—a number comparable
to the current national debt. Recently, the Department, under pressure from Con-
gress, pulled the number back to a few hundred billion. The variability of the total

cost to complete this important program is alarming. We may be signing up for an
unknown, open ended mortgage.
The phenomenal growth of this program is another example of the Department's

contractors and laboratories feasting at the federal trough, essentially unmanaged
by the Department. This new (weapons program environmental remediation) market
comes just as the weapons production function is in decline. Furthermore, this new
market is more enriching than the production market. At Hanford, the Department
is spending over 0.5 billion dollars per year on monitoring the waste tanks, and
planning for their ultimate disposition, and it will be years before actual physical

*In corporate life we call these events "strategic planning and operationB reviews". They are
designed to determine whether long-range plans remain sound, and how well management is

executing near-term.
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disposition begins. Employment at Hanford has more than doubled since actual pro-
duction operations were terminated there.

Lacking in the EM program is any noticeable priority system based on a risk/cost/

benefit methodology, e.g. for each site, how much public health risk/cost is abated
b^ the application of X dollars? At some point in tne expenditures for a particular
site, the incremental benefits do not warrant incremental costs. Meaningful quem-
titative standards are vEigue or are lacking.

Intelligent sequencing of clean-up technology development, "bricks and mortar"
building programs, and commitments to states and localities is lacking. At one site,

a building is being constructed to house a clean-up processing line whose technology
is yet to Be identified or developed. At the same site, another building is being con-
structed to house research and development effort to establish the technology. The
cart is before the horse. It appears that the EM program constituencies are settling
in comfortably for a long stay.

Civilian Nuclear Spent Fuel Program:

While new missions and spending programs are being invented, the Department
does not appear to be able to execute its existing statutory responsibilities. A case
in point is tne program to develop and deploy a national disposition system for used
fuel from nuclear power reactors, pursuant to the 1982 Act, as amended.
The 1982 Act (a) shifted the financial burden from the taxpayers to the consumers

of nuclear-generated electricity, (b) provided a date certain (1998) for the US Gov-
ernment to accept title to spent fuel, (c) provided for both ultimate permanent dis-

gosition in a geological repository, and for interim storage (Monitored Retrievable
torage Facility) should the geological repository be delayed, and (d) mandated a

process and schedule for federal and state decision-making (e.g. choice of sites), and
public involvement. This legislation was, admittedly, cumbersome and difficult to
execute, especially in the details of the process mechanics for reaching basically po-~

litical decisions. Many compromises had to be made to gain passage in 1982.
For a number of reasons, the execution of this legislation to date has been a fail-

ure. The Bush and Clinton Administrations have asserted that the 1998 acceptance
date is unrealistic, and merely a commitment made by the Reagan Administration,
rather than an obligation of the incumbents. The fact is that the 1998 date was and
is a statutory commitment enacted by Congress and signed by the President. In
spite of a lot of heavy political weight-ufling by Congress since 1982 to ease the fin-
er^ Department's burden, the program is still a failure. The Bush Administration
said that difliculties were simply too great and that a spent fuel acceptance date
of 2010 (rather than 1998) might be achievable.
More CCTCgious than the schedule slippage is the fiduciary management of the

program. Notwithstanding the fact that the funding is user-based, not taxpayer-
based. Executive and Congressional approvals are required to spend from collec-

tions. Collections have exceeded outlays, and the difference is scored against the an-
nual deficit. That is like telling a customer the turi)ine he paid me for wUl not be
delivered for another 15 years, or maybe never, and actually I do not think he needs
a turbine in the first place. Maybe he would like to have a valve instead. Meanwhile
I have got his money (advanced payment), and I am spending it on something else.

In business, where common sense applies, this conduct would land you certainly on
the street if not in jail. But in matters federal there is apparently some sense of
sovereign immunity Trom common sense equity considerations.

Production and Disposition ofNuclear Weapons Materials:

After spending several billion dollars in reactor safety upgrades on the Savannah
River reactors, tne reactors were essentially mothballed in 1992. As a practical mat-
ter, these reactors are not intended to operate again. The nation has no current ca-
pability to generate tritium, an isotope with a relatively short half-life, and which
must be replenished in the nuclear weapons arsenal. At some point in the future,
a new source of tritium wUl have to be implemented, depending on the Defense De-
partment's projected requirements. This source has not been identified.

At the same time, the disarmament treaties have resulted in large inventories of
excess plutonium and highly enriched uranium. Here the issue is how to dispose of
the excess inventory, because plutonium and uranium have very long half-lives, and
requirements for new sources are not projected. Plutonium and uranium have en-
ergy values if converted into fuel for nuclear power reactors. They are an energy
asset rather than a waste.

In the Energy Department, where these issues have been under study for years,
the prevailing sentiment appears to be to treat plutonium disposition and the trit-

ium production as two separate federal, on-budget projects. Also, the Department
has raised concerns about the example set if the Unitea States uses plutonium fuel
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in a fission power reactor. In my mind this concern is unfounded, for three reasons:
(a) the world did not follow the U.S. example set in the late 1970'8 when reprocess-
ing was banned; (b) the weapons plutonium to useful energy solution does not in-

volve reprocessing (separation of plutonium from other isotopes); and (c) the optics

fi{ "swords to plowshares" are positive rather than negative, because fissioning the
plutonium is an irreversible process (against rearmament using the excess pluto-

nium), and because it shows that the U.S. is not wasteful.

By far the least cost solution for the taxpayer is to combine the nrussions of pluto-

nium disposition and tritium production standby capability into a single project

—

fission reactoKs) which can generate and sell electricity to offset costs. In addition,

further savings would result if the project were privatized, that is, fmanced by a
consortia which would sell electricity and provide a service to the U.S. Government.

Energy Research, Development, and Demonstration:

A traditional role of the U.S. government is to conduct or participate in research
development, and demonstration (RD&D) on energy systems whose programmatic
costs, durations, and risks are beyond the private sector's reach. The appropriate
role of the government in the sequential process between laboratory research on
basic phenomenology and commercialization has been extensively debated over the
years. Inordinate government spending for technologies at or near the commer-
cialization stage can distort the market. Also, government stewardship can lead to

price subsidies at or after commercialization. On the other hand, concentrating gov-

ernment effort only on laboratory phenomenology will assure that these programs
will never leave the laboratory stage. This is a very abstract subject which will be
debated by scholars for several more generations.

The fact is that a very small portion of the Department's budget (FY 96 request)
can truly be labeled energy RD&D. Please refer to the Appendix at page 103-113
of the Energy Department's publication titled Budget Highlights—FY 1996 Congres-
sional Budget Request (February 1995). You have to look hard for it, but the energy
RD&D budget request can be found in two Appropriation Bill requests: Energy and
Water Development Appropriations and Energy and Related Agencies Appropria-
tions. Imbedded in these budget appropriation requests are vague line items like

Environmental Safety and Health ($166 million). Biological and Environmental Re-
search ($431 million), Environmental Restoration and Waste Management ($712
million), University & Science Education ($55 million). Technical Information Man-
agement Program ($17 million), Multi-Program Energy Laboratories ($51 million).

Laboratory Technology Transfer ($58 million), and so on. The environmental activity

expenditures cited above are in addition to the $6 billion request cited for environ-
mental remediation of the weapons material production sites. If you strip out from
the Department's requests for these two Appropriation Bills the activities which ap-

pear to be actually energy RD&D related, the total is about $1.6 billion, not the
roughly $4 billion advertised in the Department's visual presentation materials.

That is about 9% of the Department's total budget request for FY 96. Therefore it

is a legitimate question to ask whether or not the Energy Department is an energy
agency or an environmental, education, basic science agency, or what. Again, we see
clutter, featherbedding, and mislabeling.

Congress, too, is not blameless for this condition. The historic complexity and con-

fusion inherent in the Appropriations and Authorization Committee structure and
the Appropriation Bills architecture, when combined with the Energy Department's
clutter and ambiguity, guarantees that understanding and common sense will be
lost.

WHAT SHOULD BE DONE

Dismantlement? Not Now.:

A natural tendency when faced with a failed or^ganization is to dismantle and re-

organize, to move organizational boxes around on paper. Congress appears to be in

this mood now with respect to the Energy Department.
I believe that this would be a mistake, at least for now. If the Department is dis-

mantled, prior to programmatic terminations and reforms, with pieces and parts

sent off to other agencies, then the opportunity for substantial budget savings will

be lost. The scope and money will disappear into other agencies, never to be found,

and programs will continue doing the same things at the same cost.

Because fiscal restraint is a principal objective, it is best to keep the issues in one
place for now, where they can be seen and dealt with substantively,

programmatically, and quickly. Reorganization can come later.
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Quantum versus Incremental Changes:

Incremental cutbacks here and there in Energy and other departments will not
go very far toward balancing the federal budget. The budgets will simply spring
back later.

To make a measurable difference, some things will simply not get done, or get
done on the scale envisioned now, and this will simply have to be accepted. A lot

of sacred cows, some of them perhaps quite meritorious, will follow the bathwater
out the window. Some missions, objectives, and the spending programs that underlie
them will have to be terminated outright, or fundamentally reshaped.

Efficiency improvements, delayering, overhead consolidation, wnile commendable,
will not be enough.

Front End Loading versus "Hockey-Stick" Savings:

Reductions, reforms, and program terminations should be front-end loaded to be
credible and effective. Performance improvements promised for later years ("hockey
sticks") rarely occur in business, and never in government.

In this regard, the Department's FY 96 request is several hundred million dollars
above its actual FY 95 budget, while a on-the-come savings of $14.1 Billion is prom-
ised for the period FY 1996-2002. Of this figure only $8.4 billion comes from pro-
gram savings; the rest is from selling assets over the next five years.' This is nei-
ther a credible nor an aggressive target. It amounts to only about 13% of current
annual levels ($18 billion), or less if one contemplates Energy Department program
baseline growth over the next six years.

Going simply after obvious "low-hanging fruit", I believe a doable target for FY
1996 is $5 billion (about 28% reduction), and a FY 1996-2002 savings of about $44
billion. If redundancies are reduced in environmental, basic science activities in
other federal departments and laboratories, roughly another $15 billion could be
saved FY 1996-2002. The total of say $60 billion savings over FY 96-2002 if

annualized ($ 10 billion per year), is only about 5% of the annual budget deficit of
$200 billion per year, but it is a start and can be done without forfeiting American
leadership in energy technology, basic science, and environmental leadership.

Arrest the Department's Internal Market Syndrome (Contractor and Laboratory Con-
stituencies):

As I have noted, most of the missions and objectives of the Department are self-

generated, and by self-generated I include the contractors whose principal market
is the Department. Congress does not help when state delegations keep the money
flowing to their states and districts, regardless of merit.
The Department of Energy does not have an objective arms-length external mar-

ket to determine its relevance and performance.
Some workable system of incentives and penalties must be designed to deal with

the Department and its internal constituencies. Excessive spending is rewarded,
whUe thrift and efficiency are not. Budgets become automatic. One mechanism
would be to privatize as much of the Department's functions as possible, rather than
rely on extensions of the Government—the M&O contractors and national labora-
tories.

Re-Plan and Re-Baseline Weapons Sites EM Program:

The largest single budget (and growth) item in Energy Department's plans is the
EM program, ana attention should be given immediately to containing its out-year
spending commitments.
A first step would be to freeze FY 1996 spending at the current contractual obliga-

tion level, to buy time while the program is brought under control. This could save
as much as $3 billion in FY 1996.
Second, invoke a priority system that will allocate the most effort and resources

to sites with the largest, most pernicious, and most immediate hazards to human
health and safety. Apply common-sense risk/cost/benefit tools.

Third, inject some discipline into the process of negotiating Energy Department
agreements with states and localities to avoid open-ended, financially ruinous com-
mitments.

Fourth, seek the most innovative and cost-effective cleanup technology. Avoid
large "bricks and mortar" building programs in advance of determining technology
to be employed.

'It would be interesting to know what the book value of those assets is, so that one could
determine the magnitude of the government's investment write-off.
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Fifth, build in a system of contractor incentives and penalties which encourage
contractors to execute work in a cost-efTective and timely manner, rather than maxi-
mize spending and perpetuating programs.
Mr. Chairman, this concludes my testimony. Thank you for the opportunity to

present my thoughts on this important subject.

Mr. Horn, Well, we'll get back and get a chance to get all your
thinking out on the table. Donna Fitzpatrick was the former Under
Secretary of Energy during the period 1989-1990. She's now presi-

dent of the Radian Services Co. Ms. Fitzpatrick.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do have a written
statement for the record, and I'd like to make a few comments now.
We have heard already a great deal about the DOE's activities, and
I won't repeat any of those. Certainly, the DOE is a complex orga-
nization. It has a proud history. It and its predecessors have made
tremendous contributions to this country's security. But it has also

been burdened with programs which have outlived whatever use-
fulness they may once have had. And I agree that it's time to take
a serious look at the DOE's mission and it s structure.

I meant to say something about the clean up, but I can't top
what has already been said by Mr. Brewer and Secretary Watkins,
in particular, I think they are exactly right in their criticisms of

that program. Beyond that, what activities should be retained in

the department? On the non-weapons side, I think that the Federal
Government should support basic science, subject to reasonable
peer review and competition.
Applied research should be funded to develop technologies for the

government's own use, particularly defense and other national se-

curity needs, not to benefit particular companies or industries or to

manage economic sectors. Allocation of risk capital should be left

to the private sector. It is enough for the government to support
research for its own use, and to cooperate with industry invest-

ments in those areas which are precompetitive and related to and
supportive of government missions.
This is good for government researchers, and it's also good for

the economy. These comments really have to do with the question,
what should be done with the national laboratories? Because the
continued management of the national laboratories is a vital con-

sideration in any reorganization of the department. The national

laboratories should not be viewed as task oriented job shops.
They are, in fact, a unique national asset, and each has its own

history, mission and capabilities in both physical facilities and ex-

pertise, which are not often available elsewhere in the country, or

even the world. The laboratories have nurtured a spirit of research
which ranges beyond solving immediate practical problems to ex-

plore fundamental sciences. The laboratories have been valuable
sources of information and analysis on such issues as global warm-
ing, ozone depletion and environmental impacts of various energy
technologies.

Unfortunately, their disciplined scientific approach to these is-

sues has not always, or even often, won the political day. But the
Congress and the Nation should know that the resource is there,

and it should be used. The laboratories success is due precisely to

the fact that they can maintain a variety of skills and facilities,

which are symbiotic and synergistic. They nurture one another,
and they provide enhanced productivity andf creativity.
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While the laboratories can no doubt benefit from thoughtful trim-

ming, dismantling them or letting them suffer a slow death from
neglect would be a tragedy. In particular, the three laboratories

which are responsible for nuclear weapons design, development and
maintenance have competencies which are unique and irreplace-

able. Many of the skills necessary for the weapons program are

now finding applications in industry. And this should be encour-

aged, but without losing sight of the laboratories basic mission,

wnich is fiindamentally the nuclear weapons program and basic

science.

Of course, abolishing the department does not abolish any of the
real tasks assigned to it. We still have to maintain our nuclear
weapons stockpile. The department and some of the laboratories

have an important role in nuclear non-proliferation efforts. The
permanent storage of high level waste from civilian power reactors

will remain a Federal responsibility. We must also continue and
improve the clean up of the weapons production complex.
The national laboratories and suitable programs in basic and ap-

plied research must be managed. Some of these programs have not
been immune to politically motivated projects, and others are due
for re-evaluation. No doubt, other programs should be transferred

or abolished. And I would endorse the views already expressed by
the former Secretaries on which programs should be shut down. In
particular, all loan guarantees, grant programs and demonstration
projects should be shut down.
We've had excellent testimony on nuclear weapons safety al-

ready. But let's be clear about who actually is responsible for and
carries out the weapons safety and maintenance work. It is the na-
tional laboratories. And those are not government employees; those
are contractor employees. The head of Sandia National Labora-
tories, for example, is personally responsible for certifying the safe-

ty of eveiy nuclear weapon in the Nation's stockpile. That is why
I am so—1 want to emphasize the importance of maintaining these
institutions.

It's vital for the health of the weapons laboratories that they con-

tinue their participation in non-weapons programs, because the re-

duced weapons program will not be sufficient to support the skills

and the facilities or attract the talent needed for the weapons pro-

gram itself. Without a multi-program approach, the weapons lab-

oratories and the Nation would lose the benefits of symbiosis and
synergy which we now enjoy.

Therefore, the nuclear weapons program and civilian research
should not be separated in different agencies. It is also essential

that the laboratories clearly belong to and remain the responsibil-

ity of a full-fledged executive agency. Problems of micromanage-
ment can and should be addressed. Aiid I would think a severe re-

duction in force would help immensely. But without an agency
sponsor, the laboratories would compete destructively; they would
drift; and they would eventually starve.

I hope that the Congress will amend the personnel rules so that
Federal managers will be free to do what many know they should
do. After the missions and the activities of the agency are deter-

mined, then select the bare minimum of the best available employ-
ees to carry out the mission, regardless of accumulated seniority.
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Let everyone else go. It means that people will have to take respon-
sibility tor real decisions. But that is what they have to do in the
world of the taxpayers.

I might also add that the new agency, whether it's Cabinet or
sub-Cabinet, should not have to report to 27 different congressional
committees. One set for nuclear and one set for other energy issues
is quite enough. The department and its predecessor agencies have
a record of accomplishments, which has been vital to our national
security and contributed to our prosperity. Not everything has been
done flawlessly, and there are lessons to be learned from both pol-

icy and operational errors.

But the goal today should be to identify and nourish the assets
we still need, and free them to do their jobs. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Fitzpatrick follows:]

Prepared Statement of Donna R. Fitzpatrick, Former Under Secretary of
Energy

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, my name is Donna R.
Fitzpatrick. From 1983 to 1990, I served in various capacities at the U.S. Depart-
ment of Energy, including assistant secretary for conservation and renewable en-
ergy, assistant secretary lor management and. administration, under secretary, and
acting secretary. I am now president of Radiance Services Company, a technology
development and licensing firm in Bethesda, Maryland, and I am an outside director

on the boards of Sandia Corporation, which is the Lockheed Martin subsidiary for

the msmagement of Sandia National Laboratories, and Stone & Webster, Inc., an
international engineering and construction firm. Both Lockheed Martin and Stone
& Webster are contractors with the Department of Energy. My testimony is mine
and does not necessarily represent the views of any of these organizations.

I appreciate the opportunity to testify before this subcommittee about the future
of the Department oi Energy (DOE). Tne agency is a complex organization with a
proud history in the development, manufacture, and maintenance of nuclear weap-
ons, basic science research, and energy technology development. It has also been
burdened with some pro-ams which may have outlived their usefulness. I agree
with those who say that it is time to take a serious look at the DOE's mission and
structure.

To assist the subcommittee in making a detailed analysis of DOE, I would like

to offer some thoughts which are applicable to the federal government in general
and DOE in particular. My testimony will address five topics: principles for deter-

mining what activities the federal government should undertake; tne role of the
Congress in determining federal activities; some serious management problems in

the federal civil service; the kind of scientific research which should be supported
by the federal government; and the future of the national laboratories. I will then
suggest a framework for restructuring the Department. This is not the forum for

detailed answers, which I do not have. There is a vigorous discussion on these mat-
ters and I doubt that all the right answers have yet emerged. It would be a mistake
to take precipitous action before allowing this discussion to come to some conclu-

sions.

WHAT activities ARE PROPER FOR THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT?

We are finally coming to the realization that the federal government cannot do
everything that anyone wants it to do. But the limitation ongovernment should not
be determined by what it can do, but by what it should do. This country was found-
ed on the principle that the powers of government were limited so as to preserve
the greatest possible liberties for the people. It follows that what the people can do
for themselves, either individually or in voluntary associations, shoula not be done
by the government. If something must be done by government, it should be done
by the lowest level which can do it efficiently and effectively, keeping the activity

as close as possible to the people. The federal government is the actor of last resort,

because the federal government necessarily acts through coercion, including tax-

ation, and easily falls under infiuences which arc remote from the common interests

of the people and largely invisible to them. I will try to apply these principles in

discussmg what research activities are appropriate for federal funding.
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WHAT IS THE ROLE OF CONGRESS IN DETERMINING FEDERAL ACTIVITIES?

Within the limits of the Constitution, the answer is "Everything." The executive

agencies can do little not directed, at least implicitly, and funded oy the Congress.

The courts can only apply the laws written by Congress or, thanks to ambiguities

left in legislation, drive their own interpretive trucks through the law. It is not an
accident that Article One of the Constitution concerns the legislative power of the

United States. We have three branches in our government, each with its own pow-
ers and responsibilities, but they are not equal. The Congress is far more powerful

than the other two, because it controls the purse, it directs the Executive, and it

can even limit the jurisdiction of the Judiciary.

The Congress has gotten into the habit of leaving a good deal of its legislative

authority to the regulatory powers of executive agencies and the interpretative

whims of the courts. It complains about the results, but does not always seem to

realize where the problem starts. For example, the Department of Energy is now
spending billions of dollars per year to clean up the nuclear weapons production
complex. Congress, like everyone else, is shocked by the projected costs of $200 bil-

lion or more. What do we get for all this treasure? Is it necessary to safeguard pub-
lic safety? The answer is certainly no. The cleanup is being driven by standards im-

posed in federal legislation which have little to do with actual risk to the public.

They really have more to do with the current and changing state of chemical detec-

tion technology. It is hardly too simple to say that the law and regulations require

that if we can detect it, we have to get rid of it, even if there is no practical risk

to the public. This is Congress's doing and only Congress can cure it.

It is heartening to see that todays Congress is willing to examine what has be-

come of its handiwork, begin to remedy some problems, and perhaps even resist the
never-ending temptation to do just a little something nice for someone.

TWO WAYS TO IMPROVE MANAGEMENT OF FEDERAL AGENCIES

Federal agencies are being asked to improve their performance and efficiency and
to undertake significant downsizing. Under present personnel rules in the civil serv-

ice, these are to some extent mutually exclusive goals. Personnel rules make it ex-

tremely difficult and time-consuming for a federal manager to remove a poorly per-

forming employee, especially if the employee is willing to utilize all available griev-

ance procedures. The manager must weigh the risk that the employee will do just

that before even embarking on a serious disciplinary action.

The difficulty of dealing effectively with the less than satisfactory worker encour-
ages another common problem. When downsizing comes, it is easiest to allow it to

happen as much as possible by attrition and allowing early outs: paying people to

choose to leave. Unfortunately, this is expensive and encourages the best people to

leave, because they have the most opportunities in the private sector. The method
is aU too familiar and amounts to an abdication of responsibility for efliective man-
agement, but it is sometimes the most attractive alternative left to a federal man-
ager. I hope that the Congress will correct these difficulties so that federal man-
agers will be free to do what many know they should do: after the mission and ac-

tivities of the agency are determined, select the bare minimum of the best available

employees to carry out the mission, regardless of accumulated seniority. Let every-

one else go. It means that people will have to take responsibility for real decisions,

but that is what they have to do in the world of the taxpayers.

WHAT KIND OF RESEARCH SHOULD THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT SUPPORT?

We are in the midst of a lively discussion concerning the level of federal support
for scientific research and what kinds of research are appropriate for federal fund-
ing. This is a perennial issue with particular importance today.

1 think that the federal government should support basic science subject to rea-

sonable peer review and competition. There are many projects which cannot be
funded by the private sector but are beneficial for our tinderstanding of ourselves

and the world we live in. The Hubble space telescope, certain facilities such as light

sources and particle accelerators, and the human genome project are examples. I

think that applied research should be funded to develop technologies for the govern-
ment's own use, particularly defense and other national security needs, not to bene-
fit particular companies or industries or to manage economic sectors. Of course, the
government uses almost everything the ordinary consumer uses, so this guideline
could easily dissolve into meaninglessness. Also, many technologies developed for

particular governmental applications have become commercial successes, such as

computers and jet airplanes, but that was not why they were supported. Indeed,
there was an almost complete failure to foresee the impact of computers.
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The government does not have an especially good record of choosing successfbl
technologies for private sector use. It could be argued that many private invest-

ments also fail, but at least they are freely made by people who choose to take the
risk. Allocation of risk capital should be left to the private sector. It is enough for

the government to support research for its own use and to cooperate with industry
investments in those areas which are precompetitive and related to and supportive
of government missions. This is good for the government researchers and good for

the economy.

WHAT SHOULD BE DONE WITH THE NATIONAL LABORATORIES?

One of the DOE's most important functions is the management of the national
laboratories which grew out of the Manhattan Project, the post-WWII development
of nuclear weapons, the development of nuclear reactors for naval propulsion and
civilian power production, and the need for nationally funded research m the basic
sciences. The continued management of the national laboratories is a vital consider-
ation in any reorganization of the Department of Energy.
The national laboratories should not be viewed as task-oriented job shops. They

are, in fact, a unique national asset and each has its own history, mission, and capa-
bilities in both physical facilities and expertise which are often not available else-

where in the country or even the world. The laboratories have nurtured a spirit of
research which ranges beyond immediate practical problems to explore fundamental
science in physics, chemistry, and biology. The defense program and energy tech-

nology programs have supported development of innovative materials, electronics,

systems design, computational modeling, data acquisition and diagnostics, and
many other areas which were pioneered in the laboratories and proved very useful
to American industry. Similarly, the Department and the laboratories have been
valuable sources of information and analysis on such issues as global warming,
ozone depletion, environmental impacts of various energy technologies, and radon
risks. Unfortunately, their disciplined scientific approach to these issues has not al-

ways, or even often, won the political day, but the Congress and the nation should
know that the resource is there and should be used.
The fruits of this research have had invaluable practical benefits, much of which

was completely unforeseeable. The laboratories' success is due precisely to the fact

that they can maintain a variety of skills and facilities which are symbiotic and syn-
ergistic: they nurture one another and provide enhanced productivity and creativity.

While the laboratories can no doubt benefit from some thoughtful trimming, dis-

mantling them or letting them suffer slow death from neglect would be a tragedy.

The three laboratories responsible for nuclear weapons design, development, and
maintenance have competencies which are unique and irreplaceable. Their focus is

shifting from weapons design, testing, and assembly to the disassembly of many
weapons, the long-term maintenance of the remaining stockpile, and many activities

contributing to nonproliferation efforts. Many of the skills necessary for the weapons
program are now finding applications in industiy and this should be encouraged
without losing sight of the laboratories' basic mission.

The national laboratories represent a huge investment which has already been
made. If they are allowed to deteriorate or become merely job shops for either gov-

ernment or private interests, an invaluable resource will have been irretrievably lost

and a national investment squandered. The nation should remain committed to

maintaining both their spirit and their capabilities. Perhaps this can best be done
by maintaining ownership of the laboratories in an independent subcabinet agency.

WHAT SHOULD BE DONE WITH THE DEPAPTMENT OF ENERGY?

This brings me to the specific subject of this hearing: what to do with the Depart-
ment of Energy. Abolishing the DOE does not abolish any of the real tasks assigned
to it. We still have to maintain our nuclear weapons stockpile. (I would like to refer

the subcommittee to testimony being given today by Al Narath, Director of Sandia
National Laboratories, before the House Committee on National Security, Sub-
committee on Military Procurement, for an explanation of what this entails.) The
Department and some of the laboratories have an imfwrtant role in nuclear non-
proliferation efforts. The permanent storage of high level waste from civilian power
reactors will remain a federal responsibility. We must also continue, and improve,

the cleanup of the weapons production complex. The national laboratories and suit-

able programs in basic and applied researcn must be managed. Some of these pro-

grams have not been immune to politically motivated projects and others are due
for reevaluation.
No doubt other programs should be transferred or abolished. The surviving oil

price control enforcement actions should go to the Department of Justice for wrap-
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up and any functions of the Energy Information Administration which are useful

and not available elsewhere could be transferred. All loan guarantee and grant pro-

grams and demonstration projects should be shut down. The power marketing ad-

ministrations should be privatized. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission is

not really part of the Department and can be left, as an independent agency.

The essential and continuing functions of the Department mi^t well be managed
by an independent, subcabinet agency. It is vital for the health of the weapons lab-

oratories that they continue their participation in non-weapons programs because

the reduced wea{X>ns program will not be sufficient to support the skills and facili-

ties or attract the talent needed for the weapons program itself. Without a multipro-

gram approach, the weapons laboratories and the nation would lose the benefits of

symbiosis and syner^ which they now enjoy. Therefore, the nuclear weapons pro-

gram and civilian research should not be separated in different agencies. It is also

essential that the laboratories clearly belong to and remain the responsibility of a

full-fledged executive agency. Problems of micromanagement can and should be ad-

dressed (a severe reduction in force would help immensely), but without an agency
sponsor, the laboratories would compete destructively, drift, and starve.

The new agency, whether cabinet or subcabinet, should report to the bare mini-

mum of Congressional committees and subcommittees, not the two dozen or more
which have historically held jurisdiction. The armed services committees and de-

fense appropriation subcommittees should retain jurisdiction of the nuclear weapons
program and there should be one set of authorization committees and appropriation

subcommittees for the other functions.

The Department of Energy and its predecessors have a proud history of accom-
plishments which have been vital to our national security and contributed to our
prosperity. Not everything has been done flawlessly and there are lessons to be
learned from both policy and operational errors, but the goal today should be to

identify and nourish the assets we still need and free them to fulfill their potential.

Mr. Horn. Thank you, Ms. Fitzpatrick, Let me just ask one ques-

tion on something you just said, then I'll yield to the ranking mi-
nority member. You noted that we should amend the personnel
rules so we could have more flexibility as to who you keep and re-

tain and who you don't. Were you thinking primarily of the Depart-
ment of Energy as a whole, or were you thinking of the national

laboratories?
Ms. Fitzpatrick. No, the national laboratories are contractors,

and the employees there are private sector employees of the con-

tractors. So they don't—although they actually have a lot of the

same personnel rules. I am concerned, in particular, about the De-
partment of Energy Federal employees, and especially the seniority

rules. But the extent that they also extend to the—are sometimes
imposed de facto on the contractors, I would take a look at those

as well.

Mr. Horn. Yes, because I knew the contractors should have the

rules, if they have any, either independent with that laboratory or

the University of California rules, in the case of two of the labora-

tories.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. Right.

Mr. Horn. And I just wondered if you found some of those a
problem.
Ms. Fitzpatrick. Well, yes. Some of the contractors and some of

the university contractors, as well, have created or adopted rules

either because there were Federal rules, or simply because of the

exigencies and influences in the labor force. And I find, generally,

the seniority rules are counterproductive. And I also am opposed to

doing downsizing by attrition or by buy-outs. I think that tends to

chase out the people who are the best, because they have the best

opportunities on the outside.
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Mr. Horn. Having gone through three buy-outs as a university
president, I agree with you. And I don't know why we can't target
those buy-outs at the discretion of the institution involved, and just
say for the good of the service.

Ms. FiTZPATRlCK. Well, I think buy-outs are expensive. I don't

know why we can't simply explain what the mission is, identify the
people who are best at doing it, and tell the others, sorry, we don't

have a job for you here.

Mr. Horn. On the laboratories, we've heard the word, privatiza-

tion, used a lot.

Ms. FrrzPATRiCK. Yes.

Mr. Horn. Based on your role as Under Secretary, do you think
there's much hope for privatization of any of the national labora-
tories, without affecting their primary mission, which is the nu-
clear safety issue?

Ms. Fitzpatrick. There are three laboratories which are con-

cerned with nuclear weapons design and maintenance. The other

national laboratories, each of them really has a, for the most part,

some function and facility which I think is properly funded and
supported by the Federal Government. And those facilities, such as

particle accelerators, test reactors, and that kind of thing, are real-

ly very difficult to move. You just can't consolidate them in a few
sites.

However, I think in the non-weapons laboratories, there are op-

portunities for some privatization and for some expansion of user
facilities. I would simply be very careful about declaring them all

up for grabs, and I would be very prudent about losing some things

which are really unique national assets.

Mr. Horn. Well, I take it, on the nuclear safety aspect, you don't

see any privatization possibility there.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. No.
Mr. Horn. That's basically a national responsibility.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. Exactly, yes.

Mr. Horn. But there are some research, and I know they've been
trying to get more private sector research, in terms of Livermore
and Los Alamos and others.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. Yes.

Mr. Horn. The ranking member, the distinguished Representa-
tive from New York, Mrs. Maloney.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Many of you have
praised, in your testimony, the work done by the national labs. And
there seems to be some disagreement over the privatization. Where
would you have these labs go, if we abolish the Department of En-
ergy? Where would you have them go, either one of you?
Mr. Brewer. Well, if the laboratories' work and the mission is

not relevant, then they should go away. The first question to be an-

swered is what the market will bear; what are the products of the

laboratories; who is willing to pay for those tasks and those prod-

ucts; and place the thing in the crucible of the marketplace. And
if there is no market, then I'm sorry. Except for the weapons func-

tions at Los Alamos, Sandia, and Livermore, let the marketplace
decide.
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The weapons functions clearly are a national responsibility, and
should be taxpayer funded. But that's about as far as I'm willing

to take
Mrs. Maloney. And where would you have the labs that relate

to weapons functions? Would you move them to Department of De-

fense? Where would you have these labs located, if we abolish the

Department of Energy?
Mr. Brewer. Well, the Department of Defense, as we've heard

this morning from two of the three witnesses, is an adequate place,

as long as it's managed in a competent manner. Admiral Watkins
has opposed that idea. It's not, in my mind, important, at all,

where functions and functionalities go. What is important is what
is done, and the specifics and costs of individual programs. I think

DOD is perfectly good and sound place to put the weapons func-

tions.

Now, when you do that, you cross over the line of separation of

powers, under the Atomic Energy Act. We can't have the military

—

the civilian versus military control of nuclear weapons. That idea

was prevalent not only in the weapons program, but in the naval

nuclear propulsion program, dual responsibility. I think we're long

past the stage of needing to debate those abstractions. I think

these functions can, and perhaps should, go to the Defense Depart-

ment.
Mrs. Maloney. The Times today had a ringing endorsement on

the National Institute of Health, and what their research had given

to the country, and arguing that the cut from $35 billion to $25 bil-

lion was too extreme, and one of the reasons we're such a great

country is our research. And I assume you could say the same
thing about our defense and about our labs. And there is a possibil-

ity, and I'd like to ask Ms. Fitzpatrick, that the market privatiza-

tion may not work.
Private market may not support the research of these labs that

have helped make us such a great country in so many areas. And
you may say it's not important where a lab is established, but
where it moves in government, its existence may be threatened in

the future if it's not set in a way that it will be protected within

the budget. So it is a legitimate question to try to figure out, if

something is deemed to be vital to the country, which a number of

you have testified, that it be placed in a way that it is not threat-

ened in the future.

And I'd like to hear Ms. Fitzpatrick's comments on the future of

the labs. I have a feeling that it would be very hard to get private

sector support for the research, as it is in health. It's a high risk

gamble, and yet it is what has given us the edge in so many ways.

And I'd like your comments on that and your thoughts.

Ms. Fitzpatrick. I would agree that there is—as I've already

stated, there are kinds of research which are appropriate for the

Federal Government to support. And I think what's important is to

clearly define the mission of the agency, whichever agency ends up
responsible for the national laboratories. My preference would be
that it not be the Department of Defense, for many of the reasons

that Secretary Watkins has already mentioned; but also because of

this point I'm making about the importance of the weapons labora-

26-805 - 96 - 4



94

tones maintaining interests and capabilities beyond simply main-
taining nuclear weapons.
And the reason is that I think it wall not be possible to attract

the kind of people that you want if they're simply in a program
where they're maintaining a stockpile. As challenging, and I think,
poorly understood, as many of the issues are, in maintaining the
stockpile, they have, in order to do that, developed many skills and
facilities that are also applicable in commercial products, and that
industry can come to and learn from them about.
So I would like to see, I think, a sub-Cabinet independent agen-

cy, charged with the nuclear weapons stockpile maintenance; also
with the basic science which now goes on at the national labora-
tories, including the non-weapons labs, and with the capability of
maintaining a multi-program approach, which supports and is com-
patible with nuclear weapons safety.

Mrs. Maloney. Secretary Brewer, I was impressed, or really,

shocked somewhat with your comments on the mismanagement of
the clean up program; that they are literally building buildings for

supplies that don't exist for future clean up. It sounds horrific. But
my time is about to expire, and so I wanted to ask one question.
Wny don't we approach the problem of the clean up by, at the be-
ginning of the contract with private industry, having built into the
contract the cost of the clean up?
You stated that a lot of times we don't—of course, this would not

be retroactive. But for future weapons developments or whatever
that have toxic waste residue, have it built into the contract that
they not only will give us the estimate of how much it will cost,

but the estimate of how much it will cost to clean it up. Last year,

as Chairman Horn knows, we had a hearing on the cost of clean
up. And it is billions, multi-billions of dollars.

It's estimated $50 billion this year, and then on the next site, it's

another $150 billion. And you were more or less, in your testimony,
saying that there is little thought on this clean up process. Why
don't we have a very Republican idea—the private sector part of

the partnership of planning not onlv what it is we're going to build,

but what we're going to clean up. And I think it would be, I think,

good management to build into our Energy contracts or Defense
contracts not only the cost of producing the product, but cleaning
up the environmental damage.
And I'd like your comments on that, and how we could better

handle the clean up program. What you outlined is a disaster, in

your testimony.
Mr. Brewer. I agree, Mrs. Maloney, that these factors should be

built into future contracts with the weapons production program;
that it should be cradle to grave. We should know what the cost

is going to be. We should hold contractors accountable. Now, what
we ve been talking about in this new program is the clean up of ac-

tivities that have occurred over the last 50 years.

Mrs. Maloney. Yet they continue every year, the problems, as I

understand it.

Mr. Brewer. Most of the production of weapons material has
ceased. And a lot of the weapons research has been terminated be-

cause of the disarmament treaties. But one of the problems that we
have today, or the department has today, are that it's a spending
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fly wheel. There is no incentive for M&O contractors to not spend
more money. Their fee is based on the total volume of money going
into these various sites.

And so they just kind of settle in for a good old round at the Fed-
eral trough. And we need to privatize those tasks, not leave them
to what is essentially an extension of the Federal Government—the
laboratories and the M&O contractors. And that, the department
has not faced up to. The problems at Hanford are just outrageous.

Mrs. Maloney. Why could not government have certain guide-
lines of how it's supposed to be cleaned up? I don't see that privat-

ization is always the answer.
Mr. Brewer. They're driving without an idea of what it is that

they want to do. They don't have standards of clean up. You heard
Admiral Watkins this morning give the asparagus story. I've heard
that several times, and it's very pungent. It's a moving target. The
contracts that are being negotiated now between the DOE and the
States are totally an open-ended commitment by the U.S. Federal
Government, which could cost trillions—not billions, but trillions;

numbers of the order of magnitude of the current national debt.

Mr. Horn. Let me ask you right there, now, first I'd like you to

define, for the average reader of this transcript, M&O contractors.

Mr. Brewer. Management and operating contractors.

Mr. Horn. All right. Now, how are those set up? Were they on
a competitive bid basis?
Mr. Brewer. Yes, sir. Each site and laboratory generally is free

competed. Savannah River, Hanford, and companies like Martin
Marietta, Westinghouse, bid on those contracts.

Mr. Horn. Did we just give them open-ended percent from the
beginning, without anv fixed cost ceiling? And if so, was that con-

fressionally mandated, or was that a regulation the Department
id under some vague euphemism passed by Congress?
Mr. Brewer. The latter. Part of the problem, Mr. Horn, with this

clutter that we see in the Department of Energy—the lack of mis-
sion and the lack of objectives and definable, quantifiable tasks
that we must have in running a private business—is the clutter of

the multiplicity of congressional committees that oversee. And each
authorizing committee has a set of interests, different from others.

And then the appropriations structure is very confusing. If you look

at the budget, a layman cannot understand it.

Mr. Horn. Neither can some of the experts. I yield 5 minutes to

the gentleman from Virginia, Mr. Davis.
Mr. Davis. I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I don't want to break your

train of thought.
Mr. Horn. We'll get back to it.

Mr. Davis. Just a couple of questions. Let me ask Ms.
Fitzpatrick, in terms of the labs, they are undergoing a change in

terms of the type of tasking they're getting. Do we need the same
number of labs? Could we use the same level? I think there's cer-

tainly a need to keep them going, but do you need the same level

that you've had before?
Ms. Fitzpatrick. Well, that's the problem. It might be hard to

eliminate any laboratory. I think you can reduce what goes on at

many of them, especially if you reduce a lot of the applied research
that s now being funded by the departments. But as I mentioned.
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each one of them has facilities that are hard to move; they're not
easily consolidated. You cannot move a particle accelerator, for ex-

ample, from Brookhaven to Tennessee.
So it's hard to say that any laboratory should be simply abol-

ished. Perhaps laboratories could be privatized—some of them put
under a university consortium or something like that. They have
user facilities which are not going to be funded by anybody else,

and have proved to be very useful to industry and have also been
very useful to our basic understanding of science, how the world
works. And I think that those are valuable and appropriate for

Federal funding, with industry participation.

So I can't tell you any particular laboratory that I think that we
should simply abolish.

Mr. Davis. Let me ask this, the Interior Department has jurisdic-

tion over the Bureau of Land Management, which handles oil and
gas mineral leasing; the Minerals Management Service, which su-

pervises the exploration and development of gas, oil and other min-
erals in the outer continental shelf; the U.S. Greological Survey,
which is headquartered in my district, which conducts research and
provides basic scientific data concerning natural hazards and envi-

ronmental issues, as well as the water, land and resources of the

country.
Does the Department of Energy or the Department of Interior

have greater influence upon energy supply and production?
Ms. FrrzPATRlCK. Oh, I think the Department of Interior does.

Mr. Davis. Yes, you both would ag^ee with that. And if that's so,

then you think, under the circumstances, that it makes more sense
to consider whether the transfer of the energy functions should go
to Interior?

Ms. FrrzPATRlCK. Well, the energy functions are varied in the de-

partment. For the Power Marketing Administrations, I would tend
to privatize those. I would sell them to their customers, basically.

So those don't have to go to the Interior Department. The oil and
gas reserves that are owned by the Department of Energy, the
naval petroleum reserves, for example, I also think could be
privatized. Those are very well-defined, localized assets.

The same with the strategic petroleum reserve. So I'm not so

sure that anything, very much, really has to be transferred to the
Department of Interior.

Mr. Davis. OK.
Mr. Brewer. I agree. Congressman. I think before you transfer

anything or move boxes around on paper, that the Congress should
define scope and cost. There's a tendency to reorganize every time
there's a national emergency. We have the proliferation of another
Cabinet department and 10 more congressional committees to over-

see it. I think rather than—you should do things sequentially.

First of all, adjust the scope of the Department of Energy while
it's all in one place and visible. And then, an only then, decide
where the pieces and parts go. If you do it the other way around,
the pieces and parts will be scattered to the wind, and you will

never, ever, ever, find the money. I mean, it will disappear. The
$18 billion will disappear; it will become $25 billion.

Mr. Davis. OK, thank you. I yield back.
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Mr. Horn. Thank you very much. Let me pursue the clean up
responsibiHties. We've heard some say they ought to go to the De-
partment of Defense. We've heard others say, as Secretary Perry

says, I don't want the waste responsibilities. We all know that with

surplus military bases all over the Nation, that no private party or

even public entity in their right mind, collectively or individually,

would ever want to establish some economic venture on these bases

as long as they have problems of clean up.

Because they can see lawsuits flying right and left from a rather

hungry tort bar, hopefully to make the ultimate killing and retire

on tne beach somewhere. So we face a major problem in how do

you get focus on clean up. What are your suggestions as to what
part of the clean up responsibility should be with the energy relat-

ed agencies, as opposed to the environmental protection related

agencies, as opposed to the agency that's disposing of the particular

responsibility?

With the bases, it's the Department of Defense. With the Han-
ford and other reactors, it would be other nuclear weapons facili-

ties, it would be the Department of Energy; and so on, around the

government. How do you see us getting some sense out of this area

so v/e can get the job done, and not just spend more money on legal

fees, which is what we can easily say about the Superfund. Most
of the money has gone to litigation, and less of the money has gone
to clean up.
Ms. FrrzPATRlCK. Well, Mr. Horn, as a former practicing attor-

ney, I wish I could tell you there is an answer to the litigation

problem. And we will always have lawyers, and I think the best

thing that the Congress can do is to carefully review the legislation

that exists, the statutes that exist, under which these clean ups are

being done.
As Mr. Brewer mentioned, a lot of them are being done under

agreements with the States which are, in effect, consent decrees

that the department had to—the Federal Government, through the

department—^had to accept because the States were only insisting

that Federal statutes be met. And those Federal statutes either

have unreasonable standards in them, which require you, in effect,

to remove anything that you can find, whether it poses a risk to

anyone or not; or they fail to actually set standards.

And then it's a free-for-all, or a regulatory agency has stepped in

to fill the gap with something that is really unreasonable. So I

think the Congress has to go back to things like RICRA and
CIRCLA, and look at the environmental standards which have
been imposed; correct those to be reasonable and risk-based, and
not simply declarations that if uranium is in a field, no matter how
little and how many tons of dirt the child would have to eat in

order to be harmed by it, it has to go.

We really are working under unreasonable standards. I'm not

sure what can be done about these what are really legal contracts

and consent decrees that the department is now operating under.

I don't know that there's a legal mechanism for undoing those.

They are contracts between the States and the Federal Govern-
ment. It's a very difficult knot. But I think it needs serious exam-
ination, because, as we've already heard, it's a bleeding wound, and
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actually doing nothing for the public—the taxpayer is paying for it

and getting nothing back.
Mr. Horn. Mr. Brewer, do you want to comment on that?
Mr. Brewer. I think to answer the specific question you asked,

where should the clean up program go? I think it should go wher-
ever the production program goes. If that's the Department of De-
fense, so be it. Where it should not go, in my opinion, is the Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency, which is a regulatory arm. And they,

too, are doing research and development on clean up methodologies
and so forth, entirely duplicative of what's going on in DOE and
so forth.

I would separate it from EPA. I would zero out the EPA R&D
programs, and move the clean up program, along with the weapons
production function.

Ms. FrrzPATRlCK. I would second that, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. Very good. I yield to the ranking member, Ms.

Maloney, 5 minutes.
Mrs. Maloney. How much are we spending on clean up now?
Mr. Brewer. The department is spending—that's a good ques-

tion. It takes a Philadelphia lawyer to understand this budget. But
there's $6 billion being requested by the Department of Energy for

weapons research production and activities for those sites at Han-
ford, Savannah River, et cetera. In addition to that, all throughout
the budget here, even in the Energy R&D spreadsheet here, there
is another billion or two on environmental activities. There's also

medical—I'm sorry, biological research and development.
If you strip all of that away from the Energy R&D budget, the

only Energy R&D that's getting done is about $1.6 billion, out of

$18 billion. That should tell you something. But throughout this

budget, to answer your question, there are environmental line en-

tries, line items. The specific about requested by the budget for

clean up and restoration of defense related sites is $6 billion.

Mrs. Maloney. OK If we were to follow your suggestion and pri-

vatize it, we would have a set amount of money that we were
spending, a set goal, a guideline. Why can't we do that now, under
the Federal Government, under the department with the trained
personnel that we have? And second, in consent decrees, don't they
have a limit on how much is to be spent with the decision? Or is

it a total open-ended process?
Ms. FiTZPATRlCK. My understanding is that there are, I think,

several dozen of these agreements between the States and the De-
partment. My understanding is some of them, even most of them,
are simply, you will achieve a certain standard. And it does not
have a cost limitation on it. But those standards turn out to be ei-

ther unreasonable or unachievable.
I think we're not talking about privatizing the clean up, we're

saying
Mrs. Maloney. I believe Mr. Brewer was. Did you mention you

thought it should be privatized?
Mr. Brewer. I think, rather than go the route of tasking the

management and operating contractors with these tasks, we should
have private industry come in with fixed price contracts to perform
the clean up. Otherwise, it becomes another fiy wheel. The work
never gets done. We continue to build office buildings to house peo-
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pie that are going to try to plan this program, rather than actually

getting at it. That's what I mean.
Mrs. Maloney. Going back to your original testimony, where you

said the real goal is to save money and to reduce the deficit. Yet
in 1980's, both the CBO and GAO indicated that abolishing the de-

partment would save only a few million dollars. And that's when
President Reagan backed off of this policy decision.

Mr. Brewer. I'm sorry, I don't remember that.

Mrs. Maloney. That was a written report that came out in the
1980's. What I think, Mr. Chairman, would be helpful is if we got

a bottom line on exactly how much we'd save. Maybe we should ask
the CBO to do another look at the Department of Energy, so that
we know whether or not we will in fact be saving any money, since

some of these services, some of these responsibilities, many of the
former Secretaries have testified, they feel are vital.

Mr. Horn. Let's ask the majority and the minority staffs to work
together and see if we can get an answer from both the Congres-
sional Budget Office and the General Accounting Office, and any
other hopeful spirits that might be around and have some sub-
stance to contribute to the answer.
Mrs. Maloney. And Mr. Chairman, I think it would be helpful

if we ask GAO to do a review on the clean up and why it is so mis-
managed. What Mr. Brewer is saying is just, to me, almost a scan-
dal; that it's just totally out of control, and building buildings to

study what you're going to do in the future. And I feel that maybe
we should have some independent body look at how we could better
achieve clean up and manage taxpayers' dollars better.

Mr. Horn. I think it's a good suggestion. I read in the paper
where $15 billion has been lost in the Pentagon, that nobody can
seem to account for. I think it would be worthy if the Greneral Ac-
counting Office, which is supposed to be the arm of Congress to

prevent such things, or at least find them, ahead of the press and
the agency. I think it would be commendable if they could work on
the point that the ranking m.ember states, about the clean up costs

and what's happened and what's being done. Yes, Mr. Brewer.
Mr. Brewer. Mr. Chairman, one of the things that I think can

be done in this area is to seek out innovative technology by entre-

preneurs, people who have developed technologies and own it. And
in that regard, I would like, with your permission, to enter in the
record, a paper written by Michael Dunn, who is such an entre-

preneur, and who has had a pretty bad experience with the Depart-
ment of Energy.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dunn follows:]

Prepared Statement of Michael J. Dunn, President, Selective
Environmental Technologies, Inc.

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, thank you for asking me to partici-

pate in this review of the Department of Energy. I appreciate the opportunity to

provide input, and hope that my testimony today will benefit this subcommittee as
it seeks to improve government operations.

I am president of a small entrepreneurial business that develops technology for

waste treatment and environmental clean-up. My company has been in business
since 1989. We have developed three technologies that treat soil and water contami-
nated with heavy metals, radionuclides and nitrates. We have extensive experience
with the US government, in particular the Department of Energy, and my testimony
will deal with several of our experiences, both frustrating and encouraging.
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First, I would like to review the events of a procurement action at the Hanford
site that began in 1993. Westinghouse Hanford Company (WHC) issued a Request
for Proposals (RFP) for demonstration of technology to treat uranium and copper
contaminated soil at the 300 Area of the Hanford site. The procurement action was
to select two companies, based on lowest total cost to meet tne specification require-
ments. The two companies would demonstrate their technologies and the company
with the most effective demonstration could get a follow-on contract to treat

1,000,000 cubic yards of soil.

The specification required that the base technology be soil washing. Soil washing
is a metnod to separate large soil particles from small soil particles. The reason soil

washing was specified is that most of the contamination is captured on the surface
of the soil particles. Since small particles have more surface area per pound of soil

than large particles, most of the contamination is found on the small particles. By
removing the small particles from the volume of soil, most of the contamination can
be recovered. The specification required that as a minimum, 70% of the soil be re-

turned as "clean" soil (i.e., 30% of the soil be removed as waste), with 80% desirable,

and 90% considered excellent performance. The specification allowed the use of non-
hazardous chemical treatment, if that would enhance overall performance. WHC
specified that the waste disposal cost, for contaminated soil, was $8,000 per cubic
yard of soil, and would be factored into the total evaluation.

Mv company teamed with Waste Management Environmental Services, Inc.,

(WMES) a subsidiary of WMX Technologies of Chicago, Illinois. We offered a com-
bination of soil washing and Selentec's ACT*DE*CON»'" technology. The soil wash-
ing would be used to separate the soil by size fractions, and the ACT*DE*CON"°
would be used to chemically dissolve the uranium and copper from the small soil

particles. With this approach, the small soil particles would be resumed as "clean"
soil, and the onlv waste produced would be tne chemical solutions used to dissolve

the uranium ana copper from the soil. This not only significantly reduced the waste
volume from 10 to 20% of the soil treated to less than 1%, but also reduced the
amount of uranium and copper resumed to the site, because we were treating a larg-

er percentage of the soil than otherwise treated by soil washing alone. Based on the
1,000,000 cubic yards to be treated, and comparing the desired level of 80% "clean"

soil for soil washing (i.e., 20% waste); and greater than 99% "clean" soil for

ACT*DE*CON"" (i.e., less than 1% waste), the difference in waste disposal costs for

the technologies is $1.6 billion (for soil washing) vs. $80 million (for soil washing
with ACT*DE*CON'™), or a net difference in waste disposal costs of $1.5 billion.

Also, the 300 Area site contains a total of 5,300,000 cubic yards of contaminated
soil. Projecting these cost differences to the total site clean-up results in a differen-

tial cost of more than $8 billion.

An affiliate ofWHC (Scientific Ecology Group [SEC]) submitted a proposal for this

contract, and WHC fumed over the bid evaluation to Battelle Pacific Northwest Lab-
oratory (PNL) to avoid a potential conflict of interest. PNL selected Morrison-Knud-
sen and WMES as the two companies to perform the demonstrations. SEG and an-

other small company protested the awards, claiming they did not understand that

non-hazardous chemicals could be used in treatment. WHC responded to the protest

stating that the specification was clear on the use of chemicals, but that it was in

the government's best interest to cancel the procurement and rebid the work. WHC
canceled the procurement, and because they could not issue a new contract fast

enou^ to meet the testing milestones committed to with the state, WHC internal-

ized the initial soil washing tests. Ultimately, WHC failed to meet the test milestone

date, and was fined by the state. They also issued a new RFP which prohibited the
use of non-hazardous chemicals in treatment.
WHC performed the initial soil washing tests using a test rig that they obtained

from EPA. In the process of testing, they achieved just under 90% "clean" soil. They
also created wastes that they were unable to process, and which were stored on-

site over the Winter. In the Spring, they added chemicals to the waste in the tanks,

and were able to treat the waste. Also, they ultimately issued a contract to Alter-

native Remedial Technologies, Inc. (ART) for a soil washing demonstration. ART
performed the testing, but was required to use chemical treatment to obtain eflec-

tive soil washing. They used a surfactant to help separate the small soil particles

from the large soil particles. Performing soil washing without a surfactant is like

trying to wasn your laundry without soap. WHC should have known this, and ulti-

mately selected the chemicals that could be used, not based on treatment effective-

ness, but based on some other "unknown" criteria.

I have provided all of this information, and more to the GAO, and RuthAnn Hijazi

of the San Francisco GAO office has confirmed the accuracy of all my statements.
As a taxpayer and company president, I find this situation nothing less than ap-

palling. WHC has acted to increase the cost of this project by potentially as much
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as $8 billion. Even with their testing reaching 90% efficiency, the coat increase in

$4 billion. They are making decisions regarding the methodology for this project,

and yet they have a clear conflict of interest. If more waste is generated, WHC proc-

esses that waste, and charges the Department of Energy (and therefore the tax-

payers) for the work that they have decided to give themselves. I believe that this

18 a clear example where change is needed. I made numerous attempts to meet with
the DOE Richland Office Manager, but on every occasion, his office refused to con-

firm a meeting.
With regard to government competing with the private sector, I have spoken with

many individuals who have experienced competition from the National Laboratories
or DOE site contractors. Although I have no direct experience of this with DOE, I

can confirm that the government does use taxpayer dollars to compete with the pri-

vate sector, am confident that it occurs within DOE as well as other agencies. As
an example of government competition with the private sector that does involve my
company, I have confirmed that NASA has used taxpayer money to develop a tech-

nology that is essentially identical to a technology tnat my company has patented.

The technology selectively removes contamination from water, leaving non-hazard-
ous minerals unaffected. At the time that NASA was developing this technology,

Selentec was under contract to DOE to demonstrate the technology. Apparently, all

the data and information developed by NASA is unavailable, since they can not com-
mercialize the technology.

In a similar situation, I have been contacted by the Bureau of Mines (BOM) to

obtain information about our ACT*DE*CON"" patent. BOM has developed a tech-

nology that appears to be identical to ACT*DE*CON"" and they contacted me to de-

termine if there were sufficient differences between their technology and
ACT*DE*CON"", or if they could make changes to their technology, such that they
could file their patent application without infringing on the ACT*DE*CON"" patent.
BOM was developing this technology while Selentec was under contract to the gov-

ernment to demonstrate its technology. As a small businessman investing private

capital to develop technology and create jobs, I find it unthinkable that my own gov-
ernment is competing with my company. Again, I have no direct experience of this

nature with DOE, but I am aware through others, that similar situations exist with-
in DOE.

Finally, in my list of frustrating examples of government actions, I refer to the
Hanford Tank operations. The Hanford Tanks are the single biggest clean-up effort

in DOE. It has oeen estimated that the cost to treat the contents of the tanKs will

exceed $50 billion. This project is considered to be larger than the Apollo Space Mis-
sion. The tank proiect is currently managed by the site Maintenance and Operations
contractor, WHC. WHO was selected for it capabilities in maintaining and operating
ec^uipment, not for its chemical process capabilities. This is evidenced by one of the
criteria set by WHC regarding tne treatment methods for the tanks.

There are 141 tanks, containing a variety of chemical constituents. The tanks are

not all the same chemically, in tact, there are some very significant differences in

tank chemistry. The tanks contain about 1% high level waste material, and about
99% low level waste material, if they can be separated. Since high level waste dis-

posal costs much more than low level waste disposal, significant savings can be
achieved if the two wastes can be separated. WHC has set as a criteria that the

chemical treatment process to be used to treat the tank wastes must be a SINGLE
process, it must treat ALL tank wastes, and it must dissolve ONLY the high level

waste. Most everyone that I have discussed these criteria with share the same con-

clusion. The criteria are unrealistic and will yield an never-ending research pro-

gram. My company has performed testing on Hanford sludge materials. Our con-

tract has recently been modified to transfer the focus of testing from Hanford
sludges to Oak Ridge and Savannah River Site sludges, because there is more likeli-

hoodof success (i.e., implementation) at these other sites..

In closing, I would lixe to end on a positive note. I want to speak briefly to the

interaction that mv company has had with the Office of Technology Development
(OTD), within the Environmental Management Office of the DOE. It is my experi-

ence that OTD has worked with small business to find innovative technologies and
capabilities that exist in the private sector and that can be applied to the DOE envi-

ronmental clean-up mission. My company has several patented technologies that
OTD has selected for demonstration projects on the basis that, if successful, these
technologies will allow certain clean-ups to be performed faster, better and cheaper.
OTD has worked with small business to protect their intellectual property ana to

enhance the utilization of the small business technologies. The focus nas been to uti-

lize the private sector, not to compete with it or to stifle it. There are many small
businesses that have contributed to DOE's technology needs, as a result of OTD. I

encourage the continued support of OTD for the identification, test and demonstra-
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tion of new innovative technologies that can reduce the coat of the DOE clean-up
and enhance private sector growth and job creation. I believe that it is the private
sector, not government agencies, that will successfully commercialize technologies
and lead to US expansion into the global market. I would hope that government will

be managed to enhance private sector growth, not compete with it or stifle it.

Based on my experience, I have several recommendations specific to DOE:
1. Make DOE accountable for the activities on-site and force DOE to manage the

site contractors.
2. Impose conflict of interest provisions on the site contractors.
3. Maximize the use of privatization in the DOE clean-up pro-am.
4. Impose limitations on DOE and other government agencies and departments

that limit their ability to use taxpayer dollars to compete with the private sector.

5. Separate the Hanford Tank program from the Hanford site management con-
tract, and force it to be managed as a special project, much like the Navy Nuclear
program or the Apollo program.

Mr. Horn. Without objection, that will be entered into the
record. I might say, I'm informed by staff that the Greneral Ac-
counting Office is completing a general management review of En-
ergy, and it will be out in June. And I would ask majority and mi-
nority staff, you might sit down with the staff on that study, and
see if some of these questions can be solved in that particular re-

port. Does the ranking member have any other questions?
Mrs. Maloney. Well, I have a lot of questions, but I'll submit

them in writing, because we have a full day today, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. I thank the gentlewoman. There are no other ques-

tions on our side. I'd like to ask you if there's anything that we've
missed, and that you'd like to get on the public record. We have
your excellent statements, both of you. I've had a chance to read
them; they're very thorough.
Mrs. Maloney. And may I add my statement to the record?

Thank you.
Mr. Horn. Without objection, the opening statement of the rank-

ing minority member will be put earlier in the record, where the
other opening statements are, right after mine. So if you'd like to

sum-up, here, if you think we're missing something, please do.

Ms. FiTZPATRlCK. No, Mr. Chairman, I think the committee is

doing a very commendable job. Thank you.
Mr. Horn. Well, I hope we justify your faith.

Mr. Brewer. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Horn. Let me just say, I wish to thank all of the witnesses
this morning for testifying regarding the Department of Energy.
This subcommittee will recess until 1:10 p.m., and we will recon-

vene and receive the testimony concerning the Department of Edu-
cation.

[Whereupon, the hearing was recessed to luncheon, subject to the

call of the Chair, to reconvene at 1:10 p.m.]

Mr. Horn. The subcommittee ends its recess, and we continue
the hearing begun this morning. If the witnesses would rise, I can
swear you in.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. Horn. The quorum is present, and during this afternoon ses-

sion we're asking various experts on the Department of Education
the same types of questions we've been asking the Department of

Commerce and the Department of Energy. The question is, if it was
to come about today, would we create a Department of Education?
Would we take some of the existing functions and put them in

other agencies? Would we merge the functions of the Department
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as a whole with other Cabinet departments, such as the Depart-

ment of Labor.
I beheve the Gunderson proposal talks about a Department of

Human Resources. Or would we simply eliminate it and leave the

matter to the States? These are some of the questions that will be
discussed not only by this oversight committee, but by the author-

ization committees, the appropriation subcommittees in both the

House and the Senate during this particular Congress. So we wel-

come both of you today as witnesses.

The committee rules are that we'll put your full statement in the

record; and then we'll have 5 minutes for each of you to summa-
rize; and then we will alternate between sides, asking questions in

5-minute segments, and try to pick your brains and get the wisdom
that your experience will bring to us. We'll start with Marshall
Smith, the current Under Secretary of Education. Welcome, Mr.
Smith.

STATEMENT OF MARSHALL S. SMITH, UNDER SECRETARY FOR
EDUCATION

Mr. Smith. Thank you. Chairman Horn, Representative Maloney.
I would like to take this opportunity to do three things. One, speak
to the record of the Department; two, discuss the changes we are
making to serve the American people more effectively; and three,

talk about the future of the Department.
The Federal Government has a particular obligation to under-

take activities that are clearly national in scope. For over 130
years, the Federal Government has had a limited but very impor-
tant role in supporting and encouraging the advancement of Amer-
ican education; a role that today, more than ever, is in the national

interest. People with more education are more likely to get good
jobs. They're more likely to vote, and less likely to be on welfare.

They tend to live more satisfying lives, and to contribute to their

communities.
Federal involvement in education supports our democracy and

our economy. This is not just a State and local interest; this is a
national interest. In pursuing the national interest, the U.S. De-
partment of Education acts in partnership to support and encour-

age States, districts and schools, et cetera. Education, however, re-

mains a State and local responsibility. The public appears to sup-

port this limited mission.

In a poll released just last week, over three-fourths of the public,

77 percent, opposed eliminating the U.S. Department of Education
to cut the deficit. The same percentage, 77 percent, reject cuts to

student loans and other programs to reduce Federal spending.

What does the Department do? I will give five examples. First,

we provide about 60 percent of the Nation's student aid, helping
6.4 million students every year attend college.

Second, through the Title I program, we direct $7 billion each
year to more than 6 million children, in our highest poverty

schools, to strengthen the teaching of basic and advanced skills.

Between 1960 and the late 1980's, the achievement of children

from disadvantaged communities and from these schools rose, clos-

ing the performance gap between disadvantaged students and their
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more advantaged peers by one-third to one-half—at least in part,

due to Federal efforts.

Third, we provide nearly $3 billion to help communities meet the
needs of over 5 million disabled children and youth; to prepare
them for independent living, further education and employment.

Fourth, through education evaluation, dissemination and tech-

nical assistance, the Department helps people identify what works
in improving schools and children's performance in areas such as
technology in the schools.

Fifth, we provide a national voice for education, a voice for excel-

lence and progress. For example, every single Department Sec-
retary, Republican and Democrat, has spoken out strongly for high-
er standards for student achievement, and has encouraged edu-
cation reform. But, you might ask, what effect has the Department
had over the last 15 years? While we cannot attribute a direct

cause and effect relationship, I am encouraged by the progress
American education has made since the Department was created in

1980.
While the U.S. education system can certainly do better, there

have been lots of success stories; education has turned the corner.

First, students are taking tougher courses. Chart two, in the back
of the written testimony, sets out the dramatic differences in

course-taking between 1982 and 1992. Second, participation in the
Advanced Placement program has increased dramatically; that's in

Chart three—again, very dramatically.
Third, student achievement is up, contrary to a lot of other re-

ports, particularly in math and science, but also in reading. Fourth,
dropout rates have declined. Fifth, post-secondary enrollment and
attainment have increased to record levels. For those who are sur-

prised by these facts, I would point out that American business and
American workers have regained their status as the most produc-
tive in the world—an impossible accomplishment without an edu-
cated workforce.

Indeed, in this century, education increases in the workforce
have accounted for almost one-third of the growth in the Nation's
wealth. We have a long way to go, but we must be proud of our
Nation's schools, public and private.

As for the Department itself, we are a small department with low
administrative costs. And we plan on getting smaller and more ef-

fective. With about 5,000 FTE, we have already a significantly

smaller staff than the 7,700 employed in 1979 by HEW and six re-

lated agencies to administer the same education programs we do
now.
Our administrative costs account for only 2 percent of the budg-

et. We have the smallest ratio of employees to total budget in the
government—one employee for every $6 million in our budget,
funds that provide services for State schools and students. Fourth,
we plan on reducing our staff even further, to less than 4,700 FTE.
Now I'd like to give you a sense about what we're doing to im-

prove our management. We have used strategic planning, consist-

ent with the Government Performance and Results Act, to guide
our efforts. First, we are streamlining our programs to save tax-

payers money—a total of at least $16.7 billion by the year 2000.
Overall, in our fiscal year 95 and 96 budgets, we have proposed
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eliminating 59 education programs and consolidating 27 others.

This reduces the number of programs by over one-third, for a sav-

ings of $4.6 billion by the year 2000.

We will shortly propose further reductions in the number of pro-

grams. In the student loan program, over the next 5 years, we will

save $12 billion, through accelerating the Direct Loan program to

100 percent of new loan volume. We have decreased the student
aid default rate from a peak of 22 percent to 15 percent, and we
intend to keep driving it down further. We've also increased our
student loan collection efforts, cutting in half costs of defaulted
loans to the taxpayers.

Second, we are cutting regulations, as part of President Clinton's

Regulatory Reinvention Initiative, under the Vice President's lead-

ership. Today, we eliminated 88 of those regulations, 399 pages in

all; that's 30 percent of our total regulations. We will shortly be an-
nouncing dozens of other regulations targeted for elimination and
reinvention and simplification. Third, we are providing more flexi-

bility to States, districts, schools and families, through waivers ad-
ministered by both States and the Federal Government.

Finally, I would like to speak about the future of the Department
itself. The U.S. Department of Education has a limited but crucial

role. We are a national voice for education, a partner in State and
local reform efforts, a provider of access for over 6 million post-sec-

ondary students, and a leader in addressing areas of national con-

cern. A number of people in Congress and elsewhere advocate abol-

ishing the Department, and sending its programs to a variety of

other agencies, or merging it with another department.
These moves would save little, if any, money in administrative

costs—^recall the 2 percent administrative costs—and may end up
costing more, through duplicated uncoordinated efforts if programs
are split or scattered, or an increased bureaucracy if a merger
takes place. Moreover, for States, local governments, post-second-

ary institutions and other customers, these proposals would cause
confusion, leaving them uncertain about where to go for informa-
tion and assistance, or else swamping them in a newly created
mega-bureaucracy.

Finally, any of the proposed changes would send the signal that
the United States is turning its back on education at a critical time
in its history. To quote Secretary Riley, "It is clear that the future
strength of our Nation lies in the education of our citizens, and in

how well prepared they are to meet the challenges of the 21st cen-

tury." This is not the time to walk away from our children and
their education. Thank you. I'll be happy to answer any questions
you may have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Smith follows:]

Prepared Statement of Marshall S. Smith, Under Secretary for Education

The U.S. Department of Education: Working for Learning

Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today on the role of the U.S.
Department of Education, its mission of ensuring equal access to education and pro-

moting educational excellence, and the transformation it is undergoing to carry out
its mission and serve the American people more effectively.
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THE FEDERAL CONTRIBUTION TO EDUCATION

Serving the National Interest in Education

The federal government has had a limited but very important role in education
for over 130 years. This role started with federal support for the land grant college

system in 1862 and expanded afler World War II through such measures as the Gl
Bill, the National Defense Education Act, Head Start, and postsecondary student
aid. Federal involvement in education supports America in sustaining an informed,
involved citizenry and in developing the educated workforce we need to compete in

a global economy. People with more education are more likely to vote; they tend to

live more satisfying lives and to contribute to their communities.
Likewise the U.S. Department of Education has a limited but very important

role—a role that citizens of this country recognize and espouse. Indeed, recent polls

show the public's strong support for the Department.
• When asked how necessary they think the federal Department of Education

is, fully 80 percent of respondents said that the Department is necessary; 70
percent believe it is "very necessary" (NBC/ Wall Street Journal, January 1995).

• In a poll released just last week, over three-fourths of the public (77 per-
cent) oppose eliminating the U.S. Department of Education to cut the deficit.

Public opposition to eliminating the Department was indeed hidier than opposi-
tion to reducing cost of living adjustments in Social Security. The same percent-
age (77 percent) reject cuts to student loans and other education programs to

reduce federal spending (Time/CNN, May 1995) (Chart 1).

The U.S. Department of^Education addresses five areas of critical national con-
cern:

1. Increasing Access to Postsecondary Education

As college becomes more and more expensive for average Americans, the Depart-
ment provides 70 percent of all student aid, about $32.5 billion, to give students
greater access to postsecondary education—the best system in the world. Pell

Grants assist 4 million low income students; student loans help 6.5 million low and
middle income students; and Federal Work Study provides aid to 700,000 students
each year.

2. Helping States, Communities, and Schools Raise Academic Achievement and Meet
the Needs of Their Students

The Department delivers almost $15.4 billion to states and school districts to as-

sist local elementary and secondary schools in providing a solid education to all chil-

dren. The Goals 2000 Educate America Act (endorsed by every major business, par-

ent, and educational organization) supports community and state efforts to raise

student achievement to world class levels. The Title I program directs about $7 bil-

lion to more than 6 million children who attend our highest poverty schools, to

strengthen the teaching of basic and advanced skills. These programs represent a

partnership between the U.S. Department of Education and the states in which we
provide incentives for school reform and states and communities set their own goals

and plans for improving student achievement. The Department spends nearly $3 bil-

lion to help communities meet the educational and developmental needs of over 5

million children and youths with disabilities. Additional support goes to help teach-
ers improve their skills, build public-private partnerships to get technology into the

classroom, and help schools become safe and drug free.

3. Facilitating the Transition from School to Work

The School-to-Work Opportunities Act provides seed money to help states and
local communities prepare youth for good careers and equip them to learn for a life-

time through partnersnips of schools, businesses, and community leaders. All states

received grants in 1994 to develop strategies to build School-to-Work systems that

meet the needs of their students and economies. By the fall of 1995, over half of

the states will have received one-time five-year grants to build these school-business
partnerships. The Department proposes to refocus the Perkins Act on helping pre-

pare more young people for good jobs out of high school and for further education.

4. A Clearinghouse of Good Ideas and a Catalyst for Improvement

In every state and community, educators and families are learning about efiective

ways of teaching and learning through Department-sponsored research, evaluation,

and technical assistance. The Department helps people identify what works and
learn about the most promising strategies for improving their schools and their chil-

dren's performance. Statistics on national trends and indicators of performance,
such as the National Assessment of Educational Progress, keep the focus on areas

of educational growth and on areas needing improvement. The Department is in-
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vesting in more eflective and efficient ways to share the good ideas through 1-800

numbers, e-mail, and the Internet. The Department responds to almost 1,000,000

information inquiries a year, providing 48-hour turnaround on answers.

5. A National Voice for Education

The U.S. Department of Education is a voice for excellence and progress, a voice

that speaks to the public at large as well as within the cabinet. The 1983 report

A Nation at Risk focused public attention on the centrality of education to America's

future as a world leader. All previous Education Secretaries, both Republican and
Democrat, have called for strong academic standards of the kind that the Goals

2000 Educate America Act now suppwrts at the local and state level. Most recently,

through the initiative of Secretary Riley, over 120 organizations have come together

in a "Tamily Education Partnership for Learning" to support the American family,

the foundation of a solid education. This initiative has been accomplished without

creating a single new program or spending additional funds. As an outgrowth of the

partnership, the Secrettiry has launched a reading and writing initiative, the kick-

ofT of which he announced yesterday to encourage parents, other adults, and older

students to read with younger children this summer.

Setting the Record Straight: American Education Has Improved

In the 15 years since the Department was created, it has contributed to positive

trends in American education by directing national attention to the imperative for

reform, by supporting state and local reform efforts, and more recently oy focusing

our programs on quality concerns, better student achievement and teaching. While

U.S. education can certainly do better, and in many places education is not improv-

ing fast enough, there have been a lot of success' stories since the 1980's, many as-

sisted by the U.S. Department of Education.
• Students are taking tourer courses. By 1992, the proportion of high school

graduates taking the core curriculum recommended in A Nation at Risk (4

years of English, 3 years of social studies, 3 years of science, 3 years of math)
had increased to 47 percent, up from 13 percent in 1982. The average number
of credits in these courses taken by seniors has also increased (Chart 2).

More high school students are taking worthwhile math and science instruc-

tion as a result of state, district, and school standard-setting, assessment, and
related activity. Raising standards has increased enrollments in core courses

such as mathematics and science without weakening course content or driving

up dropout rates, according to analysis of experience in various parts of the na-

tion and aggregate results. Recent reports indicate that the trend is continuing.

The New %rk Times (May 9, 1995) reports that tougher graduation require-

ments in New York City public schools are spurring thousands more high school

students to take and pass college-preparatory mathematics and science courses.

• Participation in the advanced placement (AP) program has increased dra-

matically. Since 1982, the number of participants has risen from 140,000 to

450,000, and the percentage of students participating has also increased sharp-

ly. Especially impressive is the growth in participation on the part of minority

students. In 1994, 28 percent of AP candidates were minority students, com-
pared to 13 percent in 1982 (Chart 3).

• Achievement is up, particularly in math and science. On the National As-

sessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), student performance has increased

since the 1980's in science and math. The trend in reading has generally shown
improvement (Chart 4). Results from national longitudinal studies show that

the math performance of high school sophomores improved between 1980 and

1990, consistent with tougher course-taking.
• Comprehensive school reforms in lea<fing-edge states are showing impres-

sive gains in student performance. For example in Kentucky, a state that has

overhauled its entire educational system, 4th, 8th, and 12th graders dem-
onstrated dramatic improvement on 1993-94 assessments over previous years'

tests in mathematics, reading, science, and social studies.

• On the SAT, participation is way up and scores have been rising over the

past decade. Participation by members of racial/ethnic minority groups in-

creased from 18 to 31 percent between 1982 and 1994. Math scores increased

across all race/ethnicity groups from 1982 to 1994. Scores increased by 22 points

for Asian American and African American students. Verbal scores increased for

all minority groups, including all groups of Hispanic students except Mexican

Americans, between 1982 and 1994, although they decreased slightly for white

students. (These trend results are unaffected by recent changes made to the

SAT program.)
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• Dropout rates have declined. Overall, the dropout rate for 16- to 24-year
olds declined from 14 percent in 1982 to 11 percent in 1993. Dropout rates de-
clined between 1982 and 1993 bv 4 percentage points for whites and 5 percent-
age points for blacks (although dropout rates for Hispanics remain high; (Chart
5).

• Postsecondary enrollment and attainment have increased to record levels.

Over the past decade, enrollment in postsecondary institutions has grown stead-
ily. The proportion of people ages 25 and over who have completed four or more
years of college increasea from 18 percent in 1982 to 22 percent in 1993. The
proportion of minority group members (ages 25 and over) who have completed
lour or more years of college increased from 12 percent in 1982 to 18 percent
in 1993.

For those who are surprised by these facts, I would further point out that Amer-
ican business and American workers have regained their status as the most produc-
tive in the world. This would not have been possible without a more educated
workforce. Indeed, in this century, educational increases in the workforce have ac-

counted for almost one-third of the growth in the nation's wealth. We should be
proud of our nation's schools, public and private.

Nonetheless, a great deal of work lies ahead. Though we have turned the corner,
many of the nation's schools continue to lag behind some of our chief economic com-
petitors—this is a substantial cause for concern. The Department intends to be a
supportive partner in helping states and communities accelerate the pace of school
reiorm and encourage improvement throughout the country.

MOVING TOWARD A PERFORMANCE-DRIVEN DEPARTMENT

The Department has had widespread management weaknesses. A GAO study con-
ducted as late as September 1992, published m 1993 with the apt title "Long-Stand-
ing Management Problems Hamper Reforms," documented a historical lack of man-
agement vision; a critical need to improve basic management systems; and a need
for a cultural change from a highly centralized agency focused on the short-term,
with poor internal communications. Especially troublesome was the Department's
lack of a formal planning process and formal coordinating management structure.
David Keams, former Deputy Secretary of the Department and (JEO of Xerox, rec-

ognized these problems and began to address them by introducing management
techniques of continuous improvement that were successful at Xerox. Under the di-

rection of the current Deputy Secretary, former Gk)vemor Madeleine Kunin, we are
turning around our management problems. To accomplish these improvements, we
are listening to our customers' concerns, focusing on our critical mission through
strategic planning, and using our strategic plan to transform the way we function
as a department. We are well on our way to becoming a performance-driven organi-
zation, one that is a leader in implementing the Government Performance and Re-
sults Act (GPRA). To that end, we are using strategic planning to help us streamline
our programs, operations, and personnel.

Focusing on Our Critical Mission: Our Strategic Plan

Over the past two years, the Department's first-ever strategic plan has driven
budget prionties, resource and personnel allocations, and strategies for carrying out
reform.
The strategic plan has established four clear priorities. The first three priorities

in the plan focus on our programs and initiatives and build upon new legislation

—

Goals 2(X)0, the Improving America's Schools Act, School-to-Work, and Direct Loans:
#1: To help states and communities enable all elementary and secondary stu-

dents to reach challenging state and local academic standards.
#2: To help states and communities to create a comprehensive school-to-work

opportunities system in every state.

#3: To ensure access to high-quality postsecondary education and life-long

learning.
To accomplish these priorities requires a fourth priority:

#4: To transform the Department into a customer-responsive, high-perform-
ance organization to support the three substantive priorities.

Our strategic plan, modeled upon GPRA, has set ambitious targets for perform-
ance in each of the four priority areas. They include:

• Between 1994 and 1998, the proportion of students who meet or exceed pro-

ficiency levels in reading and math on such measures as the National Assess-
ment of Educational Progress will increase by 10 percentage points.

• By 2000 at least 450,000 youth, 50 percent of high schools and community
colleges, and 50,000 employers will be participating in School-to-Work Oppor-
tunity systems. Participation will increase graduation rates, increase student
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achievement, increase the number of students completing a postsecondary cer-
tificate or degree program, and increase the number of stuaents prepared for

and participating in career ladder jobs.

• When fully implemented, the Direct I^an program will save taxpayers more
than $1 billion a year.

• By 1998, the Department will have implemented a redesigned, integrated
financial management system that substantially reduces costs, automates func-
tions now processed manually, enhances reporting capabilities, and improves
program delivery.

We are proud that the U.S. Department of Education is one of the first agencies
to implement GPRA and hold itself accountable for results.

Strengthening the Department

The purpose of the fourth priority is to make the Department more effective in
helping improve U.S. education. Putting this into action nas required that we focus
on five major areas: (1) streamlining our programs to save taxpayers' money; (2)

transforming our management to make it more efficient and effective; (3) cutting
regulations; (4) cutting paperwork; and (5) providing increased flexibility for states,

districts, schools, and our other customers.

Streamlining Programs to Save Taxpayers' Money
Over the past two years, we have cut, consolidated, and reshaped programs. This

will both save money and allow us to be more effective. We have proposed saving
a total of at least $16.7 billion by 2000 by eliminating programs that do not produce
results or that overlap with other federal functions, reforming the student loan pro-
gram, and streamlining other existing programs:

• Between 1996 and 2000, we propose to save $12 billion through accelerating
the Direct Loan program to 100 percent of new loan volume by 1997-98. This
phase-in of the program will enable all schools and student and parent borrow-
ers to take advantage of the Direct Loan program's simplicity and flexibility

(Chart 6).

• We have decreased the student aid default rate^; we have lowered it from
a peak of 22 percent to 15 percent, and we intend to keep driving it down even
further (Chart 7).

• We have increased our student loan collection efforts, principally throudi
the tax refund offset program—in 1990, defaulters returned $879 million to the
federal government; in 1994, we collected $1.5 billion. The cost to the taxpayer
of defaulted loans has been cut in half (Chart 8).

• In our FY 1995 and 1996 budgets, we have proposed eliminating 59 edu-
cation programs and consolidating 27 others for a savings of $4.6 billion by
2000. During the coming year we will propose ways to substantially further re-

duce the number of our programs.

Transforming Our Management
The Department is transforming its management structure and personnel prac-

tices to implement the best management practices of business and industry. Specifi-

cally:

• The Department is saving an additional $100 million by reducing our per-
sonnel from 5,131 in FY 1995 to less than 4,700 FTE (about 9 percent) by FY
2000.
This reduction is from a staff that had already decreased to significantly less

than the 7,700 employed in 1979 by similar oflices within the former Depart-
ment of Health, Education and Welfare and six other agencies.

Moreover, our Department is already efficient. We have the smallest ratio of
employees to grant volume in the government: 1 employee per $6 million. And
our administrative costs are low: I'ust 2 cents of every Department dollar.

• We are implementing streamlining plans that cut supervisory layers, reduc-
ing the ratio of supervisors to staff by more than one-half by 1999.

• Sometime in the next few months we will announce plans to substantially
reduce the number of senior management officials and offices.

• We will soon complete pilots that delegate most personnel classification and
hiring authority from the central personnel office to line managers, reducing red
tape and laying the groundwork for shifting these responsibilities to line man-
agers throughout the Department by FY 1996.

^Cohort default rate: The percentage of student aid borrowers entering repayment status in
any given year who default by the end of the following year.
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• All SES employees now have performance agreements that reflect how they
will contribute to implementing the strategic plan.

• We have engaged employees in revamping our operations through the "low-

hanging apples team, wnich addresses cumbersome but easily resolved man-
agement problems that impede progress. The team has over 100 recommended
to improve efficiency and eiTectiveness, and most of them have already been im-
plemented..

• The Department is using technology effectively to connect all employees
electronically by the end of 1995, improving communication and helping our
staff to work even more efficiently.

Cutting Regulations

The U.S. Department of Education is experiencing a regulatory revolution, as set

forth in our strategic plan. We agree that regulations got out of hand during the
1980*8 and early 1990*8, but note that many regulations are mandated by statute

—

we look forward to working with you to revise these statutes to reduce regulatory

burden. Faced with this situation, we have worked hard to deregulate where we
can, and we are succeeding. As part of President Clinton's regulatory reinvention
initiative, under the Vice President's leadership, we are well on the way to meeting
our challenging deregulatory goals.

• We nave reached out to talk with hundreds of customers and have reviewed
every single Department regulation.

• Today we eliminated 88 of those regulations—399 pages in all. That's 30
percent of our total regulations.

• We have targeted dozens of other regulations for elimination, reinvention,

and simplification, in consultation with our customers and partners. Our action

on them will be announced shortly as part of the President s regulatory reform
initiative.

Moreover, under our new Trinciples for Regulating," we regulate only when es-

sential to meet program goals, ana then as flexibly and with as little burden on
states, schools, and reachers as possible.

• Some of our most significant programs, including School-to-Work and Goals
2000, have been implemented witnout issuing a single regulation.

• Regulations for the Improving America's Schools Act (lASA), passed in Octo-

ber by the last Congress, have been kept to a bare minimum beyond those man-
dated by Congress. Most lASA programs have no new regulations; of 49 elemen-
tary and secondary programs, 38 will need no regulations, 7 will require limited

regulatory guidance, and only 4 will need fiill regulations to carry out the pro-

gram. For most, instead of regulating we're providing clear, practical informa-
tion to help states and districts implement the new law.

• To protect students and the taxpayers* investment, we are targeting our
oversight regulations and activities on abuses, where rules are needed. An ex-

ample of our performance-based approach is in the area of student aid. We have
to ensure that schools have the means to provide refunds to students who with-
draw. We scrapped a burdensome proposed rule that would have required aU
7,300 colleges and universities to set aside a reserve fund to cover refunds, and
instead require the handful of schools with a history of refund problems to pro-

vide a letter of credit.

Cutting Paper-work

We've listened to our customers* concerns about paperwork burden, and made sig-

nificant strides in reducing it.

• In student aid we nave eliminated duplicative forms, excessive parental sig-

nature requirements, and hard-copy reports where electronic transmission
would work better for everyone. For example, by replacing paper Student Aid
Reports with an electronic system, we eliminated 4 million paper forms. In the

Direct Loan program, we provide participating schools with computer software,

with a direct on-line connection to the Department to help schools get funds to

students efficiently.

• We encourage states to submit a single consolidated application for all of

their Elementary and Secondary Education Act programs in the Improving
America*8 Schools Act (lASA), not only eliminating paperwork but also promot-

ing comprehensive planning. We expect that almost all, if not all, states will be

submitting consolidated applications.
• We have reduced our reporting requirements for states and districts

through statutory changes, anticipating the President's request (as part of his

regulatory reinvention initiative) that wherever possible agencies reduce the

frequency of required reports by 50 percent. In most cases, the legislation has
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reduced annual reporting to reporting every two or every three years, and the
new Title I eliminates statutory requirements for annual performance reports
and state evaluations. The effect of changes like these is to let states, schools,

and teachers concentrate on program results, not pap)erwork.
Grantees told U3 that it was too hard and too slow to apply for education grant

funds and to get the funds once they qualified. So we revamped our whole system.
Specifically, we eliminated application requirements for non-competing continuation
awards, allowing the recipients of 6,000 grants to submit just simple annual per-
formance reports. Moreover, we are working to cut the number of grant awards
made each year, which now total almost 10,000, by staggering competitions every
other year or consolidating several priorities under a few competitions.

Providing Increased Flexibility for Our Customers

Our new legislation is helping us change the way we do business with states, dis-

tricts, schools, colleges, and families, to be more flexible and help energize reform
at the state and local level. Key strategies include:

• Ed-Flex, a new demonstration authority for up to six states, provides an un-
precedented opportunity to encourage innovation along with performance ac-

countability. The Goals 2000: Educate America Act authorizes Ed-Flex dem-
onstrations that enable officials in the Ed-Flex states, not the federal govern-
ment, to decide on waiver requests. Oregon, through a simple review process,

is the first state to participate.
• The Improving America's Schools Act (lASA) for the first time has a broad

waiver authority Tor most of the Department's elementary and secondary edu-
cation programs. Waiver requests under lASA have already been submitted to

the Secretary. Palm Beach, Florida and the Metropolitan District of Decatur
Township, Indiana are the first two locales approved for a Title I waiver.

• The expansion of the schoolwide option for Title I gives all high-poverty
schools the opportunity to blend Title I and other federal funds with state and
local resources to upgrade the quality of teaching and learning in entire schools
and throughout the entire program. In effect, this is a performance-based school
grant to the point of actual delivery of services, the school. Upwards of 20,000
schools can take advantage of this option.

• The Charter Schools program provides start-up funds to encourage parents
and teachers to create new public schools that can bring energy and new ideas
to public schooling.

• The School-to-\Vork Opportunities Act, along with the Administration's pro-

posals for the reauthorization of vocational education, provide waiver authority
to allow states and local communities to integrate the reform of vocational edu-
cation with broader education reforms and to strengthen the connections be-

tween education and training programs.
• Administrative funds consolidation allows states and districts, under the

Improving America's Schools Act, to combine their administrative funds for Ele-
mentary and Secondary Education Act programs, giving them the opportunity
to set their own priorities for administration, technical assistance, ana evalua-
tion and eliminating the artificial barriers that have gotten in the way of ad-
ministering programs effectively.

• In postsecondary education, under Title IV institutions can now submit pro-

posals to the Department to participate as "experimental sites" to try out exper-
imental regulatory and management approaches. For example, institutions can
propose that the Department waive requirements in exchange for performance
measures appropriate to the institution and the objectives ofthe regulations in

question. Many schools have expressed interest in this new opportunity.
We are building partnerships with states, districts, and postsecondary institutions

to provide substantial flexibility in exchange for improved performance. In voca-

tional and adult education, we are proposing to consolidate the more than 35 sepa-
rate programs authorized under current laws into only two flexible state grant pro-

grams. These proposals, recently introduced in Congress, would greatly reduce state

administrative and planning requirements and give states flexibility within broad
frameworks in exchange for an emphasis on measuring and monitoring perform-
ance.

DIRECT LOANS: AN EXAMPLE OF SUCCESS

The Direct Loan program typifies our management success. For the first time in

the Department's history, a loan program has received an unqualified "clean" opin-

ion, the best rating possible, from an outside auditing firm.

The Student Loan Reform Act created the Direct Loan program to begin replacing
the Federal Family Education Loan (FFEL) program, an unwieldy and duplicative
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system that results in poor performance for borrowers and schools and wastes fed-

eral funds. In less than 11 months, 104 schools have begun participating in the Di-
rect Loan program. More than 1,400 schools will participate beginning in July 1995.

Contrary to accusations by special interests intent on maintaining the status quo
(Chart 9), the Direct Loan program:

• Will save $12 billion oy 2000 under the accelerated phase-in proposed in

the President's FY 1996 budget.
• Simplifies loan application procedures, resulting in quicker and more accu-

rate payments to students and eliminating long lines at the financial aid office

typical of the FFEL pro-am.
• Reduces costs and improves accountability by eliminating the complicated

structure of the FFEL program, with its thousands of financial intermediaries
(Chart 10).

• Makes loan processing more eflicient and provides for the first time the on-
line, real-time information needed to better manage and oversee the loan pro-

gram.
• Maximizes competition through the use of competitively-awarded contracts

to private vendors, eliminating the virtual monopolies certain institutions have
enjoyed under the FFEL program.

The program's customers—schools and students—have been extremely enthusias-
tic in their support of the new, more efficient program:

• The program has succeeded in satisfying the participating institutions: 92
percent of Direct Loan institutions said they were either very satisfied or some-
what satisfied in a recent survey.

• One school said, "Direct Loans put the students back where they belong

—

at the center of this business." Another stated that the Direct Loan program
"is beyond a shadow of a doubt the way a loan program should have been de-

sinied 20 years ago. For those of you who have concerns, so far the Department
of^ducation has just been super!

• A recent Education Daily survey of first-year schools lauded the Department
for quickly answering questions, addressing problems, and being receptive to

suggestions about the program.
• In their first report of a survey of community college participants in the first

year of the programs, community college trustees stated that "all responses
were positive to the question about the Department's management of the pro-

gram and quality of service rendered."

THE IMPORTANCE OF EDUCATION AND THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

The Importance of Education

All of our management reforms have one ultimate purpose—to enable us to be
more effective in improving the quality of education for America's students. High
Quality education provides major benefits both for our nation as a whole and for in-

aividuals, promoting individual and social well-being. People with more education
tend to live happier and more productive lives than those with less education:

• Greater prosperity. In 1992, average annual earnings for those with a bach-
elor's degree were 74 percent higher than for those with a high school diploma,
and 155 percent higher than for those who had not graduated from high school.

Similarly, unemployment and poverty rates are lower for college graduates than
for high school graduates, ana the rates for both groups are much lower than
for dropouts. For unemployment, the respective rates are 3 percent, 6 percent,

and 11 percent; for families below the poverty level, they are 2 percent, 11 per-

cent, and 24 percent. (Census Bureau, Statistical Brief, August 1994; Bureau
of Labor Statistics, 1991; Census Bureau, Current Population Reports, P60-185,
1992)

• Less welfare. Only 5 percent of college graduates have ever participated in

government assistance programs (AFDC, Supplemental Security Income, food
stamps, housing assistance, or Medicaid), ana only 10 percent of high school

graduates have, compared to 24 percent of high school dropouts. Only 1 percent
of college graduates and only 3 percent of hi^ school graduates have ever par-

ticipated in AFDC, compared to 7 percent of dropouts. (Census Bureau, Current
Population Reports, P70-31, 1988)

• Less crime. Although only about 18 percent of the population has never fin-

ished high school, this group accounts for 41 percent of state prison inmates and
47 percent of prisoners on death row. (Census Bureau, Current Population Re-
parts, P20-471, 1993; Census Bureau, 1990 Census; Bureau of Justice Statistics,

Profile of State Prison Inmates, 1991; Bureau of Justice Statistics, Capital F\in-

ishment, 1992)
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• More civic participation. Fully 85 percent of college graduates and 75 per-

cent of high school graduates, but only 50 percent of high school dropouts, are

registered to vote. In the 1992 Presidential election, 81 percent of college grad-
uates, 58 percent of hi^ school graduates, and 41 percent of dropouts voted.

With regard to volunteering, 77 percent of college graduates, 45 percent of high
school graduates, and 22 percent of those without a high school diploma do vol-

unteer work. (Census Bureau, Current Population Reports, P20-466, 1992; Inde-

pendent Sector survey, 1992)

Public Support for the Department

The public understands the benefits of education and looks to the national govern-
ment for leadership to help extend those benefits to all Americans. The American
public sees quality education as a local concern that needs the support of govern-
ments, businesses, community members, and parents to succeed. AcTt)ss the country,
people tell us that they want the federal government to play a supportive role by
helping students afford college; providing extra help to local communities and states

thet are working to improve schools, teaching, and learning; promoting family in-

volvement in learning at home and at school; and helping create programs that pre-

pare hi^ school students for productive work.
Despite well-publicized claims to the contrary, there has been no "federal take-

over" of the state and local roles and responsibilities in education. All decisions

about what to teach and how to teach it, including sensitive issues like sex edu-
cation, religion, evolution, and cultural diversity, are made at the state, district, and
school level to reflect what is appropriate for local students and communities. In-

deed the Department of Education Organization Act prohibits the Department from
exercising any control over curriculum or instruction. Moreover, all of our legislative

initiatives have increased flexibility for states and school districts, not decreased it.

The strategies the Department is pursuing respond to the public's needs. With a
strategic plan and leadership willing to set ambitious performance targets, we are
transforming the Department into a results-driven agency. We are cutting out the
red-tape and overregulation that ties government into knots and frustrates cus-
tomers. We are working with states and communities to develop partnerships that
link increased accountability for performance with much greater flexibility. And we
will work hard to continue to earn the public's support for improving education and
carrying out our mission "to ensure equal access to education and promote edu-
cational excellence."

The Role of the U.S. Department of Education

Even though the public believes that the federal government has an important
role in education and supports the U.S. Department of Education, the future of the
Department is in doubt. Various proposals have been raised, including a "neutron
bomb" approach that would do away with many of our staff but leave most of the

programs, scattering them haphazardly around the government, and a merger that
would envelop the Department in a large, unwieldy bureaucracy. Unless Congress
plans to abandon the 130-year-old federal role in education, these programs will just

end up being administered by someone else, somewhere else.

All of these proposals amount to nothing more than moving boxes around on an
organization chart, without generating any real savings. In fact, there is a strong

likelihood that costs would increase, if the history of the Department's creation, and
accompanying reduction in staff, is any guide. When the Department was formed
in 1980, it comprised programs that had been staffed by 7,750 people, yet within
a few years its staff was reduced to approximately 5,000, where it has remained for

the past decade. Merger with another Department would add bureaucratic layers

and complexity for our customers, while spreading programs around would lead to

duplicated overhead costs and a massive burden on customers searching for assist-

ance and information. The likeliest outcome of any of the proposed changes will be
dislocation and disruption of services to states, school districts, and students, along
with the loss of a central voice for education (Chart 11). If the federal government
remains committed to providing national leadership in education, the small and ef-

fective Department remains the best means of carrying out that role.

To quote Secretary Riley, "It is clear that the future strength of our nation lies

in the education of our citizens and in how well prepared they are to meet the chal-

lenges of the 21st century. This is not the time to walk away from our children and
(their) education."

Thank you.
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Chart 1.—Public Opinion: Opposition to Proposals to Cut Deficit

[Percent of public opposed to proposals)

Oppose Eliminating U.S. Oept. of Education 77

Oppose Reducing Social Security COLAs 62

Source: Yanlielovich Partners, Inc , S/14/95

Public Opinion: Preventing Cuts to Programs

[Percent of public wlio support preventing cuts]

Profran

Social Security 84

Medicare 81

Student loans/education programs 77

Veterans hospitals 74

Medicaid 71

Mass transit subsidies 48

Farm programs 48

Public TV and Radio 42

Defense spending 41

Welfare programs 29

Foreign aid 16

Source: Yankelovicli Partners. Inc., V14/95

Chart 2.—Percentage of High School Graduates Taking the Number of Courses Recommended for

All Students by "A Nation at Risk"

[By Race/Ethnicity. 1982 and 1992*]

p«,./r(h,.-.;«-
Pefcent Percent

Race/ttiinieity ,002 1997

All 13 47

White 15 49

Black 10 44

Hispanic 6 36

Asian ;; 21 51

'Although "A Nation at Risk" included one half a unit of computer science in its recommendatiofls. it is not included in this analysis be-

cause very few students participated in computer science classes in 1982 Its inclusion in this measure would eiauerate the dian|e in aca-

demic couise taliint since 1982

Note Courses include 4 units in English, 3 units in social studies, 3 units In science, and 3 units in math, where a unit represents a

year-long course

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center tor Education Statistics, The 1990 High School Transcript Study, Washington, DC,
1993.

Chart 3.—Number of Candidates Taking Advanced Placement Examinations:
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Chart 4a

Average Math Proficiency of 17-Year-Olds,

by Race/Ethnicity: 1973 to 1992
Scale Score

320

300 -

280

260 -

240

220

90 '92

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Trends in

Academic Progress: Achievement of U.S. Students in Science, 1969 to 1992;

Mathematics, 1973 to 1992; Reading, 1971 to 1992; and Writing, 1984 to 1992, Washington,

D.C., July 1994.
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Chart 4b

Average Science Proficiency of 17-Year-Olds,

by Race/Ethnicity: 1969 to 1992
Scale Score

320

300 -

280

260 -

240 -

220

'90 '92

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Trends in

Academic Progress: Achievement of U.S. Students in Science, 1969 to 1992;
Mathematics, 1973 to 1992; Reading, 1971 to 1992; and Writing. 1984 to 1992, Washington.
D.C., July 1994.
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Chart 4c

Average Reading Proficiency of 17-Year-Olds,

by Race/Ethnicity: 1971 to 1992
Scale Score

320

300

280

260

240

220

'88 '90 '92

Source: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Trends in

Academic Progress: Achievement of US. Students in Science, 1969 to 1992;

Mathematics, 1973 to 1992; Reading, 1971 to 1992; and Writing, 1984 to 1992, Washington,

D.C., July, 1994..
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Charts

Dropout Rates for Persons 16-24 Years Old

by Race/Ethnicity: 1982 to 1993
Percent

40

30

20

10

Black,

non-Hispanic

White,

non-Hispanic

'82 '83 '84 '85 '86 '87 '88 '89 '90 '91 '92 '93

Year

Note: The 1992 data reflect new wording of the educational attainment item on the CPS

Source: National Center for Education Statistics, Dropouts in the US : 1993. 1994.
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Chart 6.—Student Loan Reform Act of 1992—Direct Loan Savings

(In billions)

Year

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

Phase-In to 60% of Student Loan
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Student Loan Defaults

Gross Student Loan Defaults

Chart 7a

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994

Defaults as Percent of Loans Outstanding

Chart 7b

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994

Net Taxpayer Cost of Student Loan Defaults

Charts

CD

1992

Fiscal Year
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William D. Ford Direct Loan Program: Myths and Facts

Wiat Critics Say the Program Does* What the Program Really Does

Hires hundreds of new bureaucrats at the Department

of Education.

Institutes a federal takeover of the program's funding

and management.

Issues top-down mandates and rules for students and

colleges.

Burdens colleges with more regulations and eliminates

performance incentives.

Introdxes open-ended budgets based on political ob-

jectives.

Eliminates private sector competition in the student

loan industry.

Abolishes the role of states and the private sector in

student credit programs.

Replaces competing local, private customer-service or-

ganizations with one federal bureaucracy.

The Department is planning on making significant reductions in

both total staff and staff needed to manage and operate the

student loan programs. Between 1995 and 1999, staff needed

to operate the Direct Loan and FFEL programs is expected to

decline from 809 to 732, while total ED staff is expected to

decline from 5,131 to 4,698.

Both FFEL and Direct Loans are federally managed programs, the

costs of which are paid for by the federal government. Direct

lending merely eliminates unnecessary middlemen, greatly sim-

plifying administration and saving taxpayers billions of dollars.

Under Direct Loans, the vast majority of work will still be con-

ducted by private contractors, many of whom will be the same

organizations currently conducting this work in the FFEL pro-

gram.

On the contrary, Direct Loans provides much greater flexibility to

schools to manage their loan programs so as to better serve

borrowers. One of the primary reasons schools want to partici-

pate in the Direct Loan program is the freedom and control it

gives them over their financial aid operation. The overwhelming

satisfaction expressed by participating schools is evidence that

the program delivers on this promise. In addition, all regula-

tions issued in the Direct Loan program were negotiated with

institutions through the negotiated rulemaking process.

Direct Loans is less burdensome and provides greater incentives

for high performance than FFEL. Due to the additional respon-

sibilities given to schools under the Direct Loan program, they

are subject to some additional regulations. However, schools

are compensated for this burden (schools receive a $10 fee for

preparing the promissory note) and the vast majority find it

much less burdensome then the FFEL program. All Direct Loan

contracts have performance incentives built in. This is in con-

trast to FFEL, where lenders make large profits regardless of

their performance.

In both Direct Loans and FFEL, the cost to the Government is

based on loan volume and interest rates. By replacing higher

cost private capital with Government funds, the Direct Loan

program saves taxpayers billions of dollars. Our savings esti-

mates are consistent with those reached independently by the

non-partisan Congressional Budget Office.

We encourage competition in the Direct Loan program. All con-

tracts to help operate the Direct Loan program are competi-

tively awarded based on the offeror providing the greatest

value to the Government. Our only consideration is what is in

the best interest of students and taxpayers. This m contrast to

the FFEL program, where there is no requirement that contrac-

tors be competitively selected.

The vast majority of work in the Direct Loan program will be con-

ducted by private contractors—many of whom will be the

same organizations currently involved in the FFEL program.

The Direct Loan program is not centrally administered but rather

relies on thousands of schools and allows them to determine

how best to serve their students. This is in contrast to lenders

who have no real involvement or interest in the student. In

terms of servicing loans, ED's contractors will be competing

based on how well they serve borrowers. Those that fail to con-

tinue to perform at acceptable levels will be terminated. This

compares to the FFEL program, where there is no incentive to

provide high quality service to borrowers and loans are sold at

the lender's convenience.
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William D. Ford Direct Loan Program: Myths and Facts—Continued

Wkat Critic} Say the Program Does* What the Program Really Doei

Forces the Internal Revenue Service to collect student

loans and Imposes new wage reporting burdens.

Apart from offsets against tax refunds, the IRS has no current

role in the collection of student loans and there are no

changes in wage reporting requirements created by the Direct

Loan program. The only IRS involvement in the Direct Loan pro-

gram IS to provide income data, with borrower's permission, to

the Department for those borrowers choosing income-contingent

repayment.

'Taken from the May 9, 1995 statement at William Hansen, submitted to the House Subcommittee on Government Management, Infoniia-

tion and Technology, Government Reform and Oversight Committee
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Chart 10
Structure of FFEL and Direct Loan Programs

(^ Federal Family Education Loan Program^

Guaranty
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Mr. Horn. Mr. Smith, let me just identify Mr. Wurtz, who ac-

companies you. Mr. Wurtz is the Chief Financial Officer of the De-
partment of Education. He has a very rich experience with the
General Accounting Office prior to that. We might be asking you
some questions, Mr. Wurtz, in terms of your comparison in the ex-

perience in education with, say, the reviews you managed on the
Customs Service, NASA, Guaranteed Student Loan Program,
which, of course, is within the jurisdiction of Education.

Let me pursue some general questions. There's no doubt in my
mind that the Department of Education, and the Secretary, in par-

ticular, can have a very valid service in the role of what Theodore
Roosevelt called the bully pulpit, articulating the importance of

education as basic access to every opportunity you and I can think
of, in this Nation. And that role I commend, and that is one of the
reasons I headed a national coalition to create the Department.

I believe the figures are that the money under your jurisdiction

is about 5 percent or 6 percent
Mr. Smith. About 6.

Mr. Horn [continuing]. Of the money that's going in to public

education in America, across the board. The rest comes from State
and local sources. One of the things that concerns me—and this is

now minor, compared to the whole picture, but I want to raise it

—

is the so-called thickening of government. And we're going to have
Professor Light here in the future to discuss that concept in more
depth.

But as I look at your organization chart, for example, we have
a Secretary of Education. Under the Secretary is the principal Dep-
uty, the Deputy Secretary, and your office is under the Deputy Sec-
retary, as the Under Secretary. What is not clear, and I'd like you
to explain it as best you can, is what are the responsibilities of the
Under Secretary? Do any line operations report to the Under Sec-
retary?
Mr. Smith. No, they don't. Staff operations do. The budget office

reports to me; planning and policy office; and the evaluation office.

Mr. Horn. Well, you see, they don't show that on their chart.

Mr. Smith. Yes, the charts are
Mr. Horn. And I don't know. This is out of the U.S. Government

Manual, page 266, I assume the most recent edition. But they show
no staff offices. They show the three staff offices reporting directly

to the Secretary—the Inspector General, the General Counsel and
the Public Affairs office. Is that still true?

Mr. Smith. That's still true. The Public Affairs office is tech-

nically inside the Secretary's office. But it does report to the Sec-

retary, yes.

Mr. Horn. Then I look at another line here, going from the Dep-
uty Secretary, around the Under Secretary, down to the basic line

functions of the department, plus additional staff offices---legisla-

tive and congressional affairs, intergovernmental interagency af-

fairs, the Chief Financial Officer, who accompanies you, and
human resources and administration. So the Deputy Secretary wor-
ries about them, presumably in relation to the coordination of de-

partmental policy, prior to it going to the Secretary. What does the

Under Secretary worry about?

26-805 - 96 - 5
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Mr. Smith. The Under Secretary worries about policy, sir. He
worries about policy and budget, all the planning. Policy offices

connect directly into my office.

Mr. Horn. But not all policy offices, I take it. I mean, the gen-

eral counsel, let's face it, is usually influential policy voice, rightly

or wrongly, in most agencies.

Mr. Smith. That's absolutely correct. They advise me in the same
way that they advise the Secretary. They report to the Secretary,

because that's where we wish them to report.

Mr. Horn. And I would think the office of public affairs has a
role, perhaps duplicating, but certainly a view worth hearing with

the office of intergovernmental and interagency affairs, you might
say, in terms of the impact of the policy and so forth.

Mr. Smith. It does, sir.

Mr. Horn. Well, if you could wave a magic wand, how would you
reorganize the Department of Education as it is now, so it would
be more effective and efficient as a government agency?
Mr. Smith. Focusing mostly, now, on the support offices, we have

a plan that we are submitting to the NPR H, the National Perform-
ance Review, part H. We have not yet presented it to the Vice
President or to the President. And I can assure you that what it

does is reduce the number of offices of the sort that you're now
talking about. But I would just as soon not announce it prior to it

being reviewed by the people that will make the final decisions.

Mr. Horn. If I were Secretary of Education, the one I'd want re-

porting directly to me is the gentleman that accompanies you, the
Chief Financial Officer. I'd want to know where the money is,

where it's going. And granted, it's nice to have the general counsel,
the Inspector General there, and public affairs and all that. But
you wonder whv isn't the Chief Financial Officer up there, report-
ing directly to tne Secretary?
Mr. Smith. I think the Chief Financial Officer can answer for

himself. I think all of us in the Department believe that we report
directly to the Secretary. We have open access to the Secretary. As
you know, organizations often operate on a combination of their
formal charts and of their personalities and approaches of the var-
ious management folks.

And in this particular case, for both offices—^both the Deputy's of-

fice and the Secretary's office—there's an open door. There's a real
sense that you're reporting to the Secretary, as well as the Deputy
Secretary.
Mr. Horn. You see, 30 years ago in Washington, instead of an

Under Secretary, under the Deputy Secretary, they would have had
a Deputy Under Secretary. There was no such thing as a Deputy
Secretary. But maybe that sounds redundant, being a deputy Dep-
uty Secretary. So we now have the old Under Secretary, which was
traditionally the second in command, who actually ran the depart-
ment while the Secretary was making wonderful speeches on the
glories of the administration in towns around the country.
But it sort of bemuses me, amuses me, and then irritates me to

see the so-called thickening of staff layers that clog up the commu-
nication of the person the President put in there to speak for edu-
cation.
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Mr. Smith. I actually would like to respond, later on, with an-
other chart for you, to try to lay out the way that the organization
really works. But I think you're also absolutely right.

Mr. Horn. Yes. We'll save space in the record, at this point,

when you feel you can furnish it, of both, a, you said the way the
organization really works; and b, the proposal you're making to

Vice President Grore and the NPR, as to how, perhaps, the next
phase ought to work. And maybe those two charts will be compat-
ible, and maybe they won't be. And I realize that people have dif-

ferent styles, and you try to adjust to a Secretary to how you oper-

ate, and adjust the organization how you're comfortable to get the
job done.

[The information referred to follows:]

June 5 1995

Honorable Steve Horn
Chairman, Subcommittee on Government Management, Information and Technology
Committee on Government Reform and Oversight
House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:
Thank you once again for the opportunity to appear before you and the members

of your Committee to testify on benalf of the Department of Education and the Fed-
eral role in education.
As I indicated during the hearing, I would like to expand on an issue you raised

regarding the organization chart for the Department and, more specifically, the re-

sponsibilities and lines of authority for the Deputy Secretary and Under Secretary
in relationship to the other Senior Officers in the Department.
The Secretary, the Deputy Secretary, and the Under Secretary serve as the De-

partment's senior leadership team. While all three officials work closely in oversee-
ing the Department, the Secretary has delegated areas of primary responsibility to

each official. The Deputy Secretary has lead responsibility for overall management
and day-to-day operations, including restructuring efforts within the Department.
The Deputy Secretary also oversees implementation of the new Direct Student Loan
Program. The Under Secretary has primary responsibility for education policy and
program planning—including budget formulation, legislative development, program
evaluations and performance measurements, and analytical studies (see enclosed
chart). Obviously, these functions overlap in certain instances, and the Deputy Sec-
retary and Under Secretary coordinate their efforts closely. This delineation of re-

sponsibilities has demonstrated its effectiveness over the past 2 1/2 years as the De-
partment has enjoyed tremendous success in implementing management improve-
ments and in winning support for the Administration's legislative agenda for edu-
cation.

You also raised a question regarding the lines of authority for the Department's
other Senior Officers. The directors of all the principal program and staff offices re-

port directly to the Secretary and, of course, work closely with the Deputy Secretary
and Under Secretary in day-to-day management and reinvention issues, and in pol-

icy formulation and direction.

I appreciate the opportunity to clarify this issue for you. If you or other members
of your Committee have further questions, we would be happy to meet with you or
to provide any additional information that may be helpful.

Sincerely,

Marshall S. Smith.

Mr, Horn. Well, I now yield 5 minutes to the ranking minority
member, Mrs. Maloney of New York.
Mrs. Maloney, Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. We often

hear people talk about the Federal role in education in terms of the
dollars spent. They're quick to point out that the Federal Govern-
ment provides only 6 percent of the funds for elementary and sec-

ondary education. Dollars spent is not always a good measure of

what is being done. And I'd like to ask you, how would you define
the Federal role in education? And what would you say to critics
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who argue that the Federal Government provides very little benefit

for a great burden?
Mr. Smith. Well, Congresswoman, I think I'd start with a sense

of whether or not the Nation believes that education is a real na-

tional priority. That's the defining characteristic, I believe of the

definition of what would constitute a Federal department. I believe

you've heard testimony along these lines from various people, in-

cluding Professor Kettl from the University of Wisconsin.

Education has clearly become a national priority, I believe, in

just about everybody's eyes. It's the foundation of our economy; it's

the foundation of a strong democracy. Education affects all of us,

goes across the State borders. Poor education in Newark affects

what goes on in San Diego, which affects what goes on in middle
America.
The Department has, as I mentioned before, a very limited but

very specific set of roles. It is intended to operate as a partner with
the States and local communities. It has a role in access, which has
to do with the delivery of student aid, and access for people to col-

leges. It has a role in providing aid for the most needy in the soci-

ety, those in the poorer schools and those that are disabled.

Second, it has a role in excellence. The Federal Government now
provides direct support in helping States and local communities
with improving the quality of their educational achievement, and
with improving the nature of their school-to-work programs. I use
these two examples because they're two examples that President
Clinton is particularly fond of using. They are among the most crit-

ical programs that are in the Department.
Third, the Department has a role in providing, to people all over

the country, information about what works in areas such as the use
of technology in education. Fourth, as the chairman indicated ear-
lier, there's a very powerful role as a bully pulpit. The Secretary
has access to the President. I worked in the Office of Education
about 18 years ago. That Commissioner, a man named Ernie
Boyer, was a terrific Commissioner. He really didn't have access,
however, to the President.
The notion of education was not on the President's agenda at

that point. This Secretary clearly has access to the President.
There's no way that you would get Secretary Richard Riley to be
Commissioner of Education, but he would become Secretary of Edu-
cation. I must also point out, in the area of bully pulpit, it's really
amazing—every Secretary, starting from Shirley Hufstedler and on
down to Richard Riley, nave all emphasized higher standards in

education.
And that seems to have worked, by the data that I pointed out

earlier in the testimony. That notion has pervaded the entire coun-
try. Look at those charts, and what you see is a turnaround start-
ing around 1982. And it's really quite amazing. Republican and
Democrat alike have pushed the same fundamental agenda that
our schools need to get better, that we need to be more competitive.
Mrs. Maix^n>:y. But now?
Mr. Smith. The Department's total budget is around $33 billion.

The discretionary budget is around $25 billion.
Mrs. Maloni<:y. And there was an article today, that I'd like to

put in the record, that was in the Washington Post, by Stephen
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Barr, and it was called, "Hazards of Quick Downsizing." And it

talked about a report from the Brookings Institution. And they
talked about how abolishing departments mav not necessarily save
money, unless you abolish what government does.

They conclude by saying, "While moving from 14 to 10 or even
5 departments in the Cabinet, would create more elbow room
around the Cabinet table, such a move does not make government
smaller unless government does less." So I'd like to ask the chair-

man
Mr. Horn. Without objection, the full article will be put in the

record.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The information referred to follows:]

Hazards of Quick Downsizing Cited—Existing Proposals Could Cost More in

THE Long Run, Study Warns

BY STEPHEN BARR, WASHINGTON POST STAFF WRITER

Democratic and Republican drives to downsize the government pose the danger
of doing more harm than good, like a dieter who decides to lose weight by cutting
off a leg, two Brookings Institution analysts contended yesterday.

University of Wisconsin professor Donald F. Kettl and Princeton University pro-
fessor John J. Dilulio Jr. said current budget-cutting plans aimed at abolishing Cab-
inet departments and restructuring the executive branch would not save money and
run against the downsizing lessons learned over the last decade by the nation's larg-

est corporations.

"No restructuring is cheap," Kettl said. Efforts aimed at saving money usually cre-

ate "short-term mischier that lower morale, interrupt the delivery of services and
could cause more damage to an organization's performance than the original prob-
lem.
"Downsizing or doing away with government agencies does not automatically do

away with the people they serve, the public demands they embody, the programs
they administer or the tasks they perform," Dilulio said. If the government is going
to be put on a diet, he said, it should shed pounds in a way that makes sense and
looks to long-terms results.

Kettl and Dilulio offered their assessments at a luncheon where copies of their
new study, "Cutting Government," was released. The report, one of a series from
the Brookings Center for Public Management, comes as House and Senate Repub-
lican task forces call for the elimination of at least four Cabinet departments—En-
ergy, Education, Commerce, and Housing and Urban Development.
The first section of the report summarizes 10 tasks from across the federal gov-

ernment, ranging from air traffic control to monitoring pension funds to managing
defense contracts. In the case of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration,
Kettl and Dilulio point out that just 621 federal employees oversee $1 trillion in

pension funds. Tinkering with the agency would produce minuscule savings but "po-

tentially weaken the confidence of employees already rightfully nervous about the
future of their retirement income," Kettl and Dilulio write.

The second section touches on past commissions named to reorganize the execu-
tive branch and efforts to restructure private-sector companies. "Managers who be-
lieved they could downsize once, solve their problems, and return to normal tended
to faU," Kettl and Dilulio said. "Managers who built restructuring into a careful look
at their operations, their mission, and how best to achieve it tended to succeed far

more often. Restructuring, taken as an end in itself, led to failure."

The two analysts look to Congress to play a pivotal role if attempts to overhaul
the executive branch are to succeed, in part because they think "the congressional
committee that oversees an executive agency is a far stronger presence than the
president or the White House staff." They predict "little will be accomplished" unless
Congress decides to consolidate programs as it cuts and merges departments.
The most critical questions of restructuring depend on Congress, they write, start-

ing with how many Cabinet departments to have. "While moving from 14 to 10 or
even five departments would create more elbow room around the Cabinet table,

such a move does not make government smaller unless government does less," they
said.
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Mrs. Maloney. And earlier, during the Department of Energy

—

we had a hearing earher—there had been a study by the Congres-

sional Budget Office in the early 1980's that showed that, since

they were going to save basically what the Department of Energy
did by moving it to other places, you wouldn't really save any
money. And given the fact that education is definitely a priority in

this country, probably the No. 1 priority, I would like to respect-

fully request from the chairman that we request, from the Congres-
sional Budget Office, to do a study on exactly how much we would
save if we rearranged the office of education.

And, personally, I don't believe that the Education Department
will be abolished. I think it's too important, and it should be a Cab-
inet position. But if it was, where would the duties go? And then
the question that is asked by Brookings Institution, what duties

that you're doing should you not be doing, that should be cut? You
were mentioning letting the public know, sharing information to

the public schools and the private schools of what is working in

education is vital; and other coordinating duties that a Federal
Government should do for such a vital area as education.

So my question is, if it happens—and actually, in this budget we
just passed, it did happen—where would the duties of the Edu-
cation Department go? And can you think of any duty that you are
currently doing that you should not be doing? I mean, we will not
be saving money if we just move what you are doing here, and
move it over there.

Mr. Smith. Right. Two parts to this question. The first is, what
would happen to the people in the Department, but also, what
would happen to the programs in the Department? There was an
experiment done, in effect, in 1979 and 1980, when the Department
was created. Granted, it was an experiment going the other way,
but what happened in that experiment, really, was a number of

programs—the programs that are now in the Education Depart-
ment—were pulled together from six different agencies, and clus-

tered into one department.
Now, what happened at that point? Well, over the course of

about 2V2 to 3 years, the number of people administering those pro-

grams dropped from the 7,700 that were administering them with-
in the six different departments they had been in, to about 5,000

—

a savings of about a third on the S&E budget. Now, if we were to

be distributed now, if the Department of Education's functions
were to be distributed across a variety of different departments,
perhaps the same thing would happen in reverse.
That is, the number of FTEs would have to go up. And let me

give you an example. I worked in the Office of Education. We had
a budget office; we had an evaluation office; we had a legislative

office and so on, focused on education. At the same time, at HEW,
there was a component of their budget office, a component of their
evaluation office, a component of their legislative office, et cetera,
all focusing on education—clearly a duplication of function, creat-
ing more people, possibly, if we were to expand out into five or six

different departments.
There are all sorts of different configurations that one might

imagine. There's been talk of sending student aid programs to
HHS, or to Treasury. There's been talk of sending a variety of dif-
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ferent programs to Labor and so on. So there are a bunch of dif-

ferent proposals on the table, and I don't want to spend time going
through them. But I think in every one of them, you would lose

—

I think it would potentially cost more money. And as you indicated,
you lose the one-stop shopping part of the information.
You would lose tne one place where students and teachers and

superintendents and so on could go to get assistance involving edu-
cation. And you would also lose a national symbol. You would
throw a signal out to the entire country, and to the world, that we
didn't value education in a way that almost every other country
does.
Mrs. Maloney. My time is up, but the second part of the ques-

tion, is there any function that you're performing now that you
think—as Brookings said, the only way you downsize is to stop per-
forming the functions that you're performing.
Mr. Smith. Right.
Mrs. Maloney. Is there any function that you're performing now

that you feel that is not essential?
Mr. Smith, There are. In the last 2 years, 1995 and 1996, we

proposed, as you know, the elimination or consolidation of about 86
programs, over a third of our programs. There are other programs
that we believe have either outlived their usefulness, or are so
small that they aren't having a real effect. And we'll be proposing
reductions in tnose programs or elimination of those programs over
the next 2 or 3 months, again, in NPR II.

And I apologize for being constrained by this, but I do need to
hold off until there's been approval of the proposals that I talked
with the chairman about. We will also be consolidating some of
those administrative functions. So I believe that we can save con-
siderable money. In fact, we already propose, in the testimony,
strategies to save roughly $16.4 billion over the next 5 years.
So there has been, in fact, a major effort not just to downsize,

but to make much more effective the nature of both the organiza-
tion and the Department's functions.
Mr. Horn. Let me just make a clarifying comment, before turn-

ing to Mr. Owens. As a former senior fellow at the Brookings Insti-

tution, I know that Brookings says nothing; individual scholars are
the ones that say something, good or bad. It's obvious that if you
merge departments, you can save all the staff functions. There's
only one Chief Financial Officer, not two, and you go right on down
the line. It's just a question of how big and how large the subsidi-
ary staff is. But I think it's pretty obvious, economies can be made
in any merger.
Spreading things around, you'd have to look at that. I think ma-

jority and minority staffs ought to see whether GAO, the existing
Department, CBO—if they have anything to say on the subject

—

could give us a sort of ball park estimate under the options of
merger, spreading around, consolidation, et cetera. At one time, the
assistant secretary for education, prior to the creation of the De-
Eartment presumably coordinated about 22 agencies, as I remem-
er, of the Federal Cxovernment, that had some aspect of education.
Now, presumably, a lot of those are still related to the Secretary,

but they're sitting over in Agriculture with a program that could
be described as education.



132

Now I'm delighted to yield to the gentleman from New York, Mr.

Owens.
Mr. Owens. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I apologize for being late,

but we've privatized the House dining room, and it's very difficult

to get a sandwich over there now. In the constellation of depart-

ment level agencies, where is the Department of Education? We
know that the Pentagon is the largest. And the Department of Ag-
riculture, by the way, is the second largest in terms of number of

employees. Although this Nation only has a 2 percent population

who are rural and farmers at this point.

The Department of Agriculture is the second largest bureaucracy,
in terms of people. Where is the Department of Education in this

constellation at this point, in terms of size, in terms of employees?
Mr. Smith. We are substantially the smallest. We have about

5,000 employees. When looking at the ratio of the number of em-
ployees to the amount of money that we put out, we have the best

ratio. We have one person for every $6 million that is distributed

by the Department. The department's efficiency, in terms of overall

effectiveness, is superior to every other department on those terms.
Mr. Owens. You said your overall budget is about $36 billion?

Mr. Smith. About $33 billion.

Mr. Owens. How much of that is higher education?
Mr. Smith. About half; you can just about break it in half

There's, as you know, a block of money in mandatory programs, in

the loan programs in particular, and then there's a large block of

money in the Pell Grants and some other higher education pro-
grams. So it's about $15 billion or $16 billion in higher education,
perhaps a little bit more; and $14 billion or $15 billion in elemen-
tary and secondary education.
Mr. Owens, How does the Department of Education of the Unit-

ed States compare with the Department of Education of other civ-

ilized industrialized nations? Start with Japan, for example.
Mr. Smith. Well, it's difficult to compare, because as you know,

we have a Federal system. There's a Federal, State and local gov-
ernments, and we have a Constitution that gives the responsibil-
ities of education to those governments.
Mr. Owens. Do you think the total Federal cost for education is

still about 7 percent; 6 or 7 percent of the total?

Mr. Smith. Oh, no, their expenditures in many of those countries
is practically 100 percent.
Mr. Owens. I mean for this country.
Mr. Smith. The total cost is over 7 percent.
Mr. Owens. About 7 percent we spend on the total cost of edu-

cation?
Mr. Smith. Right, that's right.

Mr. Owens. A!nd it's highly federalized in Japan.
Mr. Smith. Right. Almost all the money comes from the Federal

ministry in Japan, to the local schools.
Mr. Owens. And most of the other industrialized nations also

have a highly centralized education set-up, don't they?
Mr. Smith. Many of them do. There's some decentralization now

going on. And of course, Grermany is largely decentralized, although
there is a fairly strong Federal ministry. England is becoming more
decentralized than it nad been before. Australia is, and Canada is,
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almost entirely decentralized. But the other major countries have
strong
Mr. Owens. Even in the decentralized countries, the role of the

Federal, national government is still far greater than the role is

here in this country.
Mr. Smith. I would say that's correct, except for Canada, cer-

tainly.

Mr. Owens. Except for Canada.
Mr. Smith. Except for Canada.
Mr. Owens. We started a process internally, your administration

started a process of downsizing, which I don't agree with at all be-
cause I think in this era, we should be increasing the size of the
Department of Education. It should never get as big as the Penta-
gon, but it certainly ought to be greatly increased in terms of being
able to influence the way our Nation provides for education, in

order to meet the great threat we face from our competitors—to
have much more influence on what happens in education than
there is.

You started downsizing by getting rid of small programs. It

seemed that every small program was labeled as not a good pro-
gram; small was bad. In my opinion, you started committing sui-

cide, and now the murderers have been attracted; and they're going
to finish the job. So I am definitely not in favor of limiting the De-
partment of Education. I'm very much in favor of increasing the
Department of Education.

In the Congressional Black Caucus alternative budget, we in-

crease the budget for the Department of Education by 25 percent,
because we think that's where the Nation ought to go. And I think
the administration should take a stronger line in that direction and
accentuate the positive, instead of faifing to set priorities and as-
suming that across the board, downsizing should take place for all

of these agencies, and education has to give its share.
That was a mistake, I think. We should be emphasizing the fact

that, in this era, the future of America depends on how educated
its population is. We should not be afraid to make education a pri-

ority and provide the funding that's necessary to do that. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. I thank you. I believe we have a vote on. Let me pur-

sue one small item, but it's illustrative of some of the discussion
as to the centralization of education or the decentralization. When
the statute that guides your department was written, it was made
very clear that the central Department of Education in the Federal
Grovemment would not be in a position to mandate curriculum
across the country.
What it would be in the position to do would be create model cur-

ricula and say to anyone, if you'd like to use it, here we've invested
in trying to develop the best we possibly can with the experts that
we see throughout the country. Arid it seems to me that was a very
sensible approach, given the Federal nature of our system and the
strong feeling in the country that the local school boards should de-
cide policy. In many States the State board decides a range of text-
book, and then the local school board on K to 12 actually adopt.
But these are the little crazy things that bother some of us on

Capitol Hill. The Department of Education, United States, goes to
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Pennsylvania State University, and somebody in the Department
decides that the Buckley amendment, which we all know what that

is, and for those that don't, this is the privacy amendment, relating

to educational records, passed in the other body without a hearing,

and applied to all schools years ago.

But when this employee goes to Pennsylvania State University,

he notes in the library the masters' theses and doctoral disserta-

tions are publicly available. And the Department makes the claim

that, sorry, this applies under the Buckley amendment. And there-

fore, if a student writes a masters' thesis or a doctoral dissertation,

the student can also tell the library, no one will ever see it without

my permission. And this is announced by the U.S. Department of

Education.
Now, I regard that as one of the most stupid decisions known to

mankind in the last 50 years in the Federal Government. Why?
Very simple because everybody that's ever set a toe in a university

knows the reason you require masters' theses and doctoral dis-

sertations is so they can contribute to knowledge. In order to con-

tribute to knowledge, there must be open access so reporters, other
scholars, graduate students, and people that are getting sleepy in

the library, can go find something thrilling in the theses part of the
library.

I'm curious if you know about that decision, and why the U.S.
Department of Education decided to make that decision?

Mr. Smith. I recall the decision. I don't recall the details. I'm

sorry, Congressman, I can't respond. I'll be glad to respond
Mr. Horn. Yes, well, if you could file it to the record, as to under

what authority do they think the Buckley amendment applies to

doctoral dissertations and theses that have been a part of graduate
education for several hundred years.

Mr. Smith. Absolutely.

Mr. Horn. So, I'm just curious.

Mr. Smith. Yes, there's somebody from the General Counsel's of-

fice here. I could ask them, and they could
Mr. Horn. Well, if it's the General Counsel's office, you ought to

cut the lawyers that ruled that way.
Mr. Smith. Well, I don't know that they did it.

Mr. Horn. But whoever did it, I'd like to know what the justifica-

tion is.

Mr. Smith. Sure.
Mr. Horn. Because I haven't heard one yet, and I asked the Sec-

retary months ago, one time. I said, are you aware of this? He re-

sponded, he wasn't aware of it even though he had signed it. So
maybe somebody else over there has a pen machine. That's the
kind of thing, small, but symbolic of where we can go wrong in a
national Cabinet department, unless somebody's watching the store

and not just out making a lot of speeches.

Mr. Smith. I'll get a response to you tomorrow.
[The information referred to follows:!
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MAY 24 1995
Honorable Stephen Horn
Chairman, Subcommittee on Government Management, Information, and Technology
Committee on Government Reform and Oversight
House of Representatives
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Mr. Horn:
This is in follow-up to the question you asked yesterday during my testimony at

the hearing before your subcommittee. Your question related to tne applicability of
the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) to student theses. In par-
ticular, you requested additional information regarding the Department's position
on this matter.
As a matter of background, the Family Policy compliance Office (FPCO), which

administers FERPA, was asked in 1993 by an assistant university archivist at

Pennsylvania State University whether the privacy protections afforded students
under FERPA extend to student thes-es, which may be publicly available in univer-
sity libraries for research purposes. The Department's May 11, 1993, response was
not a new interpretation of FERPA but rather a reiteration of the statutory lan-

guage of FERPA which defines education records broadly.
The FPCO woriced with the Association of Research Libraries (ARL) and the

American Library Association (ALA) to resolve the concerns that had been raised
about this issue subsequent to the initial letter to Penn State. By letters dated Sep-
tember 1, 1993, to the Executive Director of the ALA and the Assistant Executive
Director for Federal Relations of the ARL, the FPCO clarified that an institution
would not need specific written consent prior to disclosing or publishing a thesis in

the institution's library.

The FPCO further explained in the September 1 letter that neither the FERPA
statute, legislative history, nor the regulations require institutions to depart from
established practices regarding the disclosure of student theses so long as students
are advised m advance, such as in a course description or syllabus, that a particular
thesis will be made publicly available.

Both the ARL ana the ALA were satisfied with the response, and the Department
has not received further inquiries about this matter. Additionally, as a matter of
note, the Department has never received a complaint alleging a violation of FERPA
regarding this issue. As you can see, the Department has worked hard and imagina-
tively within the statutory framework enacted by Congress to reach a practical reso-
lution of this issue. This resolution has been well-received in the academic commu-
nity.

I trust that this information is helpful to you. While the fact that student theses
are education records subject to FERPA is not a policy decision on the part of the
Department, but rather an application of the statute and legislative history, I be-
lieve that the Department has taken a Hexible approach with respect to this matter
which has satisfied the needs of the academic community.

Sincerely yours,
Marshall S. Smith.

Mr, Horn. Now, as I understand, Under Secretary Smith, you
worked for the Carter administration. I'm curious, did you agree
with Secretary Califano that spHtting off education was a bad idea;
or with Vice President Mondale that it was a good idea?
Mr. Smith. I agreed with Secretary Cahfano, that it was a bad

idea.

Mr. Horn. Really? You would have left it with HEW?
Mr. Smith. I would have.
Mr. Horn. Why do you come down on that side?
Mr. Smith. I believed at that point that you could better inte-

grate the social services, the welfare areas, and a variety of other
areas that HEW contained, with education. I believed that was im-
portant to do. I still believe that's important to do. I've changed my
views. I was also Shirley Hufstedler, who was the first Secretary
of Education, I was her first chief of staff.

And during that time, while I was working with her, I had a
very, very good working relationship with the Labor Department.
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We put together the last of Carter's domestic initiatives, practically

got it passed in the last days of 1980. But what I realized when
that happened was that we could create the kind of relationship be-

tween parts of the social sector, outside of education, that would
really facilitate education.

I believe we've done that in this administration, for example,
with the Labor Department; also working with Secretary Shalala
and others in HHS. So I think it can be accomplished in both
places. And I also believe now that the difference in the level of es-

teem that the Department can be held to, if it's a Department rath-

er than an Office, is very powerful and very important.
Mr. Owens. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. Horn. I will, yes.

Mr. Owens. Are you saying that you thought it was a bad idea
before, but you've seen the light now and you don't think
Mr. Smith. Well, I actually changed my mind back around 1980,

when I was working for Secretary Hufstedler.
Mr. Owens. Oh, I see.

Mr. Smith. But during the time it was coming to a vote and so

on, I was private about it. It was the President's initiative. If you're
a Presidential—I wasn't a Presidential appointee then, but I was
a political appointee. If you're that way, you
Mr. Owens. So, you've seen the light. Thank vou.
Mr. Horn. Well, one of the reasons I was K)r the creation of a

Department of Education was that I didn't feel the Secretary of
HEW spent much time worrying about education. The money was
with health and welfare. A relatively small amount of money in the
vast HEW department was with education.
We're going to recess now, but we will get back to this discussion

when we return from voting,

[Recess,]

Mr, Horn, Let's pick up where we left off. Is there anything
more you'd like to say about the old days with HEW, and did the
Secretary really have much time for education, versus the obvious
focus that you can have now?
Mr. Smith. Yes, it's clear that Secretary Riley spends a higher

proportion of his time on education than Secretary Califano did.

Secretary Califano spent quite a bit of time, even though occasion-
ally it was late in the afternoon or evening, or Saturdays or Sun-
days. But he was dedicated to it. He spent a great number of hours
on reauthorization and various policy matters, on the student loan
program, on civil rights and so on.

So he may have been a little bit different than others, but your
point is perfectly well taken, that clearly Secretary Riley spends
more time on it.

Mr. Horn. Recall when they first brought an Assistant Secretary
for Education in over the Commissioner, the Commissioner really
had the line responsibilities. But the Assistant Secretary was pre-
sumably in a coordinative mode with those 22 other programs and
agencies. Am I correct on that? How do you see it?

Mr. Smith. That's correct. I don't believe it worked very well. It

was a governmental advisory committee that was set up with mem-
bers of the other—there were 22 other organizations. It met occa-
sionally. Although senior people were supposed to be on the com-
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mittee, they typically sent junior people. This kind of coordination
is very difficult to work out in the government, as you know.
Mr. Horn. Yes. Now, under the current arrangement, does the

Secretary have any coordinate responsibilities with those in other
departments that relate to education? Or is there any apparatus
that includes them sometimes?
Mr. Smith, Well, there are a variety of different apparatuses that

both the Secretary and the Deputy Secretary are involved with,
around specific areas. Of course, by sitting on the Cabinet, the Sec-
retary has direct access to all of the other Secretaries, and there-
fore can coordinate in a much more direct manner than one would
have on an advisory committee of some sort.

Most of the good communication, the good work together, comes
over specific problems. And I've found that over the past 2V2 years,
it's been a very good experience with particularly Labor and HHS.
Mr. Horn. Let me move to another field. One of the ways some

say that you might solve the educational problem is simply give
block grants to the States, consolidate a number of the Department
programs within the Department. How do you feel about that?
Mr. Smith. Well, I think it depends upon how you've constructed

the block grant. The Secretary talks about responsible block grants.
The Vice President has a term, performance partnerships. The idea
is that a block grant, if it is to be responsible or if it is to be a per-
formance partnership, would have a very clear purpose. That is,

there would be a Federal purpose behind the block grant itself;

that there would be great flexibility for States and locaus, but they
would be held accountable, under some sort of performance part-
nership agreement.

In this wav, we begin to meet both the need to have a Federal
purpose for the expenditure of Federal resources; and the flexibility

that States and locals need to expend the money. The accountabil-
ity side of it would then be focused on performance, rather than in-

puts. As part of that, in many instances, one of the accountability
instruments would be targeting resources. That is, if it were a Fed-
eral purpose, for example, to serve disadvantaged youth in high
poverty schools, the Federal Government would have to ask that
the money be well targeted to those youth, and not just sent out
across all of the schools in a particular State or community.
Mr. Horn. In your review of Department activities for Vice Presi-

dent Gore and the National Performance Review, was there any
study given to block grants as an approach to handling the dis-

tribution of fees?

Mr. Smith, There has been. In the first performance review, we
proposed—and we've actually proposed to Congress—a block grant,
a performance partnership, in vocational education and one in

adult education. We intend to do something of the sort with special
education. It's not quite the same as we did in adult and vocational
education. But in all three of those cases, we are consolidating
some programs. In the case of vocational education, we are propos-
ing consolidation of about 20 programs, for example. We are giving
somewhat more flexibility, and we're asking for some performance
in return for the flexibility. We have some other performance part-
nerships under exploration. I'm not certain that they will in fact be
carried out. Let me mention one other kind of performance grant
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that's important. For Title I in the recent reauthorization of the El-

ementary and Secondary Education Act, we expanded the capacity

of States and local governments to move to what are called school-

wide projects.

In a school-wide project, in a high poverty school, all Title I re-

sources can be used to upgrade the entire school; not only the Title

I resources, but also other Federal resources can be integrated at

the point of delivery of service, which is really the critical point, at

the school building level. So we are also exploring ideas about how
one can coordinate resources to give local school people the kind of

flexibility that they need to provide services for their particular

students in the most effective way.
Mr. Horn. Moving to another area, before I yield to the ranking

minority member, the Department proposes hiring 600 new em-
ployees to work on loan delinquencies. Dollar for dollar, how does
the comparison stack up between government, solving the loan de-

linquency problem and putting that out to private collectors? And
how does Education's collection record compare with other Federal
agencies? Perhaps Mr. Wurtz can comment on that.

Mr. Smith. Yes, let me ask Don to take that.

Mr. WuRTZ. Well, Mr. Chairman, we use private collection agen-
cies right now. There has been quite a myth created by people indi-

cating that the Department of Education does very well putting
money out, we just can't get it back. The reality is, we have in-

creased collections by over 70 percent, just in the last 4 years. We
had a decline in terms of our defaults alone, going from a high of

$3.2 billion in 1991 to $2.4 billion in 1994, and we have collected

almost $1.4 billion last year.

Through our refund offset collection program with the Depart-
ment of the Treasury, IRS, we hit a maximum collection last year
of $600 million, just in refund offset. As a matter of fact, the de-

partment uses every collection tool that 0MB has recognized. We
lead every single credit agency in the use of good collection tools.

All of our collections are essentially—we use private collectors

where we can't collect.

So the idea that somehow there is a big government program
that is replacing a private sector program is sheer nonsense.
Mr. Horn. Weil, what are the 600 new employees doing if they're

working on loan delinquencies? Just what kind of work did they do
that you haven't already put out in the private sector?
Mr. Wurtz. Well, first of all, we don't have 600 employees work-

ing on loan delinquencies.
Mr. Horn. As I understand it, the Department has proposed hir-

ing 600 new employees; is that correct?
Mr. WuRTZ. The 600 employees was originally targeted in con-

nection with establishing the direct loan program. To date, we've
only hired 272 people. And that total number was anticipated to be
a peak number at the full point of implementation of the direct
loan, with a decline and an offsetting reduction in the guaranteed
loan employees themselves. So it's a transfer of employees from one
to the other.

We have had a slight increase, as I said, 272 employees hired for
direct loan purposes. That has gone up, while the Department as
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a whole has come down. So we have offset, by more than the num-
ber hired, in the Department as a whole.
Mr. Horn. Well, were the people you let go, were you merely

transferring them into this program, and they're under another
budget?
Mr. WURTZ. No.
Mr, Horn. Or are these new hires?

Mr, WuRTZ. You mean the people that
Mr. Horn. The 272—are these new hires?

Mr. WuRTZ. Many of those are new hires; some come from trans-

fers within the Department.
Mr. Horn. And what exactly do they do?
Mr, WuRTZ. They implemented the entire direct loan program.

That is setting up a program from scratch, in 11 short months, to

be able to set up the contracts; set up the data processing system;
get the programs up for delivery to the schools, where we have pro-

vided software to the individual schools that are participating; ac-

tually setting up all of the systems to do that, within an 11 month
timeframe set by Congress.
Mr, Horn, It takes 272 to write a common contract? What else

are they doing?
Mr, WuRTZ, No, those contracts aren't common contracts. And be-

lieve me, we're talking about contracts on the order of $300 million

for managing a program over a period of years. That's for the serv-

icing, and the collection of loans, and the processing of the informa-
tion necessary for financial purposes. It is setting up the training

programs for all of the schools; setting up the rules, the regula-

tions; getting into negotiated regulations with the industry itself

over the regulations to be used here.

It is a massive program. You're talking about very, very large

systems. For example, the National Student Loan Data System
that the Department has recently established is one of the largest

data processing programs in the country. We're talking massive
volumes here.

Mr. Horn. Remind me where we stand on the collection of loans
and money owed the Federal Government, in terms of utilizing the
income tax system.
Mr, WuRTZ, Well, in terms of utilizing the income tax system, we

established some years ago a tax refund offset program. That has
accelerated in the past 5 years from the beginning of the program
up to a maximum, as I said, $600 million that was collected in the
last fiscal year.

Mr, Horn, Now, that works only if they have a refund coming,
Mr, WuRTZ, That works if they have a refund.
Mr. Horn. I've never understood why we don't just bill them

through the income tax and say, by the way, you owe us x.

Mr. WuRTZ, Well, No. 1, the Internal Revenue Service is not set

up, systems-wise, to be able to do that kind of thing. Collecting of
student loans is quite different than the collection of taxes. The tax
laws themselves would have to be changed to enable the Internal
Revenue Service to do that. And additionally, right now, the Inter-

nal Revenue Service—the dollar levels that we're collecting are
something not within their scope.
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They would actually have to set up a separate division and set

up separate systems to collect student loans. And we've just fin-

ished a study for the Congress that we will release shortly that ex-

plains our conclusions as to the best use of the Internal Revenue
Service in this process.

Mr. Horn. And that study will be done when?
Mr. WuRTZ. We should have it within the next month.
Mr. Horn. Good. We'd appreciate a few copies for the minority

and majority on the committee. We'd seriously like to study this.

Mr. WuRTZ. We'd be happy to provide it.

Mr. Horn. The only reason—I suggested this 20 years ago to the

then-chairman of the major post-secondary subcommittee of the

House. And it seems to me, the only reason I could hear up here
for why someone was against it was the fear of losing jurisdiction

from the Education and Labor Committee, as it was known at that
time, to the House Committee on Ways and Means.

In other words, it was a silly turf battle. And for that, billions

of dollars were not collected. Arid of course, those of us that walk
these halls to get student grant money, student loan money, is the

worst thing that was thrown in our face. I remember the 60 Min-
utes episode when some UC-Berkeley dentist bragged about how he
had $60,000 of loans and he didn't intend to pay them back. Every
single Member of Congress seemed to see that show, and always
remembered it, nailing those that wanted more funding to help
worthy college students with the response, "why don't they pay
their loans back?"
Most do, you and I know. Some don't. I think Federal money

ought to be collected, period.

Mr. WuRTZ. Mr. Chairman, I can't agree more with you. The re-

ality is there are always great anecdotal stories. When you actually
look at the vast bulk of uncollectible student loans, the reason
they're uncollectible, very frankly, is the students did not get an
education.
Mr. Horn. Well, you're talking about the proprietary schools, pri-

marily, I think.

Mr. WuRTZ. Primarily. As you well know, 67 percent of our de-
faults come from proprietary institutions.

Mr. Horn. Right.
Mr. WuRTZ. And the program is set up in such a way that the

Congress must expect a certain level of defaults, if you have some-
thing you're not accomplishing.
Mr. Horn. I couldn't agree with you more. I suspect a little too

much PAC money was going to candidates in both parties on the
relevant committees. But that was a wide open door to stealing
from the Federal treasury, besides stealing from the youth who
thought they were going to get an education and then didn't.

Mr. WuRTZ. Mr. Chairman, if I might go back a moment to one
of your prior questions, having to do with consolidation. We have
obviously looked at that and looked at what potential exists for
that. One of the concerns that I have had since my role at GAO
has been that one of the problems in the Federal Government is

sheer size alone. And some of the biggest disasters that have oc-
curred in the private sector are where you've had different lines of
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business that people think they can run and just put them into one
big conglomerate.
And they have found out, where you have a different product

line, it's very important to understand that product line. It's very
important to be able to specialize in the handling of that product
itself, and to be able to deal with that effectively and efficiently.

And it's one of the reasons I wanted to come with the Department
of Education, because I saw the potential in the size of the organi-
zation to be able to turn it around and really make it a well-man-
aged, well-run operation.

And that is exactly where I believe we are heading, and where
we can go. I think if all of a sudden we put this into a mega-agen-
cy, we're going to have some serious problems in terms of being
able to manage and serve this country's student population.
Mr. Horn. Interesting point. I yield to the ranking member from

New York, Mrs. Maloney.
Mrs. Maloney. I'd like to follow up on the chairman's line of

questioning. I support student loans to the hilt. I think we should
support it and fund it. But I also am very disturbed when I see it

abused and not treated respectfully. We just passed a very tough
bill on deadbeat dads, on enforcement of their responsibility, to the
extent of not allowing drivers' license if they aren't being faithful

to their responsibilities; garnishing wages; all types of very, very
strict enforcement.
Why could we not do the same thing with student loans? Because

it's these 60 Minutes stories that really hurt the support of the
American people for student loans. I think that a student should
have a loan to go to college. We need college educations now for

many, many jobs. But why haven't we used that more strictly, as
the chairman was mentioning?
Mr. WURTZ. Mrs. Maloney, let me respond a moment, because

again, the student loan perhaps is one of the most difficult Federal
obligations one can have. First of all, if you default on a student
loan, you will never get a Federal job; you will never get a State
job; your credit history—you won't be able to borrow to buy a car;

you will not be able to borrow to buy a house.
That has no statute of limitations. All of your tax refunds, if you

ever have any, will be recovered. And on top of that, we will gar-
nish your wages. So the levels of which we are applying today to

collect student loans is among the strongest of the Federal Govern-
ment, believe me. And we are applying those. As I've said, if a stu-

dent has a job, we're going to get them.
Mrs. Maloney. OK. Now, just to clarify on his questioning. You

first attempt to get the loan repaid through your office, and then
you contract out to a private collector; is that correct? You try two
or three times yourself, then the hard ones contract out; how does
that work?
Mr. WuRTZ. Well, currently, in the guaranteed loan program we

have two programs, obviously, right now. But in both programs,
you have a situation in which you have the initial default of a loan.

Technically, the banks are supposed to apply collection procedures.
Very frankly, many of the banks have little interest in collecting

those loans and applying those costs to do that. That is then turned
over to the guarantee agencies.
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The guarantee agencies, technically, are supposed to apply proce-

dures up front to prevent the loan from going into a final default

position. There is very little incentive for the guarantee agencies to

actually prevent that loan from going into default, because they get

reimbursed, at the current time 97 percent of that loan when it

goes into default. And if, on the subsequent basis, they turn around
and collect it, they collect an additional 27 percent.

So when I was with GAO we were studying this and looking at

the student loan program. At that time, like all auditors, we all

come up and say, gee, there needs to be more controls here; there

needs to be more controls there. And all of a sudden, we sat back
and we said, my gosh, the structure of this program is flawed. And
that is one of the reasons GAO at that point in time was looking

into the direct loan options and what potential exists for savings

in the program.
But once they are either collected or not collected at the guaran-

tee agencies, they can hold them for a given period of time and
then they revert to the Department. We will then apply collection

procedures initially. If we don't collect, they're immediately turned
over to the outside collection agencies.

Mrs. Maloney. Why don't we come in, before the guarantor
agency makes the 27 percent profit?

Mr. WURTZ. We will certainly do that in the direct loan program.
Mrs. Maloney. So the direct loan program will take that—as

soon as they
Mr. WuRTZ. In the direct loan program, they all come to us and

we collect them immediately. And if we can't collect them on first

push, we turn them over immediately.
Mrs. Maloney. So this is terrific. How much do you think you'll

save the taxpayers through this program?
Mr. WuRTZ. I don't have that number off the top of my head, but

I know Mr. Komfeld has a very significant idea of how much addi-

tional savings will be collected.

Mrs. Maloney. I would like some more information on that.

Mr. WURTZ. Through the direct loan program, we know we're
going to save quite a bit.

Mrs. Maloney. Some more information on that. Mr. Smith, I no-

ticed in your charts that the Hispanic population has a much high-
er drop out rate than any other ethnic group.
Mr. Smith. Yes, it does.

Mrs. Maloney. Do you have any explanation for that?

Mr. Smith. Well, part of that comes from the immigration into

the United States of people who have had low incomes for long pe-

riods of time, and who speak a different language than is spoken
in the United States. That is a major contributor. And when one
looks at second and third generation Hispanic Americans, that drop
out rate improves rather dramatically.

It's also true, however, that many Hispanic Americans in the
first generation and second generation live in communities where
the schools aren't as good as they are in other communities. They
don't get the resources, the support systems. They don't have
teachers who can speak their language. So there is, I believe, both
a social reason for this and also a cultural reason.
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Mrs. Maloney. Well, I think your research shows why we need
a Federal board of education.

Mr. Smith. I think we do.

Mrs. Malxdney. To assimilate all this information,

Mr. Smith. That's right.

Mrs. Maloney. How would you define the appropriate distribu-

tion of responsibility between the Federal Government, State gov-

ernment and local school systems?
Mr. Smith. We define it as a partnership. Secretary Riley sees

the Federal Government in a supportive relationship to State de-

partments of education and to local school systems, if they should
ask for assistance. We don't have enough people to direct technical

assistance right down to the school building level in most cases, al-

though we do some of that.

The trick here, I think, is to recognize what the Organization Act
of the Department of Education and many of our other acts hold
out. That is that we should not be involved in curriculum matters;

we should not be involved in details and mandates at the State
level or the local level.

But what we should be doing is supporting, is giving assistance,

is giving information, providing resources when necessary, and
helping students, such as those students going on to college. So it's

a little bit of a tightrope. We do not step over that line, although
some critics of ours say that we have.
But if one were to talk to Secretary Riley, coming out of a Gover-

norship of a small State, respects notions of State rights, and un-
derstands them deeply. What he is doing is trying to build that
partnership over time so that it lasts beyond his tenure in the De-
partment.
Mrs. Maloney. OK Thank you very much. My time is up.
Mr. Horn. Let me pursue the loan question a bit. Mr. Wurtz,

perhaps you can help me with this answer. What's the average per-

cent of delinquency of loans in the private sector? Do you happen
to know that, just based on your analysis of various programs?
Mr. WuRTZ. No, the average delinquency will vary by the nature

of loans you're dealing with—whether they're car loans or whether
they're mortgage loans, whether they're individual personal loans,

consumer debt. It would vary all over, depending on the nature of

the
Mr. Horn. Where might we find answers to that if we wanted

to

Mr. Wurtz. We'd be happy to try to get you some general statis-

tics on that, if you'd like.

Mr. Horn. Good, or point us in the right direction. One of the
things that concerns me, as I look at the charts provided by the fi-

nancial management service of the Treasury—you've got two charts
here which, without objection, I'll include in the record at this

point.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Total Non-tax Delinquent Receivables—as of September 30, 1994

|$49.9 billion]

Agency billion

USOA 12.3

Education M.5

HUD 4-4

SBA 1.9

VA 3.1

Other 13.6

Source Report on Receivables Due From the Public, as of January 5, 1995

Total Non-tax Receivables—as of September 30, 1994

[$241.3 billion]

Agency billion percent

USDA 113.7 47

Education 15.7 6

HUO 22 9

SBA 9.3 4

YA 4.6 2

Other 76 32

Source: Report on Receivables Due From the Public, as of January 5, 1995

Mr. Horn. One is the tot^l non-tax receivables, as of September
30, 1994. Total non-tax receivables for the Federal Government, as
a whole, is $241.3 billion. Of that, the U.S. Department of Agri-

culture has $113.7 billion, or 47 percent. Education is relatively

small—$15.7 billion, 6 percent of the non-tax receivables. Then you
have HUD, SBA, VA, so forth.

What concerns me is the next chart, which is the total non-tax
delinquent receivables, as of September 30, 1994. USDA has only
$12.3 billion out of $113.7 billion that are delinquent. Education
has $14.5 billion, or 29 percent of the delinquent non-tax receiv-

ables, out of a total number of non-tax receivables of $15.7 billion.

Do you think that ratio is one that we can be proud of?

Mr. WURTZ. I think what that chart shows, Mr. Chairman, is you
don't mix statistics. That is a chart that we are currently working
with 0MB to improve the nature of the data to make some mean-
ing out of it. It is totally meaningless at the present time. Let me
give you an example—when you compare those debts at Agri-
culture, you're talking about the original direct loans they have out
there. WTiat we're talking about, in the loans that show up for Edu-
cation, are all defaults to begin with.
They are already delinquencies, because at the point in time that

chart was prepared, we did not make any direct loans. So what
you're seeing there as a gross amount was delinquent at the time
we got it; it was in default. So therefore
Mr. Horn. So you're saying there's a difference between a default

and a delinquent default.
Mr. WuRTZ. Well, let me give you a delinquency, a loan that you

could have with the Department of Agriculture. Let's say you have
a farmer's home mortgage loan. That loan is, let's say, for $100,000
for a piece of farm property. They haven't made their payment in,

let's say, 120 days. They're delinquent on that loan. A default from
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our point of view is a loan that is delinquent for over 270 days

—

we've got dead loans sitting there.

These are loans we paid off to guarantee agencies that are in de-

fault, and now we're trying to collect an already-dead loan. So the
meaning of those statistics doesn't really prove anything. This
proves what you've measured when you begin with, not the total

portfolio. Our total portfolio at that point in time was $70 billion.

Our total default rate has gone down from 22 percent in 1991, to

15 percent currently.

So if you look at charts 7 and 8, that we have provided you, you
can see that our delinquencies have gone down significantly in

terms of our defaults as a whole. You can see on 7A, your gross
student loan defaults hit a peak of about $3.2 billion in 1991.
They're now down to $2.4 billion in 1994. As a percentage of the
loans outstanding, getting a peak of almost 5.5, 5.6 percent in

1991, down to a little over 3 percent in 1994, as a percent of loans
outstanding.
So our record is improving substantially, in terms of the total

number of loans that are out there that we're guaranteeing, and
now, that we will be making directly.

Mr. Horn. The charts referred to are charts 7A, 7B and 8, ref-

erence to student loans defaults, which accompany the statement
of Under Secretary Smith; just so the reader ultimately has a sense
of comparing these. I must say, I do find it difficult—and we will

be asking the Treasury—as to the common terminology, and
whether we're really off that much. These are official Treasury
charts?
Mr. WURTZ. Yes.
Mr. Horn. Note it starts with $241.3 billion, total non-tax receiv-

ables, of which $49.9 billion are non-tax delinquent receivables, of
which Education is 29 percent of that.

Mr. WuRTZ. Yes.
Mr. Horn. More than any other agency, or combination of agen-

cies.

Mr. WURTZ. Exactly, and as I said, we're working currently with
Treasury and 0MB to change the nature of that chart to make it

meaningful. Because at the current time, if you start with every-
thing delinquent, you're going to end up with a large percentage of
the delinquencies.
Mr. Horn. Well, we start with everything receivable, and then

we end up with the delinquent receivables, according to these
charts.

Mr. WuRTZ. See, and that's what we don't have. We didn't have

—

the receivable is a defaulted student loan. When we get it on our
books as that, it's a defaulted student loan, because we don't show
the total loans outstanding, because they're guaranteed loans, not
direct loans.

Mr. Horn. Well, the irony is, the money is about half the budget
of the Department of Education for 1 year. With the government
having a $250 billion deficit, heaven knows that if we could collect

some of these, it would help a little bit.

Mr. WuRTZ. That $14 billion has been accumulated over about
the past 10, 12 years.
Mr. Horn. And private collection hasn't done any good?
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Mr. WURTZ. We've collected a great deal over that period of time.

As I said, our collections have gone up dramatically. And we are

continuing to improve our collection efforts every year, as shown by
the rate going down in chart 8 of our total defaults as a percentage
of the loans outstanding.
Mr. Horn. Well, I look forward to that paper where you will tell

us how we get our money back. I don't care if it's how many years
ago, I just think they ought to pay up. Education needs better

consumer information, as we all know. Universities, I think, do a
pretty good job now in that area, of telling students what their obli-

gations are. But to me, it's absolutely outrageous to not collect this

money.
Well, we thank you for your testimony. It's been very helpful and

it stimulated a number of ideas in a number of areas to pursue.
I thank you for coming and sharing it with us.

Mr. Smith. Thank you.
Mr, Horn. Panel three becomes panel two. We have Mr. Finn

and Mr. Hansen. So if you will come forward, we'll begin. Raise
your right hand, gentlemen.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. Horn. We're delighted to have you with us, two recognized

experts in this area. We start with Dr. Chester Finn, John M. Olin
fellow at the Hudson Institute. Dr. Finn. We put your statement
in the record, as you know, and please try to summarize in 5 min-
utes, and then we can question you.

STATEMENT OF CHESTER E. FINN, JR., JOHN M. OLIN FELLOW,
THE HUDSON INSTITUTE; AND WILLIAM D. HANSEN, EXECU-
TIVE DIRECTOR OF THE EDUCATION FINANCE COUNCIL
Mr. Finn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It's nice to see you again.

My recollection of this room was formed about 16 years ago, when
I accompanied Senator Moynihan, for whom I was then working,
to this room as he tried to explain to Chairman Brooks and the
committee why it was a bad idea to create a Department of Edu-
cation. Sixteen years later, I find myself back here, hopeful that
the committee will now remedy the damage.

I've called my statement, "Rethinking the Federal Role in Edu-
cation,"

Mr. Horn. I assume you wrote both statements.
Mr. Finn. They're consistent, too.

Mr. Horn. Good, OK.
Mr. Finn. A lot of time has passed, and a certain amount of

water has flowed over the dam. As you know, several of your col-

leagues tomorrow will introduce a bill to fundamentally transform
the Federal role in education, including the abolition of the Depart-
ment of Education, and a Senate bill will follow. The essence of

what I'd like to say can be communicated in seven blunt sentences.
I'd like to state them, and then elaborate just a bit.

First, I believe the Federal Government has become a meddle-
some, bullying force in American education, especially at the pri-

mary and secondary level; one that undermines State, community
and parental responsibility and impedes more reform than it fos-

ters. Second, nearly all of its programs, especially at the Depart-
ment of Education, are addressed to yesterday s problems—the
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problems of the mid-'60's—problems of quantity and supply and ac-

cess, and are almost entirely un suited to today's central education
problems of quality, productivity and effectiveness.

Third, efforts to reinvent the Department of Education are futile,

precisely because the essential nature of most of what the Depart-
ment does is out of sync with what the country needs today.
Fourth, as an agency, the 15-year-old department arose from a bald
political deal between President Carter and the National Education
Association, and today is more attentive to the interests of the
unions and of education's other producers than to the interests of
consumers.

Fiflh, consistent with the bill that's going to be introduced in the
House tomorrow, one of three things should happen to every activ-

ity of the Education Department—termination, consolidation into
strings-free block grants, or transfer to other Federal agencies.
Sixth, then we wouldn't need an Education Department, and it

could be put out of its misery. Seventh, insofar as there is any en-
during Federal role in education, its focus should be on fostering
family responsibility, local control. State authority, providing sound
statistics, assessments and other information, and safeguarding in-

dividuals from illegal discrimination.
Well, that's seven, and I'd like to just emphasize what I believe

is the most important point here, which is the archaic nature of the
programs themselves. The Department of Education's 240 pro-

frams, with few exceptions, are embodiments of the Great Society's
iagnosis, in the mid-1960's, of what was wrong with American

education: There wasn't enough of it. And most of the programs
and most of the money go to solve that presumed problem, which
may well have been a legitimate problem as perceived 30 years
ago, but which is, I think, entirely out of whack with the central
dilemmas facing American education today, which have to do with
efficiency, productivity, performance, quality, student achievement.
The Department of Education is almost irrelevant to those activi-

ties. And many would say it's become dysfunctional with respect to

those objectives, because of the ways in which it constrains what
States and communities and families can do to improve their chil-

dren's education. I'd be happy to supply some examples, but I think
in the interest of the subcommittee scnedule, I'll wait until there's
time for discussion. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Finn, Jr., follows.]

Prepared Statement of Chester E. Finn, Jr., John M. Olin Fellow, the
Hudson Institute

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Sub-committee:
I appreciate the invitation to appear today. To begin with my conclusions: the fed-

eral role in education needs a top-to-bottom overhaul and radical shrinkage. In
keeping with that overhaul and shrinkage, the structures that manage the present
role need fundamental alteration; in the case of the Department of Education that
alteration should take the form of disestablishment. Bills to accomplish those
changes are being introduced this week in both House and Senate. Many such
changes are also foreshadowed in the recent budget resolutions of House and Sen-
ate. While I understand that this is not a hearing to consider specific legislative or
fiscal proposals, allow me to note that those bills and budget assumptions are
grounded in the kind of analysis I'm providing today and would go far toward the
cures indicated by that diagnosis.

Let me also note that portions of this statement are drawn from testimony pre-
sented to the Committee on Economic and Educational Opportunities by former Sec-
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retaries Lamar Alexander and Bill Bennett in late January. I assisted them with
its preparation and have their permission to borrow from it.

what's gone wrong

The federal education apparatus illustrates what has gone awry in Washington
over the past several decades. The national government has become meddlesome,
intrusive and bullying. It now impedes more than it fosters. Much of what it man-
dates or encourages is misguideci. It keeps people from doing what they know is

right for their children, communities and states. It substitutes the rules of distant

bureaucrats for the on-site knowledge of parents and teachers. And, particularly in

the last several years, it has begun to lift from our communities the sense that they
are responsible for the renewal and reform of American education and to suggest,

instead, that Washington knows best and is taking charge.

Presidents Reagan and bush sought to reverse the stream, to put the emphasis
on states and communities, to promote flexibility and choice, to forge a true partner-

ship with the governors, to end discrimination against individuals without pref-

erential treatment for any group, and to halt Washington's growing regulatory appa-
ratus. But ever;' such enort was rebuffed by the Democratic Congress, now aiaed
and abetted by the Clinton administration, which has pressed relentlessly in the op-

posite direction, encouraged in this endeavor by education's myriad special interest

groups.
If anyone thinks I exaggerate, please read the full texts of Goals 2000 and "H.R.

6", the administration's two main elementary/secondary education bills, as finally

enacted by the 103rd Congress. Especially when these are taken in combination, it

becomes plain that their authors want to substitute decisions made in Washington
for decisions made by individual households and communities. They create new gov-

ernance mechanisms and regulatory apparatus at both national and state levels.

They use federal funding in a deceptive way that is designed to elicit the very forms
of behavior that other parts of the legislation term "voluntary". They throw obsta-

cles onto such promising reform pathways as school choice and the private manage-
ment of public schools. They transform what had been a national movement into

a federal program. They strip the bi-partisan National Assessment (joveming Board
of much of its independence. They give federal officials sway over state and local

reform plans, create a new body called the National Education Standards and Im-
provement Council that is not wrongly compared to a "national school board", au-
thorize development of national standards for school spending and other inputs, and
legitimize curricular guidelines such as those recently published, to widespread
alarm, for U.S. and world history.

In reauthorizing the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (H.R. 6), Congress
also wrote more rules concerning such hot buttons as sex education, prayer, gender
equity and weapons in schools—^prompting former secretary Alexander to remark
that "They think we're too stupid to decide these things in our own communities."
Then there's last year's wholesale reorganization of tne Office of Educational Re-

search and Improvement, one of eight divisions of the Education Department.
Though it dispenses less than $100 million a year in research funds, nearly all of
which is earmarked by Congress for specific grantees, the 1994 legislation creates
a cumbersome new superstructure that mimics the National Institutes of Health
(which spend $11 billion annually). A wee agency that would benefit from simplicity
and de-layering has instead been split into five new "institutes" whose very names
evoke the "stakeholder" groups whose interests underlie this reorganization. Astride
all that bureaucratic paraphernalia, along with Assistant Secretary Sharon Robin-
son, Secretary Dick Riley and the rest oi the department hierarchy, is yet another
new panel, this one called the National Educational Research Policy and Priorities

Boara, which recently held its first meeting. The administration put some talented
people onto this board. But nearly all of them are employed by school systems or
universities. Though meticulously balanced by race, gender and region, it's another
producer-dominated body that will pay scant heed to the priorities and concerns of
parents, employers or taxpayers.

It's that attitude—defer to the experts, keep power with the producers—that has
caused manv consumers of education to conclude that Uncle Sam cannot be trusted
to look out for their interests. That's why the existence of the Education Department
itself is now hotly contested. That adolescent agency has come to symbolize the loss
of control over the schools of one's community to distant exp)erts and officials.

The real arrogance of Washington with respect to education—the part that recalls
the "disinformation" activities of the Cold War—is the pretense that nothing worri-
some is really happening and that all the federal control will "help". Look at the
labels pasted on the covers. Goals 2000 was called the "Educate America Act". H.R.
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6 was dubbed the "Improving America's Schools Act". I don't believe Orwell could
have done better, considering that the contents of these measures were developed
by and for lobbyists and interest groups to whom the skills and knowledge of cnil-

dren are not the top priority.

Federal education policy has been moving in this direction since 1965. It took a

breather, at least witnin the executive branch, between 1981 and 1993, but the past

two years have seen the pent-up "governmentalism" of that decade unleashed upon
the land. For a time, some otherwise-conservative education reformers, myself in-

cluded, supposed that it was possible to have a national education reform project

that would work like a true partnership and not evolve into another rule-bound fed-

eral program. The last two years have proven us wrong. In addition to Groals 2000
and H.R. 6, we have seen the executive branch give blanket endorsement to scholar-

ships based on race; take the heat off those who would mandate "diversity" as a
criterion for accreditation and thus turn political correctness into a precondition for

federal aid; propose the race-norming of state assessment results; and persecute
states that employ test-based standards for high school graduation. Ultimately, it

is now plain, the federal government is bound to break whatever it touches in edu-
cation—and waste a goocfly amount of the taxpayer's money in the process. Rather
than tinker around the margins, therefore, the tune has come for a great and thor-

ough change.

THE FEDERAL ROLE IN EDUCATION

The U.S. Constitution never mentions the word "education", whereas it's embed-
ded in the constitutions of every one of the fifty states.

Yet today the Education Department alone is home to some 240 separate pro-

grams that spend, in the aggregate, nearly $500 for every student (elementary, sec-

ondary, post-secondary) in America. And that's without considering the education
programs run by other agencies such as Health and Human Services (Head Start,

financial aid for medical students, etc.). Labor (myriad job training schemes), the
National Endowment for the Humanities, the National Science Foundation, the De-
fense Department, and so on. Across the government, estimates for federal edu-
cation support in Fiscal 1994 totaled $68 billion in "on-budget" outlays and nearly
$20 billion more in "non-federal funds generated by federal programs' (most of the
latter being private capital for federally-guaranteed loans to college students).

Though one can find seeds of federal involvement with education in the Nine-
teenth century (including the Northwest Ordinance, the Morrill Act, and the found-
ing of an education statistics-gathering unit just after the Civil War), the present
federal role in education was predominantly shaped during the mid-1960's as part

of the "Great Society" and the "War on Poverty". Most of today's federal programs
and activities in education continue to reflect the purposes, priorities, assumptions
and values of that era. The architects of the education programs of the Great Soci-

ety were certain that the nation's education problems were fundamentally problems
of shortage—and their solutions lay in augmenting the supply of education services

and the access of those who had been deprived.

I am not here to quarrel with this mid-sixties reasoning. There were genuine
quantity-and-access problems at the time, and it was legitimate to enlist the na-

tional government in their solution. But the world has changed in the three decades
since these programs were bom and these assumptions fixed in policy. The essential

nature of tne education problems facing the United States is altogether different

today. And programs conceived for one purpose are seldom suited to another. This,

I submit, is the central reason that current federal activities in the field of edu-
cation are unsuitable to produce the performance improvements and efficiency gains
that analysts urge, that parents, taxpayers and employers demand, and that gov-
ernors, legislators and community leaders now seek from their schools.

Though "quality" has recently entered the lexicon of federal program managers
and advocates, it's not what those programs were intended for or how they were de-

signed. It's not how they spend their money or the thrust of their regulations. It's

not something they have successfully induced in the past. And there's little reason
to believe that their efficacy will change in the future, however many "reinvention"
activities we engage in. We really shouldn't expect it to. That would be like takirig

a pEinel truck designed to deliver miUc and entering it in the Indianapolis 500. It

won't do well in this setting because it was not built for speed. (And it will probably
get in the way of faster and more nimble vehicles and may cause them to crash.)

Let me set forth five aging assumptions that underlie most Education Department
programs and activities. All five come straight from the social reform handbook of
the mid-sixties. As I go, I will briefly indicate why they are ill-suited to the pressing
education dilemmas of the mid-nineties.
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1. The great problem of American education is that some people get more of it

than other people do. Access to educational offerings and services must be expanded
and underwritten, particularly for needy portions of the population (the poor, handi-
capped, minorities, non-English speaking, etc.) that are not receiving enough serv-

ices and have in some cases been denied them. Because states and localities are not

meeting these needs and cannot be trusted to do so, it's the federal government's
obligation to intervene.
Today, access is virtually universal but the quality of what children have access

to is mediocre, expectations are low, and results are unsatisfactory, both for those
who are aided and those who are not. Federal interventions have begun to create

perverse incentives (such as classifying more and more children as "disabled'^ and
to impede bold reform efforts.

2. States and communities are stubbornly set in their ways, miserly, sometimes
discriminatory, and ignorant about education research and effective practice. The
federal government therefore needs to foster innovation, justice and the dissemina-
tion of knowledge.

Today, states and conununities are taking the lead in trying to transform their

schools, but federal programs and policies often get in their way. It's not likely that
they would discriminate against their least fortunate children—but it's very likely

that they want to try dramatically different ways of helping those children than fea-

eral laws, regulations and funding practices now permit. Moreover, in an age filled

with CD-ROMs and on-line information services, with faxes, e-mail, cable television,

conference-calling and widespread travel, state and local education agencies have
ready access to knowledge and expertise, as do teachers and other school practition-

ers throughout the land.

3. A unified and essentially "monopolistic" public school system, regulated into

uniformity and managed centrally, is the best way to distribute educational re-

sources according to national priorities and is, accordingly, the proper focus of fed-

eral policy and programs.
This assumption goes back to the "scientific management" ideas of the 1920's and

the belief that "public" schools mean schools run by government agencies. Today,
however, many people conceive of public education as consisting of schools that
serve the public but that may be organized and run in a thousand different ways,
thus fostering innovation, competition and quality. Yet federal programs discrimi-
nate against many of these alternatives, including non-government schools, charter
schools and home-schooling.

4. Redistributing resources from people, states and regions that have more to

those with less is both a proper function of the national government and a way to
improve education. Hence "poverty" and other indicators of "neediness" should be
the primary basis for receiving federal education assistance.
Whatever one thinks about the redistributionist ethic in general, it's clear that

it has perverse effects within federal education programs, such as "punishing"
schools and individuals that do well and pull themselves out of ignorance and pov-
erty. Moreover, the strings tied to the money turn into red tape, bureaucracy and
regulations that stifle the types of originality that American education desperately
needs.

5. Experts know best what kind of education people should receive. The profes-
sionals who "deliver" education are, therefore, Washington's primary clients, even
though the resources provided to them are sent in the name of needy consumers.
Consumers now have very different ideas about education reform than do "ex-

perts", and many consumers would make different decisions about the use of re-

sources if they had any say. The federal government's deference to "producers" is

not confined to education, of course, but in this field it shores up the status quo,
keeps power with the "establishment" and deters radical change. It also underwrites
bureaucracy, subsidizes the very organizations that lobby it for still more money,
and pumps billions of dollars each year into the bank accounts of middle class pro-
fessionals.

The assumptions and priorities that I have just summarized underlie practically
all of the Education Department's programs and will guide the expenditure of nearly
all of the money that Congress is being asked to appropriate for federal education
programs in fiscal 1996. It will be said—indeed is already being said before commit-
tees of this Congress—that the well-being of children is at stake, that equity, justice
and decency demand a continuation of these programs and expenditures, that our
schools have somehow turned the quality corner and are now on the path to excel-
lence, and that maintaining the present federal role will prof>el them down that
path at a faster clip. That is the Clinton administration's view and it is shared by
the education establishment and pressed by the innumerable Washington lobbyists
employed by the hundreds of organizations that comprise that establishment.
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The only problem is that it isn't true. The fact is that nearly everything the Edu-
cation Department does is based on yesterday's out-dated assumptions, on pious but
unproven hopes, on dubious claims, and on reasoning that most serious analysts
find faulty. The fact is that there is no evidence to support the view that the aver-

age American child will learn more, or that the typical American school will become
more productive, or that the quality of American education as a whole will improve
one iota, as a result of continuing the federal role as it exists today.

THE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT

The Cabinet-level Education Department is fifteen years old this month. I worked
there myself from 1985 to 1988.
A bill to carve the present Department from the then-Department of Health, Edu-

cation and Welfare was sent to Congress by President Jimmy Carter in fulfillment

of a bargain that he, as a candidate, had struck with the National Education Asso-
ciation during the 1976 election: a separate department in return for the N.E.A.'s
campaign support. (The details of this pact—and Vice President Mondale's insist-

ence that Carter honor his end of it—are recounted in chapter 7 of Governing Amer-
ica, former H.E.W. Secretary Joseph A. Califano, Jr.'s memoir of the Carter admin-
istration. Simon & Schuster, 1981.) But the proposal was not universally popular,
even among Democrats. Opponents included American Federation of Teachers presi-

dent Albert Shanker, Harvard professor David Riesman, The New York Times, The
Washington Post and Senator Daniel P. Moynihan.
Almost all of the present Education Department was cut from the former Depav-t-

ment of Health, Education and Welfare. President Carter had proposed a more com-
prehensive assemblage including Head Start, school breakfast and lunch programs,
schools serving Native Americans and U.S. military dependents, etc. But the resist-

ance from constituencies of such programs was intense.

In its first year (FY 1980), the Education Department housed 150 programs fund-
ed at $14 billion. Today, as noted above, it contains almost 250 separately-author-
ized programs and employs nearly 5000 persons. Its FY '95 appropriation totals

$31.5 billion, including approximately $12 billion for elementary/secondary/voca-
tional education, $6 billion lor special education and rehabilitative services, and $13
billion for postsecondary education (primarily college student loans and grants).

THE REINVENTION ILLUSION

If we accept the basic assumptions of the mid-sixties about what are the problems
in American education and what sorts of things the federal government snould be
doing to solve them, there's no doubt that the Education Department could be made
more efficient in carrying out its assignments. Aft^r all, today it's one of the least

efficient organizations in the world.

With that in mind, I read with interest a recent account of a bureaucracy-reduc-
tion activity that has been underway at the Department for the past eighteen
months, known as the "low-hanging apples" program. The cute name refers to cum-
bersome rules and procedures that create delays, impediments and costs so obvious
and presumably so simple to end that doing something about them is analogized to

plucking the fruit that one does not even need a ladder to reach.

The account I read reported that 95 such "apples" had been spotted. Four exam-
ples were given:

* It's no longer necessary to punch in an accounting code at the Education Depart-
ment for every copy you make on the Xerox machine.

* Employees can now initiate the process of getting agency documents printed by
the G.P.O. by using one form rather than two.

* Because today's fax machines automatically log what they've transmitted, it's

no longer necessary for Department staffers to maintain manual logs of facsimile
transmissions.

* When it comes time to reward employees under the General Performance Ap-
praisal System, several individuals can be named on a single form rather than sub-
mitting a separate one for each person.

Of course those are bureaucratic improvements of a minor sort. From the stand-
point of improving American education, however, on a scale of one to a hundred
they may move the nation from 3.001 to 3.002. And if one believes that greater efli-

ciency at the Education Department may make life more difficult for those trying
to improve American education, the slight movement may be in the opposite direc-

tion.

What about larger-scale reinvention efforts? Some, on their face, seem to move in

a sound direction. The administration deserves credit, for example, for proposing to

eliminate or consolidate several dozen programs. One can scarcely quarrel with its
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goal of simplifying and expediting the grant-making procesa (one of the Education
Department's most dysfunctional bureaucracies). If there's to be federal "technical

assistance", I do not doubt that it would be more efficient to deliver it through a
smaller number of centers with broader-gauged functions. And so forth. But when
it comes to education, the National Performance Review is fundamentally flawed by
virtue of the fact that it rests on erroneous assumptions about what the federal gov-

ernment ought to be doing in this domain. It partakes of the mid-sixties diagnosis
of what's wrong and what should be done about it. And in that diagnosis and pro-

posed cure it is fundamentally wrong and thus the treatment could leave the patient

in even worse shape. Making it more efficient in pursuing misguided ends seems
to me a wholly dubious undertaking, like giving a sharper scalpel to that surgeon
who amputated the wrong foot.

A DIFFERENT PHILOSOPHY

What should we do instead? I suggest that the necessary overhaul of the federal

role should be based on four clear principles or assumptions:
First, education in America is the constitutional responsibility of the states, the

social responsibility of communities, and the moral responsibility of families.

Second, except when the civil rights of individuals are menaced, the federal gov-

ernment should never impede the capacity of families, communities and states to

decide how best to provide education to their children, and should never substitute
itsJudgment for theirs.

Third, goals, standards, assessments, the dissemination of information and ideas,

and the encouragement of bold innovation are legitimate leadership and "bully pul-

pit" activities of national officials, but must always be truly voluntary on the part
of states and communities. Nor should federal funds be used as "carrots" or "sticks"

in ways that effectively diminish state and local control.

Fourth, insofar as the federal government is engaged at all in the field of edu-
cation, it should dedicate itself to (a) fostering family responsibility and local con-
trol, (b) assisting states to fulfill their responsibilities as they see fit, (c) providing
sound statistics, prompt and accurate assessment results and other information, and
(d) safeguarding individuals from illegal discrimination.

COMPREHENSIVE DEVOLUTION

What do those principles imply by way of programs and policies? Here we ap-
proach the heart of the matter. It's my view that Congress should take every single

activity currently housed in the Department of Education and do one of three things
with it: (a) sena it home to the states and communities; (b) entrust it to another
federal agency that is suited to conduct it in harmony with related activities; or (c)

abolish it on grounds that the federal government can no longer afford to spend
money on programs that have outlived their usefulness or that can be handled satis-

factorily by others. I won't try here to fill in every detail or answer each Question
that might be asked about this far-reaching recommendation, but the examples that
follow indicate its main features.

Sending r-esponsibility home
* Virtuallv all major programs assisting elementary/secondary education should

be combined into one or two "block grants and returned to the states and commu-
nities. There may or may not be a net reduction in federal aid from this consolida-

tion, depending on what share of federal budget-balancing must be borne by edu-
cation. Whatever the sums, the block grants through which they flow should be com-
Rletely flexible as to what they can be used for. (Here, as in welfare, some governors
ave indicated a willingness to receive less money if it comes with no strings.) These

decisions belong to communities and states, to families and individual schools, and
the federal government ought not tell them what they can and cannot do. There
should be no deterrents to such innovations as charter schools, vouchers and private
management, should states or communities wish to pursue those approaches. The
federal government should no longer define legitimate education reform, nor should
states and communities have to submit plans to Washington for approval.
The core of the block grant(3) should be programs currently founa under the head-

ings of "education reform" (including (joals 2000), school improvement, education for

the disadvantaged, bilingual education, and vocational and adult education—ap-
proximately $10 billion in all. (If one mistrusts block grants on grounds that they
will inevitably attract "strings" and conditions in the future, an alternative is to de-

vise a resource base transfer whereby some federal tax is reduced by an amount
equivalent to the federal programs that would then be voided, thus leaving it to

state and communities to raise and deploy these revenues as they see fit.)
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* Another block grant to the states would combine higher education programs
other than student aid. (The latter need overhauling, too, but that's a complicated
business. Until they can be properly transformed, Fd keep them operating, trans-
ferred to another suitable agency.)

* Special education and rehabilitation services warrant consultation with the gov-
ernors and others. The soon-to-be-introduced bills keep those programs intact for the
time being, mindful that the I.D.E.A. program is, in any case, due for reauthoriza-
tion. This is an aid program, to be sure, but it is also the largest "unfunded" edu-
cation mandate, i.e. federal regulations reauire the expenditure by states and local-

ities of many billions more than the federal aid provided. And it is deeply entangled
with civil rights enforcement.

Transfers

* All civil rights enforcement in the field of education should move to the Justice
Department, with the admonition that this important federal function be vigorously
carried out when discrimination against individuals is involved, but not be used as
a tool for granting or withholding rights and benefits on the basis of group member-
ship.

* The gathering, analysis and reporting of education statistics and the conduct of
the National Assessment of Educational Progress should probably be transferred to

the Census Bureau (with the latter activity remaining under the policy direction of
the independent National Assessment Governing Board.)

* Aid Tor college students and special education programs should, at least for the
present, be returned to the management of what is now the Department of Health
and Human Services. (Another intriguing proposal before the Cfongress would con-
solidate these and other education programs into the Labor Department. Yet an-
other idea would send student loans to the Treasury Department so that the I.R.S.

can collect what is owed the government. Perhaps the prospect of a stay in Leaven-
worth would finally reduce the multi-billion dollar loan default problem.)

* Indian education programs would be transferred to the Interior Department.

Abolition

At least fifty of the Education Department's programs have entirely outlived their
usefulness, or support activities that the federal government could beneficially stop
subsidizing, or provide marginal aid for activities that are fundamentally the re-
sponsibility of others but have been maintained as federal "categorical" programs
due to the strength of special interest lobbies. Such programs should be abolished
or "de-funded" and the savings returned to federal taxpayers. (I estimate these at
$2 to 3 billion annually, i.e. as much as $15 billion over five years.) Or they could
be devoted to other worthy national purposes, within the field of education or be-
yond. Illustrative candidates for abolition include federal technical assistance cen-
ters, regional "educational laboratories", library support programs, literacy pro-
grams lor prisoners, women's educational equity, law school clinical experience,
Olympic scholarships and "star schools". On the "technical assistance" front alone,
the Department's Inspector General found 734 separate centers operating in Fiscal
'91 at a total federal cost of about $300 million.

Savings would also result from dismantling the regulatory infrastructure, includ-
ing most of the costs of Education Department management (about $444 million)

and the National Education Standards and Improvement Council.

STRUCTURAL IMPLICATIONS

Inasmuch as adoption of these substantive recommendations for the federal role

would leave the Department of Education with nothing to do, there would be no
need to retain it. But it's important to think of its termination as the logical conclu-
sion of a total restructuring of the federal role in education, not as a label change
or symbolic beheading. In the days before the Department of Education was created,

the federal government made almost as much education mischief as it does today.
Those programs, regulations and red tape were simply housed in another agency.
We'll gain little if we retain the programs and red tape while tacking a diuerent
name over the door of the building in which they're housed. Indeed, such a shifl

could even be harmful to the extent that it "hides" those activities in less visible

locations. In my view, the way to think about the Education Department is first in

terms of what it does, then in terms of its structure and status.

But because I believe that every one of the Department's activities that are worth
preserving in some form could better be handled elsewhere, I see no need for a sepa-
rate federal education agency of any kind.
My purpose is not to reduce the attention that the nation pays to education. In-

deed, there's never been a time in our history when education was more impor-
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tant—or more in need of a complete makeover. Whether one is concerned with de-

veloping virtue in the young, preparing tomorrow's adults for life in the information

age, widening the shared knowledge base of a diverse population, strengthening our
economic competitiveness or enabling poor people to move from the back of the line

to the front, we have few assets of greater value than effective education.

"ISIational leadership" can be helpful in focusing people on problems and opportu-

nities. We should look to the President to ensure that the national project of edu-

cational renewal continues apace. But true leadership means energizing people and
communities to change, not shackling them with mandates and regulations—and
calling it leadership. We do not need a rail of federal programs. We do not need
a giant bureaucracy. We do not need a federal department. What we need is a na-

tional movement. I believe that the prospects for such a movement—and for reed

educational renewal in America—will be far brighter when the Congress signals un-
mistakably and irrevocably that responsibility rests with teachers and parents, with
communities and states, not with federal bureaucrats.

Reversing the flow of this river is no small undertaking. But it would do immeas-
urable good for our children, our schools, our communities and our future.

Thank you for your attention.

Mr. Horn. Thank you very much, that was a very helpful sum-
mary. We will now hear from William Hansen, the Executive Direc-

tor of the Education Finance Council. Please explain a little bit

about the work of the council, and then proceed with your sum-
mary.
Mr. Hansen. Mr. Chairman, I'm here, as a former Assistant Sec-

retary for Management and Budget. I wore both hats that Don
Wurtz and Mike Smith currently wear, who testified earlier.

That's, I guess, one reason I have such a big head, is from wearing
both of those hats in the previous administration. But most of my
comments today are a reflection of my life at the Department.

I would like to concur with what Chester has laid out regarding
the major dysfunction at the Department and the fact that the pro-
grams, is the way in which they're delivered, is the major problem,
and not necessarily whether this argument of whether there should
be a Department of Education is the issue. I do feel that what we
heard a little bit earlier was somewhat a business-as-usual ap-
proach to Federal bureaucracy and Federal monopoly over the is-

sues.

I would like to address most of my comments to some of the
points we heard earlier from the Department's testimony. I do
think it's important to keep in mind, when the Under Secretary
laid out five reasons not to abolish the Department, he said be
cause of the student aid programs; the Title I programs; the pro
grams for the disabled; the evaluation of programs; and having a
bullv pulpit.

All of those things could occur and did occur before the Depart-
ment of Education ever came into existence. The student aid pro-

grams; the Title I programs, the programs for the disabled; the old
NIE; other activities were in existence before the Department of

Education was ere. j-^. And I think that whatever the Congress de
termines the appropriate Federal role in education is, and what
those programs are to be and what the delivery mechanism would
be, could obviously be handled at other agencies in a different man-
ner.

Some of the issues that were laid out about the bully pulpit—

I

think really starts with the President. I will be very honest. Back
in 1989, when we were working on getting the 50 Governors to-

gether with the education summit at that time, to get the goals es-
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tablished, that was done out of the Bush White House. The Depart-
ment of Education was a helpful player in it, but it was driven by
the President and driven by his domestic policy office. And that is

where the leadership came from.
That is where the leadership used to come from, when we're talk-

ing about education nationally- Also, we heard that the Depart-
ment's small budget to ratio staff is about 6 to 1. I think this also

is a bit simplistic. The Department's programs are by nature large
formula type programs. That's what the Chapter 1 program is;

that's what the vocational education State grant program is; the
special education State grant program is. And the more com-
plicated programs in the student aid arena rely upon about 50,000
private sector employees around the country to make those student
loan programs work.
So it's not quite as simple as that. Also, the fact that there is

talk about the number of employees going down from 7,500 to

5,000—that was done in the early Reagan years. Chester laid out
the block g^ant theorv. Back in 1981, when Congress, in the rec-

onciliation bill, abolished 42 categorical elementary and secondary
programs, and traded them for the Chapter 2 block grant program,
which we have today, we were able to downsize several hundred
employees at the Department of Education, as a result of the cre-

ation of that block grant.
I understand today's block grant program is handled by six em-

ployees at the Department, instead of requiring hundreds to ad-
minister 42 categorical programs. One of the problems we've had
over the last 15 years, since the Department was created, is you've
got this one-stop shopping focus on the Department. All of those
programs that were block granted have now been resurrected and
recreated or reincarnated in another area. And so we had 130 pro-

grams in the Department back in 1981. Today we've got about 250.
You've got program layer after layer after layer, plopped on top

of one another, without much thought given to how best the Fed-
eral role in education could be delivered. Also, there was a notion
stated that if you sent the Department of Education's programs
back to other Cabinet agencies, you might actually need more staff

to administer the Department. I think mat's a bunch of bunk.
Very clearly, the Department is broken down in two key areas.

You have the program offices that deliver the programs, and you've
also got the staff—the service offices, that provide activities from
grants and contracts to general counsel to legislative affairs. Those
offices and most of these activities and most of the proposals out
there would transfer probably 90 percent of the programs back ei-

ther to HHS or over at the Department of Labor.
You, in fact, would probably entertain broad efficiencies in those

service offices, because you'd be able to rely upon the service offices

that are already in place at those other two agencies. The program
office is also a place where you should be able to achieve great sav-

ings. Just as I mentioned, with the Chapter 2 block grant creation

back in 1981, we changed the way in which those programs were
delivered.

We saved several hundred staff as a result. And that same activ-

ity should be embraced today. The Department talks about elimi-

nating or consolidating 68 programs, yet their budget submission
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for more FTE represents no reflection whatsoever of any effi-

ciencies at all in having those 68 fewer programs to administer.

Also, the structure of the Department is very important. You al-

luded to the Deputy Secretary-Under Secretary notion. Back in

1981, when Ronald Keagan first came to office, there were 47 Dep-
uty Assistant Secretaries in this new conglomeration at the Depart-
ment.
We got rid of 36 of them almost overnight. So there was only 11

Deputy Assistant Secretaries after the first year in the Reagan ad-

ministration. We likewise got rid of five Assistant Secretary posi-

tions at the time. There has been some creep and growth in those

two areas since then.
Also the Under Secretary had a couple of charts in his testimony

about the defaults going up and down, and I can actually answer
some of these in the question and answer period. Most of the im-
grovements started, as you'll see from the charts, on chart No. 7,

ack in 1990 and 1991, as a result of two things.

It was congressional action, because of some of the problems that

they saw, and also administrative actions that were put into place
during the Bush administration years. And you'll see all of those
growth curves started going the other direction back in 1991. Also,

Mr. Smith's last chart, on the back page here, about a proposed
disestablishment of the Department of Education, makes it look
like it's going to be very complicated, with functions going else-

where.
The subcommittee should be aware, there are already 300 other

Federal programs scattered throughout the Federal Government, to

the tune of $35 billion, that are already housed at these agencies
and other agencies.
And most of, I think, the two proposals that we've had laid out

before us with Mr. Gunderson and also the one that Chester re-

ferred to that will be coming out tomorrow, would shift most of the
department's functions to either HHS or to Labor. So you're not
going to have this massive scattering, as alluded to on tnat chart.

Also, I just would like to conclude in talking about cutting regu-
lations. I think that what the Department said they did today, in

cutting 30 percent of the regulations, is important. But I'd say
quality is probably better than quantity.
The quality of the regulations that they're getting rid of is more

important than the quantity. And the Department has been very
much about putting more burdensome regulations and more med-
dlesome regulations over the last 2 years, both at the higher edu-
cation level and at the K through 12 level. With that, Mr. Chair-
man, I close my statement.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hansen follows:!

Prepared Statement of William D. Hansen, Executive Director of the
Education Finance Counsel

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:
Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to testify on reorganiz-

ing the Department of Education. My comments today reflect my experiences auring
the Reagan and Bush Administrations as well as my observations related to the di-

rection that I believe federal education policy should be headed.
As the Subcommittee carries out the heavy issues of departmental oversight and

management review, it is important to understand the broader context of the De-
partment's mission and the appropriate federal role in education. By first determin-
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ing the appropriate federal role in education, answering questions relating to cost
savings, program consolidation and elimination, and management improvements
may be more appropriately addressed,

tiie development of a coherent federal education policy requires that budget and
grogram priorities are founded upon a set of principles. For example, during the
usn Administration, Secretary Lamar Alexander and President Bush continually

reached out to our nation's governors to help families and communities. However,
this was a national effort not a federal effort. I believe that federal government
should continue to play a role in ensuring access to education and to promote edu-
cational excellence. Thas role should be kept in check with the 10th amendment to

the U.S. Constitution and should also ensure that parents, communities, and States
are responsible for providing for the education of our children.

It is with these thoughts m mind that I will address several areas relevant to the
Department of Education todav:

• the Federal Role in Education;
• Proposals to Dismantle the Department of Education;
• the Funding History of the Department;
• the Size and Scope of the Department; and,
• Action Steps to be Taken Now.

FEDERAL ROLE IN EDUCATION

Mr. Chairman, the federal contribution to education today consists of only six per-
cent of the total elementary and secondary dollars spent nationwide. It is in the con-
text of this limited contribution that the appropriate federal role in support of ele-

mentary and secondary education should be established. Six percent of total elemen-
tary and secondary spending nationwide can and should be directed toward ensur-
ing equal access and promoting educational excellence. Such limited funding cannot
and should not be representecT as a substitute for the local resources available and
should not be provided to states in a manner that undermines the proper adminis-
tration of the 94 percent of resources provided at the state and local level.

My experience suggests that true local control of education priorities at the ele-
mentary and secondaiy level promotes local support for education and parental in-

volvement. Local support will become increasingly important in the coming years.
Parental involvement, in my view, is an absolute necessity if the problems in our
schools are to be addressed. Unfortunately, many of the federal initiatives of the
past several years appear to run contrary to these principles.
Two former Secretaries of Education, Lamar Alexander and William Bennett, re-

cently called for the return of control of education to states, school boards, and par-
ents. In their report entitled, "Local Options," the Secretaries suggest that literally
dozens of federal programs should vanish and with those resources being available
for federal tax cuts or through an expanded version of the Chapter 2 program to

states and communities to do with as they judge best.
My experience in managing programs and personnel at the Department of Edu-

cation suggests that the benefits derived from dozens of the federal elementary and
secondary programs may be outweighed by the administrative burdens associated
with administering those programs. For example, a 1991 survey of Ohio school dis-
tricts determined tnat each scnool district in the state was required to complete 330
reports and forms, of which 157 were submissions to the state, and 173 were feder-
ally required. This study suggested that the federal government was responsible for

55 percent of the paperworkburden while federal funds accounted for only six per-
cent of the resources available to the school district.

Secretaries Alexander and Bennett recommended that the guiding principles for
federal education programs should be choice, deregulation, innovation, accountabil-
ity, and serious assessment. I believe that if the Department of Education adopted
these principles as a standard by which to review existing programs, many of the
programs would be found in need of repeal or substantial revision.

PROPOSALS TO DISMANTLE THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

The call for change at the Department of Education has also come from Congress
and its leaders. Since last November, the Senate Majority Leader, the Speaker of
the House, and many Committee Chairmen have also called for the abolition or con-
solidation of the Department of Education. It is anticipated that numerous bills will
be introduced shortly to achieve these objectives. Proposals have varied from aboli-
tion to dismantling the agency and transferring or consolidating functions with
other cabinet agencies.
A member of this Committee, Mr. Scarborough from Florida, has been leading the

freshman leadership effort to develop a bill to work toward sending education hack

26-805 - 96 - 6
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to parents and local officials. Mr. Scarborough has stated, "Obviously, the future of

our economy and fijrther economic growth depends on (reforming education) ... if

the federal government would retreat from this area, allow parents, teachers and
students who want to take control of the academic agenda, this country would be

better off."

Alternatively, Mr. Gunderson, a senior member of the Economic and Educational

Opportunities Committee, has joined Chairman Goodling in calling for the Edu-
cation and Labor Departments to be merged. Upon announcing the outline for their

bill, Mr. Gunderson stated that, "As America plans for the challenges of the global

economy, and the information and technological revolution that goes along with it,

the federal government clearly will play an important role in education and employ-

ment."
Such efforts to achieve the appropriate federal role in education should be pur-

sued vigorously by this Committee. However, Congress should oppose any effort to

simply change the name on the door of the Department. Transferring functions and
shifxing duplicative, intrusive, and inefficient programs elsewhere will get us no-

where. Rather, Congress should start with a clean slate and determine what the ap-

propriate federal role should be in education, and determine how to best address
targeted needs, and develop a delivery mechanism that best serves families and tax-

payers. Reforms such as olock grants to states or schools, tax cuts, vouchers or

scholarships to families, and functional swaps between the federal and state govern-
ments would reduce bureaucracy, regulations, and federal control of education.

FUNDING HICTORY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

The current appropriation for the Department totals nearly $33 billion which
funds 240 categorical programs. The Department's first budget year as a cabinet
agency was FY 1980. In 1980, the budget was just over $14 oillion, funding about
150 programs. The Department's budget has grown over 50 percent in real dollars

since its creation. This expansion of programs has led to obvious duplication and
increased federal intrusion at the state and local levels.

Since 1980, more than $350 billion have been appropriated to carry out the De-
f)artment's programs. Of course, there has been some good accomplished with these
iinds. Millions of disadvantaged youth have received Chapter 1 services, disabled
youngsters have been given opportunities they may not have known thirty years
ago, and millions of students have had a postsecondary education made more afford-

able. However, any success could have been achieved whether education programs
were housed at ED, HHS, Labor, or some other federal office. For example, when
P.L. 94-142 was enacted in the early 1970's, it was housed at the old HEW. Clearly,

this special education law has made a positive difference in the lives of millions of
children and in society. Earlier this century, over 90,000 disabled children were in-

stitutionalized. Today, only 6,000 disabled children live in such circumstances. The
bottom line is this. Congress and the American public demanded an appropriate
education for handicapped youngsters and much success has been realizea as a re-

sult of this law. I am convinced that these same results would have come to pass
regardless of which cabinet agency this program was administered by. It was the
law and the commitment by families and society that brought about the changes we
have witnessed, not a specific cabinet agency.
Notwithstanding the expenditure of these monies, public confidence in America's

education system appears to be close to an all time low. Parents and the public gen-
erally question whether the federal mandates in programs in the education area are
producing the results they desire for their children. Given that the concept of an
aggressive, expansive federal leadership role has been tested over the past decade,

I believe it is time to give state and local administrators, and even more importantly
families, the leadership opportunity.
We as taxpayers, and tne Members of this Subcommittee, should ask tough ques-

tions regarding each of the federal education programs. Are students performing as
well today as their parents did? Are we rewarding dependency and mediocrity? How
can we reward quality and excellence? How can parents be given more control and
responsibility over local education? Is the public getting its money's worth? I believe
that many of the current programs fail to positively address the standards refiected

in these questions.
As I suggested earlier, the Congress should consider starting over with a clean

slate in determining which programs and necessary appropriations will be required
to accomplish the Department's mission. Congressman Bill Goodling, Chairman of
the Economic and Educational Opportunities Committee, said recently that he hopes
that the "term 'reauthorization' oe stricken from the dictionary . . . We shouldn't
assume programs are going to continue year after year, but intensively examine



159

them to make sure they are still needed and achieving their purpose. Similarly, I

would suggest adding sunsets to some programs, laws and regulations." I whole-
heartedly endorse Mr. Goodling's suggestions.

In my view, there has been next to little accountability for results to the taxpayer
in return for their $350 billion investment in the Department of Education during
the last 15 years. Evidence suggests that local governmental control and responsibil-
ity is undermined by federal requirements, and paperwork preoccupies state and
local education authorities. A much simpler delivery system to states and local agen-
cies could be implemented without federal dictates and with continued receipt of
federal funds simply contingent on the recipient showing evidence that learning is

improving.

SIZE AND SCOPE OF THE DEPARTMENT

Between 1981 and 1992, there were numerous legislative and administrative ini-

tiatives to help mold the mission of this new cabinet agency. In the early 1980's a
major consolidation of 42 elementary and secondary programs took place which re-

sulted in the creation of the Chapter 2 Block Grant. During that same time period,
the student loan collection activities were privatized. Although not termed "re-

inventing government" the Department was downsized from 7,500 employees in
1980 to an average of about 4,500 employees during the late 80's and early 90's.

At the same time, the number of programs authorized and Ainded by Congress grew
from 132 to 240. Clearly, more was done with less.

We are now told the Department of Education is once again reinventing itself.

(Given the high-level of parental and general frustration witn education quality, it

is appropriate for this Siibcommittee to provide the Department with a clear indica-
tion of the direction this reinvention should take. Congress should examine several
areas of recent activities at the Department of Education and set clear priorities for
the Department. The fact that the Department already has over 5,100 employees
and plans to hire 600 employees to manage the direct student loan program is cause
for concern about the Department's mission in a time of government-wide streamlin-
ing and privatization.

Since the establishment of the Department of Education under President Carter,
Presidents of both political parties have submitted budget requests to zero-fund doz-
ens of education programs because they have largely or completely achieved their
original intended purpose, were duplicative of other programs, or could be supported
by other funding sources. For example, in President Bush's final budget, he called
for the elimination of 39 education programs that fell into the categories just men-
tioned. President Clinton, both in his budget submission last year and as part of
the National Performance Review recommended that 34 programs be eliminated

—

almost identical to a list that President Bush developed. Last year. Congress did
eliminate 12 of these programs. As a starting point for finding savings and program
simplification in the FY 1995 and FY 1996 budgets. Congress should first look to
the remaining programs in these previously siiomitted recommendations and to
President Clinton's latest budget proposal which calls for 15 program terminations
in FY 1995 (savings $122.7 million), 21 program terminations in FY 1996 (savings
$504.1 million), five program phase-outs (savings $120.9 million), and 27 program
consolidations (added cost $46 million).

The current FY95 rescissions debate has provided additional ideas and rec-
ommendations for immediate cost savings. The process for FY96 cost savings will
be key as the authorizing committee considers major program overiiauls and block
grants and as the appropriations and budget committees consider opportunities to
reduce the massive budget deficit.

The Subcommittee should also give serious analysis to the Department's Salaries
and Expenses Accounts. A primary question the Department should be asked to ad-
dress is why are they asking for a $13 million increase in their S&E account when
over 440 employees have opted for the retirement buy-out (8% of total personnel).
With the resulting smaller FTE covered by the S&E account (the hundreds of new
stalT hired this year to manage the direct loan program are paid out of a separate
direct loan S&E account) and the anticipated savings of downsizing the Department
because of the F*resident's call to terminate or consolidate 68 programs, it would be
expected that the Department would be proposing a substantial reduction in their
S&E account. Other areas within these accounts that should be reduced are the two
dozen federal advisory panels. Similarly, on another administrative account, as I

referenced earlier. Chairman CJoodling's bill to cap the direct loan program at year
two school participants calls for a $50 million reduction in the FY 1995 budget au-
thority for the direct loan program administration account (a reduction from $345
to $295 million and additional reductions in future years). It should be noted that
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the direct loan administrative account falls under the mandatory account and the

other administrative accounts fall under the discretionary account.

Former Education Secretary Lamar Alexander has written that there are five de-

fining characteristics of a problem-laden central government agency: it's centralized,

uniform, governmental, monopolistic, and no-fault. The opposite of each of these

characteristics offers citizens and managers clear direction: decentralization, diver-

sity, privatization, competition, and high morals. Attached to my statement is a one
page table which lays out one example of the contradictions inherent in the Clinton

Administration's zeal in pushing for a big government take over of the student loan

program.
Tne Department of Education has received a waiver from the President's Execu-

tive Order on downsizing their personnel rolls. They have split up the high-risk stu-

dent aid management responsibilities for the benefit of political appointees, not

based on responsible management principles. They have created new layers of bu-
reaucracy and new federal panels. They have crafted expansive new regulations and
added new federal mandates. This Subcommittee should exercise its proper over-

sight authority in reviewing such management practices at the Department of Edu-
cation.

ACTION STEPS TO BE TAKEN NOW

First, the Department has taken on a high handed regulatory effort with States,

school districts, and college campuses that should be reined in. One of the best ways
that Congress can curtail the Department's zeal to overregulate is by abolishing or

amending burdensome programs and using its oversight authority as a means for

providing a proper check and balance.

Second, the Congress, in particular the authorizing committees, should deauthor-
ize all unfunded programs. This initiative would also assist on the deregulation
front and prevent unnecessary budget battles.

Third, tne Congress should cap or phase-out the Direct Student Loan Program.
This new program runs directly counter to the principles outlined in the National
Performance Review. Instead of streamlining the federal bureaucracy, direct lending
would grow the Department of Education as President Clinton has exempted the
Department from his Executive Order on downsizing government which has paved
the way for 600 new bureaucrats to join the federal workforce. Rather than support
market driven solutions that focus on customer service, direct lending would wipe
out tailored state and competing private-sector organizations that focus on serving
the customer, in favor of a Washington monolith.
Of particular concern to this Subcommittee should be the fact that the 1993 Stu-

dent Loan Reform Act created an unprecedented $2.5 billion administrative entitle-

ment fund for the implementation of the direct loan program. Unlike nearly all

other government administrative funds, those associated with ED's direct govern-
ment loan program are not subject to annual appropriations and review. Chairman
of the Economic and Educational Opportunities Committee, Bill Goodling has intro-

duced a bill (H.R. 530) to cap the direct loan program which would also improve
congressional oversight of the billions of dollars that the Department will spend to

administer direct loans. This bill has received strong bipartisan support as it will

also improve the integrity of the direct loan program. Also, Congressmen Istook.

Porter, Kasich, Boehner and others have introduced H.R. 1501 which would repeal
the Direct Loan program and look for increased privatization.

Fourth, Congress may wish to consider major program swaps with States to better
focus the federal role and to correct unfunded mandates that Congress has created
for States and communities. For example, the Individuals with Disabilities Act
(IDEA) calls for a forty percent federal share in educating youths with disabilities

but the federal contribution is only about seven percent today. If all other elemen-
tary and secondary programs were turned back to the States and the $10 billion

funding was shifted to the IDEA, this would meet the federal mandate of IDEA and
increase local flexibility in all other elementary and secondary education programs.

Fifth, block granting duplicative and burdensome programs will achieve many
positive results locally. Specifically, block grants allow for innovation, less paper-
work, fewer regulations, simpler administration and delivery of funds, and decen-
tralizes decisionmaking.

Lastly, the Department should downsize itself now. The Department should work
with Congress to restructure itself in light of anticipated changes that the authoriz-
ing Committee is considering (ie. block grants, program eliminations, and new re-

forms). The President's waiver of his Executive Order on freezing hiring should be
removed and a freeze of new hiring should be instituted.
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CONCLUSION

As the Subcommittee reviews areas for management efliciencies and cost savings,
it is important that the current budget environment be taken into consideration.
The perpetuation of the deficit and our growing national debt is anti-family, anti-
child, and anti-education. Every American child in school today already owes
$18,()00 as his or her share of the national debt. Senator Tom Harkin said recently
that, "It's time we pass on to our kids more opportunity, not more debt." I agree
with that statement.
How that opportunity is aflbrded to children and families will be central to your

deliberations aoout the federal role in education and the future of the Department
of Education. For those activities not turned over to the states, communities, and
families, they should be redesigned to ensure excellence, choice, accountability, flexi-

bility, efficiency, and a reliance upon private market driven solutions. This Sub-
committee and this Congress have a unique opportunity to improve the quality of
education as it reviews the Department as a wnole and every individual categorical
program within the Department.
Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to appear before the Subcommittee.

I will be happy to respond to any questions you or Subcommittee Members may
have.

WraCH DIRECTION FOR AMERICA'S STUDENT LOAN PROGRAMS?

Reinventing Government vs. New Federal Bureaucracy

The Clinton Administration's plan to replace the privately funded and administered student loan programs with public

funding and a new federal bureaucracy contrasts sharply with its stated goal of "reinventing government."

Reinventini Government: What the Administration uys* Direct Government Lendinj: What the Administration does

"Streamline bureaucracy by 252,000" Hires hundreds of new bureaucrats at the Department of Edu-

cation

"Steer more, row less" Institutes a federal takeover of the program's funding and man-

agement

"Delegate authority and responsibility" Issue top-down mandates and rules for students and colleges

"Replace regulations with incentives" Burdens colleges with more regulations and eliminates perform-

ance incentives

"Develop budget based outcomes" Introduces open-ended budgets based on political objectives

"Expose federal operations to competition" Eliminates private sector competition in the student loan industry

"Search for marliet, not administrative solutions" Abolishes the role of states and the private sector in student

credit programs

"Measure our success by customer satisfaction" Replaces competing Ixal, private customer-service organizations

with one federal bureaucracy

"Simplify employer wage reporting" Forces the Internal Revenue Service to collect student loans and

impose new wage reporting burdens

* Direct quotes troni the Report of the National Performance Review. "Creatinf a Government That Works Better and Costs Less"

Mr. Horn. Well, we thank you very much. Both of you have writ-
ten very well on this subject, and we're aware of those writings.
You've done a rather succinct summary of your feelings on it. Trie
U.S. Constitution never really mentions the word education, as we
all know. On the other hand, there wasn't much public education
at the time of the U.S. Constitution. But every State constitution
does mention education. If we had to recreate the founding fathers
and they saw what is taking place in America, Dr. Finn, do you
think they'd agree with your approach to this, or would they be ad-
vocating a Cabinet department in education?
Not that they specify the Cabinet departments. We know they

didn't. But does this come under the necessary and proper clause?
How do you feel about it?

Mr. Finn. I think some of the founders were quite enthusiastic
about education; Jefferson, for example. And nearly all of them
were well-educated and would acknowledge that education be-
longed under the 10th amendment. This was one of the functions
properly reserved to the States. Mr. Chairman, there is no field
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that illustrates better than education the distinction between na-

tional and Federal.
You can have a national need, even a national problem, national

leadership—all of which I think are legitimate in education—with-

out the Federal Government getting involved with money, regula-

tions, requirements, stipulations, and control. I do believe we nave
a national need for educational improvement. Lamar Alexander,
former Secretary of Education, says of the Goals 2000 program last

year, and of the Clinton administration, that they took a nation-

wide crusade and turned it into a Federal program.
There are few domains of domestic policy where this distinction

applies as vividly as in education. I believe the founders knew what
they were doing with respect to the 10th amendment. And I think

we've been violating it in a substantial fashion, and in a big way
for about the last 30 years in the field of education.

Mr. Horn. Well, as I gather it, you're saying the Department of

Education really doesn't perform a useful service. And if we need
a bully pulpit, tnat the President of the United States or one of his

advisors be the person on the bully pulpit.

Mr. Finn. Or Members of the Congress, or religious leaders,

sports stars, media figures. There are a number of national leaders
that can possibly focus the people's attention on education. They
manage to focus them on trials in Los Angeles courtrooms. It seems
to me that they could do as well in education. We don't need a Fed-
eral agency with 5,000 employees, $33 billion and 240 programs
that the Nation's States, communities and parents are beginning to

groan under the burden of.

Mr. Horn. When you look back at Secretary Bell's administra-
tion and the Gardener Commission he appointed, that certainly did
shake America up, as to where its educational system was going.

Mr. Finn. Exactly. That's an excellent example.
Mr. Horn. Now, isn't that a worthy function, though, of a Sec-

retary of Education?
Mr. Finn. Well, sir, it could as easily have been appointed at the

White House. And it was an extremely useful commission. None of

its members were employees of the Federal Government. The De-
partment of Education did nothing more than provide staff work.
I believe Bill Hansen was there at the time, and could speak to

this. It was an important bully pulpit function, but it didn't need
a Department of Education for it to happen.
Mr. Horn. Let me move to another area—competitiveness. After

the Bell group and the Gardener group, one of the obvious prob-

lems we faced, in the 1970's and 1980's in particular, was that it

looked like America wasn't in the ball park, in terms of the com-
petitiveness offered by the West European industrial countries and
Japan. And until a group that I think the Business Higher Edu-
cation Forum gets some of the credit for this, talked President
Reagan into stressing competitiveness, there really wasn't much
being done at the national level to arouse people that they had to

care about education.
Now, granted, school boards are elected locally; and granted peo-

ple should care, and on occasion, they do care and you change a
school board member or two. But again, can we just have sporadic
attention to education at the national level? The President has a
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lot of things to do besides go out and make bully pulpit speeches
on education. Therefore, wouldn't a Secretary be of some use, to

bring educational matters to his attention, in terms of how he
might inspire or stimulate thinking in this area and citizen partici-

pation?
Mr. Finn. Well, sir, competitiveness remains a serious matter

facing the country. You're quite right that the Business Higher
Education Forum and the President paid some attention to it. It's

just remarkable how little the Department of Education has any-
thing to do with competitiveness, though, other than perhaps in the
Secretary's speeches. I commend the committee's attention to other
recent study.
One, another Brookings study, by Eric Hanushek and a panel of

economists, in which they looked at issues facing American edu-
cation in the years ahead, concluding that productivity, competi-
tiveness, efficiency, effectiveness are exactly what we need to be
worrying about. But the ways we're dealing with our education
strategy—State, local and Federal—aren't getting at those matters.
I'd also suggest a recent OECD examination of the U.S. economy,
in which the OECD analysts last year said that the American econ-
omy is seriously undermined today by the mediocrity—that's their
word—of the elementary/secondary education system.
The problems remain acute. It's just that the 4,999 employees at

the department, other than the Secretary, have practically nothing
to do with solving them.
Mr. Horn. Wouldn't the merger of Education and Labor, where

you get a lifelong continuum of learning, theoretically, there, with
job retraining, worker training, all sorts of programs—160 or so,

presumably, that exist in the Federal Grovernment—working with
industry, working with the local community college, wouldn t that
be a helpful way to go, to put those programs together?
Mr. Finn. I think it's got a lot of appeal. I think there are several

versions that I'd love to see emerge from the committee—and I

guess it will be your committee.
Mr. Horn. No, it will be Goodling^s Education and Economic Op-

portunities Committee, the authorizing committee, that would have
a lot to say on this. But you're right that this committee, in terms
of restructuring would have say also.

Mr. Finn. I believe your committee will have something to do
with the next stage. I think that the Gunderson Goodling proposal
has a lot of appeal. I also think that the Scarborough freshman bill

has a lot of appeal. They're very different approaches. And I think
that the opportunity to fully explore the merits of each is some-
thing that I trust will be before the Congress in the months to

come.
I believe that the combination of Education and Labor has con-

siderable merit. On the other hand, I believe that Education has
some functions that are not strictly economic, that have to do with
citizenship and culture and how one grows up in a society to be an
adult. And I'd hate to think of it purely in economic terms.
Mr. Horn. I now yield to the ranking minority member, Mrs.

Maloney of New York.
Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Both of you advocate

very strongly reducing the Federal Government's role in elemen-
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tary and secondary education. Should that reduced role be accom-
panied by reduced expenditures on education by the Federal Gov-
ernment:
Mr. Hansen. I don't even think expenditures is really the impor-

tant way to look at it. It's really how the moneys are given to the

local districts; what the Federal intrusion is. In my written state-

ment, there was a survey that I highlighted, from the State of Ohio
back in 1991, that showed that the average local superintendent
and principal in the State of Ohio had to fill out 330 forms during
the school year; and that 183 of those forms were required by Fed-

eral programs. So about 55 percent of the paperwork was federally

driven; yet they only get 6 percent of the money.
When Mike Smith talked about polls that show the Department

of Education should not be abolished for budget savings, I'd prob-

ably be one of the people to agree with that part of the poll. I think
the Department of Education should be restructured not for budget
savings, but for ways in which the product and services are deliv-

ered to our Nation s schools and to our families. And it is not a
budget issue; it's an issue of how best to deliver the Federal pro-

grams. There are going to be an awful lot of other opportunities for

debate on the Federal budget and what the priorities should be. We
have spent $350 billion at the Department of Education since its

inception, and there's probably been a lot of good accomplished
with that money. But I think nationally, in the aggregate, we prob-
ably are not a lot better off. And that was the goal of the Depart-
ment of Education, was to help us be better off.

And I do think we need to call into question how that money is

being spent. And if it's not being well spent, maybe we need to take
a fresh look at whether it can be better spent locally.

Mrs. Maloney. Would you care to comment, Mr. Finn?
Mr. Finn. Sure. I'm not primarily looking for budget savings

here. I'm interested in the way American education operates, and
sort of who's in charge questions. I would imagine that when the
Congress gets to final budget resolutions and appropriations all do-

mestic functions will have to bear some of the pain of deficit reduc-
tion. But my purpose is not to reduce Federal spending on edu-
cation. It is to restructure the terms by which the aid is delivered,

not the total quantity of aid that's delivered.

I could cite you a few programs that I believe waste their money.
But I wouldn't mind recycling that money into more effective uses.

Mrs. Maloney. Cite the programs you think are wasteful.
Mr. FnsfN, That I think waste money?
Mrs. Maloney. Yes.
Mr. Finn. Well, to begin with the biggest, the Department's own

evaluation of its own Chapter 1 program, 18 months ago, concluded
quite bluntly—and I've got the papers in my folder and could

quote—that the Chapter 1 program was not causing kids to learn
more; was not working; and was not well integrated with State and
local reform efforts, which is, of course, why the Clinton adminis-
tration recommended changing it, which the Congress did last year
for the, I believe, seventh time since the Chapter 1 program was
created in 1965.
We've had seven re-creations over 30 years. And after the sixth

of those, it still wasn't working in the Department's own judgment.
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Now they will tell you that it's going to work fine, thank you very
much, because it was reauthorized slightly differently last year.
But I'm afraid I'm waiting for evidence tnat kids are learning more
as a consequence of that program this year, because the depart-
ment itself says they weren't last year.

If you'd like a micro-example, we could look at things like the re-
gional education laboratories.

Mrs. Malxdney. Are you saying that we should cut the Chapter
1 funding?
Mr. Finn. No, ma'am. I'm suggesting that the program, as cur-

rently structured, wastes its money. I'm not suggesting that spend-
ing money on the education of poor children is a baa thing to do.
Mrs. Maloney. Well, how would you suggest that we do it in a

way that's more effective?

Mr. Finn. By trusting States, communities and parents to meet
the issue.

Mrs. Maloney. You would just block grant all the education
money to the States?
Mr. Finn. The elementary/secondary money, with a few excep-

tions, I believe, should be block granted to States and communities,
with them allowed to do with it largely as they see fit to improve
the education of their children.

Mrs. Maloney. And you would not specify the intent of Chapter
1 of focusing on poor children? You'd just let them decide. What if

you had a State that—a lot of times we've created Federal guide-
lines because States have ignored or not addressed certain prob-
lems.
Mr, Finn. Yes, ma'am. We get to the very central question of

whether we trust or don't trust States to do their job, with respect
to education. It is in their constitutions; it is mostly their money.
It's their leadership that gets thrown out of office by the voters if

education goes badly. And I believe we need to try to trust them.
Mrs. Maloney. You would block grant, without Federal guide-

lines, education moneys?
Mr. Finn. Most elementary/secondary moneys, with very few

Federal guidelines, yes, I would.
Mrs. Maloney. You testified, not in your spoken statement, but

in your written statement, that the 1994 budget contains $68 bil-

lion for Federal education support, with only about half of that at
the Department of Education. If you were to eliminate the Depart-
ment of Education today, how much would we spend in 1996?
Mr. Finn. Well, that of course depends on what we do with the

money that the Department of Education is currently spending. If

we keep the money and spend it in a different way, or through a
different agency, then we're not necessarily saving money. One
point in my written testimony, of course, and Bill has alluded to

this, is that about an equal amount of Federal education money
today is spent by other agencies than the Department of Education
as is spent by the Department itself.

I'm trying to distinguish between the structural and manage-
ment issues here, and the budgetary issues that I realize the Con-
gress also faces. I'd like to emphasize that I'm not here suggesting
that we spend less on education. I am suggesting that we spend it

very differently.
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Mrs. Maloney. What do you see as the appropriate Federal role

in education?
, . . ,

Mr. Finn. Myself? I think I mentioned it in the testimony. We
need national leadership, which does not necessarily require the

Federal Government to run pro-ams. I think there is a statistics

gathering and assessment function. I have no objection to continu-

ing Federal involvement with college student aid, though I think

programs could be improved and reformed quite a lot. I have no ob-

jection to Federal involvement with civil rights and special edu-

cation.
Beyond that, I think it should be a resource transferring activity

that enables States and communities and parents to obtain the
education that they think best for their children.

Mrs. Maloney. OK, my time is up.

Mr. Horn. On the last question, in terms of the resource trans-

ferring activity, would you simply have Congress set a formula and
then have the financial management service of the Treasury, some-
what like the office of revenue sharing that was created oetween
1973 and 1983, write the check?
Mr. Finn. May I defer to my colleague on the mechanism? Be-

cause I would normally defer to him in now best to do this.

Mr. Hansen. I think you'd still keep the structure within, if it

was the Department of Education or what other structure the pro-

grams were transferred to. The Chapter 2 block grant program
today works very much as just a way of cutting the check or trans-

ferring the funds electronically to the State education agency. And
that is where the State education agency will in turn work with the
local school districts to send the money down to the local school dis-

tricts.

But I think if you had a major elementary and secondary block
grant program, it would work very easily under the current system
at the Department of Education, in electronically getting the money
out to the States.

Mr. Horn. Since we're on some of the financial questions, you
noted, Mr. Hansen, that you'd explain the student loan program in

the question-answer period. I'd certainly like to have you views as

to what you think the problem is and what ought to be done and
how we ought to collect the delinquent loans.

Mr. Hansen. There are a couple things I'd like to address. One
is, the Department talks about there being $12 billion in cost sav-

ings in their proposal to go to full, 100 percent direct lending. That
number is very much an illusionary number. The Congressional
Research Service came out with a paper last month that called it

as such. In fact, the CRS said, "There may be a logical rationale
for direct lending, but low cost is not it."

What they're trying to do is, under the credit reform rules today,

the way in which the administrative costs in direct program are
different and the way they're accounted for than a guaranteed pro-

gram. Most of the costs in a direct loan program are in the out
years, in servicing these loans. So the same amount of money
would really be spent on administering these two programs over
the years. But the department is trying to esoterically show that,

because of the current credit reform accounting rules, they would
save up to $12 billion, which is not an accurate assumption.
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One other concern I have with the direct lending program in this

regard is, there was earher testimony about how 67 percent of the
people in default attend proprietary schools. In the direct lending
program next year, about 1,400 schools are going to be stepping up
to the plate to participate in a program. I don't think it's any mis-
take that over half of those schools are proprietary schools, because
there is no current default mechanism in the direct loan program.
You're also putting the direct lending schools as the direct loan

originators of this money. So you're kind of putting the fox in

charge of the chicken coop, and it really is a dangerous approach
in a lot of ways. There's another table regarding the Federal policv

of student lending, and over the next 20 years, if you went to full

direct lending, there's a chart over at a hearing going on at the Op-
portunities Committee that shows that the increase in the national
debt will be $350 billion over the next 20 years if you go to full di-

rect lending.

It may look good on paper; it may sound good. But the bottom
line is, the direct loan program is also going to have to rely upon
the same people that are out there collecting the loans now. But
it would be in a different mechanism. Instead of relying on the cur-

rent structure of the program, which Mr. Wurtz, I think, probably
correctly alluded to, needs to be fixed. But the way in which they
want to do it, with contracting out, is probably even a more ineffi-

cient way of collecting student loans.

Now, when you contract out the collection of student loans, what
you're going to get is the lowest bid. And so these contractors are
going to try to do everything they can to do the minimal they can
to collect those loans. And I think that contracting is not the way
to go. Relying upon private, market-driven, competitive environ-
ment is the way to go to collect these loans.

Mr. Horn. To what extent was there any consideration given,

when you were with the Department, as to collecting these delin-

quent loans back through the income tax system?
Mr. Hansen. We actually instituted the IRS offset program back

in 1989. And that's another reason, on the Department's budget ta-

bles, you see the reduction in the defaults over the last 5 years. It's

been a very aggressive and a very important element in collecting

student loan deots over the years. The problem I have with putting
the IRS totally in control of it is that you bring about a number
of problems.
No. 1, the IRS is not a loan collection agency; they're a tax collec-

tion agency. The average tax debt that they go after is about a
$30,000 tax debt. The average student loan indebtedness is about
$6,000. They also are not well known for servicing. Right now,
when a student has a problem, they're able to call their local bank
or their local servicer. If they've got a problem, they can deal with
a real-life person with a real name, probably around the comer.
With the IRS involved, you're probably dealing with a 1-800

number, and the sensitivity of the IRS in meeting some students'

needs in collection. Also, in the current program, you have a very
helpful system of deferences and forebearances for students and
borrowers that have temporary problems, that need help, rather
than with a full-blown IIlS involvement. You're going to lose a lot

of those user-friendly type activities.
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You also would have to set into motion some type of an employer

withholding activity, which would require every employer to know
whether their employees have outstanding student loans or not,

and to have to have them collect that money as part of the with-

holding process. It also sets into motion a whole other set of com-
plications.

Mr. Horn. Well, I can appreciate having a collector or a deferrer,

or whatever we want to call it, which you can reach, and not just
get a message on voice mail. But the taxpayers of this country are
being cheated of their money, and that's what bothers me. As I re-

member, and Dr. Finn, you're an expert on educational history

—

correct me on this if I'm in error. Admiral Zacharias proposed a
plan after the Second World War in the 1950's—somewhere in

there—that one of the best ways to finance education was to take
into account what the individual made later, after they got out of

college.

And you would adjust the return and the pacing of that return
of a loan money based on how the person did. It always seemed to

me that made a great deal of sense. And while we say IRS doesn't

fiddle with the small fry, ask that to a lot of my friends whose
taxes have been audited. They've got a system there, and it seems
to me that this is something that could be added to the system. If

it had to be stretched out, fine, then go see your friendly regional
counselor or State council or city council, and get a deferral.

But in the meantime, the clock's running, and we want the
money back.
Mr. Finn. Bill's probably going to speak to the income contingent

feature, because I believe there is a small program which does that
today. I'd like to suggest this is probably the only topic on which
Bill and I slightly disagree, and on which I agree with you, Mr.
Chairman. I think, and have thought for 20 years, that the IRS
should be collecting these things, and that the penalties for not re-

paying your student loan should be roughly equivalent to the pen-
alties for not paying your income taxes.

Mr. Horn. Right.
Mr. Finn. And I think the fact that the IRS doesn't want to do

it should not be the ultimate deciding factor.

Mr. Horn. Yes, I completely agree with you. I suggested this at
I think it was the 1971 White House Conference on Youth, on
whose board I served, and in the panel on education, filled with fel-

low university presidents. I think they were ready to carry me out
of there on a rail when I said, look, the Federal Government cannot
fund these things forever. You could see the handwriting on the
wall in 1971.
We ought to have a way we can collect them, and do it in a sim-

ple way. I mentioned the good Admiral's thoughts, and of course
they wanted to live forever on grants. Grants aren't going to be
around forever; we already see that. With the rate of tuition at pri-

vate schools, there's no way the Federal Government can offer

grants with any real value. But there ought to be a way to collect

a loan and not have a default from people who get a college edu-
cation.

Mr. Hansen. Mr. Chairman, I'd just like to point out one or two
things. One is, there have been a couple of things that have been
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put into place the last couple of years to help achieve a couple of
your goals. One of the biggest problems we have right now is a one-
size-fit-all Federal program that is out there for the Harvards and
for the community colleges and also for the proprietary schools.
There was a measure put into place that any school that has over
a default rate of 25 percent over a 2 to 3 year period would lose
their eligibility.

There are 500 such institutions right now that have had such de-
faults and fall into that category. The Department has, I think,
eliminated less than what you could count on one hand of those
schools from participating in the program. Out of the $2.4 billion
in defaults, if you consider two-thirds of those are proprietary
school driven, that is where the bulk of the program problem Hes.
Most of the normal 4-year schools have very low default rates in
the single digits.

I think you could also, if Congress is the one that's created the'
programs and the disincentives in the program, and if Congress
created allowing the private sector to do its job the best that it

knows how. Banks are awfully good loan collectors. They're better
than the IRS; any study will show you that. But you've got to put
the right incentives in place. You've got to put tne right amount
of risk sharing in, and let the private sector do what it does best.
They have a better track record and a more proven record than the
IRS does.

But you've got to put the Federal incentives and the appropriate
amount of risk in that program to make them deliver, and get the
Department out of the way, which they've been in the way. The De-
partment sets up these rules for banks right now that they have
to check off all these different things to prove that they've collected
a loan. And I would much rather trust the banks to do what they
do best in a competitive environment than I would a Federal bu-
reaucrat putting a list of 17 items together, saying this is what you
have to do before this loan goes into default.

Mr. Horn. Yes, I wonder if we can put, at this point in the
record, the form they use to make sure they have it.

Mr. Hansen. Yes, sir.

Mr. Horn. If you'd furnish it, or the education liaison would.
[Note.—Due to high printing costs, the information referred to

above can be found in subcommittee files. 1

Mr. Horn. I'm delighted to yield to my distinguished colleague
from Illinois, the vice-chairman of this illustrative subcommittee.
Representative Flanagan. It's nice to see you.
Mr. Flanagan. And delighted I am to be here, Mr. Chairman. I

apologize to you and the panel. I am the vice-chairman of the Sub-
committee on the Constitution in the Judiciary Committee, where
I had the chair post this afternoon. So I'm only able to come here
now. And Mr. Chairman, I have a short statement that, if you
would please, put in the record, I would appreciate it.

Gentlemen, I've got just one question for you, and it's an over-
riding question and it has to do with most of today, and I'd like
to hear your candid and personal opinion on it. And I offer, by way
of example, in reauthorizing the Elementary and Secondary Edu-
cation Act, H.R. 6, Congress also wrote more rules pertaining to
gender equity than to weapons in schools. Simply, does the Federal
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Government try to emphasize disproportionate control over local

schools, particularly understanding that it pays for about 6 percent
of the education bitl in this Nation?
And my personal bias is, 6 percent shouldn't be telling 94 percent

what to ao. But I'd like to hear your opinion on it, gentlemen.
Mr. Finn. Well, sir, it's a tail wagging the dog situation. And the

6 percent tail is wagging a very large part of the 94 percent dog.

Lamar Alexander, former Secretary, characterizes the piece of leg-

islation you're describing as the we're too stupid" bill. He says
they think we're too stupid to decide for ourselves what to do if our
kid brings a penknife to school. They think we're too stupid to de-

cide for ourselves, with our own school board, how second grade
boys and girls should be taught about one another.
They think we're too stupid to figure out all of these other topics

.and issues. And that's why they passed a 1,200-page piece of legis-

lation, full of an amazing array of things, not just program reau-
thorizations but also all sorts of other wrinkles in which there is

suddenly to be a national policy instead of local policies. This is the
clear, strong opinion of two former Secretaries of Education, both
Alexander and Bennett, and it's my own.
Mr. Flanagan. Thank you.
Mr. Hansen. I would agree with that. I also think that when,

again, we're looking at polls that show support for the Department
of Education, it does sound good. And when people also in the same
poll are asked where the appropriate role of education belongs,

those numbers are overwhelming at the local community and at
the State level. I would also just like to point out that you could
draw a parallel to how the police department is another activity

that is primarily a State and local activity.

I think if we were to create a U.S. Department of Police, it would
probably have some important aspects to it because you've got a lot

of elements to it that the last crime bill and other people wanted
to focus on. But you don't want Washington telling your local com-
munity how best to enforce the local laws and the local statutes
that are on the book of codes in every small community around this

country,
Mr. Flanagan. Gentlemen, do you think the Groals 2000 program

isn't symptomatic of this problem that perhaps the three of us have
identified?

Mr. Finn. Yes, sir. There were two large, onerous pieces of legis-

lation actually passed last year, with respect to elementary/second-
ary education. We talked a moment ago about one of them, H.R.

6, the thing laughingly known as the "Improving America's Schools
Act." But the Goals 2000, or so-called "Educate America Act" is an-
other example of the same thing. That's the one that attempted to

re-enshrine school inputs rather than results as a way to think
about educational Quality.

That's the one tnat said that Federal bureaucrats should have
the final say over State and local school reform programs and de-

signs. That's the one that said something that many people com-
pared to a national school board should have final say over stand-
ards that are developed for curriculum around the country. The ad-
ministration sees this as the centerpiece of their education reform
program. But it's the very same program that I quoted Secretary
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Alexander, a few minutes ago, as describing as taking a nationwide
movement and turning it into a Federal program—exactly the
wrong direction to be going.

Mr. Flanagan. Thank you, gentlemen. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.
Mr. Horn. I now yield to the ranking minority member.
Mrs. Maloney. Very briefly, we have other panels, but I'm inter-

ested. Mr. Hansen, you testified earlier that we couldn't use the
IRS because of the problems of small businesses doing the with-
holding. Could you elaborate, why is that a problem? And Mr.
Finn, could you answer back on—^you had a different opinion on
this.

Mr. Hansen. I didn't say it couldn't be done, I just outlined that
as one of the issues that would need to be addressed by Congress
in deciding whether that was the way to go. You could nandle the
repayments in a number of different ways. You could have a one-
time annual payment as part of their tax return process. That
would probably be a little simpler. It might create more of a burden
on your average 24 or 25 year-old person out there coming up with.
Some students have payments to the tune of $200 or $300 a

month, and it's easier for them to make monthly pajonents than it

is to wait for one big pavment of, say, $3,000 a year. So there are
different problems, whicnever way you skin it. If you allowed the
IRS to do it one-time a year, that would create problems for some
people. If you wanted it as part of the withholding process, and
some of these issues regarding income contingent loan repayment

—

having your loans paid back on your future earnings—that can be
done in a number of different ways.

It can be done with the IRS. It can be done in the private sector,

with your income data being made available to the lender for them.
And it's already allowed that way. Congress created, in the last 2
years, what's called an income sensitive repayment program. There
are currently banks and private loan collectors using that program.
So that is important. My only concern is expressing that the way
to do it right would be to have it done through the withholding
process.
And I think that that is a dangerous way to go. I think it is put-

ting an awful lot of additional burden upon every employer, large
employer, small employer, self-employed. There's already enough
confusion out there. My wife and I have been self-employed in the
past, and just the tax code already is extremely difficult to under-
stand. The Department of Education published tables, as part of
their negotiated rulemaking last year on direct lending, on the re-

payment schedules.
I would like for the committee to see the 23 steps that you must

undergo to figure out what your payment should be, and the .00
x percents of whatever if you're divorced, or if you're married. If

you both have loans and then file a joint tax returns and then you
get divorced, who has the liability? There are a lot of problems in-

volved in the IRS doing this that are not part or assumed in the
tax code.

There still is no clear answer that I've ever heard where, if I had
a $20,000 student loan and my wife had a $12,000 student loan,
we got married, we made payments for 3 years through the IRS
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withholding, jointly on our tax statements, we filed joint returns.
We end up getting divorced. Where is the tax liability? Who has
the tax liability in that situation? I've never heard a good expla-
nation on how that would be handled, fi^om all the proponents of
this, over the last 15 years.
Mrs. Maloney. Go ahead, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Horn. I'm just saying, which one of you has the best lawyer

apparently determines who has the tax liability, and the gender of
the judge, perhaps.
Mr. Hansen. It is a serious issue, though, when we have a di-

vorce rate of over 50 percent. This is a very common element that
needs to be thought about.
Mrs. Maloney. Mr. Finn, could you comment on the withholding

problem for small businesses that.he raised?
Mr. Finn. I don't doubt that it's an issue, if this is done through

the withholding mechanism, as opposed to being added to your
taxes, due at the end of the year. I mean there could be a line on
your 1040 which says, in addition to what you owe for taxes, most
of which was withheld, do you owe anything else to the Federal
Government, such as a student loan? If so, please write the amount
of your annual payment in here, and add that to the check that you
write on April 15th.

It doesn't have to be done through the withholding route. I'm not
in love with the IRS. I doubt that many people in the room are.

I also speak as the parent of a 24-vear-old who called up the other
night, trying to fill out his Federal Student Loan Application form
for professional school for next year. And I don't relish the thought
of him spending time in Leavenworth.
But ever since the default issue began to become a large issue

and to cost the taxpayer a lot of money, what's been going through
my mind is that people don't take the Education Department's col-

lection seriously. And there are very few consequences for borrow-
ers, for bankers, for State guarantee agencies, for anybody really,

for allowing that default to ultimately land on the taxpayer. There
are just very few consequences.

Earlier the Department's CFO itemized a bunch of consequences,
with respect to your lifetime credit rating. And I'm sure those are
real. But I also began thinking, how can we get more consequences
so that people would take this more seriously? It does seem to me
that the IRS is the likeliest place to look for this.

I know they don't want to do it. I know they don't do a great job
of everything they have to do today. And I know there will be tech-

nical problems in setting it up that way. Nor do I expect it to hap-
pen in the next year. But I've never thought it wasn't worth trying.

Mrs. Maloney. OK. Thank you. And very briefly, you mentioned
earlier the $68 billion spent on education. And one of the problems
was that it was in all these other agencies. Why not bring all that
money into the board of education? Wouldn't we be creating, even
in your own words, more of a problem, by taking all of this money
and placing it out all over the place again, without a coordinating
unit?
Mr. Finn. The $68 billion figure, by the way, comes out of the

Department of Education's own compilation of education statistics.

It's all over the government. And some of it, they're counting things
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like West Point, where they're talking about government education
spending, because they're running an institution of higher edu-
cation there. Should it be run by the Department of Education,
rather than the Department of Defense?
Reasonable people could probably argue about that. In 1979, ac-

tually, the Carter administration tried to pull more programs from
other agencies and put them into the Department of Education.
Head Start is a pretty good example. Most people who know about
education would think it belongs with the elementary/secondary
programs, because it's a pre-school program. But the Head Start
and early childhood constituency wouldn't hear of moving it to the
Department of Education, so it stayed in HHS, where it is today.

It's fragmented today. Mv own view is that without a Depart-
ment of Education, it would not get more fragmented. And the
other problems that came with the Department of Education might
be eased.
Mr. Horn. Thank you. Mr. Flanagan's statement will be put at

the beginning of this hearing with other opening statements, with-
out objection. Let me thank this panel profusely. You've both con-
tributed, from your experience of both hands-on and study of the
subject, a lot oi wisdom for this committee to digest. We thank you
both for coming today.

We'll now start with panel two, which has become panel three,
the Honorable George Munoz, Assistant Secretary for Management,
and Chief Financial Officer, Department of the Treasury; and Mr.
Paul L. Posner, the Director of Budget Issues, Accounting and In-
formation Management Division, of the General Accounting Office.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. Horn. I understand Secretary Muiioz might have to leave

early. So we'll start with you.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE MUNOZ, ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR
MANAGEMENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, DEPARTMENT
OF THE TREASURY; PAUL L. POSNER, DIRECTOR OF BUDGET
ISSUES, ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT DI-
VISION, GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE
Mr. Munoz. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I

am George Munoz, Assistant Secretary for Management and Chief
Financial Officer for the Department of the Treasury. I thank you
for the opportunity to appear before you again. I have been asked
to testify before you today as a representative of the administration
who has broad experience in management reform. I will draw from
several perspectives; first, as a former customer of the Department
of Education, when I served as president of the Chicago Board of
Education during the mid-1980's; second, as a representative from
a peer Cabinet agency, the Department of the Treasury; and third,

as executive vice chair of the governmentwide Chief Financial Offi-

cer's Council, which focuses on financial and management improve-
ment throughout government.
As I testified earlier to this committee, I am both an attorney

and a certified public accountant. I have extensive management ex-
perience in both the public and private sector, including profit and
loss responsibility in business. As Treasury CFO, and as vice chair
of the CFO Council, I have worked on management improvement

26-805 - 96 - 7
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efforts throughout the government financial management commu-
nity. I'm also familiar with many of the improved efforts underway
at Education.
No one disputes the great importance of education to each of us

as individuals, to our communities, to our Nation. Education is the
key to our economic growth. If you cut education, you cut the in-

comes of all people. There is nothing more important to raising in-

comes and raising standards of living than education. The Presi-

dent has repeatedly emphasized that education is the fault line of

economic opportunity in this country.

Phase II of the National Performance Review asked all agencies
to look at their fundamental mission; asking in fact, if an agency
should be in existence at all. We were all tasked to define and jus-

tify our core mission, based on what our customers—the citizens of

the United States—think and want. Let me address this issue up
front. The Federal Government should have a Department of Edu-
cation.

The American people, our customers, are clearly pro-education
and pro-Department of Education. Last January, a Wall Street

Journal and NBC poll specifically asked whether there should be
cut-backs in the Department of Education. Over 80 percent of the
people said no, and 70 percent said the Department itself was very
necessary in the role it played. I could not agree more.
The Department's role today is exactly as it should be. It pro-

vides focus, direction and support to States, local communities and
institutions to improve education nationwide.
What is the role of the Federal Government in education; and

why are national goals and measures so important? It must be
noted that States do not have a legal or Constitutional obligation

to educate. They must only provide the opportunity for education.
The States do not guarantee educational outcomes. The Federal

Government, through the Department of Education, assists in en-
couraging States and communities in setting challenging standards
in helping students meet higher educational goals, and in measur-
ing the performance of our educational system, using objective

standards.
The Department of Education, our smallest Cabinet-level agency,

with about 5,000 FTEs, is a model agency, under NPR principles

in that it is steering more and growing less.

It, too, is cutting bureaucracy, reducing regulations, and devolv-

ing many of its activities to States, localities and schools. But after

alfthe cutting is done, and all the efficiencies are put in place, we
still need the Department of Education to provide principles, finan-

cial assistance and assessment. It plays a fundamental leadership
role that is critical to our Nation.

Let me give you an example from my own experience at the Chi-
cago Board of Education. I was having great difficulty in getting
people to focus on the fact that we had a serious drop-out problem
in the city and around the country. Different school systems were
using different scoring systems for calculating the drop-out rate,

and all of them were understating the problem. The published
drop-out rates at that time were between 10 and 12 percent in

some of these large urban centers, but the actual number of stu-

dents dropping out was in the neighborhood of 50 percent in the
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large urban schools. The Department of Education assisted in get-

ting true and full disclosure on the extent of the drop-out problem
by publishing the comprehensive "Nation at Risk" study. The study
had a tremendous impact in helping Chicago and other urban
school systems address problems with educational performance and
drop-outs.
The Groals 2000: Education America Act was passed by Congress

this past year, with strong bipartisan support and the backing of

almost every major national parental, educational and business or-

ganization, as well as the Nation's Governors and legislators.

Today, Goals 2000 is supporting State and local efforts in Chicago
and across the Nation to set challenging academic standards.
Having no doubts as to the need for a Department of Education,

I would like to address management improvement efforts in the de-

partment. My observations of the Department of Education is that

it is making progress in several management and financial reform
areas, many of which are key to NPR initiatives and to overall per-

formance improvement. This is largely due to the leadership, fol-

low-through and hands-on management style of Secretary Riley.

He is focused on results, and has created an environment where
good ideas are rapidly translated into success. Let me briefly high-

light some of these gains. In strategic planning: As you know, stra-

tegic planning is a key to effective management in any organiza-
tion. The Department of Education recently completed its first stra-

tegic plan. This strategic plan identifies four key priorities for car-

rying out the department's mission of ensuring equal access to edu-
cation and promoting educational excellence nationwide.
The first three priorities focus on helping States, local commu-

nities and agencies to develop higher academic standards, to pro-

vide school-to-work opportunities, and to access post-secondary
education and lifelong learning. The fourth priority, that of trans-

forming the department into a performance driven organization, is

required to accomplish the other three. In each of the priority

areas, the plan sets ambitious performance targets for improving
how the department serves its customers and the results it expects.

And its use of performance indicators puts Education ahead of

many other agencies in implementing the Government Performance
and Results Act. Over the past 2 years, the department's strategic

plan has driven budget priorities, resource and personnel alloca-

tions, and strategies for carrying out reform. That's sound business
practice.

On the CFO Coimcil, I have the opportunity
Mr. Horn. If we might ask you to summarize.
Mr. MUNOZ. I will, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to conclude,

then
Mr. Horn. Take another minute or so and summarize the key

points there. We have you full statement, you know.
Mr. MuNOZ. Yes, sir, I'd like to supply my full statement for the

record.

Mr. Horn. Sure.
Mr. MuNOZ. I do want to highlight that the Department, in the

regulatory reform area, is making far-reaching changes. Its strate-

^c plan is a specific call for action that integrates NPR principles

into everyday life at Education. For example, under its new prin-
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ciples for regulating, Education regulates only when it's essential

to meet program goals. Then it is flexible and non-burdensome as
possible. Education has identified more than 100 unnecessary bur-
densome procedures and actions is in progress to change or elimi-

nate most of these procedures.

I do believe that after all is said and done, all of our agencies
have to go through the process of streamlining and reinventing
themselves to make sure they are meeting the customer goals. But
in the final analysis, that should not mean the exclusion of a de-

partment that is so crucial to our Nation's top priority, which is

education. That concludes my opening statement, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Muiioz follows:]

Prepared Statement of George Munoz, Assistant Secretary for
Management, Chief Financial Officer, Department of the Treasury

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:
I am George Munoz, Assistant Secretary for Management and Chief Financial Of-

ficer for the Department of the Treasury. I thank you for the opportunity to appear
before you again. I have been asked to testify before you today as a representative
of the Administration, who has broad experience in management reform. I will draw
from several perspectives: as a former customer of the Department of Education
when I served as President of the Chicago Board of Education during the mid-
1980's; as a representative from a peer cabinet agency, the Department ofthe Treas-
ury; and as Executive Vice Chair of the Governmentwide Chief Financial Officers

Council, which focuses on financial and management improvement throughout gov-
ernment.
As I testified earlier to this committee, I am both an attorney and a certified pub-

lic accountant. I have extensive management experience in both the public and pri-

vate sector, including profit and loss responsibility in business. As Treasury's CFO
and as Vice Chair oftne CFO Council, I nave worked on management improvement
efforts throughout the government financial management community. I am also fa-

miliar with many of the improvement efforts underway at Education.

education and link to economic growth

No one disputes the great importance of education to each of us as individuals,

to our communities, to our nation. Education is the key to our economic growth

—

if you cut education, you cut the incomes of all people. Tliere is nothing more impor-
tant to raising incomes and raising standards of living than education.
The President has repeatedly emphasized that "education is the fault line of eco-

nomic opportunity in this country.'

THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Phase n of the National Performance Review asked all agencies to look at their

fundamental mission—asking, in fact, if an agency should be in existence at all. We
all were tasked to define and justify our core mission, based on what our customers,
the citizens of the United States, think and want. Let me address this issue up
front—the Federal Government SHOULD have a Department of Education.
The American people, our customers, are clearly pro-education, and pro-Depart-

ment of Education. Last January, a Wall Street Journal and NBC poll specifically

asked the question whether there should be cutbacks in the Department of Edu-
cation. Over 80 percent of the people said no; 70 percent said that the Department
itself was very necessary in the role it played.

I couldn't agree more. The Department's role today is exactly as it should be

—

it provides focus, direction and support to states, local communities, and institutions
to improve education nationwide.
What is the role of the Federal Government in education and why are national

goals and measures so important? It must be noted that states do not have a legal

or constitutional obligation to educate; they must only provide the opportunity for

education . . . The states do not guarantee educational outcomes. The Federal
Government, through the Department of Education, assists in encouraging states

and communities in setting challenging standards, in helping students meet high
educational goals and in measuring the performance of our educational system
using objective standards.
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The Department of Education—our smallest cabinet-level agency with about 5,000
FTOs—is a model agency under NPR principles in that it is "steering more and row-
ing less." It too is cutting bureaucracy . . . reducing regulations . . . and devolv-
ing many of its activities to states, localities and schools. But after all the cutting
is done and all the efTiciencies are in place, we still need the Department of Edu-
cation to provide principles, financial assistance, and assessment. It plays a fun-
damental leadership role that is critical to our nation.

Let me give you an example from my own experience at the Chicago Board of
Education. I was having great difficulty in getting people to focus on the fact that
we had a serious drop-out problem in the city ana around the country. Different

school systems were using different scoring systems for calculating the drop-out rate

and all of them were understating the problem. The published drop-out rates were
10-12%, but the actual number oT students dropping out was in tne neighborhood
of 50% in the large urban schools. The Department of Education assisted in getting
true and full disclosure on the extent of the drop-out problem, by publishing the
comprehensive "Nation At Risk" study. The study had a tremendous impact in nelp-

ing Chicago and other urban school systems address problems with educational per-

formance and drop-outs.

The Goals 2000: Education America Act was passed by Congress in 1994 with
strong bipartisan support and the backing of almost every major national parental,
educational, and business organization as well as the nation's governors and legisla-

tors. Today, Goals 2000 is supporting state and local efTorts in Chicago and across
the nation tio set challenging academic standards.
Having no doubts as to the need for a Department of Education, I would now like

to address management improvement efforts in the Department.

MANAGEMENT AND THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

My observations of the Department of Education are it is making progress in sev-

eral management and financial reform areas, many of which are key to NPR initia-

tives and to overall performance improvement. This is largely due to the leadership,
follow-through and ^ands-on" management style of Secretary Riley. He is focused
on results and has created an environment where good ideas are rapidly translated
into successes. Let me briefly highlight some of these gains:

Strategic Planning

As you know, strategic planning is a key to effective management in any organiza-
tion. The Department of Education recently completed its first-ever strategic plan.

This strategic plan identifies four key priorities for carrying out the Department's
mission of ensuring equal access to education and promoting educational excellence
nationwide.
The first three priorities focus on helping states, local communities and agencies:

• to develop higher academic standards;
• to provide school-to-work opportunities; and
• to access post-secondary education and life-long learning.

The fourth priority, that of transforming the Department into a performance-driv-
en organization, is required to accomplish the other three.

In each of the priority areas, the plan sets ambitious performance targets for im-
proving how the Department serves its customers and the results it expects. And
its use of performance indicators puts Education ahead of many other agencies in

implementing the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA).
Over the past two years, the Department's strategic plan has driven budget prior-

ities, resource and personnel allocations, and strategies for carrying out reform.

That's sound business practice.

Financial Management
On the CFO Council, I have the opportunity, on an ongoing basis, to work closely

with the Department of Education's Chief Financial Officer and Deputy Chief Fi-

nancial Officer. Both individuals—Don Wurtz and Mitchell Laine—are eminently
qualified for their respective positions. They bring to the CFO Council an enthusias-
tic support for the overall improvement of financial management throughout the
Federal Government.
As you know, Mr. Wurtz came from the General Accounting Office (GAO) and

joined the Department of Education on the heels of a critical 1993 GAO report re-

garding management problems at Education. In fact, he participated in the GAO re-

view. As a result, he knows where the problems are and has the background to ad-

dress them forcefully. And he's doing just that.

Further, throu^ discussions with Mr. Wurtz and Mr. Laine, I have come to un-
derstand that the emphasis placed on implementing the CFO Act has helped the
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Department of Education make meaningful and substantive management improve-
ments. Sjjecifically, Education has been able:

• to receive, for the first time in the Department's history, a clean audit opin-
ion from an outside auditor, with no reported material weaknesses on a major
flnancial program—the Direct Student Loan Program;

• to muster the resources necessary to conduct a comprehensive general ledg-

er account reconciliation that has significantly improved the accuracy and use-
fulness of the Department's accounting records;

• to initiate improvements in the financial functions of cash management, ac-

counts receivable management, prompt payment, and collections on delinquent
and defaulted loans and accounts;

• to establish an innovative Financial Management Quality Team tasked with
steering financial management policy to better serve the needs of program man-
agers;

• to initiate a redesign of its Core Financial System to implement a modem,
integrated financial management system; and,

• to attract technically qualified financial professionals—people like Don
Wurtz—from both the private sector and other federal agencies to fill critical

vacancies and experience gaps.

Customer Service—New Flexibility:

Increasing responsiveness to customers needs is a vital NPR principle and Edu-
cation is making progress on a number of fronts in adding local discretion and flexi-

bility to its programs. Education is building on new legislation to strengthen part-
nerships witn states, districts, schools and lamilies, to be more flexible, and to help
energize reform. The Department has several efTorts underway to encourage state

and local innovation and greater involvement of parents and communities in learn-
ing. The goal of these initiatives is to provide a oalance between the Federal Gov-
ernment and communities, schools, and states to improve education for all Ameri-
cans.
The Department also has implemented an agency-wide approach to improve com-

munications customers. It has organized focus groups with teachers, parents, stu-

dents and program administrators to solicit feeaDack on programs and information
useful in preparing policy.

A "1-800-USA-I^ARN" telephone number connects customers to a "one-stop" cen-
ter for information about Departmental programs and student aid. The Depart-
ment's On-bne Library offers information on education legislation, research, statis-

tics, and promising programs to more than 17,000 people every week.

Regulatory Reform:

The far-reaching changes that Education is making demonstrates that the Depart-
ment is serious about regulatory reform. It's strategic plan is a specific call for ac-

tion that integrates NPR principles into everyday life at Education.
For example:

• Under its new "Principles for Regulating", Education regulates only when
it's essential to meet program goals. Then it's as flexible and non-burdensome
as possible.

• Education has identified more than 100 unnecessary burdensome proce-

dures and action is in progress to change or eliminate most of these procedures.

AREAS FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION

As I have indicated in my testimony, the Department of Education is making
Brogress in several important areas in management reform. I would encourage the
•epartment to continue focusing efforts on the following areas:

CONTINUED EFFORTS TOWARDS AN INTEGRATED FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The Department is in the process of developing a central automated processing
system (EDCAPS). This single integrated system will provide system support to the
Department's core business processes and will replace costly, outdated systems
which have long outlived their useful life cycle and are quite expensive to maintain.
The new integrated system will substantially reduce system maintenance costa,

automate many manual steps by providing work flow processing, provide enhanced
reporting capabilities, and improve program delivery.

CONTINUED USE OF STATE-OF-THE-ART INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Any effort toward management reform must include technological enhancements.
One such system that is already being used at Education is AskERlC:
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AskERIC ia an online national education information network that provides free

information on education and schooling to more than 25,000 people each month
through Internet and commercial online services. It includes a question/answering
service and a "virtual library", which is an extensive electronic collection of re-

sources and full-text documents for users. AskERIC breaks down many of the com-
munication barriers between the Federal Government, universities, and public

schools.

I encourage Education to continue to pursue and implement initiatives like this

—

to take advantage of new technologies—to empower public administrators, teachers,

and parents to be proactive towards educational matters in America's local commu-
nities.

And finally, I encourage Education to continue its outstanding efforts in imple-
menting the CFO Act and GPRA principles.

Thank you. I would be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. Horn. Very good. What is your time schedule, Mr. Sec-

retary?
Mr. MUNOZ. Sir, if I can be out by 4 p.m., I would be very appre-

ciative.

Mr. Horn. OK, then we'll go ahead with Mr. Posner, and then
have questions. Would you identify your colleague?
Mr. Posner. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I will. I want to intro-

duce my colleague. This is Cornelia Blanchette, who's our Associate
Director for the education area. I thought it was important to have
her at the table, as she is familiar with all GAO's work in that
area. My statement is going to focus on the opportunities that GAO
has identified over the years, particularly recent years, to consoli-

date Federal programs. This is a perennial issue that we have
found.
When I joined GAO in 1976, we issued a report which was enti-

tled, "Fundamental Changes are Needed in Our System of Federal
Assistance to State and Local Governments." And the reason why
we said that, was not just that we felt strongly about State and
local prerogatives. The fragmented nature of Federal categorical

programs complicates and frustrates the efficient achievement of

Federal objectives. The things that we said then are still true in

many areas today.
And my statement summarizes a number of areas where we see

real opportunities to improve the following kinds of goals. One, we
see opportunities to reduce administrative burdens and costs for

the Federal Government, as well as State and local government.
We see the opportunities to permit more efficient delivery of serv-

ices by integrating related programs—both related Federal pro-

grams and related State and local programs with the Federal pro-

grams.
We see the possibility of promoting improved relationships with

the customers of government services and programs. And finally,

we see such a consolidation exercise as prompting a healthy recon-

sideration of Federal programs and roles in the Federal system. My
statement points to a number of opportunities across a broad range
of Federal opportunities, ranging from defense to energy to nutri-

tion. I will focus on a couple, related to the hearing today.
In the employment and training area, we have issued a number

of reports over the past several years identifying the numerous
Federal programs assisting State, local and private sector in pro-

viding employment training for needy people. There were 163 Fed-
eral programs across 15 agencies, roughly $20 billion. These pro-
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grams typically have similar purposes, similar services, similar cli-

entele, use parallel service delivery systems, which increases ad-
ministrative costs, complicates and frustrates local efforts to pull it

all together and muddles things for clientele trying to reach into

the Federal service delivery pot.

And the inconsistent requirements among these programs for

planning and applications and reporting further complicate mat-
ters. We have proposed one option that CBO has scored as saving
roughly $2.2 billion over 5 years by consolidating 18 of those pro-

grams, and reducing the cost by 10 percent to recognize the advan-
tages that come from consolidation. The Department of Education
has a patchwork of programs that presents opportunities in this

area.

Again, the Department of Education, as you have heard today,
has a budget of $33 billion. But this is only part of an estimated
$70 billion in Federal education assistance. The Education Depart-
ment administers 244 education programs, but 30 other agencies
administer another 308. Education, as has been said today, pro-

posed several programs as candidates for consolidation. GAO has
identified another 36 programs that also may be potential can-
didates.

And let me give you an example of some of those patchwork of

programs that we've identified through our audit and evaluation
work. In the area of early childhood education, there are more than
90 pre-school and child care programs, offered by 11 agencies, that
target children at similar ages, sometimes provide similar services,

but differing costs and comprehensiveness.
There are about 86 programs in 9 Federal departments that offer

teacher training, and about half are primarily focused on teacher
training. The latter group of those primarily focused on that kind
of program are obligated $280 million for teacher training activities

for such things as conferences, salaries, trainers, travel and mate-
rials. With regard to at-risk youth, there are about 46 programs ad-
ministered by 8 Federal agencies that focus on that target popu-
lation.

Let me just say that there are other examples that are backed
up by our reports. Also, there are several issues that need to be
considered when designing a consolidation kind of program. One
that is very much foremost on all of our minds today is how can
a consolidation be designed to achieve savings at the Federal level?

Consolidation can yield two types of savings.
One is the administrative costs at all levels of government, of

just permitting the consolidation of similar activities into one kind
of program. And the other are potential efficiencies in the delivery
of program services. Now, let me emphasize that the savings come
from actually reducing activities and dollars, not by expecting or

assuming savings in some kind of future sense, in administrative
costs and efficiencies.

I say this having tried to identify such savings in the 1981 block
grants for several years with GAO. When we went to 13 States,
and lo and behold, we found that while States could tell us that
their administrative burdens were clearly reduced—much reduced
paperwork and administrative reporting and that kind of thin
Staff were freed up to do other things, but I will tell you that sta
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were generally not cut. There was not the hard dollar savings, in

other words, at the State and local level. Although, as you've heard
today, there clearly was at the Federal level.

The other issue that I know that everybody is paying attention

to is accountability. What does consolidation mean tor mings that
Federal Government still cares about? Does it mean that we put
the money on the stump and run? Does it mean that we have a
results-oriented set of measured objectives?

Well, it could mean either of those things are anything in be-
tween. We've had block grants, like the JTPA program, that have
been fairly specific and targeted and results oriented. And we've
had block grants, like social services block grants, or some of the
ones in the early 1980's, that are much more flexible with regard
to the States.

The Congress can control accountability by the way we design
these programs. The record shows that too many accountability
provisions can actually frustrate the objectives of what you're try-

ing to do. In other words, you don't get the efficiencies and the inte-

gration. Too few, on the other hand, the record shows, Congress
tends to lose interest in programs when they don't get data needed
to understand what's going on with the program.
Too few, for example, can enable fiscal substitution to occur,

where States will take broad pots of money and simply replace the
money they otherwise would spend—something that we know has
happened with categorical programs, from highways to Chapter 1,

would most likely happen with broader pots of money as well.

Which behooves us, simply, to think about, what are our design
features? What do we want to ultimately accomplish? What balance
of power are we really trying to bring about with these programs?
And how do we get there, and thinking clearly about that so we
know essentially what we're getting. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Posner follows:]

Prepared Statement of Paul L. Posner, Director of Budget Issues, Account-
ing AND Information Management Division, General Accounting Office

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:
We appreciate the opportunity to provide a statement on program consolidation

issues tnat your Subcommittee now is considering. The federal government admin-
isters a multitude of programs that often are duplicative and overlapping, reducing
the efficiency and effectiveness of government activities and services. Program con-

solidation is a promising alternative for increasing efficiency of government oper-

ations and improving performance.
A major focus of today's hearing is education program consolidation. During the

past year, we have issued several reports documenting fragmentation and duplica-

tion in education and education-related programs.^ This work highlights a patch-
work of programs with similar goals, serving similar populations in the areas of

teacher training, early childhood education, and programs targeted to at-risk youth.
In April, 1995 we testified on opportunities for education program consolidation be-

fore the House Subcommittee on Human Resources and Intergovernmental Rela-
tions.2 In that testimony, we noted that the Department of Education has been ac-

tive in identifying ways to streamline through program consolidation. However, we

^ Early Childhood Progranis: Multiple Programs and Overlapping Target Groups (GAO/HEHS-
95-4FS, October 31, 1994) and Multiple Teacher Training Programs: Information on Budgets,
Services, and Target Groups (GAO/HEHS-95-71FS, February 22, 1995). On January 19, 1995,
GAO issued correspondence to Senator Cohen and Congressman Goodling on education develop-

ment programs for at-risk youth (GAO/HEHS-95-60R).
* Department of Education: Information on Consolidation Opportunities and Student Aid

(GAO/T-HEHS-95-130. April 6, 1995).



182

also identified further opportunities to consolidate and/or eliminate education pro-

grams beyond those identified by the Department.
The comments we made on education program consolidations in our April testi-

mony are similar to the consolidation issues we have identified in other policy areas.

Our statement today discusses some of the general issues that we believe are impor-
tant to all such eflbrts, giving special emphasis to grant program consolidations.

The Congress has shown a strong interest in exploring opportunities for program
consolidations and streamlining across many areas of the federal budget, from de-

fense and international affairs to transportation, health, and welfare. There is rea-

son to expect, therefore, that some consolidations will bring together activities that

are wholly federally financed and administered. However, many of the program-con-
solidations currently being debated would merge smaller, more narrowly defined

federal grant programs into larger consolidated programs of state and locally-admin-

istered federal assistance. It is expected that the new programs will operate as

broadly-defined partnerships with state and local governments in which federal

funding will be limited and reduced. Accordingly, our discussion emphasizes the
budgetary and other implications of grant consolidations to the federal government.

THE POTENTIAL BENEFITS OF PROGRAM CONSOLIDATION

GAO's work shows that program consolidations can lead to increased efficiency

and improvements in performance that significantly benefit taxpayers, administra-
tors, service providers, and beneficiaries alike. GAO audits and evaluations illus-

trate that many federal programs have similar and overlapping objectives, provide

similar services to the same populations, and could be streamlined. GAO work also

highlights how other federal programs work at cross-purposes and could be rec-

onciled and coordinated to improve service delivery.

Whether programs are administered solely by the federal government or as grants
to states and localities, there are ample reasons to consider consolidation, including:

• Program consolidations offer opportunities to reduce federal spending in

terms oi administrative costs, program costs, or both. In the case oi grant con-

solidations, particularly, budgetary savings can be achieved in three ways: re-

ductions in federal agency staffing and overhead involved in grant administra-
tion, lower payments to the states in anticipation of reduced state administra-
tive costs and burdens, and savings from more innovative and efficient delivery

of consolidated program services. We will discuss the budgetary implications for

the federal government and those at state and local levels later in our testi-

mony.
• Program consolidations can improve administration and service delivery, es-

pecially when programs with similar objectives and clientele are brought to-

gether and conflicting requirements, duplication, and overlap are reduced.

States and localities can turn new-found flexibility into more effective services

by reconciling and coordinating activities in light of local conditions. Along these
lines, GAO has reported that the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981
(OBRA) block grants enabled some state agencies to use personnel more produc-
tively as staff devoted less time to federal administrative requirements and
more time to program activities.^ We also reported that states were able to bet-

ter coordinate programs after the consolidations.'* More recently, our work has
shown that multiple food assistance programs confuse applicants about pro-

grams and benefits available to them. If food assistance programs were stream-

lined, GAO has reported, service delivery could be improved.''

• Program consolidations can also create opportunities to reassess federal pro-

grams or activities and eliminate programs that are duplicative, outdated, or in

which costs for benefits received either do not or no longer justify federal spend-

ing. For example, GAO testified that many small, specifically targeted post-

secondary education programs are potential candidates for consolidation be-

cause thev appear to have overlapping target populations or provide similar

services. As we said, these small programs are costly to implement and oversee,

and evaluating their effectiveness is difficult. Program consolidation could re-

duce program administrative costs, and the Department of Education could bet-

ter focus its management resources on evaluating the remaining programs.

3 See, for example, our summary report on OBRA 1981 block grant implementation. Block
Grants: Overview of Experiences to Date and Emerging Issues (GAO/HRD-85-46, April 3, 1985).

* State Rather Than Federal Policies Provided the Framework For Managing Block Grants
(GAO/HRD-85-36, March 15, 1985).

"See, for example, Food Assistance: USDA's Multiprogram Approach (GAO/RCED-94-33, No-
vember 24, 1993).
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EXAMPLES OF CONSOLIDATION OPPORTUNITIES IDENTIFIED IN GAO'S WORK

The following eight examples show in greater detail the range of opportunities for

program consolidation found in GAO's audits and evaluations. Seven of the exam-
ples are drawn from our recently released report, Addressing the Deficit: Budgetary
Implications of Selected GAO Work for Fiscal Year 1996 (GAO/OCG-95-2, March 15,

1995).

Reappraise Rural Development Programs

Since 1989, GAO reports and testimonies have commented on problems in federal

rural development programs.® Hundreds of federal programs provide rural develop-
ment assistance across multiple federal agencies. The programs are complex and
generally difficult to administer because state and local officials must grapple with
varying programs rules and regulations. For example, there are 11 difTerent pro-
grams in six different federal agencies that provide assistance for water and sewer
projects, each with its own set of regulations. This complexity results in inefficient

and costly delivery of federal assistance.

Appropriate program consolidation pursuing a broad strategy for economic devel-

opment in rural areas provides one alternative to the current system of multiple,
narrowly focused programs. Program consolidation would provide the opportunity to

eliminate overlapping or duplicative activities, thereby facilitating improvements in

the effectiveness and efficiency of overall federal assistance to rural areas. Depend-
ing on the extent of the consolidation and resulting roles and responsibilities, pro-
gram savings could be achieved at each level of government, from lower administra-
tive costs of regulatory compliance on the local level to reduced overhead expenses
from consolidated program administration at the federal level. To illustrate the po-

tential for savings, GAO's example used the President's proposal to consolidate
funds among 14 Department of Agriculture (USDA) rural development loan and
grant programs. Such an initiative could generate $42 million in administrative sav-
ings by reducing USDA headquarters full-time employees.

Streamline Defense Infrastructure

DOD faces huge challenges in effectively managing its diverse operations as it

downsizes its forces and activities. Consolidation can be a viable option for DOD as
it tries to reassesses its mission and improve efficiency. The following two exam-
ples—restructuring the defense transportation system and consolidating the sepa-
rate military exchange stores—are among a wide range of potential DOD consolida-
tions.

Numerous studies by DOD, presidential commissions, and others have repx)rted

that the structure of the defense transportation system is fragmented and ineffi-

cient. Traffic management processes were developed independently for each mode of
transportation, with each supported by an independently developed automated sys-

tem. Although in 1993 DOD designated the U.S. Transportation Command
(TRANSCOM) as the single DOD manager of the Defense Transportation System,
separate component command headquarters and an antiquated worldwide field

structure have remained essentially unchanged. TRANSCOM recognizes the need to

overhaul its system and is actively engaged in a reengineering initiative.

GAO has testified that fixing the organizational structure is a mandatory first

step to address the fragmented transportation system and substantially reduce
transportation costs.'' Consolidation will be an important component of the restruc-

turing. For example, the integration and consolidation of transportation information
systems could result in improved efficiencies and administrative savings.
TRANSCOM's Joint Transportation Corporate Information Management Center is

recommending reducing 120 current information management systems to 23 or less

by 1997.

DOD's "morale, welfare, and recreation (MWR)" program is a $12 billion enter-

prise that provides service members, their dependents, and eligible civilians with an
affordable source of goods and services. Exchange stores are the largest producer of

MWR revenue. Since 1968, studies by GAO, DOD, and others have recommended
the consolidation of exchanges into a single entity, predicting that financial benefits

^See, for example, Rural Development: Patchwork of Federal Programs Needs To Be Re-
appraised (GAO/RCED-94-165, July 28, 1994).

'Defense Infrastructure: Enhancing Performance Through Better Bixsiness Practices (GACVT-
NSIAD/AIMD-95-126, March 23, 1995).
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could result.^ While the Army and Air Force exchanges have been consolidated, the
Navy and Marine Corps retain separate exchanges.
Revenue generated by the MWR is likely to decrease in the 1990's because of the

downsizing of forces and increased private sector competition. Appropriated funds

—

which now constitute 10 percent oi MWR funding—are also expected to decline as
overall budgets decline. In this environment, consolidation and streamlining could
benefit DOD financially.

Consolidate Strategic Petroleum Reserve

The consolidation of the Strategic Petroleum Reserve (SPR) could reduce or elimi-

nate excess storage capacity, improving SPR's efficiency and reducing overall pro-

gram costs.®

Because of budget constraints, very little crude oil has been purchased for storage

in the SPR since 1993, and no additional purchases are planned for fiscal year 1995.
Currently, the reserve has about 150 million barrels of excess storage capacity
spread out over four of the five storage sites. Consolidation of storage sites would
result in lowering operations and maintenance costs by $12 million over 5 years ac-

cording to the Congressional Budget Office—if the Department of Energy (DOE)
maintains the amount of oil stored in the reserve at its current level of about 600
million barrels.

Streamline employment and Training Programs

The challenges posed by increased global competition and a changing economy call

for a renewea commitment to invest in the American workforce. However, federal

efforts to meet this commitment have resulted in a wide array of programs spread
across 15 departments and independent agencies with a total budget of about $20
billion. Many of the programs have similar goals and provide the same services to

similar populations using separate, parallel delivery structures. GAO has identified

163 federal programs and funding streams providing employment and training as-

sistance.i° This overlap can add unnecessary administrative costs at each level of
government—federal, state, and local. It can also lead to less than effective service

delivery.

Consolidation could provide an opportunity to improve efficiency and effectiveness

in employment and training programs. GAO used the example of consolidating simi-

lar employment and training programs for the economically disadvantaged and dis-

located workers to illustrate the potential for savings. The example would consoli-

date nine programs for dislocated workers and another nine programs for the eco-

nomically disadvantaged. In anticipation of administrative efficiencies to the states

as well as improved opportunities to reduce program fragmentation, grant funding
could be cut by 10 percent, saving the federal government about $2.3 billion over
5 years.

Consolidate U.S. Department ofAgriculture Food Assistance Programs

The federal domestic food assistance system is a good example of the wide range
of potential benefits from program consolidation. Fourteen programs under USDA
provide food and food-related assistance to about 39 million people, from infants to

the elderly, with estimated federal funding of $37 billion in fiscal year 1994.

GAO has reported that the multiple program approach used to provide food assist-

ance has created a complex administrative structure involving different nutritional

goals and funding schemes and encompassing various combinations of federal, state,

and local agencies, that, for the most part, dispense food benefits independently. ^^

Administrative procedures are inconsistent, confusing applicants about what pro-

grams and benefits are available.

In February 1995, we reported that one alternative for streamlining current food
assistance programs would be to consolidate three commodity food assistance pro-

grams that rely on USDA commodities. ^^ These programs—The Emergency Food
Assistance Program, Soup Kitchens/Food Banks and Commodity Supplemental Food

*See, for example, Morale, Welfare, and Recreation: Declining Funds Require DOD To Take
Action (GAO/NSIAD-94-120, February 28, 1994).

"Ener^ Policy: Ranking Options To Improve the Readiness of and Expand the Strategic Pe-
troleum Reserve (GAO/RCED-94-259, August 18, 1994).

^°See Multiple Employment and Training FVograms: Major Overhaul Is Needed to Reduce
Costs, Streamline The Bureaucracy, and Improve Results (GAO/T-HEHS-95-53, January 10,

1995); Multiple Employment Training Programs: Overlap in Programs Raises Questions About
EfTiciency (GAO/HEHS-94-193, July 11, 1994); and Multiple Employment Training Pn^rams:
Overlapping Programs Can Add Unnecessary Administrative Costs (GAO/HEHS-94-80, January
28 1994).
" Food AssisUnce: USDA's Multiprogram Approach (GAO/RCED-94-33, November 24, 1993).
"Food AssisUnce Programs (GAO/RCED-95-115R, February 28, 1995).



185

Program—could be consolidated, giving states more flexibility to target resources
more effectively while continuing to support USDA's price support and surplus re-

moval activities.

In GAO's illustrative example, CBO estimated that $217 million in savings could
be achieved by eliminating some grant funding currently provided the states for pro-
gram administration. Alternatively, consolidation could be based on a reassessment
of domestic food assistance programs in line with broader policy objectives and
goals. In this instance, duplicative or overlapping programs would be eliminated and
state and local flexibility mcreased to improve service delivery and reduce adminis-
trative costs at all levels of government.

Reorganize Federal Land Management Agencies

Federal lands are managed primarily through the National Park Service, Bureau
of Land Management (ELM), and Fish and Wildlife Service within the Department
of the Interior and the Forest Service within the Department of Agriculture. These
agencies have prepared or are preparing a streamlining plan to reduce and restruc-
ture their work forces. Further efficiencies could be achieved by exploring consolida-
tion opportunities across existing jurisdictional boundaries.*^
GAO has reported that efficiencies could be derived through a collaborative fed-

eral approach to land management.** The opportunities for consolidation include re-

focusing, combining, or eliminating certain duplicative missions, programs, activities

or fiela locations across the four agencies. For example, in western Oregon, BLM
and the Forest Service are responsible for 2.3 and 4.9 million acres of land, respec-
tively. Both agencies manage portions of these lands for timber production and have
parallel forestry organizations in several locations.

Through the years, there have been several attempts to have the land manage-
ment agencies collaborate in their program or service provision. These include (1)

consolidating BLM's and the Forest Services's responsibilities for managing adjacent
lands in western Oregon and Washington, (2) the potential for eliminating Forest
Service regions, and (3) using shared resources such as a Forest Service supervisor
overseeing both Forest Service and BLM employees in Oregon. Savings could be
achieved irom closing or combining offices and duties with corresponding reductions
in overhead and staff. While estimated cost savings would depend on the specific

restructuring plan, the potential savings from the elimination oi duplication and in-

creased efficiencies is a comf>elling reason to consider consolidation.

Restructure Department of Energy's (DOE) National Laboratories

GAO has reported that DOE still maintains a redundant structure with respect
to nuclear weapons work, an arrangement that may not be the most efficient alter-

native for meeting defense requirements.*' DOE's laboratory network comprises 28
labs, with a budget of nearly $8 billion and employment of 63,000. Recent shifts in
national priorities—principally, the dramatic reduction in the arms race and pro-
posed cutbacks in energy and nuclear research ftinding—raise questions about the
need for all these labs.

In particular, DOE's three large defense labs, costing about $1 billion annually,
were created to design and test nuclear weapons. Currently, these labs allocate less
than half of their budgets to nuclear weapons design, development and testing—the
principal reasons they were created. Thus, the original strategy of planned duplica-
tion in defense lab activities could be reconsidered as the labs' original role has
greatly diminished over time.*®
Aside from deciding on the ideal number of labs, most experts GAO consulted

agree that the missions of the laboratories now need to be clarified if their resources
are to be used most effectively. Program consolidation offers one way to enhance ef-

ficiency and reduce overall lab costs. To illustrate the potential for savings from lab
consolidation, GAO used a Galvin Commission reconunendation. That commission
examined a transfer of most of the nuclear weapons functions from the Lawrence
Livermore to the Los Alamos laboratory to reduce overlap and duplication among

13 See, for example, our discussion of the President's National Performance Review Rec-
onunendation on rationalizing federal lands ownership in Management Reform; Implementation
of the National Performance Review's Recommendations (GAO/OCG-95-1, December 5, 1994), p.
186-188.

i*See, for example, Forestry Functions: Unresolved Issues Affect Forest Service and BLM Or-
ganizations in Western Oregon (GAO/RCED-94-124, May 17, 1994).

"National Laboratories Need Clearer Mission and Better Management (GAO/RCED-95- 10,
January 27, 1995).

"See also our discussion of the President's National Performance Review recommendation to

strengthen DOE's energy management in Management Reform: Implementation of the National
Performance Review's Reconunendations (GAO/OCG-95-1, December 5, 1994), pp. 94-95.
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these two defense labs. Such a consolidation would save about $1 billion over 5

years because while both facilities would design weapons only one would engineer
and test them.

A Patchwork of Education Programs Presents Consolidation Opportunities

The Department of Education's budget accounts for about $33 billion of an esti-

mated $70 billion in federal education assistance. Education administers 244 edu-
cation programs, while 30 other federal agencies administer another 308. Education
has propo3ed several programs as candidates for consolidation or elimination. GAO
has identified another 36 programs, totaling about $3.4 billion within the depart-

ment also may be potential candidates for consolidation. Some portion of an addi-

tional 151 programs administered by both Education and other federal agencies may
also present opportunities to streamline federal education spending.^'
For example, GAO has identified patchwork patterns in federal programs for

teacher training, early childhood education and at-risk youth, suggesting that effi-

ciencies in these areas might be achieved through consolidation. Services are not
well-integrated in the following areas:

• More than 90 preschool and child care programs in 11 federal agencies and
20 offices that target children at similar ages, sometimes provide similar serv-

ices but differ in costs and comprehensiveness.^*
• About 86 programs in nine federal departments and agencies offer teacher

training, and about half are primarily focused on teacher training. The latter

group of programs obligate over $280 million for teacher training activities.

Typically, such training programs fund conferences, trainer salaries travel and
materials. ^^

• At least 46 programs administered by eight federal agencies are targeted
to youth development. These programs are funded through earmarked appro-
priations targeted to similar populations. GAO is currently in the process of
identifying the multiple fiinding streams that support these programs.^o

THE IMPLICATIONS OF PROGRAM CONSOLIDATIONS

As the examples illustrate, program consolidations have potential to reduce fed-

eral as well as nonfederal costs and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of fed-

eral programs. However, the relationships between consolidation and federal budget
savings and improvements in program operations and outcomes may not be wholly
obvious, especially with respect to grant program consolidations. When consolida-

tions result in significant shifts of authority and power over federal grant programs
to states and localities, federal accountability issues are raised.

Budgetary Savings From Consolidations

Not all consolidation proposals are designed with budgetary savings in mind, al-

though this is increasingly the case. For example, during the 1970s, consolidations

of categorical grant programs into block grants were accompanied by funding in-

creases, while tne OBRA 1981 block grants carried funding reductions.

Current proposals feature funding cuts. In considering tne budgetary savings that

could result from such proposals, the following factors are relevant:

Federal budgetary savings are potentially available from two categories of activ-

ity—programmatic and administrative. In grant programs, each type may be achiev-

able at the federal and/or state and local levels. Federal budgetary savings may be
directly counted from changes in federal agency program and administrative activi-

ties. As well, savings may be realizable by reducing the grants in anticipation of

lower state and local costs for managing federal grant programs and/or delivering

program services.

In figuring the expected savings in any consolidation, it will be important to rec-

ognize that federal budgetary savings do not come from the act of consolidating pro-

grams per se. As an example, if federal activities are consolidated in a new office

or bureau—but the aiTected responsibilities and personnel are simply transferred

rather than reduced or eliminated—little, if any, savings result. The consolidation

may be justified on policy grounds, but its budgetary effects could be negligible.

^'' See our discussion of the President's National Performance Review Recommendations on
Department of Education programs in Management Reform: Implementation of the National
Performance Review's Recommendations (GACVC)CG-95-l, December 5, 1994), pp.71-76.

^* Early Childhood Programs: Multiple Programs and Overlapping Target Groups (GAO/
HEHS-95-4FS, October 31, 1994).

1" Multiple Teacher Training Programs: Information on Budgets, Services, and Target Groups
(GAO/HEHS-95-71FS, February 22, 1995).
^On January 19, 1995, GAO issued correspondence (GAO/HEHS-95-60R) to Senator Cohen

and Congressman Goodling on education development programs for at-risk youth.
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Rather, federal budgetary savings are the sum of reductions in federal spending
due to changes in federal agency and/or grantee functions and responsibilities as a

result of the consolidation. Because of this, there must be information on baseline
spending so that savings can be calculated against previous levels of sf)ending.

Moreover, there also may be transition costs to Tigure in, such as the cost of leases,

maintenance costs for unoccupied federal property, severance costs for employees
who are involuntarily separated, and moving expenses for employees transferred to

new sites.

Also, the effects of consolidation on current activities and institutions—in terms
of the changes that are intended—will need to be clearly identified. Without suffi-

cient specificity on the details of such changes, their budgetary effects cannot be as-

sessed. For example, if transportation functions of the military services are to be
consolidated to "the extent jwssible," it will still be necessary to spell out details of

the changes, notably the net effects on program and administrative responsibilities

and personnel.
Given the variety of federal programs and activities and types of spending poten-

tially involved, it would be expected that some kinds of consolidation savings are

easier to gauge than others. For example, direct reductions in federal agency staff

and office closure savings are relatively easy to assess, although savings are net of

offsetting expenses. In contrast, savings flowing from administrative efiiciencies are
more dimcuu. to document and link to the federal budget. As we reported in Budget
Issues: Assessing Executive Order 12837 on Reducing Administrative Expenses
(GAO/A^D-94-15, November 17, 1993), there often is no uniform definition of ad-

ministrative expenses across agencies. Moreover, the budget account structure does
not consistently separate administrative from program expenses. Accordingly, it is

difficult to configure a federal baseline against which to assess the impact of

changes.
Obtaining information on the budgetary savings created through administrative

efficiencies at state and local levels is even more difiicult. As in lederally-managed
programs, there is no uniform definition of administrative activities across states

ana localities. Moreover, variance in state accounting systems means that there is

little comparability in accounting for administrative costs.

Beyond definition and cost accounting problems, grant prograins present the fol-

lowing additional difficulties: (1) differences between program and administrative
activities at the service delivery level may be unclear and subject to interpretation,

(2) predicting the behavioral responses of grantees to increased flexibility and re-

duced administrative requirements often is problematic since little data on past

Kant-administrative expenses are available, and (3) it is difficult to track state and
:al administrative activities aft^r consolidation in order to isolate the effects of the

consolidation from other factors affecting spending.
Our reports on the OBRA 1981 block grants provide an example of the problems

encountered in assessing state and local administrative savings. At the time of our
analysis (as is true today), state accounting systems did not permit an assessment
of wnether states realized administrative savings sufiicient to offset cuts in grant
dollars. State officials did report significant reductions in regulatory and adminis-
trative burdens because of the block grants. However, these reductions did not
translate directly into staff cuts. Moreover, states experienced some offsetting in-

creases in administrative responsibilities in the process.

Accountability Issues

As noted above, among the major potential benefits of program, consolidation are
the improvements and efficiencies in service delivery and administration that can
result when conflicting and fragmented or overlapping services are reconciled and
streamlined. Taxpayers, clients, administrators, as well as those charged with re-

sponsibility for overseeing the programs, can all benefit from such improvements.
For consolidated grants, issues of accountability will be especially important. The

efficiencies and improvements anticipated under the consoliaated programs are the
lo^cal consequence of increased state and local flexibility to integrate the delivery

01 services among various federal programs and related state and local programs.
In practical terms, flexibility will involve broadening the valid uses of federal funds
ana loosening the strings—that is, the conditions of aid and other crosscutting re-

quirements that bind grant recipients. Broadening state and local discretion implic-

itly, however, involves a transfer of power and responsibility from the federal to

state and local governments. As a result, the objective of increasing state and local

flexibility and authority must be reconciled witn the federal interest of promoting
accountability for certain national objectives. For example, the recent nistoiy oi

block grants suggests that the failure to reach an acceptable accommodation of these
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competing concerns undermines support for these programs, prompting recategoriza-
tion or erosion of fiinding.^^

In building accountability into consolidated programs, problems can arise from ei-

ther too many accountability pi-ovisions or too lew. The presence of too many re-

quirements and conditions can inhibit states from realizing the kinds of efficiencies

promised by the block grant mechanism. Overly prescriptive federal requirements
can limit states' ability to integrate related federal and state programs in new and
more efTicient ways. Moreover, they may limit states' interest in taking ownership
and responsibility for program management and results—a key attribute that the
1981 block grants succeeded in instilling at the state level initially.

On the other hand, insufficient federal accountability provisions can f)0se other
problems for consolidated programs. The continued presence of federal funds en-
sures continued federal interest in promoting financial accountability for the use of
funds and program accountability for achieving objectives of national interest. The
recent history of block grants suggests that the absence of these provisions can ei-

ther undermine continued congressional funding or prompt recategorization and
prescriptive regulations to ensure that congressional objectives are achieved. For in-

stance, the OBRA 1981 block grants, which lacked consistent national program re-

porting on state implementation, were subject to more than 50 congressional actions

to tighten program requirements and accountability provisions.22

A balance will need to be struck that simultaneously responds to these two poten-
tially conflicting objectives. It should include safeguards to protect federal financial

interests. And, in keeping with the spirit of cooperative intergovernmental partner-
ship in the newly-consolidated programs, it might also involve a reduced emphasis
on controlling program inputs and greater emphasis on evaluating results and out-

comes. In making such a snifl, however, the Congress and federal agencies will need
to decide the kinds and nature of information that will be needed to assess program
results.

With respect to financial accountability

—

The federal government should exercise its interest in ensuring financial account-
ability to ensure that state and local governments have systems in place to prevent
the improper or illegal use of funds. As GAO has reported, the Single Audit Act re-

?|uirement for an annual financial and compliance audit of entities receiving federal

unds provides an appropriate vehicle for periodically examining the adequacy of

these controls over federal programs and compliance with federal laws and regula-
tions, while avoiding more Durdensome and expensive grant-by-grant audits. Fur-
ther, single audits promote financial management improvements in the entities that
manage lederal assistance and minimize the gaps and duplication in audit coverage
that were prevalent before passage of the act.^^

With respect to program accountability

—

A results-oriented locus would be one appropriate way to satisfy federal concerns
for national objectives. Such an approach would emphasize the outputs or outcomes
achieved by states as measured against mutually-agreed upon and clearly-defined

goals and objectives rather than the more traditional concern with how states

achieve these results.

A results-oriented focus would present challenges, certainly. But, but they are not
insurmountable. Agreement will be needed on goals and whether performance meas-
ures can be used to gauge success. The basic issue of how the federal and state gov-

ernments will monitor and report on results measured in outcome terms will need
to be considered. Finally, thought could be given to whether incentives or penalties

linked to performance might serve a useful purpose in achieving federal objectives.

Overall, although it may not be possible witn certain broad programs to isolate

the efTects of federal from state dollars, this framework would nevertheless provide

critical information on program accomplishments achieved by the intergovernmental
delivery system. Comparable data on the results achieved across states would help
address continuing national concerns, while permitting states discretion over how
to achieve these objectives.

This concludes my statement. We would be pleased to work with the Subcommit-
tee to provide any additional information needed to address these issues.

Mr. Horn. Thank you very much, Mr. Posner, and we thank also

Cornelia Blanch ette, who worked on the education portion. This

»» Block Granta: Increases in Set-Asides and Cost Ceilings Since 1982 (GAO/HRD-92-58FS,
July 27, 1992).

» Block Grante: Characteristics, Experience, and Lessons Learned (GAO/HEHS-95-74, Feb-
niary 9, 1995).

"Single Audit: Refinementa Can Improve Usenjlness (GAO/AIMD-94-133, June 21. 1994).
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study will be put in the record after your summary. We're most
grateful for you pulling all that information together for us to pro-
vide a base from which we can ask you questions, and also very
clearly see the opportunities for consolidation that you note in that
process.
Mr. Secretary, it's good to see you here again too.

Mr. MuNOZ. Good to see you.
Mr. Horn. You're becoming a regular, so we feel that we know

you. You might have been here when I raised the question with the
previous panel of these charts, furnished by the very able financial

management service of the Treasury, where we have the receiv-
ables—non-tax receivables. Education has $15.7 billion of the re-

ceivables, only 6 percent of the total Federal Government receiv-

ables, with by the way, total the annual deficit. If we could just get
all those in in 1 year, why, that would help.

And then there are the non-tax delinquent receivables—about
$50 billion worth—of which Education has $14.5 billion delinquent
receivables, or 29 percent of the whole. I wondered what your reac-

tion was as to why we seem to have such a gap between the non-
tax delinquent receivables and the receivables generally, when it

comes to tne Department of Education.
Mr. MuNOZ. Yes, sir. I did hear the explanation that Don Wurtz

from Education gave, and it was a correct explanation. And he had
earlier described the process by which the Department of Edu-
cation gets a hold of a loan. That is, the way the loans operate
today, by the time it becomes a receivable, it's already, as Don
Wurtz claimed, to be in default. That is, nobody is collecting it and
it's in trouble.

So the fact that 90 percent or so of the receivables go into the
delinquency column, that explains that part of it.

Mr. Horn. Well, what would you suggest as a more realistic way
to classify all Federal Government receivables so we would clearly

know what is collectible, potentially. That number, and if we could
get a basic standard for what is a delinquent receivable. Do you
have a number of days to put in there as the definition of delin-

quent that we could use governmentwide?
Mr. MUNOZ. Right now, the different programs have different

definitions of delinquency. And they usually revolve around the
dates. That is, for some it's 90 days, some it s 120 days, some 180
days. And many of the progiams, when they were established. Ag-
riculture, HUD, others, when those programs were established, the
definition of delinquency—when it would be considered to be in de-

fault and delinquent—was built into those programs. There is no
one universal definition of delinquency.
Mr. Horn. Well, could the Treasury furnish this subcommittee

with the various definitions of delinquency it has? Let us know. No.
1, if they're in law, cite the section of the code. And No. 2, are they
based on administrative regulations of the Treasury; and cite us
the relevant sections so we can see if we can't get some common
policy here, as to what is a delinquent Federal loan.

Mr. MuNOZ. We will get that to the committee.
Mr. Horn. Great. The percentage of delinquency, as we looked

at it, to total receivables, seemed to be quite a gap for some agen-
cies. Education was at the top of the list. And I take it from your
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testimony, there seems to be a difference of definition with which
the Treasury copes in moving the number from one chart to an-
other.

Mr. MUNOZ. That's correct. In addition to when something is

deemed to be in deHnquency, that's the number of dates that it's

outstanding. Second, some of those debts are retained in the deHn-
quent column for a certain number of years before they can be
written off. So for some programs, they're written off sooner, be-

cause the statute of Hmitations may be a quicker time period in

which to declare it write-offable. Ana if it's written off, it no longer
shows
Mr. Horn. Well, that's what really concerns me. As the game is

partly by the agency, well, let's get it on that chart. And if it sits

there so long, we can write it off. What I'm after is, where is the
effort by the executive branch to collect what's owed the people?
Mr. MuNOZ. Yes, sir. I think that's a legitimate question, and

there is an effort now, on the part of the administration, to address
this whole matter for the reasons that you stated. I think the
American people feel that if they're paying their fair share, they
want everybody to pay what they owe to the government. And this

whole matter is being addressed, is being looked at by the adminis-
tration.

And we hope that very, very soon, the administration will

enunciate its plans for collections.

Mr. Horn. In its policy, will they set an average percentage that
the Federal agencies ought to set as a goal to close that gap? Or
what do you plan to do?
Mr. MuNOZ. Well, it really won't be so much a definition as it

will for tools for collection. There are some prohibitions in legisla-

tion that prohibit some of the agencies to use what are state-of-the-

art modern collection techniques. And our proposal would be to ad-

dress those and identify what those should be. You and other Mem-
bers of Congress will have an opportunity to act upon those.

Mr. Horn. Do you recall what some of those examples are? I'm

just curious what we're talking about there.

Mr. Munoz. Well, some of those will be, for example, a lot of the
persons who do business with the Federal Government or have
some interaction with the Federal Government. Right now, we
don't do any matching for offsetting payments. We don't require

them to supply data that might be helpful in a collection, for exam-
ple, certain taxpayer ID numbers and Social Security numbers for

doing business.
The use of contractors in other areas is strictly prohibited by

some agencies. Those are the matters that will be included in the
package.
Mr. Horn. Will any of these programs that you're thinking

about, in the administration, deal with collections through the IRS?
Mr. MUNOZ. Not directly. The IRS has been very helpfiil to the

Department of Education in doing offsets. When somebody is owed
tax before that refund is given, there is an offset against student
loans if we get notified in time. But basically, there will be an ef-

fort. There are some agencies that are very good at collections. Vet-
erans Affairs, for example, does a very good job. Treasury, through
FMS, can do a good job. And we feel tnat we should try to have
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some competition among the agencies to try to have it be in their
interest to take on collections for others, as well as themselves.
Mr. Horn. Do you have a Cabinet office for the deadbeat of the

year award, or what? What are you thinking of? What gets them
motivated?
Mr. MUNOZ. Well, we have to build in incentives. For example,

right now, it's a little ironic that an agency that tries to spend
some resources in collecting debt does not get any relief for that,
does not get to keep what the private sector would. Right now, if

you had any of these student loans, and you stayed with the pri-

vate sector, the private sector would say, well, give me a third of
what I collect. If it's really a bad loan, I should at least get a third
or get a high percentage.

Aiid usually that's not questioned, and that's the cost of collec-

tion. In government, we don't have anything close to that. And this
legislation, or this proposal that we're going to be proposing, will

try to address that, so that there are some incentives in the agen-
cies to keep some of the resources to continue to invest in collec-

tions.

Mr. Horn. Before I yield to the ranking member, let me make
sure these charts are in the record. The graphs total non-tax delin-
quent receivables and total non-tax receivables, as of September
30, 1994.
Mrs. Maloney.
Mrs. Maloney. Hi. Did you hear the—were you here when the

other panel was here, and we were talking about having the IRS
go after the student loans? And one point raised was if we had just
gained that money back, it more than would cover the cost of the
whole cost of education. What do you think of the idea of IRS col-

lecting student loans?
Mr. MuNOZ. Well, there are two ways to address it. One is policy,

and one is operational. I'll start with the easier one, the oper-
ational. Operationally right now, the Internal Revenue Service does
not have the systems to do student loans collections, because it's

an entirely different method of collecting. We would need to up-
grade our systems, to accommodate collections. And if you have col-

lections operationally, a very crude way of collecting the rec-

ommendation that was given by the last panel, for example, of just
writing in a line and saying, I owe student loans so much. There's
no real way for cross checking that with the systems that we have.

Mrs. Maloney. But if you put in a penalty, as we do for the IRS
now, I doubt people would lie about it.

Mr. MUNOZ. No, no, no, it's not that. I think that most businesses
will tell you that the best way to collect is to relate to the debtor
with either services or some sort of connection that they had. Be-
cause they either make accommodations, some waivers, some ad-
justments and the like. The Internal Revenue Service, if it's merely
used for collection and not really servicing the debt and giving
them full information as to how much they really owe, total pic-

ture, different schools if they may owe that, too—without being
able to service it, we don't feel that there's going to be much of im-
provement in collection.

But on the operational, if the Internal Revenue Service were to
be funded for its modernization, it would get closer to operationally
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being able to do it. But let's assume we jump over that hurdle, and
the question becomes a policy one, of which this body can be an im-
portant voice in that policy discussion. But here one has to figure

out whether we want the Internal Revenue Service going after stu-

dents and refocusing its efforts, as opposed to doing tax collections.

And if the student loan delinquency was an across-the-board
problem, then I can see where you may have an agency that can
deal with it in an across the board way. I think most studies will

show that the delinquency in student loans is highly focused and
highly concentrated. And so any policy discussion would say, well,

doesn't the answer—can't we sort of niche out or carve out this

problem, and address it from that point of view?
The Department of Education gives loans in some areas not

merely to collect the money back, but rather to make sure that cer-

tain activities take place, that certain students get to go to school,

or certain schools get to offer certain courses. And it seems to me
that it's in the offering of those loans that the control mechanism
should be, not so much after the fact.

Mrs. Malx)NEY. The Department of Education, through the Na-
tional Center for Education Statistics, provides critical information
on the progress of American students. Secretary Munoz, you point-

ed out in your testimony that their report on drop-outs alerted

many urban school districts of the problems they faced. They also

provide the only measure we have to assess our progress in Goals
2000. I fear that if the Department of Education is abolished, we
will lack this objective measurement of where we are.

What do you think would be the result of losing that objective

voice in education?
Mr. MuNOZ. Thank you for asking that, because I really think

this is a very, very serious concern for all of us. I think a lot would
be lost. And there's a reason for it—80 percent of the adults in

most large cities do not have children of school age. That being the
case—and this is true in Chicago, Mr. Flanagan, which I know
you're very familiar with.

In all of your efforts that you've done in Chicago for schools, you
know that it is very difficult to convince the local populace, the
property tax payers, which mostly fund your local schools, when 80
percent of the adults do not have children of school age. While they
will say that education is important, they feel that someone should
be paying attention to it, but not necessarily them, because it

doesn't impact on them directly at that point in time.

They feel that someone should be taking care of it, but maybe
not necessarily themselves or their pocketbooks at that point in

time. It seems to me that this is an area that, if you lose account-
ability, if it starts being spread out too much with no one being
sort of responsible to ring the bell every time something goes
wrong—as the Department of Education does—then we will all pay
lip service that education is important, but no one is going to be
standing guard to make sure that when we are slipping backwards
that it does not, in fact, occur.

I testified in Confess 10 years ago, when I was called to this

body to testify as tne presiaent of the school board in Chicago,
whether or not I thought the Department of Education's program
on Charter I was something I wanted to maintain in terms of its
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efforts. And I testified that, yes, we wanted that program to be ad-
ministered the way the Department of Education was doing it; not
knowing that 10 years later, I might be here in this body, even de-

bating as to whether the Department of Education should be
around or not.

But I do believe that without the Department of Education, our
tasks would be even more difficult.

Mrs. Maloney. When the prior panel testified that all funds, and
they used the example of Chapter 1, should be reverted back to the
States in block grants, what's your feeling on that? That edu-
cational money should be block granted back, and that the local

school boards and local systems will take care of the needs more
appropriately than the Federal Government.
This is interesting now, to hear from your perspective as having

been a former school board member.
Mr. MuNOZ. I think I will give you a response that, at some

point, if the Federal Government, through the Department of Edu-
cation, were controlling a bigger percentage than 6 percent of the
total expenditures for education, at some point, that would be too

much, and block grants make sense. But when you really are con-
tributing such a small percentage to speak about block grants, in

essence, with no real direction or criteria, in many ways, you're ba-
sically stepping out of the education direction role.

And I think that would be a deficiency. Now, at some point, if

that 6 percent grows and grows and grows and grows, I can see I

would even contend, as someone who was a local user and party
responsible for education, where that would be too much. But right

now, I just don't see that.

Mr. POSNER. If I could just add to that, on block grants, just to

say there should be a block grants in some sense, and not the end.
Because as I said in my statement, it really matters a lot how you
design that. And we've had block grants, as JTPA, where you can
have very defined objectives nationally—the administration is talk-

ing about some vehicle like that with performance partnerships.
But you've got a whole range of issues you've got to think about,

like the formula. Are we really going to try to target the money to

the areas that can raise the least fiscal capacity? What do you do
about the sub-state allocations, since most education is local? We
know, under block grants, that States took the new-found flexibility

to impose additional requirements on local governments. And they
have not been shy about doing that.

What does that mean for the kind of system we want to see
emerge? So there are a whole host of kind of Federal role ques-
tions—the maintenance of effort issue is one that's very signifi-

cant—^that need to be debated.
Mr. Horn. Mr. Flanagan.
Mr. Flanagan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Secretary Mufioz, I

congratulate you on once again coming before us. It's always a
treat to see you, and to further congratulate on your meteoric rise

from the wake of Joe Hand to your esteemed position today. My
congratulations to you.
Mr. MuNOZ. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Flanagan. If I can follow this line real quickly, and then I

have a larger question. It is true the Federal Government only has
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6 percent of the spending, thereabouts. But through Groals 2000,
through H.R. 6, they reach out and touch an awful lot of the other
spending. In fact, it would not be too far to say it's an unfunded
mandate in some ways. And we have a very good opinion of our-
selves—we're very generous and warm, we have good goals and we
have good desires and good needs.
But the operative word in all those statements is we. The Fed-

eral Government has a much larger role than the 6 percent would
discuss. And I would say that in that vein, perhaps, with your pre-

vious discussion, if you were to deregulate, that would be almost
a block grant merely to turn them loose in a lot of ways to be able
to do the things that they need to do, and still retain some control

over the actual 6 percent that goes down.
Unfortunately, the 6 percent is also inextricable to that regu-

latory monster as well. And so the question is larger, I think, than
we've exposed. The larger question I have here is with the $50 bil-

lion, give or take, saved by 0MB in debt collection to Federal agen-
cies, that we have going out. What incentives do you see for the
agencies to be able to collect up some of that debt? And what is

your view of that?
Mr. MUNOZ. As I said, sir, the administration does see what you

see, which is, that's a lot of debt that is owed the Federal Govern-
ment by a lot of citizens for a variety of reasons. And whatever
those reasons are, we should try to have as much incentive, as well

as appropriate collections, as any business would, any operation
would. The administration is now looking at tools for collection,

such as the use of contractors, the use of offsetting, better cen-
tralization of information for that collection.

And then of course, the same incentives that work in the private
sector, such as sharing part of the collection with those who collect

it.

Mr. Flanagan. Well, I would offer you this, and I knew we'd go
there and that's why I wanted to expose this. In this sense, govern-
ment is unique in that you, I, and many who are involved in this

tax collection process, are public servants. Our salaries are paid by
the government of the United States, by the people. I question the
need for a positive incentive for any given agency or administration
to do what it's paid to do.

I realize that sounds fairly facile, Mike, you haven't been here
very long, you don't understand bureaucracies—they need to be
bribed into doing what they're doing, if you will. I think that there
is such a thing as a negative incentive. There's a stick, as well as
a carrot. Why is that not explored larger, in a larger sense, in

many of these agencies in tasking them to accomplish the goal of
collecting the debt that's with them, rather than having to cajole

them to get it done?
Mr. MUNOZ. I think that's a fair point. And I think that when

you're going to hold som.eone responsible, then that agency must at

least have the tools with which to do a better job.

Mr. Flanagan. I agree.
Mr. MuNOZ. And I think the agencies are asking for that. And

that's the major thrust of the kind of needs the agencies require
right now, is those tools. With respect to the incentives that we
talk about, these are not sort of rewards, as much as a whole agen-
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ay's mission and function is carried out in such a way that you put
resources where there is the greatest demand or customer service

for.

If you're doing collections, that takes FTEs; it takes resources; it

takes modernizing your computer systems, your financial informa-

tion systems, servicing that debt. It's a whole new focus that's

going to require funding of some sort. If it's to be self-funding, then
that's one way to do it. If it's going to be funded through the appro-
priations process, which usually doesn't get funded—something like

that just doesn't grab the imagination of a lot of people.

They feel there is a more urgent need to provide the critical mis-
sion, which is not collections. But we feel comfortable that this

matter is finally going to be addressed in a fashion that I believe

is very much in line with what you're thinking.
Mr. Flanagan. I would hope so, because I find it inconceivable.

I was in the service for 4 years, and it's not a mind-set that lasts

your lifetime, but it certainly is an exposure to one. And that is,

you have a certain set criteria, this is your mission essential tasks.

To define success, you need to do these things. One of those things,

an agency ought to be, collect the money that's owed the Federal
Government. And if you're not doing it, you need to find other
work.
And I remain confused—or not confused, but perplexed at our re-

luctance to say hold people accoimtable, and you have failed in

your mission because you have not collected this, we need to re-

place you. I mean, we have—I won't say a sacred duty—^but a very
important duty to be stewards of the people's money. And to try

and cajole ourselves to want to do it in a very warm and fi-iendly,

lotus position sort of way, is kind of ridiculous.

We need to do our job, and we need to do it much better. If the
Federal Government, in the education loans, is moving to direct

lending, and we have these incentives to collect moneys, what in-

centive do we have on the converse side of that to have better cred-

it management? For example, if we now receive a remuneration for

the moneys we collect, then what desire do we have to make sure

we make good loans and other things?
On the back side of that, in short, what clever bureaucrats, and

how do we control the clever bureaucrats somewhere that say, well,

if you create a big debt, then collect a big debt, then we get a piece

of that. And I realize that's probably very narrow, the number of

times that will happen, yes, sure it is. But how can we control and
watch out for that, too?

Mr. MUNOZ. Well, I think that things will still be governed by,

I mean, the standard that you said earlier, that you hold people ac-

countable for not collecting the debt, in terms of the extension of

the debt. If it was done merely for growing the debt, the likelihood

is that you're going to have some problem debts there. You're not
going to be collecting them. So it works in reverse.

My sense is that once people do have the tools, and the direct

student loan example is a good one, where I think the Education
Department now can be more accountable and more directive in

terms of its loans. I do think that the collection problem for that
department will lessen.
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Mr. Flanagan. OK, I will look forward to a complete enunciation
of what those tools might be and how they can be best imple-
mented. Thank you, Mr. Munoz. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Munoz. Thank you.
Mr. Horn. Thank you, that was a helpful dialog. Mr. Mufioz,

have community development block grants worked, to the best of

your knowledge?
Mr. Munoz. Sir, I wish I was more informed on the subject. I

just know that it's a mixed bag. It's heavily reliant, as was said by
Mr. Posner, on the conditions that not all grants come with the
same criteria. It all depends, also, on how you define success. Some
of the users of community development block grants have used
them for good purposes and successes, aimed at the same inten-

tions that the Federal Government had pointed out.

Sometimes when that articulation or objective is not made clear,

then I would say that the success is not there. But it's a difficult

question for me to answer.
Mr. Horn. Mr. Posner, you've looked at community development

block grants in terms of GAO. We hear a lot of pluses and a lot

of minuses, as you know, this year. And it's gone on for years, as
one administration or the other has tried to squeeze tne EDA.
What's your reaction? Have they worked well, community develop-
ment block grants?
Mr. Posner. I'll say I'm not that close at this point to the work

we've been doing, but in general, when you look at a couple dimen-
sions, those of us who want to see grants allocated to places based
on a combination of need and their capacity to provide for those
needs have been disappointed in the CDBG formula.
We send money to places that, while they have pockets of need,

have very strong fiscal capacities and the wherewithal to provide
those services. We've done some work that suggests that if you
made a 25 percent cut in the program and changed the formula,
you could still maintain the same or increased levels of aid to

places like East St. Louis. And by eliminating the eligibility by the
wealthier counties in this country, maintain what we might call a
fiscal safety net, and hold harmless those least able to bear the
brunt of the cut from the cut.

So that's been one area. Another area that's been very difficult

for evaluators to get their hands on is alluding to what Mr. Munoz
said—what are we accomplishing with this money, because the

purposes are so broad. You can provide housing, you can provide
public services. And this is one area where this whole issue of re-

sults-oriented management comes up against kind of the realities

of what results do we want to hold communities accountable for.

Given the fact that the block grant permits a very wide, diverse

range of results, it's a very difficult area to define outcomes and
that kind of thing. So you basically say, what we're doing is giving
communities a pot of money to aid their neighborhoods, and enable
them to do as many things as possible with that. It is a real chal-

lenge, to try to focus on what are we trying to really achieve, and
what results are we trying to achieve with that money.
Mr. Horn. Am I correct that the way the community develop-

ment block grant is administered now, does require substantial dis-

cretion by the granting agency? And one of the ways an education
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block gprant would work, I think, would be much like the old reve-

nue sharing model, where you agree on the data you need, if it's

below poverty, x percent of the people, diversity of cultures, so

forth, so on, certain levels of education. You could pump those in

almost automatically as criteria, and write the checks accordingly,
assuming the Federal Government had a lot of surplus money to

write checks, which it doesn't. But here we are. And what do you
think, how we can best administer that?
Mr. POSNER. Well, it depends on what you want to accomplish.

In other words, if you want the money to go for education, you'll

probably going to have to do a little more than write the check.
You're going to have to have some kind of a maintenance of effort

to make sure that, in effect, the States don't use the money to re-

duce their money and fund the department of social services.

This is where we kind of talk about seeing through the form to

the function of the transaction. And that requires some thought
about what are we trying to really accomplish here. But again, if

the purpose is more to provide some fiscal relief and some general
purpose aid for States, then the mechanism you're talking about,
the Treasury Department had the offices of revenue sharing in the
1970's turn out checks to I believe 36,000 units of local govern-
ment.
Mr. Horn. Right.

Mr. PosNER. The formula was very well targeted, by and large,

and that money presumably aided those governments in accom-
plishing their missions. But again, it gets back to what do you
want to achieve, and then from there, talking about how you design
and set up that program.
Mr. Horn. One of the criticisms of some of the grants made by

the Department of Education over the years—and maybe they've
solved this problem—is that a school district with a substantial un-
derserved population, and with low incomes, would get the grant
based on those data, and then use it in other parts of the district.

And I don't know the degree to which any of the GAO studies show
that that is no longer happening. Because it certainly did happen
at one point in time.

Ms. Blanchette. All right, I can't cite any completed work that
would substantiate or refute that, but we are currently undergoing
a number of studies where we are looking at education finance is-

sues. Equity within States and among the States are among the is-

sues we're looking at. So hopefully, in the near future, we will be
able to comment on that. But today, I can't; I'm sorry.

Mr, Horn. Well, we thank you. Mr. Mufioz, before you go, one
question. I think in your opening remarks a question came up of
the Department of Education and its establishment of drop-out rate
goals. I guess the query would come, isn't it really the local govern-
ment or the State government that will have to provide the leader-

ship, the resources, if those goals are going to be met? I wondered
for years, for example, whatever happened to the old truant officer?

They don't seem to be around, roaming around, getting youth off

the streets during the day. And you just find a tremendous number
of youth in this city and elsewhere. This city, I see it, in particular.
But Los Angeles is no exception, either. And I just wondered, are
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the States and locals disinterested in pursuing goals without Fed-
eral intervention, or what?
Mr. MuNOZ. In part. I go back to the statistics I cited earlier, two

things I cited earlier. One is, States required only to provide an op-

Eortunity for education, not a results oriented mission. And that
ad news, no one wants to give or explore. So the local school board

of Chicago had problems disclosing that the drop-out was beyond
the 10 to 12 percent. The State government, which funds and over-
sees that school system, had problems in really looking at it.

But the national level, it had no problems saying what is going
on in Chicago, New York, Atlanta, Los Angeles, and the like. And
sometimes bad news needs to be uncovered by those that maybe
are a little bit more distant, but as interested in what's going on
in the locality. Does that mean on all other levels? No, it's not on
all other levels.

And the Department of Education's role in that instance wasn't
necessarily pouring a lot of funds into this area, or mandating mat-
ters. It was merely focusing on an issue and asking the right ques-
tions, and having these kinds of matters looked at. Ultimately, it

did lie in our hands, locally and at the State level. And fortunately,
all large urban centers today fully disclose the extent of the drop-
out problem.
And it is severe and it's problematic. But when the "Nation At

Risk" study came out and said that 27 percent of the population
at that time were high school drop-outs, when 27 percent of the
students are not graduating from school, that is a severe indict-

ment of this country's school system, and no coincidence, therefore,

that we don't rank as high in many areas with our industrial coun-
terparts.

Mr. Horn. I think, since you come from Chicago, they would
have had an ideal number of truant officers. Am I wrong on the
patronage aspects of the history of that city? It seems to me there
are certain advantages in patronage if you have them going out
doing their job.

Mr. MuNOZ. Yes. Well, truant officers was one way. It's not the
most efficient way to bring students back to the classroom. We
think the most efficient way is to make the classrooms interesting;

to grab the attention of the students; to try to relate to the stu-

dents. Chicago is a school system, not unlike the larger urban cen-

ters, that has challenging students in that there are different lan-

guages spoken—many of them native different languages—and dif-

ferent expectations.
The most efficient way is to try to connect to that student, and

not necessarily try to track them down. I believe Representative
Maloney at one point had made reference to the fact that it used
to be that people used to take an interest. And if they saw some
student walking down the mall or in a shopjping mall, people would
stop him and say, why aren't you in school? And there was sort of

an indirect truant officer working in society some years back. And
now that's no longer the case.

Either they're afraid of the students or don't care about them or

are confused as to why they're there. But we do believe that the
best way to spend money is to try to keep the students' interest in

the classroom by making the classroom more relevant to them. Not
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by changing the curriculum, but by changing the way of commu-
nicating. If I may put in a pitch for, it wasn't until recently that
research has discovered that there's more than the two ways of

teaching that we were trying to reach students.
There are five, seven different ways, and these should be prac-

ticed in the classroom because Johnny can read, if approached a
certain way, and will not read, if approached a certain other way.
And most of us who have succeeded, who have done well, have
done it well under the standard method of teaching that was used.
But there were others that dropped by the wayside that didn't need
to be dropped by the wayside. Aiid I think those are the most effec-

tive ways of keeping students in class.

Mr. Horn. Well, I share your concern about the tremendous
drop-out rate. I look back to my own schooling in inral California,

and remember a lot of friends that dropped out by the eighth grade
in those days, and some dropped out the first 2 years of high
school. You're absolutely right that with different, more exciting
methods of education, we might have captured those students, and
got them interested in something. That's why I'm an advocate of

right-brained education, the arts and areas such as that. I've seen
outstanding work done by many of these drop-outs, which, if we
could just encourage them in that effort, they might have gotten
back to the more traditional left-brained activities that most of us
were graded by. So I can sympathize with you on that. Does the
ranking member have any further questions? Let me thank the
staff that worked on this hearing. The subcommittee counsel, in su-
pervising and putting the work of the staff together was Michael
Stoker, who's to my left and your right. The staff director, Russell
George, and the support staff of Mark Uncapher, counsel, and
Mark Brasher, professional staff member; Tony Polzak, legislative

fellow, Wallace Hsueh, staff assistant; and Andrew Richardson,
clerk; our reporter, Marianne Nash; and the minority staff profes-

sionals, David McMillan and Mark Stephenson. I thank you all. We
are adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 4:15 p.m., the hearing was adjourned, subject to

the call of the Chair.]

[Additional information submitted for the hearing record follows:]

Prepared Statement of Hon. John M. Spratt, Jr., a Representative in
Congress From the State of South Carolina

I take issue with the comments made by former Secretary Herrington in his testi-

mony about Dan Reicher, Deputy Chief oi Staff and Counselor to Secretary O'Leary.
I have known Dan Reicher for almost a decade, going back to when he was at the
Natural Resources Defense Council and I chaired the House Armed Services Com-
mittee's Department of Energy Panel. I have continued working with Dan Reicher
since he became Deputy Chief of Staff to Secretary O'Leary. He is a conscientious
public servant who has performed his duties to the Department of Eneroy well. We
may not have agreed on all issues, but I have always respected his intelligence, his
integrity, and his commitment to public service. At the Department of Energy, Dan
Reicher has taken an important role in reforming contracting practices, reorganizing
the department, and disposing of excess lands and facilities. As an attorney with
NRDC, Reicher worked lor stronger environmental and safety laws and worked to

see that the laws on the books were enforced within the Department of Energy. He
raised attention to safety problems in the nuclear weapons complex and questioned
projects which in some cases Congress canceled.
Mr. Herrington stated in his testimony that Secretary O'Leary and the Adminis-

tration have kittle interest in keeping the weapons program healthy." I dispute this
statement. Secretary O'Leary ana the Administration nave worked with Congress
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to develop a stockpile stewardship program, which includes construction of the Na-
tional Ignition Facility. They are moving forward with a new tritium source to re-

place the project canceled by the last Administration. Secretary O'Leary did support
continuation of the nuclear testing moratorium and did so against some op(X)sition

within the Clinton Administration, but events have vindicated her position. It is

hard to conceive how the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty could have oeen renewed
had the United States still been testing nuclear warheads.

I also teike issue with Mr. Herrington's assertion that DoE nuclear weapwns func-

tions should be transferred to the Pentagon. Shared control of nuclear weapons bv
civilian and military authorities ensures checks and balances. These checks and bal-

ances have worked for filly years, and there is no reason to abandon them now. This
is not just my view or the view of the current Administration. It is a view widely
held by Republicans and Democrats, including President Bush's very able Secretary
of Energy, Admiral Watkins, who testified persuasively against this step at our
hearing.

Prepared Statement of the National Education Association

Chairman Horn and Members of the Subconrmiittee:

The National Education Association represents 2.2 million education employees in

America's public elementary, secondary, vocational, and postsecondary scnools. We
appreciate this opportunity to present our views on an issue critical to the future
of American public education: the continuation of the U.S. Department of Education.

Since its establishment in 1980, the U.S. Department of Education has played a
key role in both Republican and Democratic administrations in defining and advanc-
ing the national interest in education. The Department has been pivotal in coordi-

nating and improving programs designed to promote excellence and opportunity for

all. Current proposals to eliminate the Department or consolidate its function with
other departments, such as the U.S. Department of Labor, ignore the Department's
successes and the critical importance oi education in every aspect of American life,

from national security to economic growth.
The American people do not support the disestablishment of the Department of

Education. They understand it plays a vital role in leadership, coordination, re-

search, and accountability. They know virtually every community in the nation ben-
efits in some way from the resources and leadership provided by the Department.
The millions of individuals who have been helped by programs administered by the
Department do not support the disestablishment. Even those concerned about reduc-
ing the size and scope of the federal budget do not believe we should shortchange
future generations by eliminating the Department of Education.
Some have sought to reassure Americans who support individual federal edu-

cation programs by suggesting the programs now administered by the Department
could be transferred to other federal agencies or to the states themselves. Real re-

ductions in federal expenditures could only come from dismantling and defunding
education programs. Administrative costs for the Department of Education are now
only 2% 01 its budget, and administrative costs are less than when various edu-
cation programs were scattered in multiple agencies.

In the same way, projections about improvements in efficiency and effectiveness

of coordinating the Department of Education with another federal Department or

agency have no basis in fact. Scattering programs among various agencies would
tend toward less coordination and efficiency. Housing education programs in an-
other department would only tend to dilute the emphasis on education. If this Con-
gress is serious about improving efficiency and coordination, the Committee should
consider a proposal to move education programs now housed in Health and Human
Services, the National Science Foundation, and Agriculture into the Department of

Education.
Moreover, assertions that the U.S. Department of Education has somehow

usurped the rights of state and local governments and led to a "national school

board" are absurd. Local school boards and state legislatures continue to play the
dominant role in setting educational policy. Many have criticized the role the De-
partment has played in assuring opportunity for all, but shaping a society that is

truly committed to the ideals of equality is a difficult task. Without national leader-

ship, opportunity in education and employment would be only the province of a priv-

ileged few. The federal government, tnrough the Department of Education, has as-

sured access to education for minorities, those with limited proficiency in English,

and children with disabilities to the long-term benefit of our nation's economy and
in homage to the ideals of our founders.
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ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE DEPARTMENT

The U.S. Department of Education is more effective and efficient than ever before.
Under Secretary Richard Riley, the Department has approached its mission—to help
local schools and their students—with more focus, less bureaucracy, and less regula-
tion than under Secretaries Lamar Alexander, I^auro Cavazos, or William Bennett.
Far from expanding the number of bureaucrats, the Department of Education under
Secretary Riley has reduced the number of staff, even while working to implement
important new initiatives, including Goals 2000, School-to-Work, and the expanded
Eisenhower Professional Development program.
Many vital federal education programs, such as Title I programs for basic math

and reading skills, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and postsecond-
ary student aid predate the Department's creation. But there is no question that
housing all of these programs in a single Department has enhanced the coordination
of education goals, whether they were the recommendations of the 1983 report, A
National At Risk, commissioned by the Reagan Administration, or the National
Education Goals, initiated and endorsed by the Bush Administration. Since the cre-
ation of the Department, national leaders have devoted more attention to the chal-
lenges facing students, teachers, and schools at all levels than ever before. This is

fitting, since the challenges facing our nation and our schools are daunting.
Many of the challenges facing our schools, such as preparing young people for

good jobs in the future, are national in scope. Other challenges, such as immigration
policy and the impact of federal activities on the tax base or enrollment of public
schools, are the direct result of federal policies. Suggesting that there should be no
federal role in education is to suggest the impossible: that there be no national in-
terest in educational quality and equal opportunity.

Today, some 6.5 million students benefit from additional help in basic math and
reading skills that help prepare them for future educational and economic opportu-
nities under the Title I program administered by the Department of Education.
Local school districts have greater flexibility to design and implement programs to
help students today than they have since 1965.
At least 8 million American children with learning or physical disabilities benefit

from appropriate education and related services in America's public schools through
the Individuals with Disabilities Act.
Approximately 11 million college students are able to expand our nation's intellec-

tual resources and economic capacity through financial assistance from federal stu-
dent grant and loan pro-ams.
Educational opportunities are directly improved for as many as one out of five

Americans today, and millions more Americans—including many on this Commit-
tee—have benefited from federal resources, technical assistance, and leadership in
education. To take away that level of aid is the certain path to a nation that is poor-
er, less secure, and less just than it is today.

POLITICAL MOTIVATION FOR DISESTABLISHMENT

Since it was first created, the Department's critics have hurled wild accusations,
none of which have any basis in fact. What makes some of these allegations more
absurd is their mutability according to the political winds.
For many years, critics of the Department charged that it tried to usurp the

rights of duly elected school boards in a myriad of ways. And yet, ironically, through
the implementation of the Hatch Amendment, prohibiting students from being sub-
ject to psychological tests, the Eagle Forum and other organizations attempted to
force the Department into the role of a national enforcement agency that would dic-

tate the curriculum, textbooks, and materials of school districts across the nation.
This effort to overreach the Departments scope was held in check by explicit, statu-
tory prohibitions against the Department of Education addressing issues of curricu-
lum, textbooks, and materials.
Some critics have alleged that the Department plays an inappropriate role in cur-

riculum, values, and politics. But it was William Bennett who, while Secretary,
adopted as key goals content (i.e., curriculum), character (i.e., values), and choice
(i.e., vouchers). More recently, the Department has promoted an active and unfet-
tered role for states and localities to set forth stanaards and programs to achieve
the National Education Goals.

Attitudes about the value of the Department can change over time. When Lamar
Alexander was Secretary of Education he traveled around the country and spoke to
thousands of groups explaining and promoting what he viewed as the elements of
the federal role in education: providing leadership, technical assistance, assured ac-
cess to educational opportunity, and leadership toward meeting the National Edu-
cation Goals. As a candidate for President oi the United States he says he was
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wrong about all that. On the other hand, Terrel Bell, President Reagan's Secretary
of Education who was appointed to oversee the dismantling of the Department
wrote in February 1995, To do away with an agency that manages an area so es-

sential to our future success is ill-advised and short-sighted . . .Even the Depart-
ment's harshest critics have suggested some federal role for education. But in my
view, anything that does not have the status, budget, staff of professionals, and pro-

gramming capability of a Cabinet agency is insufficient."

THE FUTURE FOR THE DEPARTMENT, THE FUTURE FOR AMERICA

NEA cares about the future of the Department of Education because we care
about the future. We have no stake in federal bureaucracy, per se, but we do have
a stake in children and in lifelong learning. It is an interest we share with every
parent and all Americans.
Our first concern is the quality of educational opportunity. There is no ouestion

that the schools must change to prepare for the challenges of the future. And the
fact is, the Department's programs and activities assist schools and parents with
many of the most daunting cnallenges, such as the rising costs of postsecondary
education and the need to better coordinate secondary education programs with
postsecondary programs to ensure better jobs skills.

The Department plays a vital role in expanding opportunity in a society that is

still in a transitional stage from gender, racial, and disability discrimination to full

equality. The Department's research activities help guide policy makers at the state

and local level in a way that no individual school, state, or consortium of schools

or states could do. And the Department mx)vides resources to help cope with both
present and future needs, from directing Title I, Title VII block grants, and school

safety resources to communities that do not have the means to provide such pro-

grams to allocating resources for technology, teacher education, and infrastructure
to meet the expansion of knowledge and the growth of our nation's population.
Should American children be asked to take these cuts and meet the challenges

of the next century on their own? We think the answer is no. This generation will

face a world that is more diverse, more complex, and more competitive than ever
before. The most conservative action we can take, one that protects our nation's fu-

ture economic growth, national security, ability to compete in a global economy, and
ability to live in a stable and just society is to give America's children all the help
we can. We serve no good purpose by creating artificial barriers that suggest that
federal involvement in a national concern is somehow evil. NEA members strongly
support local control of public schools. We believe the best accountability for schools

is through elected local school boards, and state and federal officials. The federal

role is small, but vital, and we believe it must be continued.

FOUR QUESTIONS

In considering proposals to eliminate or consolidate the Department of Education,
we ask that the Committee ask four fundamental questions.

• Will disestablishment lead to cost savings? By itself, there are scant econo-
mies of scale that might come about by the elimination of the Department. In
a separate proposal, the House-passed Fiscal Year 1996 Budget Resolution, this

Congress has pledged to eliminate more than 150 federal education programs
that benefit millions of students. These proposals are represented as a net re-

duction of federal expenditures, but they will result in a net loss in opportunity,
security, and economic growth for America. Cuts in vital federal education pro-

grams will inevitably lead to greater obligations in remedial programs, the costs

of the criminal justice system, and loss oT tax revenues. Even if the federal gov-

ernment relieves itself of present commitments to share the costs of nutrition,

health, and family support programs, they will still become national problems.
• Will disestablishment lead to greater educational opportunities for any stu-

dent? It is a fair q\ies*ion to ask whether schools, families, and communities
have done enough >,. »iddress Americans' concerns about school safety, basic

skills, and preparing students for good jobs in the future. But it is hard to argue
that eliminating federal programs that address those concerns will make mat-
ters better. It is even harder to argue that those issues will receive the appro-

Kriate level of national attention if there were no Department of Education,
lany ar^e that educational opportunities for students with disabilities, lim-

ited English proficiency, minority students, and women and girls will be as good
without a federal role, but the fact remains that millions of Americans were de-

nied such opportunities prior to federal involvement.
• Do national economic and security goals have an educational component?

One of the primary justifications for having a Secretary of Education at the
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Cabinet table is to coordinate national education px)licy with the President and
other Secretaries responsible for national defense, human development, eco-

nomic growth, and every other endeavor. Eliminating a national role in policy

making adopts a kind of "hope for the best" strategy that suggests that every
conmiunity is equally able to identify and address national needs. Our only
hope for success in an uncertain global economy with complex global political

challenges is to have an agency that can at least identify national needs and
provide some financial assistance to communities or students that need help
most.

• Will eliminating the Department of Education eliminate the bureaucracy
and regulation that hamper diversity, creativity, and local autonomy? NEA
members must meet the challenges of teaching and helping children grow, often
with one hand tied behind their backs as a result of complex prescriptions about
how they must do their jobs, as opposed to what they must do. These prescrip-

tions come from state government or central district offices to a far greater de-

gree than any federal regulations. In fact, most federal regulations are designed
to enhance accountability and assure opportunity. NEA supported efforts to en-
hance flexibility and local initiative in the newly reauthorized Improving Amer-
ican Schools Act and the enactment of the Goals 2000: Educate America Act.

Both measures were designed to concentrate the focus on what to achieve—that
is, quality, rather than to dictate how teachers teach or schools should operate.

But enhancing flexibility is not the same as walking away from real needs. The
Department oT Education must be provided the authority and resources to sup-
port local eflbrts to enhance quality and equality while allowing for creativity

and initiative.

CONCLUSION

If America keeps demagoguing, we will lose the American public schools that have
played such a vital role in our nation's success. Many politicians have played on the
fears of the American people about federal control oi education, and yet the vast
majority of people who are responsible for making those decisions about education
support the Department and appreciate its assistance. A majority of school board
members, parents, state legislators, other state and local education officials, college
presidents and faculty, as well as the teachers and other education employees them-
selves support continuation of the Department. None of the horror stories trotted
out during the consideration of the establishment of the Department have come
about, nor has the transformation and improvement of public education been iname-
diate or complete as some may have hoped. But the Committee should not delude
itself that the Department has had no effect. The Department of Education contin-
ues to provide substantial assistance to students of all ages and communities of
every description. It continues to provide information and assistance that is vital to
parents, students, and education policy makers. And it continues to provide re-

sources—and provide them over a range of human and economic neeas—that no
other entity could replace.

We urge you to reject the proposal to take this step backward and instead focus
on the future, including ways to make the Department of Education more effective

in promoting quality and equity for every student in America.
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